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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011

OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission File Number: 001-34756
Tesla Motors, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaetr)

Delaware 91-219772¢
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
3500 Deer Creek Roac
Palo Alto, California 94304
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(650) 681-5000

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dlfie Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, $0.001 par val The NASDAQ Stock Market LL(
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) t¢ifie Act:
None

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantugel-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Ruleo4@be Securities Act.  YedX]
No O

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 o) %f the Act. YesO No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by Seeti® or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) during the preceding rhonths (or for such shorter period that the tegyis was required to file such reports),
and (2) has been subject to such filing requireséotthe past 90 days. Ye&l No [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ldisnitted electronically and posted on its corpokiieb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted untsto Rule 405 of Regulation Seuring the preceding 12 months (or for such srgrerioc
that the registrant was required to submit and posh files). Yes[XI] No [

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (82®% of this chapter) is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the bestgistrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or infoation statements incorporated by reference
in Part 11l of this Form 10-K or any amendmenthgtForm 10-K. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, maccelerated filer or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited” “accelerated filer,” and “smaller reportirgpmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act:

Large accelerated file Accelerated filel O
Non-accelerated file [0 (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar [
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantseell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Bxgie Act). Yes[ No

The aggregate market value of voting stock helddry-affiliates of the registrant, as of June 3@, 2Qhe last day of registrant’s most
recently completed second fiscal quarter, was 328,453 (based on the closing price for shargiseofegistrant’s Common Stock as
reported by the NASDAQ Global Select Market on J&@g2011). Shares of Common Stock held by eacbutixe officer, director, and hold
of 5% or more of the outstanding Common Stock Hsen excluded in that such persons may be deentegdfiiliates. This determination of
affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusiviedeination for other purposes.

As of January 31, 2012, there were 104,604,044eshafrthe registrant’s Common Stock outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant’s Proxy Statement fer2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders are incorfaatderein by reference in Part 11l of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K to the extent stdterein. Such proxy statement will be filed witle tSecurities and Exchange Commission
within 120 days of the registrant’s fiscal year ediddecember 31, 2011.
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Forward-Looking Statements

The discussions in this Annual Report on Form 1€bhtain forward-looking statements reflecting ourrent expectations that involve
risks and uncertainties. These forward-lookingestagnts include, but are not limited to, statemeatgerning our strategy, future operations,
future financial position, future revenues, progrttosts, expectations regarding demand and acoegtéor our technologies, grow
opportunities and trends in the market in whichoperate, prospects and plans and objectives of gemant. The words “anticipates”,
“believes”, “estimates”, “expects”, “intends”, “may, “plans”, “projects”, “will”, “would” and similar expressions are intended to identify
forward-looking statements, although not all forwdabking statements contain these identifying wovds.may not actually achieve the plz
intentions or expectations disclosed in our forwardking statements and you should not place umdilignce on our forward-looking
statements. Actual results or events could diffetemially from the plans, intentions and expectasialisclosed in the forward-looking
statements that we make. These forward-lookingstats involve risks and uncertainties that coalase our actual results to differ
materially from those in the forward-looking statamts, including, without limitation, the risks $etth in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in our othéinfjs with the Securities and Exchange Commisdiado not assume any obligation to
update any forward-looking statements.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

We design, develop, manufacture and sell high-perdace fully electric vehicles and advanced elecstehicle powertrain components.
We own our sales and service network and have tipeadly structured our business in a manner trabelieve will enable us to rapidly
develop and launch advanced electric vehicles ecstthblogies. We believe our vehicles, electric elehéngineering expertise, and operational
structure differentiates us from incumbent autordgobianufacturers.

We are the first company to commercially produdederally-compliant electric vehicle, the Tesla Bstar, which achieves a market-
leading range on a single charge combined witletitre design, driving performance and zero tagm@missions. Our Tesla Roadster offers
impressive acceleration and performance withoutlppcong any tailpipe emissions. The Tesla Roadspgoprietary electric vehicle powertrain
system is the foundation of our business and, daign enhancements, will also form the basis fimiodel S sedan, our Model X crossover,
as well as future vehicles.

Model S is in an advanced stage of developmentsaadrrently scheduled to commence customer dédisday July 2012. We expect tt
Model S will be manufactured with an adaptablefptat architecture upon which other future vehiclasluding our Model X crossover, will
be based. We revealed a prototype of the ModelbXsover in February 2012. We plan to start Modpraduction in late 2013 and ramp up to
significant customer deliveries in early 2014. Tinisque vehicle has been designed to fill the nlofigveen the roominess of a minivan and the
style of an SUV, while having high performance éea$ such as a dual motor all-wheel drive system.

In addition to developing our own vehicles, we pdevservices for the development of electric poreémtcomponents and sell electric
powertrain components to other automotive manufacsuWe have provided development services aneépain components to Daimler AG
(Daimler) for its Smart fortwo and A-Class electvehicles. We recently announced the receipt ohiial purchase order for the development
of a full powertrain system for an additional Metes Benz vehicle from Daimler. We also have almostpleted a development services
program to produce a full electric powertrain sysfer Toyota Motor Corporation (Toyota) for useithiRAV4 EV. We anticipate beginning
ship these systems to Toyota during the first 6012 under our supply and services agreement.

The commercial production of a highway capabldyfelectric vehicle that meets consumers’ rangeerbormance expectations
requires substantial design, engineering, and iatem work on almost every system of our vehic@sr roots in Silicon Valley have enabled
us to recruit engineers with strong skills in elieetl engineering, power electronics and softwanrgireeering. We have complemented this te
base with automotive engineers with substantiakeige in vehicle engineering and manufacturingr. &hility to combine expertise in electric
powertrain and vehicle engineering provides a biezgzhbility in electric vehicle design and systémegration. We believe these capabilities,
coupled with our focus solely on electric vehigdehnology as well as our strong inhouse engineenmtgmanufacturing capacity, will enable
us to sustain the electric vehicle industry ledtigra/e created through the production of the T&sladster.

We sell and service our Tesla Roadster though ampanyewned sales and service network in the North Anagifieirope and Asia. O
intent is to offer a compelling customer experiemtdle gathering rapid customer feedback and admnjeoperating efficiencies, better control
over the costs of inventory, warranty service,ipgecand the development of the Tesla brand. Ostalgtores do not carry large vehicle
inventories and, as a result, do not require cpmeding large floor spaces. We believe the beneftseceive from distribution ownership,
combined with our product design based on modylarntd common platforms, will enable us to imprdve $peed of product development and
improve the capital efficiency of our business. Bédieve that this approach provides us with a cditipe advantage as compared to
incumbent automobile manufacturers.



Table of Contents

Ouir first vehicle, the Tesla Roadster, can acctdram zero to 60 miles per hour in 3.9 secondshas a maximum speed of
approximately 120 miles per hour. The Roadster tSmosion can accelerate from zero to 60 mileshpeir in 3.7 seconds. The Tesla Roadster
has a range of 245 miles on a single charge, asmdieted using the United States Environmental Rtiote Agency’s (EPA’s), combined two-
cycle city/highway test. The Tesla Roadster haange that is almost double that of any other comially released electric vehicle and
reportedly set a new world distance record of 3118smwn a single charge for a production electaicin a rally across Australia as part of the
2009 Global Green Challenge. As of December 3112@% had delivered approximately 2,150 Tesla Rieasl$o customers in over 31
countries, almost all of which were sold in Norttérica and Europe. We concluded the productiorofuhe Tesla Roadster in January 2012.
We are selling our remaining Tesla Roadsters pilyniar Europe and Asia during 2012 until our invent is depleted. To date, our customers
have driven the Tesla Roadster for an estimateceggte of almost 20 million miles.

We announced our second electric vehicle, Modelith, the public exhibition of a drivable early potgpe in March 2009. In October
2011 we invited over three thousand customers #met gtakeholders to see and ride in the beta fype of Model S at our manufacturing
facility in Fremont, California, the Tesla FactoWe have completed the construction of severabtitiy Model S alpha and beta prototypes,
which are currently undergoing detailed testing. 8Megently plan to begin customer deliveries of b8 by July 2012.

Model S is a four door, five-passenger premium sebat offers exceptional performance, functiogadihd attractive styling. As a fully
electric vehicle, Model S will produce zero tailpipmissions while accelerating from zero to 60 sniler hour in a targeted time of as low as
4.4 seconds in its performance version. The basgeM® will have an effective base price of $49,80the United States with the 40 kilowatt-
hour (kwWh) battery pack option, assuming and afteing effect to the continuation of a United Statederal tax credit of $7,500 for the
purchase of alternative fuel vehicles. Even withbettax credit, we believe the base list price kgl competitive from a pricing perspective
with other premium vehicles. We believe that Mo8elill demonstrate our ability to produce incregbmaffordable electric vehicles that offer
long-range capabilities and uncompromised perforeaanergy efficiency, convenience and design.

We plan to offer Model S with a variety of battgrgck options—40 kWh, 60 kWh and 85 kWh—which weneate will offer a range on
a single charge of 160 miles, 230 miles, and 3d8aniespectively, while traveling at a steady dp&feb5 miles per hour. The EPA’s new fuel
economy requirements will require us to label Md8eitilizing new and different energy efficiencgtiag methodologies. These
methodologies differ from the one we have usedstonmate the range of the vehicles at a steady spiegl miles per hour and could reduce the
range reported on the required labeling of ouralebiby up to 30% as compared to our current esggna

We are designing Model S for a significantly broaciestomer base than the Tesla Roadster. Accosdingd currently intend to target an
annual production rate of approximately 20,000 parsyear beginning in 2013 from our Tesla Fact@vg. currently plan to commence
deliveries by July 2012 and to deliver approximat&eD00 Model S sedans in 2012. As of DecembeRB1], we had received over 8,000
customer reservations with a minimum refundableypayt of $5,000.

We have nearly completed the Tesla Factory, oegratted electric vehicle manufacturing facilityHremont, California for the
manufacture of Model S and its components. In Qat@®10, we completed the purchase of this fadiliyn New United Motor
Manufacturing, Inc. (NUMMI). We intend to use thaeflity for the production of our Model S vehicMpdel X crossover, and to build our
future electric vehicles. We have entered intoaalagreement with the United States Federal Fingrigank and United States Department of
Energy (DOE Loan Facility), to arrange loans fortai$465.0 million, $363.9 million of which is imded for the continued development of
Model S and the build out of the Tesla Factory.

The electric powertrain we developed for the T&adster has provided the foundational technologp@ir Model S, our Model X
crossover and our future vehicles, and for elegoertrain components and systems
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that we are selling to Daimler and its affiliateslahat we intend to sell to Toyota. Our electwevertrain consists of the following compone
our modular battery pack, our power electronicgrex, our motor and control and integration sofemahich enables the components to
operate as a system. We sell certain of these coemp® to Daimler and intend to sell these systeni®yota, and have secured $101.2 million
of an aggregate $465.0 million from our DOE Loawilg to fund the infrastructure for these powaitr activities. We believe that our efforts
in our powertrain development will enable us toatbe our technology and rapidly and cost effegtidelvelop vehicles.

Our battery pack and electric powertrain systememaled us to deliver market-leading range caipabih our vehicles at what we
believe is a compelling battery cost per kilowaitth The battery pack of the Tesla Roadster usesrarcially available lithium-ion battery
cells and contains 53 kilowatt-hours of usable gpealmost double the energy of any other commiyc@aailable electric vehicle battery
pack, thereby significantly increasing its rangpatality. Designing an electric powertrain and &iee to exploit its energy efficiency has
required extensive safety testing and innovatiobaitiery packs, motors, powertrain systems andcleebngineering. Our proprietary
technology includes cooling systems, safety systeherge balancing systems, battery engineeringilfoation and environmental durability,
customized motor design and the software and elgics management systems necessary to manageylaattevehicle performance under
demanding real-life driving conditions. These tembgy innovations have resulted in an extensivellettual property portfolio—as of
December 31, 2011, we had 59 issued patents argl tiem 230 pending patent applications with theddhStates Patent and Trademark
Office and internationally in a broad range of area

We are designing our vehicles to enable the césttfe development of our future vehicles. Forrapke, we are designing a common
platform architecture for Model S, which compagibysitions the battery pack, motor and other elemehbur powertrain within the frame of
the vehicle. We believe this architecture will fotine basis of several future vehicles, includingmlanned Model X crossover, and enable us
to efficiently and cost effectively launch thesevneshicle models in the future.

Our design and vehicle engineering capabilitiemlmioed with the technical advancements of our ptrair system, have enabled us to
design and develop zero tailpipe emission vehitlaswe believe overcome the design, styling, arfiopmance issues that we believe have
historically limited broad consumer adoption ofadtie vehicles. As a result, we believe our Testedister customers enjoy, and Model S
customers will enjoy, several benefits, including:

* Long Range and Recharging Flexibil. The range of the Tesla Roadster is almost daheleange of any other commercially
available electric vehicle. We are designing Md8l¢b offer an even greater range option. In addlitibe Tesla Roadster
incorporates our proprietary on-board chargingesystpermitting recharging from almost any availadkrtrical outlet, and we are
designing certain battery pack versions of Mod# 8ffer fast charging capability from our planr®dperCharger network. We
believe the long-range and charging flexibilityoofr vehicles will help reduce consumer anxiety aesge, alleviate the need for
expensive, large-scale charging infrastructure,difidrentiate our vehicles as compared to our ostitgrs’ currently announced
electric vehicle product offering

» Energy Efficiency and Cost of Owners. We believe our Tesla Roadster offers and our M8deill offer consumers an attractive
cost of ownership when compared to similar intenmmhbustion engine or hybrid electric vehicles.ndsonly a single electric
powertrain enables us to create a lighter, moreggnefficient vehicle that is mechanically simptean currently available hybrid
internal combustion engine vehicles. We also expacelectric vehicles will have lower relative minance costs than hybrid,
plug-in hybrid, or internal combustion engine védsgcdue to fewer moving parts and the absencertdiceeomponents, including
oil, oil filters, spark plugs and engine valves.dittbnally, government incentives that are currgattailable can reduce the cost of
ownership even furthe
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» High-Performance Without Compromised Design or Functityn. We believe we have been able to successfullycovee the
design and performance tradeoff issues that enawdlmeost early electric vehicle designs. We belitréeTesla Roadster delivers
an unparalleled driving experience with instantarseand sustained acceleration through an exterashegt rof speed. In addition, «
Model S is being designed to seat five adults, ide@best in class storage in the trunk and hoodevdifering design and
performance comparable to, or better than, othempmm sedan:

Our Vehicles and Products
We currently design, manufacture and sell fullyceie vehicles and electric powertrain components.

The Tesla Roadster

Ouir first vehicle, the Tesla Roadster, is the tigh-performance electric sports car. The two;saatvertible Tesla Roadster has a
combination of range, style, performance and eneffigiency that we believe is unmatched in the keatoday. It can accelerate from zero to
60 miles per hour in 3.9 seconds and has a maxispead of approximately 120 miles per hour. ThedlBsladster also has a range of 245
miles on a single charge, as determined using tlieet States EPA’s, combined two-cycle city/highvtest. This range is almost double that
of any other commercially released electric vehicle

As of December 31, 2011, we had delivered approtétp@,150 Tesla Roadsters to customers in overo8itries, almost all of which
were sold to customers in North America and Eurdppe. Tesla Roadster complies with, or is exemptfrall applicable vehicle safety
standards in the United States, the European Ussomell as select other countries. To date, ouooers have driven the Tesla Roadster for
an estimated aggregate of almost 20 million mNgs.concluded the production run of the Tesla ReadstJanuary 2012. We are selling our
remaining Tesla Roadsters primarily in Europe asaAluring 2012 until our inventory is depleted.

The cumulative capital expenditures and researdhdamelopment costs for the Tesla Roadster fromrmaption to the date we delivel
our first Tesla Roadster was approximately $12%ionil

We have continued to rapidly develop the Tesla Rdince its introduction. In June 2009, nine themfter its commercial
introduction, we launched the Tesla Roadster yedkas a high-performance variant, the Tesla Rea®&port. We delivered our first right-
hand drive model of the Tesla Roadster in Janu@ty) 2nd have since delivered rigtgnd drive Roadsters into key markets such as tfited
Kingdom, Japan, Hong Kong, and Australia. In JW¥ @, we released the Roadster 2.5, an upgradedwerfsRoadster 2.

Model S

Our second vehicle, Model S, is currently expetteblegin customer deliveries by July of 2012 andcweently plan to deliver
approximately 5,000 Model S sedans in 2012. Weeareraging technologies within the electric powadrtrof the Tesla Roadster to create a
four-door, five-adult-passenger sedan that prodamees tailpipe emissions while accelerating fromoze 60 miles per hour in a targeted time
of as low as 4.4 seconds in its performance versitmdel S acceleration from zero to 60 miles parrhis targeted at 6.5 seconds, 5.9 seconds
and 5.6 seconds for the 40 kWh, 60 kWh and 85 k'atteby pack options, respectively. We have desidviedel S to include a third row with
two rear-facing child seats, subject to applicaalfety regulations and requirements, allowing usffier a seven passenger sedan. The drivable
early prototype of Model S was exhibited to thelfuim March 2009 and as of December 31, 2011, aefdeceived over 8,000 customer
reservations with a minimum refundable paymentx%080.

We plan to offer Model S with a variety of battgrgck options—40 kWh, 60 kWh and 85 kWh—which weneate will offer a range on
a single charge of 160 miles, 230 miles, and 308aniespectively, while traveling at a steady dpafeb5 miles per hour. We expect that these
options will allow customers to purchase an eleatghicle that best matches their personal driviegds. The EPA’s new fuel economy
requirements
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will require us to label Model S utilizing new adiferent energy efficiency testing methodologi€sese methodologies differ from the one
have used to estimate the range of the vehiclasttady speed of 55 miles per hour and could eethecrange reported on the required
labeling of our vehicles by up to 30% as compaceour current estimates.

To complement its range capabilities, we also #eriog Model S with a package of recharging opsiow/e are offering the capability to
fast charge Model S vehicles equipped with either@0 kWh or 85 kWh battery packs at one of TessalgerCharger facilities, which we plan
to start installing at selected locations in thetebh States in 2012. We anticipate that the faatgd capability will allow Model S owners to
replenish 50% of the battery pack in about 30 n@suThis feature would offer these drivers a rapid convenient way to recharge their
vehicles. In addition, we are designing Model $tmrporate a modular battery pack in the floothef vehicle, enabling it to be rapidly
swapped out at a specialized commercial batteriange facility that we anticipate may be availabléhe future.

We are designing Model S to offer a compelling coration of functionality, convenience and stylinglvout compromising performan
and energy efficiency. With the battery pack in flioer of the vehicle and the motor and gearbokria with the rear axle, we have designed
Model S to provide best in class storage spac® & Gubic feet, including storage under both tligdte and the hood. By way of comparison,
this storage space exceeds the approximately 14 fret of storage available in the 2009 BMW 5 8gs8edan and the approximately 21 cubic
feet of storage available in the 2009 Lincoln ToBar. We are also planning to equip Model S withmpeen luxury features, including a 17
inch touch screen driver interface, advanced wssetmnnectivity, such as 3G connectivity, and droestomization of the infotainment and
climate control systems of the vehicle. We aregtésg Model S with the intent to achieve a fiver Safety rating. We believe the intended
combination of performance, styling, convenience anergy efficiency of Model S will help positianais a compelling alternative to other
vehicles in the luxury and performance segments.

We have announced that the 45 kWh, 60 kWh and 8B k#tery pack options of Model S will have an efffee base price of $49,900,
$59,900, and $69,900, respectively, in the UnitedeS, assuming and after giving effect to theioomtion of a United States federal tax credit
of $7,500 for the purchase of alternative fuel ek, Even without the tax credit, we believe thealist price will be competitive with other
premium vehicles. We have also announced a perfurengersion of Model S. Equipped with the 85 kWlttdrgt pack and a high performance
drive inverter, we anticipate that the Model S perfance version will accelerate from zero to 6Gemjper hour in 4.4 seconds. The effective
base price of the Model S performance version #%®.

We anticipate that the initial units of Model S Mik introduced with a Signature Series which héle an 85 kWh battery pack and
include certain colors and interior options, sorhe/lich may not be available in the general proiuncof Model S. We also offer the Signat
Series with a performance version. The effectiveelaice of the Signature Series is $87,900 anéffeetive base price of the Signature Se
performance version is $97,900.

We are designing Model S to provide a lower cosivefiership as compared to other vehicles in itsscl/e consider the purchase price,
cost of fuel and the cost of maintenance over gasat ownership period in this calculation. We asswomparable residual values, warranties,
insurance costs and promotions and assume thantlyravailable consumer incentives are still alz# at the time of a Model S purchase. In
addition to the competitive pricing of Model S ttéla to other premium vehicles, we estimate thatamers of electric vehicles will enjoy
lower fuel costs. For example, assuming an aveséde,000 miles driven per year, an average eldtrcost of 11.0 cents per kilowatt-hour
and an average gasoline price of $3.38 per galien the full ownership of the vehicle which were #iverage electricity cost and gasoline
price in the United States, respectively, for Jap2812, and based on our estimate of the enefigyesfcy of Model S, we estimate that our
Model S could have approximately $1,900 per yess Ie fuel costs than a comparable premium intezomlbustion engine sedan.
Furthermore, we expect Model S will have lower neance costs than comparable premium internal gstiolm engine sedans due to fewer
moving parts and the absence of certain componiestading oil, oil filters, spark plugs and enginalves.

8
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Model X and Future Vehicle Roadmap

We expect that Model S will be manufactured withadaptable platform architecture and common eteptivertrain so that we can use
the platform of Model S to create future electrdhicle models. In particular, by designing our glegowertrain within the chassis to
accommodate different vehicle body styles, we belihat we can save significant time in future ekhdevelopment. In addition, we believe
our strategy of using commercially available batteglls will enable us to leverage improvementseh chemistries and rapidly introduce
planned vehicles with different range options. Hegrewe may make changes to the design of ModielcBiding changes that may make it
more difficult to use the Model S platform for faéwehicles.

In February 2012, we revealed an early prototypta@Model X crossover as the first vehicle weridtéo develop by leveraging the
Model S platform. This unique vehicle has beengtesi to fill the niche between the roominess ofidivan and the style of an SUV, while
having high performance features such as a duaimatitwheel drive system. We currently plan tatspmoduction of Model X in the fourth
quarter of 2013 and ramp up to significant custodediveries in early 2014. We anticipate that w# miake Model X available with 60kWh
and 85 kWh battery pack options, with pricing offe&ersion similar to those of a comparably equibli®del S. We currently intend to target
an annual production rate of approximately 10,0@)G00 cars per year from our Tesla Factory.

We have also publicly announced our intent to dgwvel third generation electric vehicle to be pradlat the Tesla Factory. We intenc
offer this vehicle at a lower price point and expegoroduce it at higher volumes than our Mode\&. expect that this vehicle will be
produced a few years after the introduction ofNtaalel X crossover.

Powertrain Development and Sales
In addition to our own vehicles, we also desigrvaliep, manufacture and sell advanced electric Velpicwertrain components.

In May 2009, we entered into a development agreémigh Daimler under which we performed specifiedearch and development
services for the development of a battery packdnadger for Daimler’s Smart fortwo electric drivél development work related to the
development agreement had been completed as ofibece31, 2009. Through December 2011, we had s@d2100 battery packs and
chargers for the Smart fortwo electric drive progra

In the first quarter of 2010, Daimler engaged uadsist with the development and production ofteebapack and charger for a pilot fl
of its A-Class electric vehicles to be introducedEurope during 2011. A formal agreement for thia@gement was entered into with Daimler
in May 2010. In October 2010, we completed the tgraent of the A-Class battery pack and chargertseghn shipping production
components for a demonstration fleet in Februaty120hrough December 2011, we had sold over 5a@dygvacks and chargers for the A-
Class EV program.

In the first quarter of 2010, we completed the dewment and sale of modular battery packs for gledelivery vans for Freightliner
Custom Chassis Corporation (Freightliner), aniat#l of Daimler. Freightliner plans to use theseic vans in a limited number of customer
trials.

In May 2010, we and Toyota announced our interntiiocooperate on the development of electric vebjadead for us to receive Toyota’s
support with sourcing parts and production and regying expertise for Model S. In July 2010, weeegd into an early phase agreement to
develop an electric powertrain for the Toyota RAWIth an aim by Toyota to market the electric véhia the United States in 2012,
prototypes would be made by combining the Toyota/BAnodel with a Tesla electric powertrain. We bedareloping and delivering
prototypes to Toyota for evaluation in September®0n October 2010, we entered into a contractices
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agreement with Toyota for the development of adeaéd powertrain system, including a battery, poslectronics module, motor, gearbox i
associated software, which will be integrated emcelectric vehicle version of the Toyota RAV4. $uant to our agreements, Toyota would
pay us up to $69 million for the anticipated depah@nt services to be provided by us over the erpdaerm of our performance. We expect to
complete all of the development services for the/VRAV in the first quarter of 2012.

Additionally, in July 2011, we entered into an agrent to supply Toyota with an electric powertsystem for the RAV4 EV. We plan
to begin delivery of these systems to Toyota fetahation into the Toyota RAV4 EV in the first iaf 2012. Our production activities under
this program are expected to continue through 2014

In February 2012, we received an initial purchaskeiofor the development of a full electric powaitrsystem for an additional Merce«
vehicle from Daimler. We are negotiating the agreetior production parts for this project; howeves,agreement has yet been executed and
there are no assurances that we will be able &r @b any such agreement.

We are continuing to develop our electric powenti@mponent and systems activities and have seeu$é@1.2 million loan under our
DOE Loan Facility for the expansion of our enginegrand production capability for these activitie®ur Palo Alto facility. This facility,
which also serves as our corporate headquartemsebsmur research and development services, indwugil and component testing and
prototyping, as well as manufacturing of powertra@mponents for sales to third parties.

Technology

We believe the core competencies of our companp@neertrain and vehicle engineering. Our core latdlial property is contained
within our electric powertrain. Our electric powait consists of the following: battery pack, powerctronics, motor, gearbox and the control
software which enables the components to operatesgstem. We designed each of these major eleffuerasr Tesla Roadster and plan to
much of this technology in Model S, Model X, outute electric vehicles and powertrain componerdaswwe build for other manufacturers.
Our powertrain and battery pack have a modulamgdeginabling future generations of electric velsi¢teincorporate a significant amount of
this technology. Further, our powertrain is verynpact and contains far fewer moving parts tharinttegnal combustion powertrain. These
features enable us to adapt it for a variety ofiaations, including our future vehicles and anyveotrain components we build for other
manufacturers.

Battery Pack

We design our battery packs to safely store sicguifi amounts of energy and to have long livesexample, we have designed our Tesla
Roadster battery packs to store 53 kilowatt hofitsseful energy and to have a life of over 100,60I@s or seven years. In addition, we have
designed our battery packs to be modular so thatamdeverage technology developments across faretit vehicles and products. Our
proprietary technology includes cooling systemfgtygasystems, charge balancing systems, batterypeedng for vibration and environmental
durability, robotic manufacturing processes, custeh motor design and the software and electranasagement systems necessary to
manage battery and vehicle performance under deingnekl-life driving conditions. We have signifiteexperience and expertise in the
safety and management systems needed to workithittmh-ion cells in the demanding automotive enmiment. We believe these
advancements have enabled us to produce a battekyap a low cost per kilowatt-hour.

We believe one of our core competencies is thegdesi our complete battery pack system. We havigded our battery pack system to
permit flexibility with respect to battery cell cméstry, form factor and vendor that we adopt fottdxy cell supply. In so doing, we believe that
we can leverage the substantial battery cell ieests and advancements being made globally byrpattl manufacturers to continue to
improve the
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cost per kilowatt-hour of our battery pack. We ntaiim an internal battery cell testing lab and areesive performance database of the many
available lithium-ion cell vendors and chemistrpég. We intend to incorporate the battery cellsphavide the best value and performance
possible into our battery packs, and we expectithédntinue over time as battery cells continugnprove in energy storage capacity,
longevity, power delivery and cost. We believe fleibility will enable us to continue to evaluatew battery cells as they become
commercially viable, and thereby optimize batteaglpsystem performance and cost for our currenfaade vehicles. We believe our ability
to change battery cell chemistries and vendorseareiiaining our existing investments in softwatectonics, testing and vehicle packaging,
will enable us to quickly deploy various batteryi€@to our products and leverage the latest adearents in battery cell technology.

The range of our electric vehicles on a single ghateclines principally as a function of usagegtand charging patterns. A customer’s
use of their Tesla vehicle as well as the frequemitly which they charge the battery of their Teshicle can result in additional deterioration
of the battery’s ability to hold a charge. For exgenwe currently expect that the Tesla Roadstietyapack will retain approximately 60-65%
of its ability to hold its initial charge after agximately 100,000 miles or seven years, which wifiult in a decrease to the vehicle’s initial
range. In addition, based on internal testing, stev&te that our Tesla Roadster would have a 5-tHifaction in range when operated in -20°C
temperatures.

To date, we have tested hundreds of battery cedgferent chemistries, form factors and desigdased on this evaluation, we are
presently using lithium-ion battery cells basedtwa 18650 form factor in all of our battery packbese battery cells are commercially
available in large quantities. We currently intéadise the same battery cell form factor in Modahl Model X. We recently entered into a
supply agreement with Panasonic Corporation (Pamasfor the use of Panasonic’s battery cells indgldS. We expect these battery cells to
exhibit better performance and longer lifetimesithize battery cells used in the Tesla Roadster.

Power Electronics

The power electronics in our electric powertraiveym the flow of electrical current throughout te, primarily the current that flows
into and out of the battery pack. The power elett®has two primary functions, the control of teeggeneration in the motor while driving
and the control of energy delivery back into thidygt pack while charging.

The first function is accomplished through the drirverter, which converts direct current (DC) frime battery pack into alternating
current (AC) to drive our three-phase induction ongt The drive inverter also converts the AC geteerély regenerative braking back into DC
for electrical storage in the battery pack. Thee@inverter performs this function by using a hjggrformance digital signal processor which
runs some of the most complicated and detailedveo in the vehicle. In so doing, the drive inveitedirectly responsible for the
performance, high efficiency and overall drivingpexience of the vehicle.

The second function, charging the battery pacictmplished by the charger, which converts altergaurrent (usually from a wall
outlet or other electricity source) into direct @nt which can be accepted by the battery. Thegelmanables us to use any available source of
power to charge our vehicle. Our vehicles can megghan any electrical outlet from a common outfet®amps and 120 volts all the way up to
a high power outlet of 70 amps and 240 volts, wipictvides faster recharging.

Since the charger system is built into our vehidles possible to charge our vehicles using @taf power outlets. For example,
charging the Tesla Roadster battery pack to fydhcay will take approximately 7 hours using a 240, 40 amp outlet that is widely available
in many homes in the United States for electridiappes. A high power connection capable of 24@svahd 70 amps reduces this charging
time to about 4.5 hours. Such a connection camdtalled in many homes with the assistance of &figahelectrician. For additional
flexibility, the Tesla Roadster battery pack casodbe charged with a 120 volt, 15 amp connection.
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Using this lower power output, the Tesla Roadséttelny pack can be charged to full capacity in ad@uhours. This flexibility in charging
provides customers with additional mobility, whéllso allowing them to conveniently charge the viehiwernight at home.

We offer a high-voltage fast charge option for Mid8evith the 60 kwh and 85 kWh battery pack optitret will enable the vehicle to
charge from Tesla’s SuperCharger network that wieipate may be available in the future.

Motor

Our powertrains currently use custom designed Z@lraduction motors. We believe we have made skwepsrtant innovations in our
motor design that minimize mass while still prowiglihigh power and efficiency. Our motors incorperatproprietary fabricated copper rotor
design. Our motors also include optimized windimgtgrns that allow for easy manufacture and fasrmuch copper as possible to reduce
resistance and energy losses.

Gearbox

We have designed custom, single speed gearboxesréhmanufactured in-house for the Tesla RoadstgModel S. These gearboxes
combine low mass with high efficiency and can mdtoth the speed and torque capabilities of our Adliction motors. In comparison to a
gasoline-powered vehicle, the elimination of gdaanges contributes to the rapid acceleration cheniatics of our vehicles.

Control Software

The performance and safety systems of our vehéidgheir battery packs require sophisticated ocbstftware. There are numerous
processors in our vehicles to control these funstiand we write custom firmware for many of thesecessors. The flow of electricity
between the battery pack and the motor must béytigbntrolled in order to deliver the performarared behavior expected in the vehicle. For
example, software algorithms enable the vehiclmitoic the “creep” feeling which drivers expect fran internal combustion engine vehicle
without having to apply pressure on the acceler&uwnilar algorithms control traction, vehicle stap and the sustained acceleration and
regenerative braking of the vehicle. Drivers useittiormation systems in our vehicles to optimizefprmance and charging modes and times.
Software also is used extensively to monitor thergh state of each of the cells of the battery packto manage all of its safety systems. In
addition to the vehicle control software, we aoaleveloping software for the infotainment systériviodel S.

Vehicle Design and Engineering

In addition to the design, development and produactif the powertrain, we have created significaftouse capabilities in the design i
engineering of electric vehicles and electric veEh@omponents and systems. We design and engindersh chassis, interiors, heating and
cooling and low voltage electrical systems in hoase to a lesser extent in conjunction with ourigps. Our team has core competencies in
computer aided design and crash test simulationshwire expect to reduce the product developmerd tfmew models.

Several traditional automotive subsystems requstdastantial redesign and custom optimization tegrate with the powertrain of an
electric vehicle. For example, we redesigned ttegihg, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC) sggt to integrate with the battery thermal
management system and to operate without the emgemggrated from an internal combustion enginedtiten, low voltage electric systems
which power features such as the radio, power wirsjand heated seats also needed to be designeficsfig for use in an electric vehicle.
We have developed expertise in integrating thesgpoments with the high-voltage power source inviilgicle and in designing components
that significantly reduce their load on the vehigtgtery pack, thereby maximizing the availablegeaof the vehicle.
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Additionally, our team has expertise in lightweighaterials, a very important characteristic forceie vehicles given the impact of mass
on range. The Tesla Roadster is built with an iraly-designed carbon fiber body which providesatabce of strength and mass. We intend to
build Model S with a lightweight aluminum body ahave been designing the body and chassis withiatyaf materials and production
methods that will help optimize the weight of thehicle. We are developing an integrated electridole manufacturing facility in Fremont,
California, the Tesla Factory, to assemble vehialed manufacture components that are critical tdrdaallectual property and quality of Moc
S. Our engineering and manufacturing teams areingidongside one another in an effort to accedettae Model S development. We believe
the co-location of our engineering and manufactuteams will help accelerate the development of peucts and allow for faster
introduction of product changes.

Sales and Marketing
Company-Owned Sales

We market and sell cars directly to consumers.lWdiopened our first store in Los Angeles, Catifarin May 2008, all of our sales of
the Tesla Roadster were conducted via the phonéngerdet, or in-person at our headquarters anplazate events. Increasingly, sales are
being made through our network of Tesla stores.Tagta stores are highly visible, premium outlatsnajor metropolitan markets some of
which combine retail sales and service. We intenolutild separate sales and service locations ieraemarkets. In April 2011, we opened our
store at Santana Row in San Jose, California. Pleaiog of our Santana Row store launched what Weveeto be a new retail experience
designed to engage and inform potential custommateelectric vehicles in general and the advarstaf¢he Tesla experience in particular.
We have opened five other locations modeled oncthigept to complement a network of 20 sales andcgelocations in North America,
Europe and Asia. We plan to open additional staresservice centers during 2012, with a goal aftdisthing approximately 50 stores and
additional service centers globally within the ngaveral years in connection with our Model S natllo

We believe that by owning our own sales and semé@®ork we can offer a compelling customer experewhile achieving operating
efficiencies and capturing sales and service resgimcumbent automobile manufacturers do not einjolye traditional franchised distribution
and service model. Our customers deal directly withown Tesla-employed sales and service stafftiorg what we believe is a differentiated
buying experience from the buying experience coresgrhave with franchised automobile dealers andcgecenters. We believe we will also
be able to better control costs of inventory, managrranty service and pricing, maintain and stiteery the Tesla brand, and obtain rapid
customer feedback. Further, we believe that by nwpur sales network we will avoid the conflictioferest in the traditional dealership
structure inherent to most incumbent automobile ufecturers where the sale of warranty parts andirepy a dealer are a key source of
revenue and profit for the dealer but often arexgense for the vehicle manufacturer.

Reservations

We typically carry very limited inventory of our kieles at our Tesla stores. While some customenshase their vehicles from this
inventory, most of our Tesla Roadster customer®stdo customize the appearance of their vehicler#ial customers who purchase Tesla
Roadsters manufactured to specification are requéenter into a purchase agreement and pay @&fumaable deposit, which is applied
towards the purchase price of the vehicle. Foralekipurchased directly from our showrooms, no ditfi@required. For our 2011 model year
Tesla Roadsters manufactured to specificationcotrent purchase agreement requires the paymennt iofitial deposit, which varies based on
the country of purchase. For Model S and Model ¥,require an initial refundable reservation payntérat least $5,000. We require
nonrefundable deposits for Tesla Roadsters manugtto specification. We also occasionally accefatndable reservation payments if a
customer is interested in purchasing a vehiclebuyet prepared to select the vehicle specificatidVe currently require full payment of the
purchase price of the vehicle only upon deliveryhef vehicle to the
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customer. Reservation payments and deposits adebysas to fund, in part, our working capital reganents and help us to align production
with demand. For customers who have placed a raehiedeservation payment with us, the reservataymgnt becomes a nonrefundable
deposit once the customer has selected the vedgelgfications and enters into a purchase agreement

As of December 31, 2011, we had received over 8¢0@8@bmer reservations for Model S. As of Decend#ier2011, we held reservation
payments for Model S sedans in an aggregate o0$80lion and reservation payments for undelivefesla Roadsters in an aggregate of $1.8
million. All reservation payments for Model S argly refundable until such time that a customeeentnto a purchase agreement.

Leasing

We began offering a leasing alternative to custeroépur Tesla Roadster in the United States amé@ain 2010 through wholly owned
subsidiaries. Under this program, we have permigaifying customers in the United States to le¢aseTesla Roadster for generally 36
months, after which time they have the option diesi returning the vehicle to us or purchasingitd predetermined residual value. We are
using a third party provider to administer the baffice services, including billing and collectiqored the leases.

Marketing
Our principal marketing goals are to:
» generate demand for our vehicles and drive leadsitcales team
*  build lonc-term brand awareness and manage corporate repi
* manage our existing customer base to create logattycustomer referrals; a
» enable customer input into the product developrmpestess
As the first company to commercially produce a fatg-compliant, fully electric vehicle that achiev market-leading range on a single
charge, we have been able to generate significadtarcoverage of our company and our vehiclesyantelieve we will continue to do so.
date, media coverage and word of mouth have beeprtmary drivers of our sales leads and have deligeachieve sales without traditional

advertising and at relatively low marketing co$t&e also use traditional means of advertising iniclggroduct placement in a variety of media
outlets and pay-per-click advertisements on websitel applications relevant to our target demodcaph

Our marketing efforts include events where our glglsi are displayed and demonstrated. These exarge from widely attended public
events, such as the Detroit, Los Angeles, and Fuainkuto shows, to smaller events oriented towaadss, such as private drive events.

Company-Owned Charging Network, Service and Warrany
Tesla SuperCharger Network

During 2012, we plan to introduce a network of ®Urkfast charging equipment, each called a Tesl@&iiarger, throughout North
America for fast charging of Model S. The Tesla &@harger is an industrial grade, high speed chalegigned to replenish 50% of the
battery pack in about 30 minutes. Access to theeBLiparger network will be available to owners ofddbS vehicles with the 60 kwWh and 85
kWh battery pack options.

Service

Service of our electric vehicles takes place attrobsur Tesla stores. Going forward, we intentbtdd separate sales and service
locations in several markets. Within countries & covered by our warranty agreement, we offapate service through our mobile service
technicians known as the Tesla Rangers. We
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charge customers a fixed rate per mile for our& &sngers technicians’ return trip from the locatd the customer’s vehicle to the nearest
Tesla store. For customers that are not coveramlbyarranty agreement, we offer at home servieehagher cost.

Tesla owners can upload data from their vehiclesamdl it to us on a memory card or via an on-bG8# system, allowing us to
diagnose and remedy many problems before everrigaki the vehicle. When maintenance or serviceqsired, a customer can schedule
service by contacting one of our regional TeslaestoOur Tesla Rangers can perform an array ofpiures at a remote location, from annual
inspections and firmware upgrades to full replacetnoé a power electronics module and other mectaduaied electrical components. If service
is more extensive and requires a vehicle lift, we coordinate shipping of vehicles to and fromrtearest Tesla store.

We believe that our company-owned service enahlesechnicians to work closely with our engineard sesearch and development
teams in Silicon Valley to identify problems, fisdlutions, and incorporate improvements faster themmbent automobile manufacturers.

New Vehicle Limited Warranty Policy

We provide a three year or 36,000 miles New VeHidgheited Warranty with every Tesla Roadster, whieh extended to four years or
50,000 miles for the purchasers of our 2008 Teslad’ter. Customers have the opportunity to purcaadextended Service Plan for the pe
after the end of the New Vehicle Limited Warrargycbver additional services for an additional thyears or 36,000 miles, whichever comes
first. The New Vehicle Limited Warranty is similtr other vehicle manufacturer’s warranty programs ia intended to cover all parts and
labor to repair defects in material or workmanshighe body, chassis, suspension, interior, elaarsystems, battery, powertrain and brake
system. Exceptions to the New Vehicle Limited Watyanclude wear items such as tires, brake padsators, paint wear and tear, interior
wear and tear and battery performance. We interthtounce our new vehicle limited warranty for Miogién 2012.

Battery Replacement Option

While battery failure due to defects in materialvmrkmanship is included in the Tesla Roadster N@hicle Limited Warranty, battery
performance, specifically its ability to store dtazity over time, is not covered in either the N&whicle Limited Warranty or the Extended
Service Plan. However, within three months of pasihg a vehicle, customers may purchase a onedjtien to replace the battery pack at
any time after the expiration of the New Vehiclenlited Warranty but before the tenth anniversarthefpurchase date of the vehicle. For
customers that select this option, we agree t@oepthe original battery pack of the vehicle witteplacement battery pack which will store at
least 53 kilowatt-hours of usable energy. Chargexdidition to the option purchase price apply & tlustomer exercises the battery pack
replacement option prior to the seventh anniversétiie purchase date of the vehicle. The custasentitled to a partial refund of the option
purchase price if the option is not elected byetigith anniversary of the purchase date of theclehi

Manufacturing
Vehicle Assembly
We completed the production of Tesla Roadster gdidé Lotus Cars Limited in January 2012. We halmnided inventory of Roadsters
for sale primarily in Europe and Asia in 2012. AD®cember 31, 2011, we had delivered approxim&gl$0 Roadsters to customers.

We have nearly completed the Tesla Factory, agiiated electric vehicle manufacturing facility irefont, California to manufacture
components that are critical to our intellectuaparty and quality of Model S, including stampiptgstics, body assembly, paint operations,
battery pack manufacturing, final vehicle assenauigl end-of-line testing. Certain major componesteays will be purchased from suppliers.
We

15



Table of Contents

currently intend to target an annual productior etthis facility for Model S of approximately ROQ cars per year. We believe that we will be
able to increase the annual production capacititisfplant beyond this amount through additionglitzd spending as well as by changing
operating patterns and adding additional shifts.

Powertrain Component Manufacturing

In addition to developing our Model S and futuréieée manufacturing capabilities at the Tesla Fagtae are currently designing,
developing and manufacturing lithium-ion battergks electric motors, gearboxes and componentsfbothur vehicles and for our original
equipment manufacturer customers. These activitesr at our electric powertrain manufacturing ligcin Palo Alto, California and at the
Tesla Factory.

Supply Chain

Model S uses over 2,000 purchased parts which wesglobally from over 200 suppliers, many of whara currently our single sour
suppliers for these components. We have develolpsé celationships with several key suppliers patérly in the procurement of cells and
certain electric powertrain components. While weaobcomponents from multiple sources wheneveriptesssimilar to other automobile
manufacturers, many of the components used in ehicles are purchased by us from a single source.

To date, we have not qualified alternative soufoesnost of the single sourced components usediirvehicles and we generally do not
maintain long-term agreements with our supplierbilgwe believe that we may be able to establigtrahte supply relationships and can
obtain or engineer replacement components foriogtessource components, we may be unable to dio e short term or at all at prices or
costs that are favorable to us. For example, vaglesral sources of the battery cell we have seldoteour battery packs are available, we
fully qualified only one supplier for these cellsy disruption in the supply of battery cells frauch vendor could temporarily disrupt
production of the vehicles until such time as &edént supplier is fully qualified and there cannmeassurance that we would be able to
successfully retain alternative suppliers on a lynbasis. Moreover, battery cell manufactures matysupply us at reasonable prices or on
reasonable terms or may choose to refuse to sapgtyric vehicle manufacturers to the extent thetgdnine that the vehicles are not
sufficiently safe.

We use various raw materials in our business imetudluminum, steel, nickel and copper. The priceshese raw materials fluctuate
depending on market conditions and global demanth&sse materials. We believe that we have adegugiglies or sources of availability of
the raw materials necessary to meet our manufagtamd supply requirements. There are always &sksuncertainties, however, with respect
to the supply of raw materials that could impaeitiavailability in sufficient quantities or reasie prices to meet our needs.

Quality Control

Our quality control efforts are divided betweendurot quality and supplier quality, both of whickedocused on designing and produc
products and processes with high levels of religbiDur product quality engineers work with oulgéreering team and our suppliers to help
ensure that the product designs meet functionalifspegtions and durability requirements. Our sugpljuality engineers work with our
suppliers to ensure that their processes and sgsiesrcapable of delivering the parts we needeateuired quality level, on time, and on
budget. Our quality systems engineers create amagesour systems, such as configuration manageanertorrective action systems, to help
ensure product developers, supplier chain managedsproduction controllers have the product infation they need.

Customers and Selected Relationships

We currently sell our cars primarily to individualstomers. We have strategic or commercial relahigps with Daimler, Toyota, and
Panasonic. We intend to expand our business byla@rg and selling additional powertrain componerd systems to Daimler, Toyota and
other third party OEMs, and have secured a $101l®mloan under our DOE Loan Facility to fund thdrastructure these activities.
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Daimler AG

Beginning in 2008, we commenced efforts on a paagrdevelopment arrangement with Daimler. In M892, we entered into a
development agreement with Daimler under which axelperformed specified research and developmevitss for the development of a
battery pack and charger for Daimler's Smart forelectric drive. All development work related te thevelopment agreement had been
completed as of December 31, 2009. Through Dece@il, we had sold over 2,100 battery packs anthehafor the Smart fortwo electric
drive program. In the first quarter of 2010, Daimdagaged us to assist with the development ardluptmn of a battery pack and charger for a
pilot fleet of its AClass electric vehicles to be introduced in Eurdpeng 2011. A formal agreement for this arrangeimeas entered into wit
Daimler in May 2010. In October 2010, we compldtesldevelopment of the A-Class battery pack andgeiteand began shipping production
parts in February 2011. Through December 2011 ,0Mker 500 battery packs and chargers for thelas<CEV program. In the first quarter
of 2010, we completed the development and saleocofutar battery packs for electric delivery vansFogightliner, an affiliate of Daimler.
Freightliner plans to use these electric vanslimied number of customer trials.

In February 2012, we received an initial purchaskeiofor the development of a full electric powairtrsystem for an additional Merce
Benz vehicle from Daimler. We are negotiating tgeeament for production parts for this project; b@er, no agreement has yet been exe!
and there are no assurances that we will be atdatey into any such agreement.

In addition to the agreements described above,ave kBntered into an exclusivity and intellectualparty agreement (EIP Agreement)
with Daimler North America Corporation (DNAC), affiiate of Daimler, in which we agreed to begingadiating in good faith to enter into
further agreements within certain strategic codji@naareas, including technology collaboration arigus electric powertrain areas, automo
engineering support, joint electric vehicle devehemt efforts and access to component parts foaTaesigned products. Under this EIP
Agreement, we agreed that, until November 11, 2@@would not negotiate or enter into any agreemetith other parties that would be
competitive with the arrangements contemplatedHese strategic cooperation areas, unless thegesiduch arrangement would be marketed
solely under the Tesla brand. As of that date, act ot executed any further agreements with Daiimlére areas of strategic cooperation.

The EIP Agreement provides that ending July 20fltBei company receives an offer from a strategropetitor of Daimler to enter into
an agreement for development of a non-Tesla bravekeidle or an integrated electric powertrain systBNAC would be given the right of
first refusal to enter into such agreement withadbmpany instead of, and on the same terms ofteyethe third party.

The EIP Agreement also provides that if we exeawgrategic cooperation agreement with DNAC totjpiangineer an electric vehicle,
then additional exclusivities would apply until y@013, provided a minimum annual volume of sadeschieved. The EIP Agreement provides
that none of the restrictions set out in that agpe, or in any strategic agreement, would limifrosn developing technology with any third
party for use in a Tesla-branded product or serviaelated to the Tesla Roadster or Model S, eingag any transaction with a company that
is not a Daimler competitor, or supplying composent electric powertrains that are designed bidtparties.

The EIP Agreement also provides that if the pasiger into the strategic agreements or furtheeegents, those agreements will
allocate intellectual property rights accordingstain principles outlined in the EIP Agreementatldition, until July 2013, before licensing
intellectual property generated outside the scd@myp strategic cooperation area to a Daimler cditggewe would first have to offer DNAC
the right to license the intellectual property omom-exclusive, royalty-bearing basis, or on arlesige basis in the automotive field; and if
DNAC requests the latter, we must negotiate suatease in good faith. If no agreement is reacthedyever, we would be free to license the
technology to the Daimler competitor, and DNAC abtake a non-exclusive license. Both we and Daitméae the right to terminate the EIP
Agreement
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in the event the other party undergoes, or exe@negreement to undergo, a change of control.sMayegic cooperation agreements entered
into between us and Daimler prior to terminatiofi mot be affected by such termination.

To date, with the exception of the development eiguent for the Smart fortwo electric drive and theeament for the development and
production of a battery pack and charger for atffiéet of Daimler’'s A-Class electric vehicles, tteategic agreements described in the EIP
Agreement have not been entered into, and therbea assurance that the parties will ever entersuch agreements. Even if we were to
enter into such agreements, the parties may négetial agree to terms that are different to theséosth in the EIP Agreement and outlined
above. Such different or new terms may be moress favorable to us.

In addition to these agreements, Blackstar Invelstéd (Blackstar), an affiliate of Daimler, benefidly owned 8,113,215 shares of our
common stock as of December 31, 2011. Blackstapsasentative, Dr. Herbert Kohler, serves as a reewfour Board of Directors.

Toyota Motor Corporation

In May 2010, we and Toyota announced our interntiiocooperate on the development of electric vebjaded for us to receive Toyota’'s
support with sourcing parts and production and regying expertise for Model S. In July 2010, weeegd into an early phase agreement to
develop an electric powertrain for the Toyota RAWIth an aim by Toyota to market the electric véhia the United States in 2012,
prototypes would be made by combining the Toyotad/Baodel with a Tesla electric powertrain. We bedameloping and delivering
prototypes to Toyota for evaluation in September®0

In October 2010, we entered into a contract sesvécgeement with Toyota for the development ofl@sted powertrain system,
including a battery, power electronics module, magearbox and associated software, which willrtegrated into an electric vehicle version
of the Toyota RAV4. Pursuant to our agreementsotawill pay us up to $69 million for the anticipdtdevelopment services to be provided
by us over the expected term of our performancee¥pect to complete all of the development servioethe RAV4 EV in the first quarter of
2012.

Additionally, in July 2011, we entered into an agrent to supply Toyota with electric powertrainteys for the RAV4 EV. We plan to
begin delivery of these systems to Toyota for iifetian into the Toyota RAV4 EV in the first half 8012. Our production activities under this
program are expected to continue through 2014.

In addition to these agreements, in July 2010, ®le 3,941,176 shares of our common stock to Togbtaur IPO price of $17.00 per
share.

Panasonic

Panasonic is a supplier of battery cells for outdrga packs. In January 2010, we announced thateve collaborating with Panasonic on
the development of next-generation electric vehielés based on the 18650 form factor and nickekhdithium ion chemistry. In October
2011, we finalized a supply agreement for thestehatells. The agreement supplies us with battefi to build more than 80,000 vehicles
over the next four years.

In November 2010, we sold 1,418,573 shares of onmaon stock to an entity affiliated with Panasdbarporation at a price of $21.15
per share, which was the average of the tradinigshéand lows of our common stock from October 28 ¢tober 29, 2010.
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Governmental Programs, Incentives and Regulations
United States Department of Energy Loans

On January 20, 2010, we entered into a loan faailith the Federal Financing Bank (FFB) and theteahiStates Department of Energy
(DOE), under the DOE’s Advanced Technology Vehidlssufacturing Loan Program, as set forth in Secti86 of the Energy Independence
and Security Act of 2007 (ATVM Program). We refersuch loan facility, including amendments theratthe DOE Loan Facility. Under the
DOE Loan Facility, FFB has made available to us mmdti-draw term loan facilities in an aggregatepipal amount of up to $465.0 million
and the DOE has agreed to reimburse FFB for abilitias, losses, costs or expenses incurred by WEB respect to the term loan facilities.
Up to an aggregate principal amount of $101.2 anillvill be made available under the first term Iéacility to finance up to 80% of the costs
eligible for funding under the ATVM Program for thewertrain engineering and the build-out of alfgcio design and manufacture lithium-
ion battery packs, electric motors and electric ponents (the Powertrain Facility). Up to an aggtegaincipal amount of $363.9 million will
be made available under the second term loantfatilifinance up to 80% of the costs eligible fonding under the ATVM Program for the
development of, and to build out the manufactufadlity for, our Model S sedan (the Model S Fagjli Under the DOE Loan Facility, we are
responsible for the remaining 20% of the costsldigor funding under the ATVM Program for the jaots as well as any cost overruns for
each project.

Through December 31, 2011, we have received dramsl@einder the DOE Loan Facility for an aggregat®2x6.3 million, with interest
rates ranging from 1.0% to 3.4%, for eligible pobjeosts under both projects that we have incuned December 15, 2008 through
November 30, 2011. In February 2012, we receivelitiadal loans under the DOE Loan Facility for $4illion at interest rates ranging fr
0.9% to 1.4%.

In connection with the DOE Loan Facility, we havgoassued the DOE a warrant to purchase up t3)Q2& shares of our common
stock at an exercise price of $7.54 per share amarant to purchase up to 5,100 shares of our comstock at an exercise price of $8.94 per
share. Beginning on December 15, 2018 and untieBéer 14, 2022, the shares subject to purchase threse warrants will become
exercisable in quarterly amounts depending on teeage outstanding balance of the loan during tlee guarter. These warrants may be
exercised until December 15, 2023. If we prepayfdE Loan Facility in full prior to December 15,28) no shares will be exercisable under
these warrants, except in the case of an evergfatilt, which could accelerate the vesting.

For more information on the DOE Loan Facility, $&mte 9 to our Consolidated Financial Statementided in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K under Item 8. Financial Statements amgpfmentary Data.

California Alternative Energy and Advanced Transpation Financing Authority Tax Incentives

In December 2009, we finalized an arrangement thighCalifornia Alternative Energy and Advanced Bortation Financing Authority
(CAEATFA) that will result in an exemption from Gfalrnia state sales and use taxes for up to $33@®mbf manufacturing equipment. To 1
extent all of this equipment is purchased and waotietrwise be subject to California state salesumdtax, we believe this incentive would
result in tax savings by us of up to approxima#3y million over a three year period starting ircBmber 2009. The equipment purchases
be used only for three purposes: (i) to establighppoduction facility for Model S in Californiaij)to upgrade our Palo Alto powertrain
production facility, and (iii) to expand our curtéresla Roadster assembly operations at our Meaulk facility. As of December 31, 2011, we
have received the tax exemption for approximatély.$ million in qualifying purchases.

In January 2012, we finalized an additional agregméth CAEATFA that will result in an exemptiondim California state sales and use
taxes for up to $292 million of manufacturing equgnt. To the extent all of this equipment is pusdthand would otherwise be subject to
California state sales and use tax, we believe this
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incentive would result in tax savings by us of agpproximately $24 million over a three year pastarting in December 2011. The
equipment purchases may be used only for two pespdh to develop the Model X crossover vehicld da production capacity in California
and, (ii) to further upgrade our powertrain produrcfacilities in California. As of January 31, Z0Wwe had not begun to submit qualifying
equipment for this exemption.

California Air Resources Board’s Zero Emissions Viele Program

In connection with the delivery and placement s¢ovice of our zero emission vehicles in a numbstaies, we have earned and will
continue to earn tradable credits that can be &bider California’s LowEmission Vehicle Regulations, and similar laws tineo states, vehic
manufacturers are required to ensure that a poofidine vehicles delivered for sale in that statéry each model year are zero emission
vehicles. Currently, the states of Arizona, Catifay Connecticut, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetésy Nersey, New Mexico, New York,
Oregon, Rhode Island and Vermont have such lawffétt. These laws provide that a manufacturereod 2mission vehicles may earn crec
referred to as ZEV credits, and may sell excesditsréo other manufacturers who apply such craditsomply with these regulatory
requirements. As a manufacturer solely of zero simisvehicles, we earn ZEV credits on each velsiold in such states and have entered into
agreements with other automobile manufacturergltdree ZEV credits that we earn. Recently, Califarpassed amendments to the ZEV
mandate that would require all large volume manufacs (those manufacturers selling 20,000 or maetecles in California) to increase the
number of zero emission vehicles sold. Under thve meguirements, by 2025 up to 15.4% of each lagjerae manufacturers’ fleet must be
made of zero emission vehicles.

We have entered into three contracts for the daf&¥ credits with three separate automotive maciufiers. For the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, we earned re¥mmehe sale of ZEV credits of $2.7 million, $Z18llion and $8.2 million, respectivel
Our current agreement with an automotive manufactorovides for the sale of a partial quantityref ZEV credits that we earn from the sale
of vehicles that we manufacture in 2012, with atiaspfor additional sales of uncommitted creditduture model years. We have also entered
into a third contract with another automotive mawtiirer to sell ZEV credits earned from the sal®oflel S vehicles in 2012. To the extent
we have additional ZEV credits available for sate,may enter into new agreements with automotiveufaturers to sell such credits.

Regulation—Vehicle Safety and Testing

Our vehicles are subject to, and the Tesla Roadstaplies with, or is exempt from, numerous regulatequirements established by the
National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NFR), including all applicable United States federadtor vehicle safety standar
(FMVSS). As a manufacturer, we must self-certifgtth vehicle meets or otherwise obtain an exemitan all applicable FMVSSs, as well
as the NHTSA bumper standard, before the vehiglebeaimported into or sold in the United Statesféhare numerous FMVSSs that apply to
our vehicles. Examples of these requirements irclud

» Crast-worthiness requiremen—including applicable and appropriate level of véhitructure and occupant protection in fror
side and interior impacts including through use@dipment such as seat belts and airbags whichsatisty applicable
requirements

» Crash avoidance requirementsincluding appropriate steering, braking and eq@ptrequirements, such as, headlamps, tail
lamps, and other required lamps, all of which nmestform to various photometric and performance irequents;

» Electric vehicle requiremen—limitations on electrolyte spillage, battery retent and avoidance of electric shock followi
specified crash test
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*  Windshield defrosting and defoggi—defined zones of the windshield must be clearetliwi specified timeframe; at
* Rearview mirror requiremen—rearward areas that must be visible to the driiethe mirrors

As a small volume manufacturer that produces olagtac vehicles, we have applied for, and havenlgranted, exemptions from certain
advanced air bag and electronic stability conteguirements, which apply to Tesla Roadsters matwriad through November 7, 2011. Under
U.S. law, we are required to certify compliancehwiir obtain exemption from all applicable federaltor vehicle safety standards and we t
done so with respect to each vehicle we have afémesale in the United States. Based on teséingineering analysis, and other information,
we have certified that the Tesla Roadster complies, or is exempt from all applicable NHTSA stardiaby affixing a certification label to
each Tesla Roadster sold.

We are also required to comply with other requireta®f federal laws administered by NHTSA, inclglthe Corporate Average Fuel
Economy standards, consumer information labeliggirements, early warning reporting requiremenggrding warranty claims, field reports,
death and injury reports and foreign recalls, ander’s manual requirements.

Our vehicles sold in Europe are subject to Europgrion safety testing regulations. Many of thosgutations, referred to as European
Union Whole Vehicle Type Approval (WVTA), are difmt from the federal motor vehicle safety stangaplicable in the United States and
may require redesign and/or retesting. Our TeskdBi@rs are currently approved for sale on a lohiii@sis in the European Union via the
Small Series WVTA, which permits the manufacturd aale in the European Union of no more than 1y@blcles per year. Since we have
fewer than 1,000 Tesla Roadsters left to sell, axemo plans to commence testing our Tesla Roadstethe WVTA to assure compliance
with the European Union requirements to permitmaitéd sales. Similarly, Australia and Japan hawitexhal testing regulations applicable to
high volume manufacturers. We also plan to keeptralian and Japanese sales of our Tesla Roadsteisw volume, and have no plans to
comply with the Australian and Japanese requiresnenpermit high volume sales in these jurisdictidn connection with the introduction of
the Tesla Roadster in Australia and Japan, we aadwa frontal impact test based on European Uteisting standards on the Tesla Roadster
in November 2009, which is required for sales esoggcertain annual volumes outside the UnitedeStatvhile the Tesla Roadster met most
of the criteria for occupant protection and altexia for high voltage safety in the front imparash test, there were two criteria that were not
met in the test. Based on our analysis of additioompliance options in Australia and Japan, wéelvelsuch an outcome should not limit our
ability to sell the Tesla Roadster in Australiadyelcertain annual volumes or, subject to compliamite certain Japanese import rules, have a
material impact on our ability to sell Tesla Roa&dstin Japan.

The Federal Trade Commission (FTC) requires usiitutate and display the range of our electric #lelsion a label we affix to the
vehicle’'s window. The FTC specifies that we folltesting requirements set forth by the Society ofofnotive Engineers (SAE) which further
requires that we test using the United States EBé&sbined city and highway testing cycles. In iyt 1, the EPA announced new energy
efficiency testing methodologies for electric vébic These new requirements, when applied to duickes, could reduce the advertised range
of our vehicles by up to 30% as compared to metlogies we have used to estimate the range of thieles at a steady speed of 55 miles per
hour. Shortly after the EPA issued their new regmients, the FTC issued a proposed rule that warithdnize current FTC label requireme
with the EPA’s new fuel economy label requiremefitinalized, changes to the testing cycles presly utilized could impair our ability to
deliver Model S with the previously advertised rafgsed on the steady speed of 55 miles per hoge @ethodology, which could result in
the cancellation of a number of the over 8,000rkeg®ns that have been placed for Model S as aebwwer 31, 2011. Although the real life
customer experience of the range of our electriioles will not change due to the changes in th€ BT EPA standards, the reduction in the
advertised range could negatively impact our satesharm our business.

21



Table of Contents

The Automobile Information and Disclosure Act raggi manufacturers of motor vehicles to discloseageimformation regarding the
manufacturer’s suggested retail price, optionaimgent and pricing. In addition, the Act allows lusion of city and highway fuel economy
ratings, as determined by EPA, as well as craghia@ngs as determined by NHTSA if such testscareducted.

Regulation—EPA Emissions & Certificate of Confornyit

The Clean Air Act requires that we obtain a Cegéife of Conformity issued by the EPA and a Califofxecutive Order issued by the
California Air Resources Board (CARB) with resperemissions for our vehicles, including Model &eTCertificate of Conformity is requir
for vehicles sold in states covered by the Cleanfat’s standards and both the Certificate of Comfity and the Executive Order is required
for vehicles sold in states that have sought acelived a waiver from the EPA to utilize Califorsigandards. The California standards for
emissions control for certain regulated pollutdotsnew vehicles and engines sold in Californiaseeby CARB. States that have adopted the
California standards as approved by EPA also razeghe Executive Order for sales of vehicles.

Regulation—Battery Safety and Testing

Our battery pack conforms with mandatory regulaitivat govern transport of “dangerous goods” they present a risk in
transportation, which includes lithiuion batteries. The governing regulations, whichisseed by the Pipeline and Hazardous Materialst$
Administration (PHMSA) are based on the UN Recomaations on the Safe Transport of Dangerous GooddeM®egulations, and related
UN Manual Tests and Criteria. The regulations \@arynode of transportation when these items arepsghiiguch as by ocean vessel, rail, truck,
or by air.

We have completed the applicable transportatiais fes our prototype and production battery paakdnstrating our compliance with
the UN Manual of Tests and Criteria, including:
» Altitude simulatior—simulating air transpor
» Thermal cyclinc—assessing cell and battery seal integ
* Vibration—simulating vibration during transpo
* Shock—simulating possible impacts during transport;
» External short circui—simulating an external short circt

We also subject our battery packs to the appraptéests specified in the Society of Automotive Hegirs (SAE) J2464 and J2929 which
include further tests such as immersion, humidityd exposure to fire.

We use lithium metal oxide cells in our batterykgmcThe cells do not contain any lead, mercurypiach, or other hazardous materials,
heavy metals, or any toxic materials. Our battergks include certain packaging materials which @iartrace amounts of various hazardous
chemicals whose use, storage and disposal is tedulader federal law. We currently have an agre¢émvih a third party battery recycling
company to recycle our battery packs. If a customighes to dispose of a battery pack from one ofvehicles, we anticipate accepting the
depleted battery from the customer without any éaltl charge.

Automobile Manufacturer and Dealer Regulation

State law regulates the manufacture, distributiwsh sale of automobiles, and generally requires maghicle manufacturers and dealers
to be licensed. To the extent possible, we plaseture dealer licenses (or the equivalent of eedéieénse) and engage in activities as a motor
vehicle dealer in so far as we are permitted tsalas we open additional Tesla stores. Some statast permit automobile manufacturers to
be licensed as
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dealers or to act in the capacity of a dealer.élbvehicles to residents of states where we atdicensed as a dealer, to the extent permitted by
local law, both the actual sale and all activitielaited to the sale would generally have to occtiiob state. In this scenario, it is possible that
activities related to marketing, advertising, takorders, taking reservations and reservation pagsnand delivering vehicles could be viewed
by a state as conducting unlicensed activitiebénstate or otherwise violating the state’s mo#driele industry laws. Regulators in these states
may require us to hold and meet the requiremendppfopriate dealer or other licenses and, insiateshich manufacturers are prohibited

from acting as dealers, may otherwise prohibingpact our planned activities.

In jurisdictions where we do not have a Tesla stareustomer may try to purchase our vehicles theemternet. However, some states,
such as Kansas, have laws providing that a manutxatannot deliver a vehicle to a resident of steke except through a dealer licensed to
do business in that state which may be interprietedquire us to open a store in the state of Kairsarder to sell vehicles to Kansas residents.
Such laws may be interpreted to require us to @pgiere in such state before we sell vehiclesdimeats of such states. In some states where
we have opened a viewing “gallery” that is not krfetail location, it is possible that a state utsgor could take the position that activities at
our gallery constitute an unlicensed motor vehitdalership and thereby violates applicable manufactdealer laws. Although we would
prefer that a state regulator address any contgrdsscussing such concerns with us and requegthatary compliance, a state could also
take action against us, including levying finesemuiring that we refrain from certain activitiéis.addition, some states have requirements that
service facilities be available with respect toiekds sold in the state, which may be interpretedi$o require that service facilities be availe
with respect to vehicles sold over the interneetidents of the state thereby limiting our abit@ysell vehicles in states where we do not
maintain service facilities.

The foregoing examples of state laws governingstile of motor vehicles are just some of the regratwe will face as we sell our
vehicles. In many states, the application of stad¢or vehicle laws to our specific sales modehigély without precedent, particularly with
respect to sales over the internet, and would berméned by a fact specific analysis of numerowusdis, including whether we have a physical
presence or employees in the applicable state hehete advertise or conduct other activities indpplicable state, how the sale transaction is
structured, the volume of sales into the state vaimether the state in question prohibits manufactufrom acting as dealers. As a result of the
fact specific and untested nature of these issuesthe fact that applying these laws intendedHertraditional automobile distribution model
to our sales model allows for some interpretatiot discretion by the regulators, state legal pritibitts may prevent us from selling to
consumers in such state.

California laws, and potentially the laws of otlséates, restrict the ability of licensed dealeradwertise or take deposits for vehicles
before they are available. In November 2007, wabecaware that the New Motor Vehicle Board of tlaif@rnia Department of
Transportation has considered whether our reservatid advertising policies comply with these laWwsdate, we have not received any
communications on this topic from the New Motor i Board or the Department of Motor Vehicles (DMw¥hich has the power to enforce
these laws. There can be no assurance that the Wilkot take the position that our vehicle reseiwma or advertising practices violate the
law. We expect that if the DMV determines that wayrhave violated the law, it would initially dissuiss concerns with us and request
voluntary compliance. If we are ultimately foundi® in violation of California law, we might be pheded from taking reservation payments,
and the DMV could take other actions against uduifing levying fines and requiring us to refundervation payments. Resolution of any
inquiry may also involve restructuring certain agpeof the reservation program. The DMV also haspibwer to suspend licenses to
manufacture and sell vehicles in California, foliogra hearing on the merits, which it has typicatkercised only in cases of significant or
repeat violations and/or a refusal to comply wit\Ddirections.

Certain states may have specific laws which applyealers, or manufacturers selling directly tostoners, or both. For example, the
state of Washington requires that reservation paysner other payment
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received from residents in the state of Washingtoist be placed in a segregated account until dglivethe vehicle, which account must be
unencumbered by any liens from creditors of théetend may not be used by the dealer. Consequevelestablished a segregated account
for reservation payments in the state of Washingtalanuary 2010. There can be no assurance thet stite or foreign jurisdictions will not
require similar segregation of reservation paymecgived from customers. Our inability to access¢éhfunds for working capital purposes
could harm our liquidity.

Furthermore, while we have performed an analyste®principal laws in the European Union relatiogur distribution model and
believe we comply with such laws, we have not genfed a complete analysis in all foreign jurisdingdn which we may sell vehicles.
Accordingly, there may be laws in jurisdictions heve not yet entered or laws we are unaware afrigdictions we have entered that may
restrict our vehicle reservation practices or othesiness practices. Even for those jurisdictioashave analyzed, the laws in this area can be
complex, difficult to interpret and may change otiere.

In addition to licensing laws, specific laws andukations in each of the states (and their integpi@n by regulators) may limit or
determine how we sell, market, advertise, and oatisersolicit sales, take orders, take reservatmsreservation payments, deliver, and
service vehicles for consumers and engage in aittesities in that state. While we have performadhaalysis of laws in certain jurisdictions
which we have Tesla stores, we have not perfornmmhgplete analysis in all jurisdictions in which way sell vehicles. Accordingly, there
may be laws in jurisdictions we have not yet erdeghat may restrict our vehicle reservation pragior other business practices.

Competition

Competition in the automotive industry is intensd avolving. We believe the impact of new regulat@guirements for occupant safety
and vehicle emissions, technological advances wepmain and consumer electronics components, hiftthg customer needs and
expectations are causing the industry to evolwbérdirection of electric-based vehicles. We baitghe primary competitive factors in our
markets include but are not limited to:

» technological innovatior
e product quality and safet
* service options
» product performance
* design and styling
e product price; an
* manufacturing efficiency
We believe that our vehicles compete in the meokét based on their traditional segment classifioads well as based on their

propulsion technology. Within the electric-basetligke segment, there are three primary means oepoain electrification which will
differentiate various competitors in this market:

» Electric Vehiclesare vehicles powered completely by a single ondbeaergy storage system (battery pack or fuel edlith is
refueled directly from an electricity source. Btile Tesla Roadster and Model S are examples dfieleehicles.

* Plug-in Hybrid Vehiclesare vehicles powered by both a battery pack witklaatric motor and an internal combustion engiéctv
can be refueled both with traditional petroleumidifer the engine and electricity for the batteack. The internal combustion
engine can either work in parallel with t
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electric motor to power the wheels, such as inralfgh pluc-in hybrid vehicle, or be used only to rechargelihttery, such as in
series plu-in hybrid vehicle like the Chevrolet Vo

» Hybrid Electric Vehicleware vehicles powered by both a battery pack witklaatric motor and an internal combustion engine b
which can only be refueled with traditional petratefuels as the battery pack is charged via regéinerbraking, such as used in a
hybrid electric vehicle like the Toyota Prit

The worldwide automotive market, particularly féteanative fuel vehicles, is highly competitive &gdand we expect it will become ev
more so in the future. Prior to the introductiortted Nissan Leaf in December 2010, no mass prodpegdrmance highway-capable electric
vehicles were being sold in the United Statesajaf, Mitsubishi has been selling its electric iMi&ince April 2010. We expect additional
competitors to enter the United States and Eurdffénithe next several years, and as they do sexpect that we will experience significant
competition. With respect to our Tesla Roadstercureently face strong competition from establishetbmobile manufacturers, including
manufacturers of high-performance vehicles, sudhasche and Ferrari. In addition, upon the lawfabur Model S sedan, we will face
competition from existing and future automobile mfacturers in the extremely competitive premiumasetharket, including Audi, BMW,
Lexus and Mercedes.

Many established and new automobile manufactur@ye Bntered or have announced plans to entertéreative fuel vehicle market.
For example, Nissan introduced the Nissan Leatllp &électric vehicle in December 2010 and Ford &iasounced that it plans to introduce the
pure electric Ford Focus and plug-in hybrid For1@x in 2012. In addition, several manufacturersl|uding General Motors, Toyota, Ford,
and Honda are each selling hybrid vehicles, anthiceof these manufacturers have announced plwegssions of their hybrid vehicles. For
example, in December 2010, General Motors introddube Chevrolet Volt, which is a plug-in hybrid velk that operates purely on electric
power for a limited number of miles, at which tie internal combustion engine engages to rechaggbdttery.

Moreover, it has been reported that BMW, Daimlerxiis, Audi, Renault and Volkswagen are also devegpglectric vehicles. Several
new start-ups have also announced plans to ergenginket for performance electric vehicles, althoogne of these have yet come to market.
Finally, electric vehicles have already been brawgimarket in China and other foreign countried s expect a number of those
manufacturers to enter the United States markefedls

Most of our current and potential competitors hsigmificantly greater financial, technical, manutatg, marketing and other resources
than we do and may be able to devote greater resstw the design, development, manufacturingildigion, promotion, sale and support of
their products. Virtually all of our competitorsweamore extensive customer bases and broader cetstord industry relationships than we do.
In addition, almost all of these companies havgdoroperating histories and greater name recogrtitian we do. Our competitors may be in a
stronger position to respond quickly to new tecbgas and may be able to design, develop, markesalhtheir products more effectively. \
believe our exclusive focus on electric vehicled alectric vehicle components, as well as our hysod vehicle development and production,
are the basis on which we can compete in the glaltaimotive market in spite of the challenges pdsedur competition; however, we have a
limited history of operations.

Intellectual Property

Our success depends, at least in part, on outyatailprotect our core technology and intellectu@perty. To accomplish this, we rely on
a combination of patents, patent applications grsetrets, including know-how, employee and thaxdypnondisclosure agreements, copyright
laws, trademarks, intellectual property licenses atter contractual rights to establish and pradectproprietary rights in our technology. As
of December 31, 2011, we had 59 issued patentsnane than 230 pending patent applications withithi#ed States Patent and
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Trademark Office and internationally in a broadgaiof areas. Our issued patents start expirin@262We intend to continue to file additiol
patent applications with respect to our technoldyg. do not know whether any of our pending patepliaations will result in the issuance of
patents or whether the examination process willirequs to narrow our claims. Even if granted, ¢hean be no assurance that these pending
patent applications will provide us with protection

Seasonality

Sales of the Tesla Roadster have fluctuated oasosal basis with increased sales during the spridgsummer months in our second
and third fiscal quarters relative to our fourttddinst fiscal quarters. We note that, in genesatomotive sales tend to decline over the winter
season and we anticipate that our sales of Modglad8el X and other electric vehicles we introducethie future may have similar seasonality.
However, our limited operating history makes ifidiflt for us to judge the exact nature or extefrthe seasonality of our business. We do not
expect our powertrain component sales and developsaevices revenue to be impacted to a signifieatent by seasonality.

Segment Information

We have determined that we operate as one repagigignent, which is the design, development, matwiag and sales of electric
vehicles and electric powertrain components. Ffarimation regarding financial data by geograph&aar see Note 13 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements included in this Annual ReparForm 10-K under Item 8. Financial Statements @mpplementary Data.

Employees

As of December 31, 2011, we had 1,417 full-time kyges consisting of 452 in manufacturing, 3150wertrain research and
development, 276 in sales, marketing and servit@,i”2 vehicle design and engineering, and 158 imegd and administration. Of all of our
employees, 1,088 are located in our Northern Qalifooffices (including the Tesla Factory), 81 breated at our Los Angeles facility and 48
are located at our United Kingdom offices. The o#maployees are located in our domestic sales amnvite centers and other international
locations. None of our employees are currentlygsgnted by labor unions or are covered by a coleeblrgaining agreement with respect to
their employment. To date, we have not experieegdwork stoppages, and we consider our relatipnsith our employees to be good.

Available Information

We file or furnish periodic reports and amendmemseto, including our Annual Reports on Form 1®Kr Quarterly Reports on Form
10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K; proxy statgsiand other information with the Securities ardtiiange Commission (SEC). Such
reports, amendments, proxy statements and othemniation may be obtained by visiting the Public&efce Room of the SEC at 100 F
Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Informatiorttom operation of the Public Reference Room carbt&red by calling the SEC at 1-800-
SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC maintains a welfsite/w.sec.goy) that contains reports, proxy and informationestagnts, and other
information regarding issuers that file electrotlicaOur reports, amendments thereto, proxy statemand other information are also made
available, free of charge, on our investor relaiombsite at ir.teslamotors.cam soon as reasonably practicable after we elecaibnfile or
furnish such information with the SEC. The inforioatposted on our website is not incorporated ligresce into this Annual Report on Form
10-K.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the risks describeldl together with the other information set faritthis report, which could materially
affect our business, financial condition and futtesults. The risks described below are not thg asks facing our company. Risks and
uncertainties not currently known to us or thatauerently deem to be immaterial also may materiatiiyersely affect our business, financial
condition and operating results.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
Our limited operating history makes evaluating business and future prospects difficult, and mayaase the risk of your investment.

You must consider the risks and difficulties weefas an early stage company with a limited opegdtistory. If we do not successfully
address these risks, our business, prospects timgemasults and financial condition will be matdly and adversely harmed. We were formed
in July 2003. We began delivering our first perfamoe electric vehicle, the Tesla Roadster, in €038, and as of December 31, 2011, we
only sold approximately 2,150 Roadsters to custsiamost all of which were sold in the United 8saand Europe. Our revenues for the y
ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 were $204i@n, $116.7 million and $111.9 million, respeely. We have a very limited
operating history on which investors can base afuation of our business, operating results andpeots.

To date, we have derived our revenues principatignfsales of the Tesla Roadster and from electnegptrain development services and
sales. We intend in the longer term to derive sarti&l revenues from the sales of our Model S seg@nModel X crossover and future elec
vehicles. Model S is in development and we plaoaimmence deliveries by July 2012. We have no operaistory with respect to Model S
and have not yet fully completed the componentym@ment process for Model S, which limits our @pito accurately forecast the cost of the
vehicle. Further, we have only recently produce@ary prototype of the Model X crossover. We plaustart Model X production in late 2013
and ramp to significant customer deliveries inyeaf14. We only completed the purchase of our TEatory in Fremont, California in
October 2010 to produce such vehicles, and we hatrget completely finalized the full vehicle desigr our engineering, manufacturing or
component supply plans for Model S. In additiorr, powertrain component sales, development serveemnue and powertrain research and
development compensation have been almost engezigrated under arrangements with Daimler AG (Datiand Toyota Motor Corporation
(Toyota). While in November 2011 we received eelettf intent from Daimler for a full electric poweain program for a vehicle in the
Mercedes line and recently we received a purchadgr o begin the development work, we have nofigatized with Daimler the terms for
this program and may never do so. Furthermore end have executed a supply and services agreswitarifoyota related to the Toyota
RAV4 EV program, there are no assurances that Wévaable to secure future business with Daimlerota or any of their affiliates.

It is difficult to predict our future revenues aappropriately budget for our expenses, and we haed insight into trends that may
emerge and affect our business. For example, dtimmgears ended 2011, 2010 and 2009, we recondsategly revenues of as much as
$58.2 million and as little as $18.6 million andagierly operating losses of as much as $80.9 mibiod as little as $4.3 million. In the event
that actual results differ from our estimates orag@ist our estimates in future periods, our ofegatesults and financial position could be
materially affected.

In addition, our revenues to date have includedwartsowe receive from selling zero emission veh(£EEV) credits to other automobile
manufacturers, pursuant to certain state regulsitidthile we continue to sign agreements with auta@rsato sell ZEV and other regulatory
credits, we may not be able to enter into new agesgs to sell any additional credits related to ®ld8l Model X or our other future vehicles,
which would negatively impact our revenues and nmeta@ygets in the long term.
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Although we are significantly dependent upon revengenerated from the sale of the Tesla Roadster andpowertrain activities with
other OEMs in the near term, our future success Mik dependent upon our ability to design and achéanarket acceptance of new
vehicle models, specifically Model S and Model X.

We currently generate a significant percentageuofrevenues from the sale of our Tesla Roadsteeselided the production run of the
Tesla Roadster at 2,500 vehicles in January 20dZales of new Tesla Roadsters are now limitechyovahicles available from our remaining
inventory.

Our second planned vehicle, our Model S, will netilb production until mid-2012, requires signifit@mvestment prior to commercial
introduction, and may never be successfully devadogr commercially successful. Additionally, theem be no assurance that we will be able
to design future electric vehicles that will mdet expectations of our customers or that our futupdels, including Model S and Model X, v
become commercially viable. To the extent that veermt able to build the production Model S and &loXi to the expectations created by the
early prototypes and our announced specificatiomstomers may cancel their reservations, our fugales could be harmed and investors may
lose confidence in us. Furthermore, historicallytpanobile customers have come to expect new antbiveg vehicle models to be introduced
frequently. In order to meet these expectationsmag in the future be required to introduce ongular basis new vehicle models as well as
enhanced versions of existing vehicle models. Alrielogies change in the future for automobileganeral and performance electric vehicles
specifically, we will be expected to upgrade orgdaur vehicles and introduce new models in orderontinue to provide vehicles with the
latest technology. To date, we have limited expegesimultaneously designing, testing, manufacginipgrading, adapting and selling our
electric vehicles.

We anticipate that we will experience a significaintrease in losses and will experience a signifitaecrease in revenues prior to the
launch of Model S.

Prior to the launch of our Model S, we anticipate evenues will decline significantly as we haverated supply of Tesla Roadsters
remaining to be sold. As a result, we anticipas e will generate limited revenues from sellimeceric vehicles in 2012 until the launch of
our Model S. The launch of our Model S could beaglet! for a number of reasons and any such delay$maignificant and would extend the
period in which we would generate limited revenfrem sales of our electric vehicles. Furthermofcagh we recently received a letter of
intent and a purchase order from Daimler for adldictric powertrain program for a vehicle in thergedes line, we have not yet finalized with
Daimler the terms for this program. In additiorttie limited number of the Tesla Roadsters lefistle, we also expect powertrain component
sales to be limited until the start of production the Toyota RAV4 EV program during the first haff2012. The potential decrease in sales
revenue prior to the launch of Model S due to aediin both Roadster and powertrain component salég materially and adversely affect
our business, prospects, operating results anddiabcondition and our ability to fund operatirg$es could seriously constrain our growth.

Our production model for the non-powertrain portioaf Model S is unproven, still evolving and is vedifferent from the non-powertrain
portion of the production model for the Tesla Roaes

Our future business depends in large part on alityao execute on our plans to develop, manufestmarket and sell our Model S. To
date, our revenues have been principally derivewh fihe sales of our Tesla Roadster. The Tesla Reyauizss only been produced in low volt
guantities and the body was assembled by Lotus IGeniged (Lotus) in the United Kingdom, with thenéil assembly by us at our facility in
Menlo Park, California for sales destined in thatebh States. We plan to manufacture Model S in drigtolumes at our Tesla Factory. As a
result, the non-powertrain portion of the productinodel for Model S will be substantially differeartd significantly more complex than the
non-powertrain portion of the production model tioe Tesla Roadster. In addition, for Model S wanpitaintroduce a number of new
manufacturing technologies and techniques, sueuasinum spot welding systems, which have not heidiely adopted in the automotive
industry, and the vehicle will have a number of reewd unique design features, such as a 17 inclkaglispreen, newly designed retractable
exterior door handles and a panoramic roof. Our &i&lproduction model will
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require significant investments of cash and managemesources and we may experience unexpectegsdsldifficulties that could postpone
our ability to launch or achieve full manufacturicgpacity for Model S, which could have a matesiderse effect on our business, prospects,
operating results and financial condition.

Our production model for Model S is based on magy &ssumptions, which may turn out to be incoriiectuding:

» that we will be able to complete changes to the $t¢dge design of Model S in a timely manner thegtour targeted producti
date and allows for high quality manufacturi

« that we will be able to engage suppliers for &l tiecessary components on terms and conditionptabde to us and that we will
able to obtain all components on a timely basisiarnile necessary quantities, quality and at aetdgtprices

« that we will not experience any significant delayslisruptions in our supply chai

» that our internal crash testing and computer adksign and engineering processes can accuratelicptiee performance of our
vehicle for passing relevant safety standards hatve will be able to meet our safety goals withthanging materials or designs
in a way that would impact our anticipated starprafduction;

» that we will be able to build out and equip thel@dsactory in a timely manner, including meetindestones and other conditions
necessary to draw down funds under our loan faailith the United States Department of Energy (doal facility, including
amendments thereto, the DOE Loan Facili

« that we will be able to develop and equip the Té&gletory without exceeding our projected costs@mdur projected timeline

» that the equipment which we have purchased or whigkelect will be able to accurately manufactheevehicle within specifie
design tolerance:

» that we will be able to comply with environmentabrkplace safety and similar regulations to opecatemanufacturing facilitie
and our business on our projected timel

« that Model S will obtain the necessary governm@ptravals in a timely fashion without impacting qlanned start of productio

» that we will be able to attract, recruit, hire arain a sufficient number of skilled employees liring employees on the production
line, to operate the Tesla Factory, and do sotimely fashion; anc

» that we will be able to maintain high quality car¢ras we transition to a higher level c-house manufacturing proce

If one or more of the foregoing assumptions tunmmsto be incorrect, and we are unable to succdgséuinch Model S on time and on
budget and to ramp to our planned volume produgctiaon business prospects, operating results aaddial condition may be materially and
adversely impacted.

We have no experience to date in high volume maraiteing of our electric vehicles.

We do not know whether we will be able to develffitient, automated, low-cost manufacturing capibdnd processes, and reliable
sources of component supply that will enable unéet the quality, price, engineering, design amdipction standards, as well as the
production volumes required to successfully massketaModel S. Even if we are successful in develgpmur high volume manufacturing
capability and processes and reliable sourcesrapooent supply, we do not know whether we will beedo do so in a manner that avoids
significant delays and cost overruns, includingassult of factors beyond our control such as lerab with suppliers and vendors, or in time
to meet our vehicle commercialization schedule® @atisfy the requirements of customers. We hané,may in the future, experience cost
increases from certain of our suppliers in ordan&et our quality targets and development timelasewell as due to design changes that we
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make. Any failure to develop such manufacturingcpsses and capabilities within our projected caststimelines could have a material
adverse effect on our business, prospects, opgnagults and financial condition.

We may experience significant delays in the desigranufacture, launch, financing and ramping up ofrpduction of Model S, which
could harm our business and prospects.

Any delay in the financing, design, manufacture knohch of Model S could materially damage our drdwusiness, prospects, financial
condition and operating results. Automobile mantufieers often experience delays in the design, neatufe and commercial release of new
vehicle models. We experienced significant delaylsiunching the Tesla Roadster. We initially anremehthat we would begin delivering the
Tesla Roadster in June 2007, but due to variougme@sd production delays, we did not physicallinde our first Tesla Roadster until
February 2008, and we only achieved higher produodatf this vehicle in the fourth quarter of 2008.€8e delays resulted in additional costs
and adverse publicity for our business.

We may experience similar delays in launching amping up production of Model S, and any such detauld be significant. In
addition, final designs for Model S and plans fue bperation of the Tesla Factory using produdibating are still in process and have not yet
been completely finalized. We continue to makelfadjustments to the design of Model S to creagehiighest quality electric vehicle in the
world. If we do not complete these late stage chartg the design of Model S however, and do natieeeon Model S manufacturing plans in
a timely manner, we may be unable to meet our f@ateliver first customer vehicles by July 2012amp up our planned production of Mo
S in a timely manner, our costs may rise and/or &l&ithat we do produce initially or after ramprogy be lower in quality. Additionally,
detailed testing of systems integration, perfornesaned safety are ongoing and any negative resalts $uch testing could cause production
delays in Model S, cost increases or lower qualibdel S vehicles.

In addition, we are currently evaluating, qualifyiand selecting our remaining suppliers for thepéal production of Model S. Howev
we may not be able to engage suppliers for theiréngacomponents in a timely manner, at an accéptafice or in the necessary quantities.
Furthermore, even if we are able to engage neaggalisrs, such suppliers may not be ready or absipply us with needed Model S
components in a timely manner or may be unableduige us with the necessary level of quality comgrts that we require.

In addition, we will also need to do extensiveitesto ensure that Model S is in compliance witplagable National Highway Traffic
Safety Administration (NHTSA) safety regulationgldunited States Environmental Protection AgencyAE&hd California Air Resources
Board (CARB) emission regulations prior to begimgnimass production and delivery of the vehicles.

Our plan to begin production of Model S in n#642 is dependent upon the timely availability wids from our DOE Loan Facility, up
our finalizing the related design, engineering, poment procurement, testing, and manufacturingspla@ timely manner, and upon our ab
to execute these plans within the current timeline.

We completed the purchase of the Tesla Factorycioligr 2010 and selected it in part because itre@ntly used for automobile
manufacturing, was located within 20 miles of oatdPAlto engineering facility, and we believe itgesmay allow us to adapt our internal
manufacturing plans quickly. We expect that alkthéctors will support the timely start of prodantfor Model S. However, because we are
still implementing our manufacturing plans, incluglithe purchasing and installment of needed toplirggmay experience unexpected delays
in ramping up production at this facility for theopluction of our Model S.

In January 2010, we entered into a loan facilitthviive Federal Financing Bank (FFB) that is guaedity the DOE (DOE Loan
Facility). Our DOE Loan Facility provides for a $16 million loan facility under the DOE’s Advanc&eéchnology Vehicles Manufacturing
Loan Program (ATVM Program) to help finance thetomred development of Model S, including the build and operation of a
manufacturing facility, and to
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finance the build out and operation of our eleghdgvertrain manufacturing facility. We intend tontuthe final tooling purchases and the
remaining Model S related development expensesipaily by using existing cash and cash obtainedutph the DOE Loan Facility. Our
ability to draw down these funds under the DOE LbBanility is conditioned upon certain draw condigpincluding our achievement of
progress milestones relating to the design andlderent of Model S as well as financial covenaltitaie are unable to draw down the
anticipated funds under the DOE Loan Facility omtimeline that we anticipate, our plans for buiglour Model S and electric powertrain
manufacturing plants could be significantly delaygdch would materially adversely affect our busisieprospects, financial condition and
operating results.

We are dependent on our suppliers, a significantmber of which are single source suppliers, and ihability of these suppliers to
continue to deliver, or their refusal to delivergoessary components of our vehicles in a timely mamnat prices, quality levels, and
volumes acceptable to us would have a material ageeffect on our business, prospects and operatiegults.

Model S contains numerous purchased parts whickowece globally from over 200 direct suppliers, nahwhom are currently single
source suppliers for these components. While waioltomponents from multiple sources whenever ptesssimilar to other automobile
manufacturers, many of the components used in ehicles are purchased by us from a single sourtéeVe are currently working to
establish long-term agreements with our entire beippase, to date we have not qualified altermasiources for most of the single sourced
components used in our vehicles and we generallyotlnaintain long-term agreements with our supglie

While we believe that we may be able to establisdrrzate supply relationships and can obtain oireyey replacement components for
our single source components, we may be unable smdn the short term or at all at prices or ctsas are favorable to us. In particular, while
we believe that we will be able to secure altersaterces of supply for almost all of our singlersed components in a relatively short time
frame, qualifying alternate suppliers or developing own replacements for certain highly customizeshponents of our vehicles may be time
consuming, costly and may force us to make additiorodifications to a vehicle’s design.

This supply chain exposes us to multiple potesiairces of delivery failure or component shortdgedlodel S, as well as for our
powertrain component sales activities. For exanmgaethquakes similar to the one that occurredpadan March 2011 could negatively img
our supply chain. We are currently evaluating, iiyialg and selecting our suppliers for the planpedduction of Model S and we intend to
establish dual suppliers and multiple manufactutirgitions for some suppliers for several key congmbs of Model S, although we expect
that most of components for Model S will be singdeirced. We have in the past experienced sourngptiisns in our supply chains, which
have caused delays in our production process andayeexperience additional delays in the futurdwétspect to Model S and any other fu
vehicle we may produce.

Changes in business conditions, wars, governmehgalges and other factors beyond our control oclwivie do not presently anticipate,
could also affect our suppliers’ ability to delivamponents to us on a timely basis. Furthermbreg iexperience significant increased
demand, or need to replace certain existing sugplibere can be no assurance that additional isspgfi component parts will be available
when required on terms that are favorable to uall,abr that any supplier would allocate suffidisapplies to us in order to meet our
requirements or fill our orders in a timely mannarthe past, we have replaced certain suppliecaulmse of their failure to provide components
that met our quality control standards. The losamyf single or limited source supplier or the digian in the supply of components from these
suppliers could lead to delays in vehicle deliveti®our customers, which could hurt our relatigoshvith our customers and also materially
adversely affect our business, prospects and opgnasults.

Changes in our supply chain have resulted in tisg pad may result in the future, in increased anstdelay. For example, a change in
our supplier for our carbon fiber body panels cbuated to the delay in our ability to ramp our puotion of the Tesla Roadster. A failure by
our suppliers to provide the components in a tinmenner or at the level of quality necessary toufasture our performance electric vehicles
such as our
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Model S could prevent us from fulfilling customeders in a timely fashion which could result in atge publicity, damage our brand and
have a material adverse effect on our businessppugts, financial condition and operating results.

We face significant barriers in our attempt to prade our Model S, and if we cannot successfully a@ne those barriers our business
will be negatively impacted.

We face significant barriers as we attempt to peedour first mass produced vehicle, our Model S.diseently have drivable prototypes
of Model S, but do not have a final design, or ctatgly finalized manufacturing processes. The awotoife industry has traditionally been
characterized by significant barriers to entryJuding large capital requirements, investment costiesigning and manufacturing vehicles,
long lead times to bring vehicles to market frora tioncept and design stage, the need for spedalzsign and development expertise,
regulatory requirements and establishing a bramtenand image and the need to establish sales andeslcations. As a manufacturer and
seller of only electric vehicles, we face a varietyadded challenges to entry that a tradition#b@obile manufacturer would not encounter
including additional costs of developing and prddgan electric powertrain that has comparablequarénce to a traditional gasoline engin
terms of range and power, inexperience with samgieilectric vehicles, regulations associated withttansport of lithiumen battery packs ai
unproven highsolume customer demand for fully electric vehiclesaddition, while we are designing Model S to éalve capability to rapidl
swap out its battery pack, there are no specializdydic facilities today to perform such swappiAdso, while we expect to be able to achie\
300 mile range while traveling at a speed of 5%emper hour, our ability to do so will depend oa thasibility and availability of appropriate
battery cell technologies and improvements thatweeable to achieve in reducing energy consumpidmmust successfully overcome these
barriers as we move from producing the low volunesla Roadster to producing Model S at much higbkmues. If we are not able to
overcome these barriers, our business, prospeasating results and financial condition will begagvely impacted and our ability to grow
our business will be harmed.

We may fail to meet our publicly announced guidangeother expectations about our business, whichulbcause our stock price to
decline.

We provide guidance regarding our expected findid business performance. Correctly identifyimg key factors affecting business
conditions and predicting future events is inhdyeam uncertain process. Our guidance is basediingm assumptions which include, but are
not limited to, assumptions regarding our abil@yathieve anticipated volumes and projected avesalgs prices for our Model S sedan,
assumptions regarding supplier and commodity-rdlatests and assumptions regarding planned costtieds. Such guidance may not always
be accurate or may vary from actual results dwmitdnability to meet our assumptions and the impacour financial performance that could
occur as a result of the various risks and unaeiéa to our business as set forth in these ristofa. We offer no assurance that such guidance
will ultimately be accurate, and investors shouéht any such guidance with appropriate cautiowelfail to meet our guidance or if we find it
necessary to revise such guidance, investors aalgsas may lose confidence in us and the marketeval our common stock could be
materially adversely affected.

Our vehicles make use of lithium-ion battery cellshich have been observed to catch fire or vent kmand flame, and such events have
raised concerns about the batteries used in autar®applications.

The battery pack in the Tesla Roadster makes ulhioim-ion cells. We also currently intend to nealise of lithium-ion cells in the
battery pack for Model S and any future vehiclesmay produce. On rare occasions, lithium-ion cedls rapidly release the energy they
contain by venting smoke and flames in a manndrddi@ ignite nearby materials as well as otheiuitizion cells. Highly publicized incidents
of laptop computers and cell phones bursting it#més have focused consumer attention on the saff¢iyese cells. More recently, multiple
Chevrolet Volt battery pack fires followed by a gowment investigation into the cause of such fioesised considerable public attention, as
well as the attention of NHTSA, on the safety @otfic vehicles. The events have raised concerostdbe batteries used in automotive
applications. To address these questions and
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concerns, a number of cell manufacturers are pugsaliernative lithium-ion battery cell chemistriesmprove safety. We have designed our
battery pack to passively contain any single cellease of energy without spreading to neighbocilts and we are not aware of any such
incident in our customers’ vehicles. We have tesitethattery packs and subjected them to damaggagntents such as baking, overcharging,
crushing or puncturing to assess our battery paelsgonse to deliberate and sometimes destrudiiveeaHowever, we have delivered only a
limited number of Tesla Roadsters to customershave limited field experience with our vehiclegpedally Model S. Additionally, final
safety testing for Model S, some versions of whisk new, higher density cells in their battery gagkcurrently in progress. Accordingly,
there can be no assurance that a field failureioModel S or other battery packs will not occuhjeh could damage the vehicle or lead to
personal injury or death and may subject us tol#as\We may have to redesign our battery packgwhould be time consuming and
expensive. In addition, negative public perceptimgarding the suitability of lithiunen cells for automotive applications could serigusarm
our business.

In addition, we store a significant number of lithi-ion cells at our manufacturing facility. Any handling of battery cells may cause
disruption to the operation of our facilities. Whilve have implemented safety procedures relatdtktbandling of the cells, there can be no
assurance that a safety issue or fire relatedeteels would not disrupt our operations. Such dgera injury would likely lead to adverse
publicity and potentially a safety recall. Moreoyvany failure of a competitor’s electric vehiclspecially those that use a high volume of
commodity cells similar to the Tesla Roadster ordgldS, may cause indirect adverse publicity foand our electric vehicles. Such adverse
publicity would negatively affect our brand andiawur business, prospects, financial condition @etating results.

If our vehicles fail to perform as expected, onife suffer product recalls for our upcoming Model 8ur ability to develop, market and s
our electric vehicles could be harmed.

Our vehicles may contain defects in design and rfi@@twre that may cause them not to perform as eegex that may require repair. |
example, our vehicles use a substantial amourdfof/are code to operate. Software products arer@rttly complex and often contain defects
and errors when first introduced. While we havdqrened extensive internal testing, we currentlydavimited frame of reference by whict
evaluate the long-term performance of our TesladRtea. We have no frame of reference by which tuate our Model S upon which our
business prospects depend. There can be no assuinaheve will be able to detect and fix any deféwtthe vehicles prior to their sale to
consumers. We experienced product recalls in M&p2hd October 2010, both of which were unrelabeaut electric powertrain. In May
2009, we initiated a product recall after we defasd that a condition caused by insufficient torguof the rear inner hub flange bolt existe
some of our Tesla Roadsters, as a result of a thigeeess during the manufacture of the Tesla ReadBder, which is the partially
assembled Tesla Roadster that does not contaieleetric powertrain. In October 2010, we initiategroduct recall after the 12 volt, low
voltage auxiliary cable in a single vehicle chadgginst the edge of a carbon fiber panel in théclebausing a short, smoke and possible fire
behind the right front headlamp of the vehicle haligh the cost of the most recent recall was naérigd, we may experience additional rec
in the future, which could adversely affect ourrtatén our target markets and could adversely affectousiness, prospects and results of
operations.

Our electric vehicles, including the Tesla Roadatet Model S, may not perform consistent with congls’ expectations or consistent
with other vehicles currently available. For exaepmlur electric vehicles may not have the durahiditlongevity of current vehicles, and may
not be as easy to repair as other vehicles cuyrentthe market. Additionally, while we are designiModel S with the intent to achieve a five
star safety rating and an estimated 300 mile ravigks traveling at a steady speed of 55 miles e hthere is no assurance that we will be
able to achieve these performance levels. Any priodefects or any other failure of our performaalestric vehicles to perform as expected
could harm our reputation and result in adversdigityy lost revenue, delivery delays, product déggroduct liability claims, harm to our
brand and reputation, and significant warranty ethetr expenses, and could have a material advayssgct on our business, financial condit
operating results and prospects.
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We have a history of losses and we expect signifigacreases in our costs and expenses to resultantinuing losses for at least the
remainder of 2012.

We incurred a net loss of $254.4 million for thewyended December 31, 2011. In addition, we hageraglated net losses of $669.4
million from our inception through December 31, 20We have had net losses in each quarter sinceception. We believe that we will
continue to incur operating and net losses eacheyuantil at least the time we begin significastideries of Model S, which is not expected to
be in production until mid-2012 with higher volumpeduction not occurring until 2013. Even if we atde to successfully develop Model S,
there can be no assurance that it will be commigraaccessful. If we are to ever achieve profilipit will be dependent upon the successful
development and successful commercial introducimh acceptance of automobiles such as Model Shwhay not occur.

We expect the rate at which we will incur lossemtwease significantly in 2012 compared to prieass’levels until significant deliverie
of Model S begin as we:
» conclude Roadster sale
» complete the development services contract fofthta RAV4 EV program
e experience a drop in powertrain component saldbweatcommence powertrain component sales for thyola RAV4 EV in 2012
» design, develop and manufacture our Model S anglamned Model X crossove
» design, develop and manufacture components ofleatrie powertrain
» develop and equip the Tesla Factory to produceMmdel S;
* build up inventories of parts and components farldadel S;
» develop and equip manufacturing facilities to prelour electric powertrain componer
* open new Tesla stores and service cen
» expand our design, development, maintenance ardf regpabilities
* increase our sales and marketing activities;
* increase our general and administrative functiorsupport our growing operatior
Because we will incur the costs and expenses fhawet efforts before we receive any incrementalmese with respect thereto, our
losses in future periods will be significantly giexathan the losses we would incur if we developedbusiness more slowly. In addition, we

may find that these efforts are more expensive tacurrently anticipate or that these efforts mayresult in increases in our revenues, w
would further increase our losses.

In addition, as of December 31, 2011, we had resmbadfull valuation allowance on our United Statesdeferred tax assets as at this
point we believe it is more likely than not that wil not achieve profitability and accordingly ladle to use our deferred tax assets in the
foreseeable future. Federal and state laws impds&antial restrictions on the utilization of neeocating loss and tax credit carry-forwards in
the event of an “ownership change,” as defineddatiBn 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. Althoughdw not believe that either our initial
public offering (IPO) or subsequent follow-on offeg or private placements constituted an ownershgnge resulting in limitations on our
ability to use our net operating loss and tax drealiryforwards, we have not yet performed a study tordgtee whether such limitations exi
If an ownership change is deemed to have occusedrasult of our IPO, subsequent follow-on offgrior private placements, utilization of
these assets could be significantly reduced.
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If we are unable to adequately control the costsasiated with operating our business, including ocwosts of manufacturing, sales and
materials, our business, financial condition, opéanag results and prospects will suffer.

If we are unable to maintain a sufficiently low é&wf costs for designing, manufacturing, marketsgling and distributing and servici
our electric vehicles relative to their sellinggas$, our operating results, gross margins, busaredgrospects could be materially and adve
impacted. We have made, and will be required tdicoa to make, significant investments for the desimanufacture and sales of our electric
vehicles. When we first began delivering our Tédedster in early 2008, our marginal costs of pcotuthe Tesla Roadster exceeded our
revenue from selling those vehicles. Revenue fitoerstles of our Tesla Roadster as well as from 2t€dits did not exceed the cost of
revenues related to our Tesla Roadster until tbergbquarter of 2009. There can be no assuranaesth costs of producing and delivering
Model S will be less than the revenue we generate the related sales at the time of Model S lawrdhat we will achieve our expected gt
margin on sales of Model S.

We incur significant costs related to procuring the materials required to manufacture our higHegerance electric cars, assembling
vehicles and compensating our personnel. We v @cur substantial costs in constructing anddingl out our Model S and powertrain
manufacturing facilities, each of which could pdtally face cost overruns or delays in constructidmur Model S tooling, production
equipment and parts are insufficient for use in ®1od perhaps as a result of a lower level of comatity between the two vehicles than we
currently anticipate, our costs related to the potidn of Model X may exceed expectations.

Additionally, in the future we may be required taur substantial marketing costs and expenseotagie our vehicles, including
through the use of traditional media such as tsiemj radio and print, even though our marketingezses to date have been relatively limited.
If we are unable to keep our operating costs atigmi¢h the level of revenues we generate, our djpgyaesults, business and prospects will be
harmed. Many of the factors that impact our opegatiosts are beyond our control. For example, tisésmf our raw materials and compone
such as lithium-ion battery cells or aluminum bgdyels used in our vehicles, could increase dgbdaages as global demand for these
products increases. Indeed, if the popularity etelc vehicles exceeds current expectations withigificant expansion in battery cell
production capacity and advancements in battehteshnology, shortages could occur which wouldiltes increased materials costs to us.

Increases in costs, disruption of supply or shoréagf raw materials, in particular lithium-ion cellscould harm our business.

We may experience increases in the cost or a sestaiterruption in the supply or shortage of raatenals. Any such increase or sup
interruption could materially negatively impact dwsiness, prospects, financial condition and dpeyaesults. We use various raw materials
in our business including aluminum, steel, nicked aopper. The prices for these raw materials tlatet depending on market conditions and
global demand for these materials and could adieasfect our business and operating results. fstaince, we are exposed to multiple risks
relating to price fluctuations for lithium-ion cellThese risks include:

« the inability or unwillingness of current battenanufacturers to build or operate battery cell maatufring plants to supply tt
numbers of lithium-ion cells required to suppok tirowth of the electric or pluig-hybrid vehicle industry as demand for such ¢
increases

» disruption in the supply of cells due to qualitguss or recalls by battery cell manufactur
e anincrease in the cost of raw materials, suchckehused in lithiur-ion cells, or aluminum used in the body of ModehS&ql
» fluctuations in the value of the Japanese yen agéie U.S. dollal
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Our business is dependent on the continued supisittery cells for our vehicles and for the batteack we produce for other
automobile manufacturers. While we believe severatces of the battery cells are available forTiagla Roadster and Model S, we have fully
qualified only one supplier for the cells used actle of the Tesla Roadster and Model S. The sawsdsrue for the battery cells used for
battery packs that we supply to other OEMs. Anyugison in the supply of battery cells from sucmaer could temporarily disrupt producti
of Model S and of the battery packs we producextber automobile manufacturers until such time dgfarent supplier is fully qualified.
Furthermore, fluctuations or shortages in petroleunt other economic conditions may cause us torexqe significant increases in freight
charges and raw material costs. Substantial inessiasthe prices for our raw materials or pricegrgbd to us, such as those charged by our
battery cell manufacturers, would increase our afjgg costs, and could reduce our margins if wenotrecoup the increased costs through
increased electric vehicle prices. There can bassarance that we will be able to recoup increasiisgs of raw materials by increasing veh
prices. We have also recently announced pricingadel S. Any attempts to increase the announcexpiin response to increased raw
material costs could be viewed negatively by owtamers, result in cancellations of Model S res@rna and could materially adversely aff
our brand, image, business, prospects and operathds.

Our future growth is dependent upon consumers’ witjness to adopt electric vehicles.

Our growth is highly dependent upon the adoptiordaysumers of, and we are subject to an elevaskafiany reduced demand for,
alternative fuel vehicles in general and electgbigles in particular. If the market for electriehicles does not develop as we expect or
develops more slowly than we expect, our busin@sspects, financial condition and operating reswitl be harmed. The market for
alternative fuel vehicles is relatively new, rapidliolving, characterized by rapidly changing tembgies, price competition, additional
competitors, evolving government regulation andistdy standards, frequent new vehicle announcenagt€hanging consumer demands and
behaviors.

Other factors that may influence the adoption tdraktive fuel vehicles, and specifically electréhicles, include:

» perceptions about electric vehicle quality, safetyparticular with respect to lithium-ion battguacks), design, performance and
cost, especially if adverse events or accidentaratat are linked to the quality or safety of élecvehicles;

» perceptions about vehicle safety in general, itipdar safety issues that may be attributed touthe of advanced technolog
including vehicle electronics and regenerative imglsystems

* negative perceptions of electric vehicles, sucthasthey are more expensive than-electric vehicles and are only affordable v
government subsidie

» the limited range over which electric vehicles nbaydriven on a single battery char

» the decline of an electric vehicle’s range resglfimm deterioration over time in the battery’sl@pito hold a charge and possible
EPA actions that could reduce the advertised rangde required vehicle labeling by up to 3(

» concerns about electric grid capacity and relighilivhich could derail our past and present efftotpromote electric vehicles as a
practical solution to vehicles which require gase]

» concerns by potential customers that if their atpack is not maintained properly, it may becomasable
» the availability of alternative fuel vehicles, inding pluc-in hybrid electric vehicles

» improvements in the fuel economy of the internahbastion engine

» the availability of service for electric vehicle

« consumer desire and ability to purchase a luxury automodbilene that is perceived as exclusi
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» the environmental consciousness of consun

» volatility in the cost of oil and gasolin

» consumer perceptions of the dependency of the United Statesl from unstable or hostile countrie
» government regulations and economic incentives ptmg fuel efficiency and alternate forms of ener

e access to charging stations, standardization ofrédevehicle charging systems and consumers’ peiames about convenience and
cost to charge an electric vehic

» the availability of tax and other governmental midees to purchase and operate electric vehicldstore regulation requirin
increased use of nonpolluting vehicl

» perceptions about and the actual cost of alteradtiel; anc
e macroeconomic factor

In addition, reports have suggested the poterdiadktreme temperatures to affect the range oppadnce of electric vehicles. Based on
internal testing, we estimate that our Tesla Raadsgbuld have a 5-10% reduction in range when dpdria -20°C temperatures. To the extent
customers have concerns about such reductionsrdmidrty reports which suggest reductions in ragugater than our estimates gain
widespread acceptance, our ability to market atidbaevehicles, particularly in colder climatesaynbe adversely impacted.

Additionally, we will become subject to regulatictiimgt require us to alter the design of our vekickehich could negatively impact
consumer interest in our vehicles. For example etentric vehicles make less noise than internailngstion vehicles. Due to concerns about
overly quiet vehicles and vision impaired pedessijan January 2011, Congress passed and the &residned the Pedestrian Safety
Enhancement Act of 2010. The new law requires NHT&Astablish minimum sounds for electric vehiead hybrid electric vehicles when
travelling at low speeds. New standards must bpgs®ed by mid-2012 for implementation within threass of the Act’s enactment date of
January 3, 2011.

The influence of any of the factors described abuag cause current or potential customers not toh@se our electric vehicles, which
would materially adversely affect our business,rafieg results, financial condition and prospects.

Our success could be harmed by negative public#tgarding our company or products.

From time to time, our vehicles are evaluated lixgtharties. For example, the show Top Gear whichan the British Broadcasting
Corporation did a review of the Tesla Roadsterd8& Top Gear is one of the most watched autometiosvs in the world with an estimated
350 million viewers worldwide and is broadcast uep100 countries. Since originally airing in ttadl bf 2008, the episode about the Tesla
Roadster has been rebroadcast repeatedly aroumebtite The review of the Tesla Roadster includedimber of significant falsehoods
regarding the cas’performance, range and safety. Such criticismatera negative public perception about the TestdBter, and to the exte
that these comments are believed by the public,caage current or potential customers not to pweloar electric vehicles, which would
materially adversely affect our business, operatasylts, financial condition and prospects.

The range of our electric vehicles on a single clgardeclines over time which may negatively influermotential customers’ decisions
whether to purchase our vehicles.

The range of our electric vehicles on a single ghateclines principally as a function of usagegtand charging patterns as well as other
factors. For example, a customer’s use of theitaleshicle as well as the
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frequency with which they charge the battery pafctheir Tesla vehicle can result in additional dieteation of the battery pack’ability to holc
a charge. We currently expect that our battery fackhe Tesla Roadster will retain approximatedy@s% of its ability to hold its initial char
after approximately 100,000 miles or seven yeahsichvwill result in a decrease to the vehicle'siddirange. Such battery pack deterioration
and the related decrease in range may negativiyeitte potential customer decisions whether tealpase our vehicles, which may harm our
ability to market and sell our vehicles.

We are dependent upon our ability to fully draw doewn our loan facility from the United States Depanent of Energy, which may
restrict our ability to conduct our business.

Our plan for manufacturing Model S and for devehgpbur electric powertrain facility depends on ability to fully draw down on our
DOE Loan Facility. Our DOE Loan Facility provides fa $465.0 million loan facility under the DOE’§ XM Program to help finance the
continued development of Model S, including thedout and operation of a manufacturing facilitpdeo finance the build out and operation
of our electric powertrain manufacturing faciliye cannot, however, access all of these fundsad,dyut only through periodic draws throt
January 2013 as eligible costs are incurred. THrddgcember 31, 2011, we have received loans undddOE Loan Facility for an aggregate
of $276.3 million. Our ability to draw down thesefls under the DOE Loan Facility is conditionedmuppecified draw conditions. For the
Model S manufacturing facility project, the drawnditions include our achievement of progress niless relating to the design and
development of Model S. Additionally, the DOE Ldaacility requires us to comply with certain opengtand financial covenants and places
additional restrictions on our ability to operate dbusiness. If we do not comply with such requieets of the DOE Loan Facility, such failure,
if not waived by the DOE, could cause a defaulthi event of a default, we would not be eligilWeltaw funds under the DOE Loan Facility
and existing outstanding loan amounts would becdogeimmediately.

Additionally, if we are unable to draw down theiaiptated funds under the DOE Loan Facility, or ability to make such draw downs is
delayed, we may need to obtain additional or a#tive financing to operate our Model S and eleqgdwertrain manufacturing facilities to the
extent our cash on hand is insufficient. Any falto obtain the remaining DOE funds or secure aghlternative funding could materially and
adversely affect our business and prospects. Saditianal or alternative financing may not be aahie on attractive terms, if at all, and could
be more costly for us to obtain. As a result, danp for the build out of our Model S and elecpawertrain manufacturing facilities could be
significantly delayed which would materially advelssaffect our business, prospects, financial cioliand operating results.

Our DOE Loan Facility documents contain customaryemants that include, among others, a requirethanthe project be conducted in
accordance with the business plan for such projechpliance with all requirements of the ATVM Praagr, and limitations on our and our
subsidiaries’ ability to incur indebtedness, inieins, make investments or loans, enter into msrgeacquisitions, dispose of assets, pay
dividends or make distributions on capital stoalepay indebtedness, pay management, advisory dasiees to affiliates, enter into certain
affiliate transactions, enter into new lines ofibass and enter into certain restrictive agreemdihtsse restrictions may limit our ability to
operate our business and may cause us to takesctigrevent us from taking actions we believenemessary from a competitive standpoint
or that we otherwise believe are necessary to giavbusiness.

In addition, our DOE Loan Facility requires Mr. Muand certain of his affiliates, until one yeareafive complete the project relating to
the Model S Facility, to own at least 65% of thesl@ecapital stock held by them as of the date ®DOE Loan Facility, and a failure to com
would be an event of default that could resultnraaceleration of all obligations under the DOE héacility documents and the exercise of
other remedies by the DOE.
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The operation of our vehicles is different from ietnal combustion engine vehicles and our customeray experience difficulty operatir
them properly, including difficulty transitioning btween different methods of braking.

We have designed our vehicles to minimize incorsece and inadvertent driver damage to the powaerthaicertain instances, these
protections may cause the vehicle to behave in Weatsare unfamiliar to drivers of internal combaoistvehicles. For example, we employ
regenerative braking to recharge the battery packdst modes of vehicle operation. Our customerngeaome accustomed to using this
regenerative braking instead of the wheel brakedotw the vehicle. However, when the vehicle imakimum charge, the regenerative braking
is not needed and is not employed. Accordingly,customers may have difficulty shifting betweerfetiént methods of braking. In addition,
we use safety mechanisms to limit motor torque wtherpowertrain system reaches elevated tempesatursuch instances, the vehicle’s
acceleration and speed will decrease. Finalljhefdriver permits the battery pack to substantiddiplete its charge, the vehicle will
progressively limit motor torque and speed to presghe charge that remains. The vehicle will Isgeed and ultimately coast to a stop.
Despite several warnings about an imminent losshafge, the ultimate loss of speed may be unexgetiesre can be no assurance that our
customers will operate the vehicles properly, eisflgdn these situations. Any accidents resultirgm such failure to operate our vehicles
properly could harm our brand and reputation, teéauddverse publicity and product liability clairesd have a material adverse affect on our
business, prospects, financial condition and opeyaesults. In addition, if consumers dislike thésatures, they may choose not to buy
additional cars from us which could also harm ausibess and prospects.

Developments in alternative technologies or improwents in the internal combustion engine may matéljaadversely affect the demand
for our electric vehicles.

Significant developments in alternative technolegsch as advanced diesel, ethanol, fuel cetismipressed natural gas, or
improvements in the fuel economy of the internahbastion engine, may materially and adversely affec business and prospects in way:
do not currently anticipate. Any failure by us ®vdlop new or enhanced technologies or process&s react to changes in existing
technologies, could materially delay our developt@erd introduction of new and enhanced electridoled, which could result in the loss of
competitiveness of our vehicles, decreased revandea loss of market share to competitors.

Our distribution model is different from the predoimant current distribution model for automobile marfacturers, which makes
evaluating our business, operating results and freuprospects difficult.

Our distribution model is not common in the autoif®mdustry today, particularly in the United Sat We plan to continue to sell our
performance electric vehicles over the internetianmbmpany-owned Tesla stores. This model of eldistribution is relatively new and
unproven, especially in the United States, andesitbjus to substantial risk as it requires, indpgregate, a significant expenditure and
provides for slower expansion of our distributiordaales systems than may be possible by utilaingre traditional dealer franchise system.
For example, we will not be able to utilize longaddished sales channels developed through a fismelstem to increase our sales volume,
which may harm our business, prospects, financiatiition and operating results. Moreover, we wildompeting with companies with well-
established distribution channels.

We have opened Tesla stores in the United StatespE and Japan, many of which have been opeerderthan one year. We have only
limited experience distributing and selling ourfpemance vehicles through our Tesla stores. Oureagwill depend in large part on our
ability to effectively develop our own sales chasrend marketing strategies. Implementing our lessrmodel is subject to numerous
significant challenges, including obtaining perngitel approvals from local and state authoritied,va@ may not be successful in addressing
these challenges. In April 2011, we began theawtlof our new interactive store strategy. The ept@nd layout of these new stores, which
are located in high profile retail centers, is eliéfint than what has previously been used in auteenséles. We do not know whether our new
store strategy will be successful, if consumers lglwilling to purchase vehicles in this manneif@hese locations will be deemed to comply
with
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applicable zoning restrictions as well as appreval acceptance from the specific high profile tetinters in which we seek to locate our
stores. As a result, we may incur additional costerder to improve or change our retail strategy.

You must consider our business and prospectstin difjthe risks, uncertainties and difficulties emcounter as we implement our
business model. For instance, we will need to @etsicustomers, suppliers and regulators of thditsalind sustainability of our business
model. We cannot be certain that we will be abldd®o, or to successfully address the risks, taicties and difficulties that our business
strategy faces. Any failure to successfully addeessof the risks, uncertainties and difficultietated to our business model would have a
material adverse effect on our business and préspec

We may face regulatory limitations on our abilitg sell vehicles directly or over the internet whicbuld materially and adversely affect
our ability to sell our electric vehicles.

We sell our vehicles from our Tesla stores as a@lbver the internet. We may not be able to selehicles through this sales model in
each state in the United States as many statedduasehat may be interpreted to prohibit intesees by manufacturers to residents of the
state or to impose other limitations on this sateslel, including laws that prohibit manufacturenani selling vehicles directly to consumers
without the use of an independent dealership diawit a physical presence in the state. For exartipdestate of Kansas provides that a
manufacturer cannot deliver a vehicle to a Kansaglent except through a dealer licensed to dmbssiin the state of Kansas, which may be
interpreted to require us to open a store in tategif Kansas in order to sell vehicles to Kanesa&lents. In some states where we have openec
a gallery, which is a location where potential cosers can view our vehicles but is not a full ddtadation, it is possible that a state regulator
could take the position that activities at our gaflconstitute an unlicensed motor vehicle dealprahd thereby violates applicable
manufacturer-dealer laws. For example, the sta@otdrado required us to obtain dealer and manurfacticenses in the state in order to
operate our gallery in Colorado. In addition, sastees have requirements that service facilitieava@able with respect to vehicles sold in the
state, which may be interpreted to also requiregbevice facilities be available with respect &hicles sold over the internet to residents of the
state thereby limiting our ability to sell vehiclesstates where we do not maintain service faedit

The foregoing examples of state laws governingstile of motor vehicles are just some of the reguratwe will face as we sell our
vehicles. In many states, the application of stadéor vehicle laws to our specific sales modehigély untested under state motor vehicle
industry laws, particularly with respect to salegsiothe internet, and would be determined by adpetific analysis of numerous factors,
including whether we have a physical presence q@i@yees in the applicable state, whether we adeedi conduct other activities in the
applicable state, how the sale transaction is &tred, the volume of sales into the state, and hérehe state in question prohibits
manufacturers from acting as dealers. As a restiiteofact specific and untested nature of theseeis, and the fact that applying these laws
intended for the traditional automobile distributimodel to our sales model allows for some integhi@n and discretion by the regulators, the
manner in which the applicable authorities will bpiheir state laws to our distribution model isknown. Such laws, as well as other laws
governing the motor vehicle industry, may subjectaipotential inquiries and investigations frortetmotor vehicle regulators who may
guestion whether our sales model complies withiegple state motor vehicle industry laws and why megjuire us to change our sales model
or may prohibit our ability to sell our vehiclesresidents in such states. In addition, decisignsegulators permitting us to sell vehicles may
be subject to challenges as to whether such desisiomply with applicable state motor vehicle irtdptaws. Such challenges, if successful,
could prohibit our ability to sell our vehiclestesidents in such states.

We are also registered as both a motor vehicle faaturer and dealer in Canada, Australia, and Jegahhave obtained licenses to sell
vehicles in other countries such as Hong Kong andgpore. Furthermore, while we have performedreadyais of the principal laws in the
European Union relating to our distribution modedi doelieve we comply with such laws, we have notqmed a complete analysis in all
foreign jurisdictions in
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which we may sell vehicles. Accordingly, there niiylaws in jurisdictions we have not yet enterethars we are unaware of in jurisdictions
we have entered that may restrict our vehicle wediem practices or other business practices. BEwethose jurisdictions we have analyzed, the
laws in this area can be complex, difficult to mptet and may change over time.

Regulatory limitations on our ability to sell velgis could materially and adversely affect our &piid sell our electric vehicles.

Reservations for Model S and Model X are fully refdable to customers, and significant cancellatioosuld harm our financial
condition, business, prospects and operating result

As of December 31, 2011, we had unfilled reservatimr over 8,000 Model S sedans, all of whichsarigiect to cancellation by the
customer up until such time that the customer srit¢o a purchase agreement. Historically, allaf@servations have been refundable an
have had a significant number of customers who #itdhreservations for the Tesla Roadster canodethieservations and we have refunded
their deposits.

Given the long lead times that we have historicellperienced between customer reservation andediglon the Tesla Roadster and that
we expect to experience on Model S and Model Xetliea heightened risk that customers that hawdemeservations may not ultimately take
delivery on vehicles due to potential changes stmmer preferences, competitive developments dmer ¢dctors. For example, when we
delayed the introduction of the original Tesla Retadin the fall of 2007, we experienced a sigaifitchnumber of customers that cancelled their
reservations and requested the return of theirvragen payment. If we encounter delays in theadtrction of Model S or Model X, we belie
that a significant number of our customers coutdiilsirly cancel their reservations and demand redusfdheir reservation payments. As a
result, no assurance can be made that reservatidmot be cancelled and will ultimately resulttine final purchase, delivery, and sale of the
vehicle. Given the high level of reservations, gigant cancellations could harm our financial citiosh, business, prospects and operating
results.

If we are unable to design, develop, market and selw electric vehicles and services that addredditional market opportunities, our
business, prospects and operating results will suff

We may not be able to successfully develop newtrtegehicles and services, address new market setgnor develop a significantly
broader customer base. To date, we have focusduluguress on the sale of high-performance eleettiicles and have targeted relatively
affluent consumers. We will need to address aduifionarkets and expand our customer demograpludier to further grow our business. In
particular, we intend Model S to appeal to the @ungrs of premium vehicles, which is a much larget different demographic from that of 1
Tesla Roadster. Successfully offering a vehiclthig vehicle class requires delivering a vehicléhvai higher standard of fit and finish in the
interior and exterior than currently exists in ffesla Roadster, at a price that is competitive witter premium vehicles. We have not
completely finalized the design, component sourcnghanufacturing process for Model S, so it iiclilt to accurately forecast its final cost,
manufacturability or quality. Therefore, there denno assurance that we will be able to delivezldcle that is ultimately competitive in the
premium vehicle market. In 2012, we publicly rewshin early prototype of the Model X crossovemhasfirst vehicle we intend to develop by
leveraging the Model S platform. We have also mesiy announced our intent to develop a third getien electric vehicle which we expec
produce at the Tesla Factory after the introduatibModel S. However, we have not yet finalized tlesign, engineering or component
sourcing plans for these vehicles and there amssorances that we will be able to bring thesecleshio market at the price points and in the
volumes as we currently intend, if at all. Our diadl to address additional market opportunities @dwdrm our business, prospects, financial
condition and operating results.
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Any changes to the Federal Trade Commission’s dliectehicle range testing procedure and recent clggs made by the United States
Environmental Protection Agency’s energy consumpticegulations for electric vehicles could result enreduction to the range of our
vehicles as compared to the current combined twoleyest which could negatively impact our salesdadmrm our business.

The Federal Trade Commission (FTC) requires usiitutate and display the range of our electric #lelsion a label we affix to the
vehicle’s window. The FTC specifies that we folltegting requirements set forth by the Society ofofotive Engineers (SAE) which further
requires that we test using the EPA’s combinedanity highway testing cycles. In July 2011, the ERfablished new requirements for the fuel
economy stickers that appear on new cars offenegdie (i.e., the Monroney label). We advertise e plan to offer Model S with a variety
battery pack options, which we estimate will offerange on a single charge of 160 miles, 230 maled, 300 miles, respectively, while
traveling at a steady speed of 55 miles per houe. HPA's new fuel economy requirements will requiseto label Model S utilizing new and
different energy efficiency testing methodologi€sese methodologies differ from the one we have ts@stimate the range of the vehicles at
a steady speed of 55 miles per hour and could ecthecrange reported on the required labeling ofvebicles by a de-rating factor which
could be up to 30% as compared to our current agtisn These new requirements apply to all model3@83 and later vehicles. However, the
EPA has also indicated that they would like autoireatmanufacturers to utilize the new label formsisaon as possible. Therefore, it is
possible that the EPA will request that we utiliev labels sooner bearing lower range values. &dyction in the advertised range of our
vehicles could negatively impact our vehicle saled harm our business.

If we are unable to effectively leverage the betefif using an adaptable common platform architetuin the design and manufacture
future vehicles such as Model X, our business prests, operating results and financial condition wiobe adversely affected.

We intend to design Model S with an adaptable ptatfarchitecture and common electric powertraithsd we can use the platform of
Model S to create future electric vehicles, inchgdias an example, our Model X crossover vehictavéler, we have no experience with us
common platforms in the design and manufactureuofvehicles and the design of Model S is not cotepM/e may make changes to the
design of Model S that may make it more difficaltuse the Model S platform for Model X or for fugLelectric vehicles that we decide to
produce. Additionally, we intend to use some of Bladel S manufacturing equipment and parts todiarghe production of Model X. If such
tooling, production equipment and parts are insidfit for use in Model X, perhaps as a result loineer level of commonality between the two
vehicles than we anticipate, our costs relatetiégroduction of Model X may exceed expectatioter€ are no assurances that we will be
able to use the Model S platform to bring futurieke models, including the Model X crossover, tarket faster or more inexpensively by
leveraging use of this common platform or thatehsill be sufficient customer demand for any vedscbuilt on the Model S platform.

We may experience significant delays in the desigrgnufacture and launch of Model X which could harmur business and prospects.

We plan to start Model X production in late 2018 aamp up to significant customer deliveries inyea014. Any delay in the design,
manufacture and launch of Model X could materidéynage our brand, business, prospects, finanaiaitton and operating results.
Automobile manufacturers often experience delaykéndesign, manufacture and commercial releasewfvehicle models. We experienced
significant delays in launching the Tesla Roadstéiich resulted in additional costs and adversdigitipfor our business. We may experience
similar delays, cost overruns and adverse publinitpunching Model X, any of which could be sigoéint. We are in the initial design and
development stages of Model X. Furthermore, we metg/et begun to evaluate, qualify or select sigpplfor the planned production of Mot
X and cannot begin to do so until the design of Moflis finalized. We may not be able to engageptieps for the components in a timely
manner, at an acceptable price or in the necegsantities. We will also need to do extensive testd ensure that Model X is in compliance
with applicable NHTSA safety regulations and EPA &@ARB emission regulations prior to beginning massduction and delivery of the
vehicles. In addition, we have limited resourced, a0
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the extent that such resources are devoted to émefacture and production of Model S, we may haffeedlty producing and delivering our
Model X vehicle in a timely manner. If we are nbteato manufacture and deliver our Model X in agiynmanner and consistent with our
budget and cost projections, our business, prospegéerating results and financial condition wél tegatively impacted and our ability to gt
our business will be harmed.

The automotive market is highly competitive, and may not be successful in competing in this indystWe currently face competition
from new and established competitors and expedatme competition from others in the future.

The worldwide automotive market, particularly féteanative fuel vehicles, is highly competitive &gdand we expect it will become ev
more so in the future. Other automobile manufactueatered the electric vehicle market at the drd0d0 and we expect additional
competitors to enter this market. With respectuoTesla Roadster, we currently face strong cortipetfrom established automobile
manufacturers, including manufacturers of high-gerniance vehicles, such as Porsche and Ferrardditi@n, upon the launch of our Model S
sedan, we will face competition from existing antlfe automobile manufacturers in the extremely metitive premium sedan market,
including Audi, BMW, Lexus and Mercedes.

Many established and new automobile manufactui@re bntered or have announced plans to entertéraeative fuel vehicle market. In
Japan, Mitsubishi has been selling its electriceMisince April 2010. In December 2010, Nissan idtrced in the United States the Nissan
Leaf, a fully electric vehicle and Ford introdudéeé pure electric Ford Focus and plug-in hybriddf6Max in 2012. In addition, several
manufacturers, including General Motors, Toyotadi-and Honda, are each selling hybrid vehicled,@ertain of these manufacturers have
announced plug-in versions of their hybrid vehiclesr example, in December 2010, General Motorséhtced the Chevrolet Volt, which is a
plug-4n hybrid vehicle that operates purely on elegvagver for a limited number of miles, at which ti@e internal combustion engine enga
to recharge the battery pack.

Moreover, it has been reported that many of thgel@EMs such as BMW, Daimler, Lexus, Audi, Renanli Volkswagen are also
developing electric vehicles. Several new starthgge also announced plans to enter the markgiefdormance electric vehicles, although
none of these have yet come to market. Finallytetevehicles have already been brought to mark&hina and other foreign countries and
we expect a number of those manufacturers to émednited States market as well.

Most of our current and potential competitors hsigmificantly greater financial, technical, manutamng, marketing and other resources
than we do and may be able to devote greater res®to the design, development, manufacturingsildigion, promotion, sale and support of
their products. Virtually all of our competitorsweamore extensive customer bases and broader cerstord industry relationships than we do.
In addition, almost all of these companies havegédoroperating histories and greater name recogrtitian we do. Our competitors may be in a
stronger position to respond quickly to new tecbgas and may be able to design, develop, markesalhtheir products more effectively.

Furthermore, certain large manufacturers offerrfaiag and leasing options on their vehicles and his/e the ability to market vehicles
at a substantial discount, provided that the vehielre financed through their affiliated financtmgnpany. We only began offering a leasing
program in February 2010 which is currently onlpitable to qualified Tesla Roadster customers énhited States and Canada. We do not
currently plan to offer any lease financing on Mid8gbut may do so at a later date. We have ntitdrpast, and do not currently, offer
customary discounts on our vehicles. The lack a$definancing and the absence of customary vetlist®unts could put us at a competitive
disadvantage.

We expect competition in our industry to intensifythe future in light of increased demand for rad&give fuel vehicles, continuing
globalization and consolidation in the worldwideauotive industry. Factors affecting
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competition include product quality and featuresovation and development time, pricing, reliapjlgafety, fuel economy, customer service
and financing terms. Increased competition may teddwer vehicle unit sales and increased inventahich may result in a further

downward price pressure and adversely affect osinless, financial condition, operating results praspects. Our ability to successfully
compete in our industry will be fundamental to éuture success in existing and new markets andnauket share. There can be no assurance:
that we will be able to compete successfully inmarkets. If our competitors introduce new carsewices that compete with or surpass the
quality, price or performance of our cars or seggjove may be unable to satisfy existing customesdtract new customers at the prices and
levels that would allow us to generate attractates of return on our investment. Increased comigettould result in price reductions and
revenue shortfalls, loss of customers and lossasket share, which could harm our business, praspfcancial condition and operating
results.

Demand in the automobile industry is highly volatilwhich may lead to lower vehicle unit sales artlarsely affect our operating resul

Volatility of demand in the automobile industry mematerially and adversely affect our business, peots, operating results and finan
condition. The markets in which we currently congpathd plan to compete in the future have been sutgeonsiderable volatility in demand
in recent periods. For example, according to autaradndustry sources, sales of passenger vehicls®rth America during the fourth quarter
of 2008 were over 30% lower than those during #raesperiod in the prior year. Demand for automadslies depends to a large extent on
general, economic, political and social conditiona given market and the introduction of new visand technologies. As a new automobile
manufacturer and low volume producer, we haveflaasicial resources than more established automahéinufacturers to withstand changes
in the market and disruptions in demand. As ouintass grows, economic conditions and trends inratbentries and regions where we sell
our electric vehicles will impact our business,gpects and operating results as well. Demand foeleatric vehicles may also be affected by
factors directly impacting automobile price or twest of purchasing and operating automobiles sedakes and financing incentives, prices of
raw materials and parts and components, cost bhfwiegovernmental regulations, including tariffeport regulation and other taxes.
Volatility in demand may lead to lower vehicle usd#les and increased inventory, which may resuliritner downward price pressure and
adversely affect our business, prospects, finarcoatlition and operating results. These effects haase a more pronounced impact on our
business given our relatively smaller scale andrfaial resources as compared to many incumbentnalbite manufacturers.

Difficult economic conditions may negatively affeconsumer purchases of luxury items, such as ourfpemance electric vehicles.

Over the last few years, the deterioration in tledagl financial markets and continued challengingdition of the macroeconomic
environment has negatively impacted consumer spgratid we believe has adversely affected the sélesr Tesla Roadster. The automobile
industry in particular was severely impacted bygber economic conditions and several vehicle mastufing companies, including General
Motors and Chrysler, were forced to file for barpday. Sales of new automobiles generally have dedmuring this recessionary period. Sales
of high-end and luxury consumer products, such as our pesgioce electric vehicles, depend in part on digmmaty consumer spending and
even more exposed to adverse changes in generaragoconditions. Difficult economic conditions d¢duherefore temporarily reduce the
market for vehicles in our price range. Discretigneonsumer spending also is affected by othepfacincluding changes in tax rates and tax
credits, interest rates and the availability amthgeof consumer credit.

If the current difficult economic conditions contimor worsen, we may experience a decline in theade for our Tesla Roadster or
reservations for our Model S or future vehicleshsas Model X, any of which could materially harnr business, prospects, financial condi
and operating results. Accordingly, any events lizae a negative effect on the United States ecgrayron foreign economies or that
negatively affect consumer confidence in the econantluding disruptions in credit and stock masketnd actual or perceived economic
slowdowns, may harm our business, prospects, fiaboondition and operating results.
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Our financial results may vary significantly fromgriod-to-period due to the seasonality of our busss and fluctuations in our operating
costs.

Our operating results may vary significantly froeripd-to-period due to many factors, including seas factors that may have an effect
on the demand for our electric vehicles. Demandé&w cars in the automobile industry in generad, fam high-performance sports vehicles
such as the Tesla Roadster in particular, typia#digline over the winter season, while sales anermgdly higher as compared to the winter
season during the spring and summer months. Skthe desla Roadster have fluctuated on a seabasé with increased sales during the
spring and summer months in our second and theoffiquarters relative to our fourth and firstdilsguarters. We note that, in general,
automotive sales tend to decline over the wintasse and we anticipate that our sales of Model &e¥1X and other models we introduce
may have similar seasonality. However, our limibgerating history makes it difficult for us to juglthe exact nature or extent of the
seasonality of our business. Also, any unusualgieweather conditions in some markets may imgeactand for our vehicles. Our operating
results could also suffer if we do not achieve neseconsistent with our expectations for this sealsdemand because many of our expenses
are based on anticipated levels of annual revenue.

In addition, we expect our period-to-period opergtiesults to vary based on our operating costslwive anticipate will increase
significantly in future periods as we, among ottiengs, design, develop and manufacture our Mod&&lel X and electric powertrain
components, build and equip new manufacturingifeesito produce Model S and electric powertraimponents, open new Tesla Service
Centers with maintenance and repair capabilitiesyri costs for warranty repairs or product recéllany, increase our sales and marketing
activities, and increase our general and admitiggrdunctions to support our growing operations.&result of these factors, we believe that
quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our operatingltesespecially in the short-term, are not neadlgsaeaningful and that these comparisons
cannot be relied upon as indicators of future perfoce. Moreover, our operating results may notteectations of equity research analysts
or investors. If any of this occurs, the trading@rof our common stock could fall substantialligher suddenly or over time.

If we are unable to establish and maintain confidesin our long-term business prospects among constsnanalysts and within our
industry, then our financial condition, operatingasults, business prospects and stock price mayesuffaterially.

Our vehicles are highly technical products thatimegmaintenance and support. If we were to ceasatdack operations, even years
from now, buyers of our vehicles from years earntéght have much more difficulty in maintaining theehicles and obtaining satisfactory
support. As a result, consumers may be less likepurchase our vehicles now if they are not coreththat our business will succeed or that
our operations will continue for many years. Simiylasuppliers and other third parties will be I&&ely to invest time and resources in
developing business relationships with us if theyreot convinced that our business will succeed eixample, during the economic downturn
of 2008, we had difficulty raising the necessanydimg for our operations, and, as a result, infdlweth quarter of 2008 we had to lay off
approximately 60 employees and curtail our expanplans. In addition, during this period a numblecustomers canceled their previously
placed reservations. If we are required to takelairactions in the future, such actions may resuttegative perceptions regarding our long-
term business prospects and may lead to cancekatibModel S or Model X reservations.

Accordingly, in order to build and maintain our less, we must maintain confidence among custoraepgliers, analysts and other
parties in our liquidity and long-term businessgmects. In contrast to some more established aliernave believe that, in our case, the task
of maintaining such confidence may be particuladynplicated by factors such as the following:

» our limited operating histon
» our limited revenues and lack of profitability tatd;
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« unfamiliarity with or uncertainty about the Tesladister and Model ¢

» uncertainty about the lo-term marketplace acceptance of alternative fuelckethigenerally, or electric vehicles specifica
» the prospect that we will need ongoing infusiongxternal capital to fund our planned operatic

» the size of our expansion plans in comparison toegisting capital base and scope and history efatppns; ant

» the prospect or actual emergence of direct, suedaiompetitive pressure from more established aaitens, which may be more
likely if our initial efforts are perceived to bermmercially successfu

Many of these factors are largely outside our @nand any negative perceptions about our longHausiness prospects, even if
exaggerated or unfounded, would likely harm ouliress and make it more difficult to raise additidis@ds when needed.

We may need to raise additional funds and thesedsimay not be available to us when we need thenndfcannot raise additional funds
when we need them, our operations and prospectdatbe negatively affected.

The design, manufacture, sale and servicing ofradldles is a capital intensive business. As of Ddwer 31, 2011, we had $492.7
million in principal sources of liquidity availabfeom our cash and cash equivalents, short-ternketalole securities, cash held in our
dedicated DOE account and the remaining amounitabl@aunder the DOE Loan Facility. This includes cash and cash equivalents in the
amount of $255.3 million which includes investmeintsnoney market funds, short-term marketable sgéesiof $25.1 million, cash of $23.5
million deposited in a dedicated DOE account inoadance with the requirements of our DOE Loan Rgciind $188.8 million available
under the DOE Loan Facility. We expect that thesecjpal sources of liquidity together with our cemt projections of cash flow from
operating activities will provide us adequate lidjty until we reach profitability in 2013. Howevéf there are delays in the launch of Model S
or Model X, if we are unable to draw down the aptited funds under the DOE Loan Facility for angs@n, including our failure to meet
operating or financial covenants, or if the costbuilding our Model S, Model X and powertrain méiuring facilities exceed our
expectations or if we incur any significant unpladrexpenses or embark on new significant straiagé&stments, we may need to raise
additional funds through the issuance of equityijtyerelated or debt securities or through obtagnénedit from government or financial
institutions. This capital will be necessary todusur ongoing operations, continue research andldpment projects, including those for our
planned Model X crossover, establish sales andcgecenters, improve infrastructure such as expabdéery assembly facilities, and to make
the investments in tooling and manufacturing capéquired to introduce Model S and Model X.

In particular, we have only recently begun to atcegtomer reservation payments on our Model Xsoesr, can provide no assurance
that customers will be willing to make such paynsearid accordingly may be reliant on other finanaagrces to fund the development of this
vehicle. We cannot be certain that additional fuwidkbe available to us on favorable terms wheguieed, or at all. If we cannot raise
additional funds when we need them, our finanaadition, results of operations, business and gaispcould be materially adversely
affected. Additionally, under our DOE Loan Facilitye face restrictions on our ability to incur aduhal indebtedness, and in the future may
need to obtain a waiver from the DOE in order tesdoWe may not be able to obtain such waiver fileenDOE which may harm our business.
Future issuance of equity or equity-related seiegriwill dilute the ownership interest of existisigckholders and our issuance of debt
securities could increase the risk or perceivddafour company.
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We have very limited experience servicing our védicand we are using a different service model frdme one typically used in the
industry. If we are unable to address the servieguirements of our existing and future customersrdausiness will be materially and
adversely affected.

If we are unable to successfully address the sereiquirements of our existing and future custoroarsdbusiness and prospects will be
materially and adversely affected. In addition,amicipate the level and quality of the servicepravide our Tesla Roadster customers will
have a direct impact on the success of Model Soanduture vehicles. If we are unable to satisfelt@ervice our Tesla Roadster customers,
our ability to generate customer loyalty, grow business and sell additional Tesla Roadsters dsas®lodel S sedans could be impaired.

We have very limited experience servicing our vidsicWe do not plan to begin production of any Md&leehicles until mid-2012 with
higher volume production not occurring until 2028d do not have any experience servicing theseasaifsey do not exist currently. Servicing
electric vehicles is different than servicing vééscwith internal combustion engines and requipesiglized skills, including high voltage
training and servicing techniques.

We plan to service our performance electric vekith#ough our company-owned Tesla service centetsraough our mobile service
technicians known as the Tesla Rangers. Many ofeala stores are equipped to actively servicepediormance electric vehicles. However,
our new design stores do not have servicing cafiabjlcertain stores have been open for lessdharyear, and to date we have only limited
experience servicing our performance vehicles tiincaur Tesla stores. Going forward, we intend tildbseparate sales and service locatiol
several markets, but to date have limited expeéemith separate sales and service locations wétgaographic market. We will need to open
additional Tesla stores with service capabilitied atandalone service locations, as well as hidetrain significant numbers of new employees
to staff these centers and act as Tesla Rangessjén to successfully maintain our fleet of delaeperformance electric vehicles. We only
implemented our Tesla Rangers program in Octob@® 2tid have limited experience in deploying thersetiwice our customers’ vehicles.
There can be no assurance that these service amangs or our limited experience servicing our lelsi will adequately address the service
requirements of our customers to their satisfactiorthat we will have sufficient resources to mibetse service requirement in a timely mai
as the volume of vehicles we are able to delivawaly increases.

We do not expect to be able to open Tesla storalf the geographic areas in which our existing potntial customers may reside. In
order to address the service needs of customerargaot in geographical proximity to our serviemters, we plan to either transport those
vehicles to the nearest Tesla store or servicescémt servicing or deploy our mobile Tesla Rangderservice the vehicles at the customer’s
location. These special arrangements may be exgeasd we may not be able to recoup the costsoviging these services to our customers.
In addition, a number of potential customers magosie not to purchase our vehicles because of theofea more widespread service network.
If we do not adequately address our customersiceEneeds, our brand and reputation will be adWeedéected, which in turn, could have a
material and adverse impact on our business, finhoondition, operating results and prospects.

Traditional automobile manufacturers in the UniBtdtes do not provide maintenance and repair gdcectly. Consumers must rather
service their vehicles through franchised deal@ssbr through third party maintenance service pterd. We do not have any such
arrangements with third party service providers iamglunclear when or even whether such thirdypsetrvice providers will be able to acquire
the expertise to service our vehicles. At this poire anticipate that we will be providing substalty all of the service for our vehicles for the
foreseeable future. As our vehicles are placedadrentocations, we may encounter negative reacfrmms our consumers who are frustrated
that they cannot use local service stations ts#mee extent as they have with their convention@rabiles and this frustration may result in
negative publicity and reduced sales, thereby hagraur business and prospects.
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In addition, the motor vehicle industry laws in rigastates require that service facilities be avé@atith respect to vehicles physically
sold from locations in the state. Whether theseslawould also require that service facilities beilabde with respect to vehicles sold over the
internet to consumers in a state in which we havphysical presence is uncertain. While we belimweTesla Ranger program and our prac
of shipping customers’ vehicles to our nearestd sdre for service would satisfy regulators irstheircumstances, without seeking formal
regulatory guidance, there are no assurancesdgalators will not attempt to require that we pd®/physical service facilities in their states.
Further, certain state franchise laws which prahiianufacturers from being licensed as a dealacting in the capacity of dealer also restrict
manufacturers from providing vehicle service. Huss arise in connection with these laws, certspeets of Tesla’s service program would
need to be restructured to comply with state lahictv may harm our business.

We may not succeed in maintaining and strengtheniihg Tesla brand, which would materially and advehg affect customer acceptance
of our vehicles and components and our businesygrues and prospects.

Our business and prospects are heavily dependeniraability to develop, maintain and strengthes Tiesla brand. Any failure to
develop, maintain and strengthen our brand maynm#yeand adversely affect our ability to sell thesla Roadster, Model S, Model X and
future planned electric vehicles, and sell ourtelepowertrain components. If we do not continaestablish, maintain and strengthen our
brand, we may lose the opportunity to build a caitinass of customers. Promoting and positioningooand will likely depend significantly ¢
our ability to provide high quality electric canscamaintenance and repair services, and we haydiwgted experience in these areas. Any
problems associated with the launch of our Modsé&an may hurt the Tesla brand.

In addition, we expect that our ability to develamintain and strengthen the Tesla brand will dispend heavily on the success of our
marketing efforts. To date, we have limited expsrewith marketing activities as we have reliednariily on the internet, word of mouth and
attendance at industry trade shows to promote i@ndb To further promote our brand, we may be meguio change our marketing practices,
which could result in substantially increased atisielg expenses, including the need to use traditimedia such as television, radio and print.
The automobile industry is intensely competitived ave may not be successful in building, maintajrand strengthening our brand. Many of
our current and potential competitors, particulaigomobile manufacturers headquartered in Dettafian and the European Union, have
greater name recognition, broader customer relsiips and substantially greater marketing resoutr@swe do. If we do not develop and
maintain a strong brand, our business, prospeoctmdial condition and operating results will betemglly and adversely impacted.

Our recent agreement with Toyota contains risks amdcertainties that, if realized, could have a matdly adverse impact on our
operating results.

In July 2011, we entered into a supply and sendcgsement with Toyota for the supply of a validagéectric powertrain system,
including a battery pack, charging system, invertestor, gearbox and associated software whichbeilintegrated into an electric vehicle
version of the Toyota RAV4. Pursuant to this agreetnhwe expect that Toyota will pay us approxima$l00 million between 2012 and 2014
based on our delivery of electric powertrain systefihe payments to us are not guaranteed andmjllazcur upon the delivery of powertrain
systems that meet Toyota’s specifications. Toyaro obligation to buy any systems from us, afayjfota does not order the anticipated
systems from us, we will not receive the revenuesanticipate from this agreement. The agreemetitdurequires that we meet customary
obligations such as timely deliveries, warranty prmtuct defect obligations. Our failure to meetsth obligations could have a materially
adverse impact on our operating results.

Additionally, although we have discussed new bussragpportunities with Toyota, there is no guarattieewe will be able to reach
agreement with Toyota regarding such opportunétes! or on terms and conditions that are favarablus.
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We are currently expanding and improving our inforation technology systems. If these implementatiams not successful, our busine
and operations could be disrupted and our operatimgults could be harmed.

We are currently expanding and improving our infation technology systems to assist us in the manageof our business. In
particular, our production of Model S will neceasi the improvement, design and development of mxpanded supply chain systems to
support our operations as well as production aog floor management. Additionally, we will needcntinually build out and improve upon
our online customer interface systems as well asmre the integration of our software systems tsstiare data between engineering, supply
chain and manufacturing in order to be able taiffitly mass produce Model S. The implementationes¥ software management platforms
and the addition of these platforms at new locati@yuire significant management time, supportasd. Moreover, there are inherent risks
associated with developing, improving and expandimgcore systems, including supply chain disrugithat may affect our ability to obtain
supplies when needed or to deliver vehicles tol@sla stores and customers. We cannot be surthtdsst expanded systems will be fully or
effectively implemented on a timely basis, if dt Hlwe do not successfully implement this projemtr operations may be disrupted and our
operating results could be harmed. In addition v systems may not operate as we expect themmdoye may be required to expend
significant resources to correct problems or fitidraative sources for performing these functions.

If our vehicle owners customize our vehicles or cige the charging infrastructure with aftermarket pducts, the vehicle may not oper:
properly, which could harm our business.

Automobile enthusiasts may seek to “hack” our viglsito modify its performance which could compraenighicle safety systems. Also,
we are aware of customers who have customized\bhicles with after-market parts that may compsandriver safety. For example, some
customers have installed seats that elevate therdsuch that airbag and other safety systems dmutbmpromised. Other customers have
changed wheels and tires, while others have iestddirge speaker systems that may impact the ielgctystems of the vehicle. We have not
tested, nor do we endorse, such changes or prodiietddition, customer use of improper externaliog or unsafe charging outlets can
expose our customers to injury from high voltageetlcity. Such unauthorized modifications coulduee the safety of our vehicles and any
injuries resulting from such modifications couldué in adverse publicity which would negativelyeat our brand and harm our business,
prospects, financial condition and operating rasult

The success of our business depends on attracting @etaining a large number of customers. If we an@able to do so, we will not be
able to achieve profitability.

Our success depends on attracting a large numipatenfitial customers to purchase our electric Vebids of December 31, 2011, we
had accepted reservations for over 8,000 Modebl&@rse If our existing and prospective customeraatgerceive our vehicles and services to
be of sufficiently high value and quality, cost quetitive and appealing in aesthetics or performaacé the final production version of Model
S is not sufficiently similar to the drivable desigrototype, we may not be able to retain our eurcestomers or attract new customers,
investors may lose confidence in us, and our bgsiaad prospects, operating results and finanoraiton may suffer as a result. In addition,
because our performance electric vehicles to date been sold largely through word of mouth marigéfforts, we may be required to incur
significantly higher and more sustained advertisind promotional expenditures than we have prelyidnsurred to attract customers, and use
more traditional advertising techniques. In additid we engage in traditional advertising, we nfage review by consumer protection
enforcement agencies and may incur significant eseeto ensure that our advertising claims arg fulpported. To date, we have limited
experience selling our electric vehicles and we matybe successful in attracting and retaininggglaumber of customers. For example, a
significant number of our stores have been opetefis than one year and a portion of our sales teemne from backgrounds other than
automotive. If for any of these reasons we areabi# to attract and maintain customers, our busjmEespects, operating results and financial
condition would be materially harmed.
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Regulators could review our practice of taking regation payments and, if the practice is deemedialate applicable law, we could be
required to pay penalties or refund the reservatipayments that we have received for vehicles thratr@ot immediately available for
delivery, to stop accepting additional reservatipayments, to restructure certain aspects of oureestion program, and potentially to
suspend or revoke our licenses to manufacture aetl sur vehicles.

We have not yet commenced production of our Modgd@n which we currently plan for mid-2012. Weéalso not commenced
production of our Model X crossover which we cuthgplan to do in late 2013 and ramp up to sigwifitccustomer deliveries in early 2014.
For customers interested in making a reservatioMfadel S or Model X, we require an initial refutidia reservation payment of at least
$5,000. As of December 31, 2011, we had colleatedmvation payments for Model S sedans in an agtgegnount of $90.0 million. We
started taking reservations for Model X in Febru2@i2. At this time, we do not plan to hold resénrapayments separately or in an escro
trust fund or pay any interest on reservation paymexcept to the extent applicable state lawsireqs to do so. We generally use these fi
for working capital and other general corporateppses.

California laws, and potentially the laws of otls¢ates, restrict the ability of licensed auto desale advertise or take deposits for vehicles
before the vehicles are available to the dealen fitte manufacturer. In November 2007, we becameeathat the New Motor Vehicle Board
of the California Department of Transportation bassidered whether our reservation policies anédiding comply with the California
Vehicle Code. To date, we have not received anyneonications on this topic from the New Motor Veki&oard or the Department of Motor
Vehicles (DMV), which has the power to enforce thisvs. There can be no assurance that the DMVhailtake the position that our vehicle
reservation or advertising practices violate thve M/e expect that if the DMV determines that we rhaye violated the law, it would initially
discuss its concerns with us and request volurttamypliance. If we are ultimately found to be inlaiion of California law, we might be
precluded from taking reservation payments, andii®/ could take other actions against us, includigying fines and requiring us to refu
reservation payments. Resolution of any inquiry ralsp involve restructuring certain aspects ofrégervation program. In addition, Califor
is currently the only jurisdiction in which we halieenses to both manufacture and sell our vehmbeany limitation imposed on our operati
in California may be particularly damaging to ouslmess. The DMV also has the power to suspenddesto manufacture and sell vehicles in
California, following a hearing on the merits, whit has typically exercised in cases of signiftcanrepeat violations and/or a refusal to
comply with DMV directions.

Certain states may have specific laws which appheservation payments accepted by dealers, or faxetnrers selling directly to
consumers, or both. For example, the state of Vgt requires that reservation payments or otagments received from residents in the
state of Washington must be placed in a segregettealint until delivery of the vehicle, which accborust be unencumbered by any liens
from creditors of the dealer and may not be usethbylealer. Consequently, we established a seigakgacount for reservation payments in
the state of Washington in January 2010. Therebeamo assurance that other state or foreign jatisdis will not require similar segregation
reservation payments received from customers. @ability to access these funds for working captaiposes could harm our liquidity.

Furthermore, while we have performed an analyste®principal laws in the European Union relatiogur distribution model and
believe we comply with such laws, we have not genfxd a complete analysis in all foreign jurisdingan which we may sell
vehicles. Accordingly, there may be laws in juriidins we have not yet entered or laws we are urewfan jurisdictions we have entered t
may restrict our vehicle reservation practicesthepbusiness practices. Even for those jurisdistive have analyzed, the laws in this area can
be complex, difficult to interpret and may changertime. If our vehicle reservation or advertisprgctices or other business practices were
found to violate the laws of a jurisdiction, we nfage exposure under those laws and our businelsgraspects would be adversely
affected. For example, if we are required to reteservation payment amounts, we may need to agidigional funds to make such
payments. There can be no assurance that suclmfunaiuld be available on a timely basis on comnadiscieasonable terms, if at all. If a
court were to
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find that our reservation agreement or advertisiogs not comply with state laws, we may face exgosnder those laws which may include
exposure under consumer protection statutes suittoss that deal with unfair competition and fadeertising. Moreover, reductions in our
cash as a result of redemptions or an inabilitake reservation payments could also make it misfiewdt for us to obtain additional
financing. The prospect of reductions in cash, éffanrealized, may also make it more difficultdbtain financing.

Our plan to expand our network of Tesla stores witlquire significant cash investments and managemegsources and may not meet
our expectations with respect to additional salésar electric vehicles. In addition, we may not béle to open stores in certain states.

Our plan to expand our network of Tesla stores metfjuire significant cash investments and managemsources and may not meet our
expectations with respect to additional sales ofebectric vehicles. This planned global expansibfesla stores may not have the desired
effect of increasing sales and expanding our bpadence to the degree we are anticipating. Funtbrer there can be no assurances that we
will be able to construct additional storefrontstba budget or timeline we have established. Wkaléb need to ensure we are in compliance
with any regulatory requirements applicable toghke of our vehicles in those jurisdictions, whichuld take considerable time and expense. If
we experience any delays in expanding our netwbilkesla stores, this could lead to a decreasel@s $d our vehicles and could negatively
impact our business, prospects, financial conditiod operating results. We have opened Tesla storeajor metropolitan areas throughout
North America, Europe and Asia. We plan to opernitamfdhl stores, with a goal of establishing appnoaiely 50 stores globally within the ne
several years in connection with the Model S rdllélowever, we may not be able to expand our nétabsuch rate and our planned
expansion of our network of Tesla stores will reguignificant cash investment and management ressuas well as efficiency in the
execution of establishing these storefronts arfdring and training the necessary employees tatfiely sell our vehicles.

Furthermore, certain states and foreign jurisdittimay have permit requirements, franchise deales br similar laws or regulations t
may preclude or restrict our ability to open stavesell vehicles out of such states and jurisditti Any such prohibition or restriction may
lead to decreased sales in such jurisdictions,wtdaild harm our business, prospects and openamdts.

We face risks associated with our international @ptons, including unfavorable regulatory, politidatax and labor conditions, which
could harm our business.

We face risks associated with our internationakafens, including possible unfavorable regulat@uljtical, tax and labor conditions,
which could harm our business. We currently haterirational operations and subsidiaries in Augtrdlianada, Denmark, France, Germany,
Hong Kong, Italy, Japan, Monaco, Netherlands, Nerv@&ngapore, Switzerland and the United Kingdoat Hire subject to the legal, political,
regulatory and social requirements and economiditions in these jurisdictions. Additionally, asrpaf our growth strategy, we intend to
expand our sales, maintenance and repair servitasationally. However, we have limited experietiweate selling and servicing our
vehicles internationally and such expansion woalgliire us to make significant expenditures, incigdhe hiring of local employees and
establishing facilities, in advance of generating eevenue. We are subject to a number of riskscéas®d with international business activities
that may increase our costs, impact our abilitgetth our electric vehicles and require significarghagement attention. These risks include:

« conforming our vehicles to various internationaukatory requirements where our vehicles are swithomologation
» difficulty in staffing and managing foreign operats;
« difficulties attracting customers in new jurisdats;

» foreign government taxes, regulations and permatirements, including foreign taxes that we maybetble to offset against
taxes imposed upon us in the United States, amibfotax and other laws limiting our ability to egpate funds to the United
States
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« fluctuations in foreign currency exchange ratesiatetest rates, including risks related to angriest rate swap or other hedg
activities we undertake

» our ability to enforce our contractual and intelied property rights, especially in those foreigmutries that do not respect and
protect intellectual property rights to the samteekas do the United States, Japan and Europeetrias, which increases the risk
of unauthorized, and uncompensated, use of ountéaty;

» United States and foreign government trade reitnist tariffs and price or exchange contr
» foreign labor laws, regulations and restrictic

» preferences of foreign nations for domesticallyduwed vehicles

» changes in diplomatic and trade relationsh

» political instability, natural disasters, war oreets of terrorism; an

» the strength of international economi

If we fail to successfully address these risks,lmsginess, prospects, operating results and finbogndition could be materially harmed.

Foreign currency movements relative to the U.S.ldolcould harm our financial results.

Our revenues and costs denominated in foreign iccigs are not completely matched. For example rdopoof our costs and expenses
for the year ended December 31, 2011 was denondiirafereign currencies, principally the Britishyral. This is primarily due to the contr:
with Lotus in the United Kingdom to assemble thel&droadster vehicles and gliders. If the valuthefU.S. dollar depreciates significantly
against the British pound, our costs as measuredSndollars will correspondingly increase. Similaa weakening of the U.S. dollar against
the Japanese yen or another Asian currency coukkeaaur component costs to increase. However, wotourrently have sufficient revenues
denominated in these currencies to fully offsetithpact of such cost increases. As a result, oaraimg results could be adversely
affected. Conversely, we have greater revenuesdbsts denominated in other currencies, princighkyeuro. In this case, a strengthening of
the dollar against the euro from current levels Mdend to reduce our revenues as measured inddli@rs.

The unavailability, reduction or elimination of g@rnment and economic incentives could have a matkadverse effect on our business,
financial condition, operating results and prospect

Any reduction, elimination or discriminatory apgtton of government subsidies and economic inceatbecause of policy changes, the
reduced need for such subsidies and incentivesodile perceived success of the electric vehideaf tightening or other reasons may result
in the diminished competitiveness of the alterrefivel vehicle industry generally or our electréhicles in particular. This could materially
and adversely affect the growth of the alternatixgd automobile markets and our business, prospicssicial condition and operating results.

Our growth depends in part on the availability antbunts of government subsidies and economic ineenfor alternative fuel vehicles
generally and performance electric vehicles speadifi. For example, in December 2009, we finaliaedarrangement with the California
Alternative Energy and Advanced Transportation Raiiag Authority that will result in an exemptiorofn California state sales and use taxes
for up to $320 million of manufacturing equipmena the extent all of this equipment is purchasediwauld otherwise be subject to Califor
state sales and use tax, we believe this incentiwdd result in tax savings by us of up to apprcadiety $31 million over a three year period
starting in December 2009. This exemption is onfgilable for equipment that would otherwise be subjo California sales and use taxes and
that would be used only for the following three mses: to establish our production facility for Medel S sedan, to upgrade our Palo Alto
powertrain production facility, and to expand ourrent Tesla Roadster assembly operations at ontdveark facility. If we fail to meet these
conditions, we would be unable to take full advgetaf this tax incentive and our financial posit@uld be harmed.
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In addition, certain regulations and laws that emage sales of electric cars through tax creditgttoer subsidies could be reduced,
eliminated or applied in a way that creates an emdveffect against our vehicles, either currentlgitcany time in the future. For example, while
the federal and state governments have from tintient» enacted tax credits and other incentiveshferpurchase of alternative fuel cars, our
competitors have more experience and greater res®im working with legislators than we do, andtsgre is no guarantee that our vehicles
would be eligible for tax credits or other inceetvprovided to alternative fuel vehicles in theifat This would put our vehicles at a
competitive disadvantage. As an example at the &gel, California recently renewed a rebate pogfor the purchase of qualified alterna
technology vehicles, but reduced the rebate amfoommt $5,000 per vehicle to $2,500 per vehicle dufetver funds available and increased
demand. When these funds run out, there is no meshan place to replenish them until the nextdisgear. Subsequent purchasers would
face a delay in receiving rebates since they whale to wait until the next fiscal year’s fundingclhme available. As an additional example,
there is considerable discussion at the federal lever tax reform. Discussions have included redyor even eliminating the current $7,500
tax credit available to purchasers of qualifieeative fuel vehicles, including the Tesla Roadatel Model S. Also, government
disincentives have been enacted in Europe for gaged vehicles, which discourage the use of setlicles and allow us to set a higher sales
price for the Tesla Roadster in Europe. In the etleat such disincentives are reduced or eliminatakks of electric vehicles, including our
Tesla Roadster and our Model S, could be adveedtdgted. Furthermore, low volume manufacturersesxempt from certain regulatory
requirements in the United States and the Europ@éon. This provides us with an advantage over higlame manufacturers that must
comply with such regulations. Once we reach a oettemeshold number of sales in each of the Un8&tes and the European Union, we will
no longer be able to take advantage of such exengin the respective jurisdictions, which couladeis to incur additional design and
manufacturing expense. We do not anticipate thatilde able to take advantage of these exemptigtisrespect to Model S which we plan
to produce at significantly higher volumes than Tlesla Roadster.

If we are unable to grow our sales of electric veld components to original equipment manufacturesar financial results may suffer.

We may have trouble attracting and retaining possigrtcustomers which could adversely affect ouiiress prospects and results.
Daimler and its affiliates and Toyota and its #dfiés are currently the only customers of our elepowertrain sales and development services.
While we recently received a letter of intent fr@raimler for a full electric powertrain program fawehicle in the Mercedes line and a
purchase order to begin this development, theme iguarantee that we will be able to secure fubuisness with Daimler or its affiliates. Even
if we can attract and retain powertrain customisese is no assurance that we can adequately psusheopportunities simultaneously with
execution of our plans for our vehicles.

Our relationship with Daimler is subject to varioussks which could adversely affect our businessddfiuture prospects.

While we recently received a letter of intent fr@aimler for a full electric powertrain program fawehicle in the Mercedes line and a
purchase order to begin this development, ouricgiship with Daimler poses various risks to usuohg:

» potential loss of access to parts that Daimlerawiging for Model S; an

» potential loss of business and adverse publicitguiobrand image if there are defects or otherlprob discovered with our electi
powertrain components that Daimler has incorporatextheir vehicles

The occurrence of any of the foregoing could adsgraffect our business, prospects, financial cioowliand operating results.
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In addition, our exclusivity and intellectual prafyeagreement, or EIP Agreement, with Daimler Naktherica Corporation (DNAC), an
affiliate of Daimler provides that, if a Daimlermopetitor offers to enter into a competitive stréddgansaction with us, we are required to give
DNAC notice of such offer and DNAC will have a sified] period of time in which to notify us whethiémwishes to enter into such transaction
with us on the same terms as offered by the trartypBecause we will be able to enter into suttaasaction with a third party only if DNAC
declines to do so, this may decrease the likelitbatwe will receive offers from third partiesenter into strategic arrangements in the future.

We may not be able to identify adequate strategi@tionship opportunities, or form strategic relatships, in the future.

Strategic business relationships will be an impartactor in the growth and success of our businéssexample, our strategic
relationship with Daimler has provided us with wais benefits and we have entered into an agreeforethie supply of a validated electric
powertrain for the Toyota RAV4 with Toyota. Howeytrere are no assurances that we will be ableetatify or secure suitable business
relationship opportunities in the future or our gmtitors may capitalize on such opportunities befee do. Our strategic relationship with
Daimler involved Blackstar, an affiliate of Daim|enaking a significant equity investment in us adl\as a representative from Daimler,

Dr. Herbert Kohler, joining our Board. In additiohgyota made a significant equity investment ircascurrent with the closing of our IPO in
July 2010. We may not be able to offer similar gseo other companies that we would like to ebsliband maintain strategic relationships
with which could impair our ability to establishcturelationships. Moreover, identifying such oppaities could demand substantial
management time and resources, and negotiatinfjreantting relationships involves significant coatsl uncertainties. If we are unable to
successfully source and execute on strategic eektiip opportunities in the future, our overallwgtio could be impaired, and our business,
prospects and operating results could be mateaalxersely affected.

If we are unable to keep up with advances in eléctrehicle technology, we may suffer a decline imr@ompetitive position.

We may be unable to keep up with changes in etee#fiicle technology and, as a result, may suffégaine in our competitive position.
Any failure to keep up with advances in electribiege technology would result in a decline in oompetitive position which would materially
and adversely affect our business, prospects, tipgnasults and financial condition. Our reseaanld development efforts may not be
sufficient to adapt to changes in electric vehtelghnology. As technologies change, we plan toagbgor adapt our vehicles and introduce
models in order to continue to provide vehicleshwiite latest technology, in particular battery tethnology. However, our vehicles may not
compete effectively with alternative vehicles if ae not able to source and integrate the latekhtdogy into our vehicles. For example, we
do not manufacture battery cells, which makes p&déent upon other suppliers of battery cell tetdmofor our battery packs.

If we fail to manage future growth effectively, waay not be able to market and sell our vehiclesseasfully.

Any failure to manage our growth effectively couh@terially and adversely affect our business, prop operating results and financial
condition. We continue to expand our operationgificantly, and additional significant expansionivie required, especially in connection
with the establishment of our Model S manufactufanglity, our electric powertrain manufacturingfiity, the expansion of our network of
Tesla stores and service centers, our mobile Rateyers program and requirements of being a pabligpany. Our future operating results
depend to a large extent on our ability to manageexpansion and growth successfully. Risks theafage in undertaking this expansion
include:

» training new personne
» forecasting production and reveni
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« controlling expenses and investments in anticipadibexpanded operatior

» establishing or expanding design, manufacturinigssand service facilitie:

» implementing and enhancing manufacturing and adtnative infrastructure, systems and proces
* addressing new markets; a

« expanding international operatiol

We intend to continue to hire a significant numbfadditional personnel, including design and mantifring personnel and service
technicians for our performance electric vehiclBscause our high-performance vehicles are baseddifferent technology platform than
traditional internal combustion engines, individualith sufficient training in performance electviehicles may not be available to hire, and we
will need to expend significant time and expena@ing the employees we do hire. Competition falividuals with experience designing,
manufacturing and servicing electric vehicles tefse, and we may not be able to attract, asseniiatin or retain additional highly qualified
personnel in the future. The failure to attractegmate, train, motivate and retain these additiemgployees could seriously harm our business
and prospects.

If we are unable to attract and/or retain key empgtees and hire qualified management, technical vé@iengineering, and manufacturin
personnel, our ability to compete could be harmetaour stock price may decline.

The loss of the services of any of our key emplsyamild disrupt our operations, delay the develograad introduction of our vehicles
and services, and negatively impact our businessppcts and operating results as well as causstack price to decline. In particular, we are
highly dependent on the services of Elon Musk,@hief Executive Officer, Product Architect and Ghaan of our Board of Directors, and JB
Straubel, our Chief Technical Officer. None of &ey employees is bound by an employment agreeroeainfy specific term. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to successfullpetttand retain senior leadership necessary to gtovbusiness. Our future success depends
upon our ability to attract and retain our execritd¥ficers and other key technology, sales, mangegngineering, manufacturing and support
personnel and any failure to do so could adverisahact our business, prospects, financial condiéiod operating results. We have in the past
and may in the future experience difficulty in ietag members of our senior management team asasegéchnical, vehicle engineering and
manufacturing personnel due to various factorsh sisca very competitive labor market for talentethviiduals with automotive experience. In
addition, we do not have “key person” life insuramolicies covering any of our officers or othey kanployees. There is increasing
competition for talented individuals with the sp@i@ed knowledge of electric vehicles and this cetitipn affects both our ability to retain key
employees and hire new ones. In particular, asrepape for the launch of Model S, we will have ign#ficantly ramp up hiring of
manufacturing personnel, and finding manufactugagsonnel in sufficient numbers, at the requiretet and with the needed skill sets may be
difficult.

We are highly dependent on the services of Elon Musur Chief Executive Officer.

We are highly dependent on the services of Elonkyiasr Chief Executive Officer, Product Archite€hairman of our Board of
Directors and largest stockholder. Although Mr. Mepends significant time with Tesla and is higatyive in our management, he does not
devote his full time and attention to Tesla. Mr.walso currently serves as Chief Executive Offanedl Chief Technical Officer of Space
Exploration Technologies, a developer and manufaciof space launch vehicles, and Chairman of Sithgra solar equipment installation
company.

In addition, our financing agreements with Blackstantain certain covenants relating to Mr. Musé’sployment as our Chief Executive
Officer. These covenants provide that if Mr. Muskibt serving as our Chief Executive Officer at ime until the later of December 31, 2012
or the launch of Model S, Mr. Musk shall promptlppose a successor Chief Executive Officer and<Bhler, or his successor, must consent
to any
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appointment of such person by our Board of Direxttirat any time during the period from Januarg@11 through December 31, 2012,

Mr. Musk is not serving as either our Chief ExeeaitDfficer or Chairman of our Board of Directors feasons other than his death or
disability, and Dr. Kohler, or his successor, hasaonsented to the appointment of a new Chief &tkee Officer or if during such period

Mr. Musk renders services to, or invests in, ameptiutomotive OEM other than us, Daimler has igjiet to terminate any or all of its strategic
collaboration agreements with us. If this were¢ouw, our business would be harmed.

Furthermore, our DOE Loan Facility provides thatwik be in default under the facility in the evevit. Musk and certain of his affiliat
fail to own, at any time prior to one year after @emplete the project relating to Model S, at &8t of the capital stock held by Mr. Musk
and such affiliates as of the date of the DOE Ueacility. Mr. Musk’s shares of our capital stocle dreld directly by his personal trust.

Many members of our management team are new todbmpany or to the automobile industry, and executiof our business plan and
development strategy could be seriously harmeaiégration of our management team into our compaisynot successful.

Our business could be seriously harmed if integnatif our management team into our company is matessful. We expect that it will
take time for our new management team to integnéeour company and it is too early to predict thee this integration will be successful.
We have recently experienced significant changesiirmanagement team and expect to continue taiexye significant growth in our
management team. Our senior management team haknoitéd experience working together as a groygeically, three of the six membe
of our senior management team have joined us willgrast few years. For example, Gilbert PassinMice President of Manufacturing,
joined us in January 2010, George BlankenshipMice President of Sales and Ownership Experiemiegd us in July 2010, and EI
Whitaker, our General Counsel, joined us in Octd@f0. This lack of long-term experience workingether may impact the team’s ability to
collectively quickly and efficiently respond to fmems and effectively manage our business. Althouglare taking steps to add senior
management personnel that have significant autemetiperience, many of the members of our curremibs management team have limited
or no prior experience in the automobile or electehicle industries.

We are subject to various environmental and safletys and regulations that could impose substantialsts upon us and cause delays in
building our manufacturing facilities.

As an automobile manufacturer, we and our operstibath in the United States and abroad, are siutoje@tional, state, provincial
and/or local environmental, health and safety land regulations, including laws relating to the, isndling, storage, disposal and human
exposure to hazardous materials. Environmentahaatth and safety laws and regulations can be aamphd we expect that our business and
operations will be affected by future amendmentsutch laws or other new environmental and healthsafety laws which may require us to
change our operations, potentially resulting inatarial adverse effect on our business. These dawgive rise to liability for administrative
oversight costs, cleanup costs, property damagglytiojury and fines and penalties. Capital ané@maing expenses needed to comply with
environmental, health and safety laws and reguiat@n be significant, and violations may resufitibstantial fines and penalties, third party
damages, suspension of production or a cessationrafperations.

Contamination at properties formerly owned or ofetdy us, as well as at properties we will own apdrate, and properties to which
hazardous substances were sent by us, may rediability for us under environmental laws and rigiwns, including, but not limited to the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensatidhiability Act (CERCLA), which can impose liaiyl for the full amount of
remediation-related costs without regard to fdoltthe investigation and cleanup of contaminattiesxd ground water, for building
contamination and impacts to human health anddarayes to natural resources. The costs of compWithgenvironmental laws and
regulations and any claims concerning honcompliaocgability with respect to contamination in theure, could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition or
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operating results. We may face unexpected delagbtaining the necessary permits and approvalgnetjby environmental laws in
connection with our manufacturing facilities thattd require significant time and financial resag@nd delay our ability to operate these
facilities, which would adversely impact our busia@rospects and operating results.

New United Motor Manufacturing, Inc. (NUMMI) hasgwiously identified environmental conditions at dsla Factory which affect
soil and groundwater, and has undertaken efforésltivess these conditions. Although we have beesediby NUMMI that it has document
and managed the environmental issues at the Fresitentve cannot currently determine with certaihiy total potential costs to remediate
pre-existing contamination, and we may be exposedaterial liability as a result of the existené@oy environmental contamination at the
Fremont site.

As the owner of the Fremont site, we may be resptmander federal and state laws and regulationsiie entire investigation and
remediation of any environmental contaminatiorhatEremont site, whether it occurred before orr dfte date we purchase the property. We
have reached an agreement with NUMMI under whiser @ ten year period, we will pay the first $1milion of any costs of any
governmentally-required remediation activities dontamination that existed prior to the closinghe purchase for any known or unknown
environmental conditions (Remediation Activitieah)d NUMMI has agreed to pay the next $15.0 milfionsuch Remediation Activities. Our
agreement provides, in part, that NUMMI will pay tapthe first $15.0 million on our behalf if suckpenses are incurred in the first four years
of our agreement, subject to our reimbursementio £osts on the fourth anniversary date of theitp

On the ten-year anniversary of the closing or wkien&30.0 million has been spent on the Remediatidivities, whichever comes first,
NUMMI’s liability to us with respect to Remediation Adties ceases, and we are responsible for any lheddaronmental conditions at the
Fremont site. At that point in time, we have agreemhdemnify, defend, and hold harmless NUMMI frathliability, including attorney fees,
or any costs or penalties it may incur arisingafutr in connection with any claim relating to emrimental conditions and we have released
NUMMI for any known or unknown claims except for M1 's obligations for representations and warrantiegen the agreement. As of
December 31, 2011, we have accrued $5.3 millicatedlto these environmental liabilities.

There are no assurances that NUMMI will performoitdigations under our agreement and NUMMI’s faglto perform would require us
to undertake these obligations at a potentiallpifitant cost and risk to our ability to build, éguand operate our Tesla Factory. Any
Remediation Activities or other environmental cdiwtfis at the Fremont site could harm our operatargsthe future use and value of the
Fremont site and could delay our production plamsvfodel S.

Our business may be adversely affected by unionvétas.

Although none of our employees are currently regméed by a labor union, it is common throughoutdtomobile industry generally fi
many employees at automobile companies to beloagution, which can result in higher employee castbincreased risk of work stoppages.
Our employees may join or seek recognition to fartabor union, or we may be required to becomei@nusignatory. We recently purchased
an existing automobile production facility in FremyoCalifornia from NUMMI and we plan to producerddodel S at such facility. Prior
employees of NUMMI were union members and our fituork force at this facility may be inclined totedn favor of forming a labor union.
We are also directly or indirectly dependent upompanies with unionized work forces, such as panpliers and trucking and freight
companies, and work stoppages or strikes orgatigesdich unions could have a material adverse impacur business, financial condition or
operating results. If a work stoppage occurs, ildaelay the manufacture and sale of our perfoneaatectric vehicles and have a material
adverse effect on our business, prospects, opgnagults or financial condition. The mere fact thar labor force could be unionized may
harm our reputation in the eyes of some investodstaereby negatively affect our stock price. Aahially, the unionization of our labor force
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could increase our employee costs and decreagwdfitability, both of which could adversely affemtir business, prospects, financial
condition and results of operations.

We are subject to substantial regulation, whichagolving, and unfavorable changes or failure by tsscomply with these regulations
could substantially harm our business and operatirggults.

Our performance electric vehicles, the sale of meéhicles in general and the electronic componeses! in our vehicles are subject to
substantial regulation under international, fedestate, and local laws. We have incurred, and &x{pancur in the future, significant costs in
complying with these regulations. For example,@hean Air Act requires that we obtain a CertificafeaConformity issued by the EPA and a
California Executive Order issued by the CARB witlspect to emissions for our vehicles. We recea/€ertificate of Conformity for sales of
our Tesla Roadsters in 2008 and 2010, but didetsive a Certificate of Conformity for sales of fesla Roadster in 2009 until December 21,
2009. In January 2010, we and the EPA enteredaimtddministrative Settlement Agreement and Audiidydetermination in which we
agreed to pay a civil administrative penalty in sven of $275,000 for failing to obtain a Certifieatf Conformity for sales of our vehicles in
2009 prior to December 21, 2009.

Regulations related to the electric vehicle induatrd alternative energy are currently evolving esedface risks associated with changes
to these regulations such as:

» the imposition of a carbon tax or the introductgdra caj-anc-trade system on electric utilities could incredsedost of electricity

» changes to the regulations governing the assenmolyransportation of lithiunmn battery packs, such as the UN Recommenda
of the Safe Transport of Dangerous Goods Model Régus or regulations adopted by the U.S. Pipeding Hazardous Materials
Safety Administration (PHMSA) could increase thetoaf lithiurr-ion battery packs

» the amendment or rescission of the federal lawragdlations mandating increased fuel economy irUthided States, referred to
the Corporate Average Fuel Economy (CAFE) standemd&d reduce new business opportunities for owgrtrain sales and
development activities

« amendment or rescission of federal greenhouseagpipe emission regulations administered by EPAeaurthe authority of the
Clean Air Act could reduce new business opportesifor our powertrain sales and development aiets;

* increased sensitivity by regulators to the needsstdblished automobile manufacturers with largpleyment bases, high fixe
costs and business models based on the intern&lustimn engine could lead them to pass regulatiwaiscould reduce the
compliance costs of such established manufactorarstigate the effects of government efforts tomote alternative fuel vehicle
and

» changes to regulations governing exporting of godpcts could increase our costs incurred to defiveducts outside the Units
States or force us to charge a higher price foveticles in such jurisdiction

In addition, as the automotive industry moves tasagreater use of electronics for vehicle systéhl SA and other regulatory bodies
may in the future increase regulation for thesetedaic systems.

To the extent the laws change, some or all of ehicles may not comply with applicable internatipfiederal, state or local laws, which
would have an adverse effect on our business. Ganga with changing regulations could be burdensdime consuming, and expensive. To
the extent compliance with new regulations is goshibitive, our business, prospects, financialditon and operating results will be
adversely affected.
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We retain certain personal information about our stomers and may be subject to various privacy aodsumer protection laws.

We use our vehicles’ electronic systems to logrimi@tion about each vehicle’s use in order to aithughicle diagnostics, repair and
maintenance, as well as to help us collect datardégg our customergharge time, battery usage, mileage and efficidnatjts. Our custome
may object to the use of this data, which may haumbusiness. Possession and use of our custoperssinal information in conducting our
business may subject us to federal and/or statgldéige and regulatory burdens in the United Staired foreign jurisdictions that could require
notification of data breach, restrict our use aftspersonal information and hinder our ability tmjaire new customers or market to existing
customers. For example, we are subject to local pietttection laws in Europe. We may incur significexpenses to comply with privacy,
consumer protection and security standards an@qwist imposed by law, regulation, industry standamdcontractual obligations. If third
parties improperly obtain and use the personahmé&tion of our customers, we may be required teeegsignificant resources to resolve tr
problems. A major breach of our network securitgt apstems could have serious negative consequésroasr businesses and future
prospects, including possible fines, penalties@adages, reduced customer demand for our vehariesharm to our reputation and brand.

We may become subject to product liability claimdyich could harm our financial condition and liquidy if we are not able to
successfully defend or insure against such claims.

We may become subject to product liability claimvkjch could harm our business, prospects, operaéisglts and financial condition.
The automobile industry experiences significantpia liability claims and we face inherent riskesfposure to claims in the event our vehi
do not perform as expected or malfunction resultmpersonal injury or death. Our risks in thisaaege particularly pronounced given the
limited number of vehicles delivered to date anditied field experience of those vehicles. A sucitggsoduct liability claim against us could
require us to pay a substantial monetary awardebhar, a product liability claim could generate tahtial negative publicity about our
vehicles and business and inhibit or prevent cormiakzation of other future vehicle candidates vihieould have material adverse effect on
our brand, business, prospects and operating se¥ué self insure against the risk of product ligbclaims. Any lawsuit seeking significant
monetary damages may have a material adverse effemir reputation, business and financial conditi¥e may not be able to secure
additional product liability insurance coveragecmmmercially acceptable terms or at reasonables easén needed, particularly if we do face
liability for our products and are forced to makelam under our policy.

In connection with the development and sale ofMadel S, Model X, and our future electric vehicle will need to comply with
various additional safety regulations and requineisi¢hat were not applicable to the sales of ostalRoadsters, with which it may be
expensive or difficult to comply. For example, wil weed to pass a range of impact tests for M&aNe performed similar tests on the Tesla
Roadster based on European Union testing standecdsnection with sales exceeding certain volummesholds in Australia and Japan, and
two criteria were not met in the test. We may eigere difficulties in meeting all the criteria fidrese or similar tests for our Model S and
Model X, which may delay our ability to sell Modgland Model X in high volumes in certain jurisdicts.

We may be compelled to undertake product recallsicl could adversely affect our brand image and dincial performance.

Any product recall in the future may result in acbeepublicity, damage our brand and adversely affaecbusiness, prospects, operating
results and financial condition. We previously ex@eced product recalls in May 2009 and Octobei02@bth of which were unrelated to our
electric powertrain. In April 2009, we determinéat a condition caused by insufficient torquingtad rear inner hub flange bolt existed in
some of our Tesla Roadsters, as a result of a chseess during manufacture of the Tesla Roadsitir. In October 2010, we initiated a
product recall after the 12 volt, low voltage aiafiy cable in a single vehicle chafed against tigee
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of a carbon fiber panel in the vehicle causing@tsismoke and possible fire behind the right floeddlamp of the vehicle. In the future, we
may at various times, voluntarily or involuntarilgjtiate a recall if any of our vehicles, includiour Model S, or electric powertrain
components prove to be defective or noncompliattt epplicable federal motor vehicle safety stangaslich recalls, voluntary or involunts
involve significant expense and diversion of mamaget attention and other resources, which coule@ly affect our brand image in our
target markets and could adversely affect our mssinprospects, financial condition and resultgpefrations.

Our current and future warranty reserves may be uficient to cover future warranty claims which cdd adversely affect our financial
performance.

If our warranty reserves are inadequate to couveréuwvarranty claims on our vehicles, our businpssspects, financial condition and
operating results could be materially and advera#figcted. We provide a three year or 36,000 nlew Vehicle Limited Warranty with every
Tesla Roadster, which we extended to four yeaB)@00 miles for the purchasers of our 2008 TesladRter. In addition, customers have the
opportunity to purchase an Extended Service Plathoperiod after the end of the New Vehicle LeditWarranty to cover additional services
for an additional three years or 36,000 miles, Weier comes first. The New Vehicle Limited Warraistgimilar to other vehicle
manufacturers’ warranty programs and is intendezbter all parts and labor to repair defects inariat or workmanship in the body, chassis,
suspension, interior, electronic systems, battagkppowertrain and brake system. We record angstidjarranty reserves based on changes in
estimated costs and actual warranty costs. Howéeeguse we only began delivering our first Teslad®ter in early 2008, we have extremely
limited operating experience with our vehicles, #merefore little experience with warranty clainos these vehicles or with estimating
warranty reserves. Furthermore, reserves that Weiate recording when we commence delivering M&Jleay be insufficient to cover any
future warranty claims.

Since we began initiating sales of our vehicleshaee continued to increase our warranty reseraesdon our actual warranty claim
experience and we may be required to undertakedustiich increases in the future. As of Decembg?@11, we had warranty reserves of ¢
million, and such reserve amount will increasehia future as Model S is sold. We could in the fetoecome subject to a significant and
unexpected warranty expense. There can be no asssrthat our currently existing or future warrarggerves will be sufficient to cover all
claims or that our limited experience with warraakgims will adequately address the needs of ostotoers to their satisfaction.

We may need to defend ourselves against patentaateémark infringement claims, which may be time-caming and would cause us to
incur substantial costs.

Companies, organizations or individuals, including competitors, may hold or obtain patents, traaidsior other proprietary rights that
would prevent, limit or interfere with our abilitp make, use, develop or sell our vehicles or carepts, which could make it more difficult 1
us to operate our business. From time to time, &g raceive inquiries from holders of patents oderaarks inquiring whether we infringe
their proprietary rights. Companies holding patemtsther intellectual property rights relatinglattery packs, electric motors or electronic
power management systems may bring suits allegiinggement of such rights or otherwise assertivgirtrights and seeking licenses. In
addition, if we are determined to have infringedmia third party’s intellectual property rights, weay be required to do one or more of the
following:

» cease selling, incorporating or using vehicles ithetrporate the challenged intellectual prope
e pay substantial damage

» obtain a license from the holder of the infringetéllectual property right, which license may netdvailable on reasonable term
at all; or

» redesign our vehicle
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In the event of a successful claim of infringemagainst us and our failure or inability to obtailicense to the infringed technology, our
business, prospects, operating results and finbeommlition could be materially adversely affectedaddition, any litigation or claims, whett
or not valid, could result in substantial costs divérsion of resources and management attention.

We also license patents and other intellectual gntgdfrom third parties, and we may face claimg tha use of this in-licensed
technology infringes the rights of others. In tbase, we may seek indemnification from our licessorder our license contracts with them.
However, our rights to indemnification may be urilalde or insufficient to cover our costs and lassiepending on our use of the technology,
whether we choose to retain control over conduthefitigation, and other factors.

Our business will be adversely affected if we areble to protect our intellectual property rightsdm unauthorized use or infringement
by third parties.

Any failure to protect our proprietary rights adatply could result in our competitors offering damiproducts, potentially resulting in t
loss of some of our competitive advantage and eedse in our revenue which would adversely affactwsiness, prospects, financial
condition and operating results. Our success depetdeast in part, on our ability to protect oare technology and intellectual property. To
accomplish this, we rely on a combination of pagepatent applications, trade secrets, includirmdkhow, employee and third party
nondisclosure agreements, copyright laws, tradesnamtellectual property licenses and other cotgi@aights to establish and protect our
proprietary rights in our technology. We have atsteived from third parties patent licenses relébesianufacturing our vehicles.

The protection provided by the patent laws is aildbe important to our future opportunities. Hoveeysuch patents and agreements and
various other measures we take to protect ouddéuteial property from use by others may not beatiffe for various reasons, including the
following:

» our pending patent applications may not resulh@issuance of paten
e our patents, if issued, may not be broad enoughdtect our proprietary right

» the patents we have been granted may be challemyadidated or circumvented because of the-existence of similar patented
unpatented intellectual property rights or for otteasons

» the costs associated with enforcing patents, cenfidlity and invention agreements or other intllal property rights may mal
aggressive enforcement impractical

« current and future competitors may independentiebtg similar technology, duplicate our vehicleslesign new vehicles in a w
that circumvents our patents; &

« ourir-licensed patents may be invalidated or the holdktisese patents may seek to breach our licenaagements

Existing trademark and trade secret laws and cenfidlity agreements afford only limited protectidm addition, the laws of some
foreign countries do not protect our proprietaghts to the same extent as do the laws of the t§tates, and policing the unauthorized us
our intellectual property is difficult.

Our patent applications may not result in issuedteats, which may have a material adverse effectoom ability to prevent others from
commercially exploiting products similar to ours.

We cannot be certain that we are the first creaftdmventions covered by pending patent applicationthe first to file patent applicatio
on these inventions, nor can we be certain thapending patent applications will result in issgedents or that any of our issued patents will
afford protection against a competitor. In additipatent applications filed in foreign countries atbject to laws, rules and procedures that
differ from those of the United States, and thuscaenot be certain that foreign patent applicatietsted to issued U.S. patents will
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result in issued patents. Furthermore, even ifelpedent applications do result in issued patsotse foreign countries provide significantly
less effective patent enforcement than in the dr8tates.

The status of patents involves complex legal antuéd questions and the breadth of claims allovgaghicertain. As a result, we canno
certain that the patent applications that we fiik n@sult in patents being issued, or that ouepés and any patents that may be issued to us in
the near future will afford protection against catifprs with similar technology. In addition, patemssued to us may be infringed upon or
designed around by others and others may obtagntzathat we need to license or design arouncereithwhich would increase costs and may
adversely affect our business, prospects, finacoatlition and operating results.

Three of our trademark applications in the Europedsnion remain subject to three outstanding opposiiiproceedings.

We currently sell and market our vehicles in thedpean Union under the Tesla trademark. We haee tttrademark applications in the
European Union for the Tesla trademark. Theseach subject to an outstanding opposition proceedingght by a prior owner of tradema
consisting of the word Tesla. If we cannot resdhase remaining oppositions and thereby securstezgd rights in the European Union, this
will reduce our ability to challenge third partyeus of the Tesla trademark and dilute the valu®imark as our exclusive brand name in the
European Union. In addition, there is a risk that temaining prior rights owner could in the futtake action to challenge our use of the Tesla
mark in the European Union. This would have a ssimapact on our position in the European Union ieay inhibit our ability to use the Te
mark in the European Union. If we were preventediflusing the Tesla trademark in the European Unienwould need to expend significant
additional financial and marketing resources oaldihing an alternative brand identity in thesekats.

We may be subject to claims arising from an airptaanrash in which three of our employees died.

In February 2010, three of our employees dieddraah of an airplane owned and piloted by one ofemployees. The plane crashed
neighborhood in East Palo Alto, California. Thenaalso clipped an electrical tower, causing a pdass and business interruption in parts of
Palo Alto, including Stanford University. The caugehe accident is under investigation by the bdlzl Transportation Safety Board.

In November 2010, a case was filed against usimgléb the crash in California Superior Court. hattcase, plaintiffs allege claims for
negligence, negligent infliction of emotional deds, trespass, and violations of federal and ata&tion laws and regulations against all
defendants, and seek compensation for real prodarhage and loss of use, as well as personal pycgred emotional distress/bodily injury
claims. In December 2010, the plaintiffs settleairols for real property damage but retained theiintd for emotional distress, bodily injury
and personal property damage. We believe that tfeesaining claims are covered by insurance.

As a result of the accident, other claims, inclgdiut not limited to those arising from loss ofdamage to personal property, business
interruption losses or damage to the electricaktomnd surrounding area, may be asserted againstiggarties including us. The time and
attention of our management may also be divertetefanding such claims. We may also incur costk botefending against any claims and
for any judgments if such claims are adverselyrdeiteed.

Our corporate or manufacturing facilities or operans could be damaged or adversely affected assalteof disasters or unpredictable
events.

Our corporate headquarters in Palo Alto and Teatadfy in Fremont are located in Northern Califarrd region known for seismic
activity. If major disasters such as earthquakess ffloods, hurricanes, wars, terrorist attacksnputer viruses, pandemics or other events
occur, or our information system or communicatinasvork breaks down or operates improperly, oudhearters and production facilities
may be seriously
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damaged, or we may have to stop or delay produatiohshipment of our products. In addition, ousétor our Palo Alto facility permits the
landlord to terminate the lease following a casualtent if the needed repairs are in excess odicettiresholds and we do not agree to pay for
any uninsured amounts. We may incur expensesnglaiisuch damages, which could have a materiaragvimpact on our business,
operating results and financial condition.

If our suppliers fail to use ethical business praots and comply with applicable laws and regulatimur brand image could be harmed
due to negative publicity.

Our core values, which include developing the higlogiality electric vehicles while operating witttégrity, are an important component
of our brand image, which makes our reputationi@alerly sensitive to allegations of unethical mesis practices. We do not control our
independent suppliers or their business practisesordingly, we cannot guarantee their compliandé ethical business practices, such as
environmental responsibility, fair wage practicaspropriate sourcing of raw materials, and compkanith child labor laws, among others. A
lack of demonstrated compliance could lead us ¢t sdternative suppliers, which could increaseamats and result in delayed delivery of our
products, product shortages or other disruptiormuofoperations.

Violation of labor or other laws by our supplierstioe divergence of an independent supplier’s laivarther practices from those
generally accepted as ethical in the United Statesher markets in which we do business could atsact negative publicity for us and our
brand. This could diminish the value of our bramége and reduce demand for our performance eleghicles if, as a result of such violati
we were to attract negative publicity. If we, onet manufacturers in our industry, encounter sinfifablems in the future, it could harm our
brand image, business, prospects, financial camd@hd operating results.

We are obligated to develop and maintain proper aftective internal control over financial reportig. We may not complete our analy
of our internal control over financial reporting ina timely manner, or these internal controls maytrie determined to be effective, which
may adversely affect investor confidence in our queny and, as a result, the value of our common &toc

We are required, pursuant to Section 404 of thee&Bars-Oxley Act, to furnish a report by managensentmong other things, the
effectiveness of our internal control over finahceporting. This assessment includes disclosusngfmaterial weaknesses identified by our
management in our internal control over finanoggdarting, as well as a statement that our indep@négistered public accounting firm has
issued an attestation report on the effectivengssirointernal control over financial reporting.

Complying with Section 404 requires a rigorous cbamze program as well as adequate time and ressuvée may not be able to
complete our evaluation, testing and any requiesdediation in a timely fashion. Additionally, if videntify one or more material weaknesses
in our internal control over financial reportingewnay be unable to assert that our internal cantnad effective. If we are unable to assert that
our internal control over financial reporting idesttive, or if our independent registered publicamting firm is unable to express an opinion
on the effectiveness of our internal controls, weld lose investor confidence in the accuracy andpeteness of our financial reports, which
would have a material adverse effect on the pricocommon stock.

Risks Related to the Ownership of our Common Stock

Concentration of ownership among our existing exdime officers, directors and their affiliates maygvent new investors from
influencing significant corporate decisions.

As of December 31, 2011, our executive officersgadrs and their affiliates beneficially own, iretaggregate, approximately 41.7% of
our outstanding shares of common stock. In padicilon Musk, our Chief Executive Officer, Prodéethitect and Chairman of our Board
Directors, beneficially owned approximately
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28.9% of our outstanding shares of common stoak &ecember 31, 2011. As a result, these stockinelddl be able to exercise a significant
level of control over all matters requiring stoclder approval, including the election of directasendment of our certificate of incorporat
and approval of significant corporate transactidigs control could have the effect of delayingpogventing a change of control of our
company or changes in management and will makagpeoval of certain transactions difficult or impidse without the support of these
stockholders.

The trading price of our common stock is likely tmntinue to be volatile.

Our shares of common stock began trading on the&tp&lobal Select Market on June 29, 2010 and fitrerethe trading history for our
common stock has been limited. In addition, thditrg price of our common stock has been highly tdeland could continue to be subject to
wide fluctuations in response to various factoosps of which are beyond our control. For examdker @pening at $17.00 per share at the
IPO, our common stock has experienced an idénatrading high of $36.42 per share and a lowldf.$8 per share through December 31, z

In addition, the stock market in general, and ttaekmt for technology companies in particular, hgseegienced extreme price and volume
fluctuations that have often been unrelated orrdiaprtionate to the operating performance of tramsapanies. Broad market and industry
factors may seriously affect the market price ohpanies’ stock, including ours, regardless of datparating performance. These fluctuations
may be even more pronounced in the trading madtetdr stock during the period following this offeg. In addition, in the past, following
periods of volatility in the overall market and tmarket price of a particular company’s securitgsurities class action litigation has often
been instituted against these companies. Thigtitg, if instituted against us, could result ilstantial costs and a diversion of our
management’s attention and resources.

A majority of our total outstanding shares are helry insiders and may be sold on a stock exchangthenear future. The large number
of shares eligible for public sale or subject t@hits requiring us to register them for public sat®uld depress the market price of our
common stock.

The market price of our common stock could dectise result of sales of a large number of sharesrofommon stock in the market in
the future, and the perception that these salelsl cmeur may also depress the market price of oarmoon stock. Stockholders owning a
majority of our total outstanding shares are esditunder contracts providing for registration t&gho require us to register shares of our
common stock owned by them for public sale in tinétédl States, subject to the restrictions of Rdl. 1n addition, we have registered shares
previously issued or reserved for future issuammen our equity compensation plans and agreemeipiition of which are related to
outstanding option awards. Subject to the satisfadf applicable exercise periods and, in certaises, lock-up agreements, the shares of
common stock issued upon exercise of outstanditigrpwill be available for immediate resale in theited States in the open market. Sales
of our common stock as restrictions end or purst@reggistration rights may make it more difficfdt us to sell equity securities in the future
at a time and at a price that we deem appropffditese sales also could cause our stock priceltarfdlmake it more difficult for you to sell
shares of our common stock.

Mr. Musk has borrowed funds from an affiliate of awnderwriter and pledged shares of our common $tdo secure this borrowing. Tt
forced sale of these shares pursuant to a margili cauld cause our stock price to decline and neigaty impact our business.

Goldman Sachs Bank USA, an affiliate of GoldmarghS8a& Co., made a loan in the amount of $35 millofElon Musk and the Elon
Musk Revocable Trust dated July 22, 2003, or thesfTinterest on the loan accrues at market r&elsiman Sachs Bank USA received
customary fees and expense reimbursements in ciiomedth this loan. Goldman Sachs Bank USA madgitazhal extensions of credit in an
aggregate amount of $50 million to Elon Musk arel Tnust and Mr. Musk used a portion of the procegdsich loans to purchase shares
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in the June 2011 private placement. Interest oodues will accrue at market rates. Goldman SaarskBRJSA will receive customary fees and
expense reimbursements in connection with thesesloss a regulated entity, Goldman Sachs Bank USAawn decisions regarding making
and managing its loans independent of Goldman, S&dbo. Mr. Musk and Goldman have a losignding relationship of almost a decade.
are not a party to these loans, which are full ves® against Mr. Musk and the Trust and are sedwyedpledge of a portion of the Tesla
common stock currently owned by Mr. Musk and thestiand other shares of capital stock of unrelatgilies owned by Mr. Musk and the
Trust. The terms of these loans were negotiatesttjr between Mr. Musk and Goldman Sachs Bank USA.

If the price of our common stock declines, Mr. Mus&y be forced by Goldman Sachs Bank USA to proadi#itional collateral for the
loans or to sell shares of Tesla common stockderto remain within the margin limitations imposauter the terms of his loans. The loans
between Goldman Sachs Bank USA and Mr. Musk andthst prohibit the non-pledged shares currentipedvby Mr. Musk and the Trust
from being pledged to secure other loans. In afuitbour DOE Loan Facility requires Mr. Musk andtaar of his affiliates, until one year after
we complete the project relating to the Model Siliigcto own at least 65% of the Tesla capitalcstdield by them as of the date of the DOE
Loan Facility, and a failure to comply would beearent of default that could result in an acceleratf all obligations under the DOE Loan
Facility documents and the exercise of other regseldy the DOE. These factors may limit Mr. Muskidity to either pledge additional shares
of Tesla common stock or sell shares of Tesla comstack as a means to avoid or satisfy a marglétl respect to his pledged Tesla
common stock in the event of a decline in our sfagge that is large enough to trigger a margih @aly sales of common stock following a
margin call that is not satisfied may cause thegpaf our common stock to decline further.

Anti-takeover provisions contained in our certifita of incorporation and bylaws, as well as provissoof Delaware law, could impair a
takeover attempt.

Our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and Delagviaw contain provisions which could have the ffef rendering more difficult,
delaying or preventing an acquisition deemed umdkks by our board of directors. Our corporate goaace documents include provisions:

» creating a classified board of directors whose mamberve staggered th-year terms

» authorizing “blank check” preferred stock, whichutbbe issued by the board without stockholder epglrand may contain voting,
liquidation, dividend and other rights superiootae common stock

» limiting the liability of, and providing indemnifation to, our directors and office!
« limiting the ability of our stockholders to call@bring business before special meetir

* requiring advance notice of stockholder proposaidtisiness to be conducted at meetings of oukistdders and for nominations
of candidates for election to our board of direst

» controlling the procedures for the conduct and dalieg of board and stockholder meetings;

» providing the board of directors with the expresw/r to postpone previously scheduled annual mgetind to cancel previously
scheduled special meeting

These provisions, alone or together, could delgyevent hostile takeovers and changes in controhanges in our management.

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subjectdwipions of Delaware law, including Section 203té Delaware General Corporation
law, which prevents some stockholders holding ntiba@ 15% of our outstanding common stock from emggi certain business
combinations without approval of the holders ofsgtahtially all of our outstanding common stock.
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Any provision of our certificate of incorporatiom bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect oagiglg or deterring a change in control
could limit the opportunity for our stockholdersrexeive a premium for their shares of our comntooks and could also affect the price that
some investors are willing to pay for our commarckt

Our current agreements with Blackstar, an affiliatef Daimler, contain certain restrictions that deease the likelihood that potential
acquirors would make a bid to acquire us.

Our financing agreements with Blackstar, an atfliaf Daimler, include certain restrictions thatdmse the likelihood that potential
acquirors would make a bid to acquire us, includjing Blackstar a right of notice on any acquisitproposal we receive for which we
determine to engage in further discussions witbtamtial acquiror or otherwise pursue. Blackstenthas a right, within a specified time
period, to submit a competing acquisition proposeaddition, Elon Musk, our Chief Executive Offic@roduct Architect, Chairman and
largest stockholder, has agreed that he will ravtdfer any shares of our capital stock benefic@aiiyed by him to any automobile original
equipment manufacturer, other than Daimler, witt®lackstar's consent. Mr. Musk has further agreetta vote any shares of our capital
stock beneficially owned by him in favor of a de@htigquidation transaction to which any automobitggimal equipment manufacturer, other
than Daimler, is a party without Blackstar’s cortsdimese provisions could delay or prevent hostikeovers and changes in control of us,
which could cause our stock price or trading voluméall.

If securities or industry analysts publishing reses or reports about us, our business or our marlatange their recommendations
regarding our stock adversely or cease to publigisearch or reports about us, our stock price andding volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will beuehced by the research and reports that industsgaurities analysts may publish
about us, our business, our market or our compstitbany of the analysts who may cover us chahg& recommendation regarding our stock
adversely, or provide more favorable relative recmndations about our competitors, our stock prioal@likely decline. If any analyst who
may cover us were to cease coverage of our compaiayl to regularly publish reports on us, we abldse visibility in the financial markets,
which in turn could cause our stock price or trgdiolume to decline.

We do not expect to declare any dividends in thee§eeable future.

We do not anticipate declaring any cash dividendsolders of our common stock in the foreseealilgdéu Consequently, investors may
need to rely on sales of their common stock afteepappreciation, which may never occur, as tHg way to realize any future gains on their
investment. Investors seeking cash dividends shmaighurchase our common stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters is based in Palo AltifdEnia. We have a lease with Stanford Univer§ity350,000 square feet which
expires in January 2020 and houses our headquartdnsowertrain activities. The Palo Alto facilligs served as our manufacturing facility
the electric powertrain components we utilize ia Tresla Roadster and for our powertrain comporeahsgstems development and sales. We
are in the process of transitioning our powert@mponent and systems production activities toréesda Factory.

In May 2010, we entered into an agreement to pwelaa existing automobile production facility laghin Fremont, California from
NUMMI, which is a joint venture between Toyota, dddtors Liquidation Company
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the owner of selected assets of General Motor®chober 2010, we completed the purchase and ratéteto the facility and land. The total
cash paid was $42.0 million. The purchase totaldlidres, or approximately 55% of the land at iteg and included all of the manufacturing
facilities located thereon totaling approximatelg illion square feet. We intend to use the fac#ind manufacturing assets for the produc
of our Model S vehicle and to build our future va&s. We are currently planning and building oig facility. We are required to comply with
environmental regulations in connection with ousl@d-actory in Fremont, California. In October 20d4@ and NUMMI amended the May
2010 purchase agreement to include the transies tf certain operating permits, or emission cegdidr additional consideration of $6.5
million. We completed the transfer of these perimt®ctober 2010.

Outside of our Tesla Factory, we do not currentin@ny of our facilities. The following table sétsth the location, approximate size
and primary use of our significant leased factitie

Approximate Lease
Size (Building) Expiration
Location (1) in Square Feel Primary Use Date
Palo Alto, Californie 350,00( Administration, engineering services & January 202!
powertrain development servic
Hawthorne, Californic 132,25( Vehicle engineering and design servi December 202
Maidenhead, United Kingdoi 8,87( Administration, sales, service and markel November 201!
services

(1) We also lease a number of facilities for our rdt@htions around the world, most of which are B,6Quare feet or smalle

We currently intend to add new facilities or expanu existing facilities as we add employees ammher our production organization.
We believe that suitable additional or alternapace will be available in the future on commelgisdasonable terms to accommodate our
foreseeable future expansion.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we are subject to various lggakeedings that arise from the normal course sin@ss activities. In addition, from
time to time, third parties may assert intellectpraperty infringement claims against us in therfaf letters and other forms of
communication. If an unfavorable ruling were to wgcthere exists the possibility of a material adeeémpact on our results of operations,
prospects, cash flows, financial position and brand
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PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock has traded on The NASDAQ Globl&&arket under the symbol “TSLA” since it begaading on June 29, 2010.
Our initial public offering was priced at $17.00rghare on June 28, 2010. The following table &eth, for the time period indicated, the high
and low closing sales price of our common stoctepsrted on The NASDAQ Global Select Market.

2011 2010

High Low High Low

First Quarter $28.71 $21.11 $ — $ —
Second Quarter (from June 29, 20 31.5( 24.2( 23.8¢ 23.8:
Third Quartel 30.4¢ 21.5C 21.9¢ 15.8(
Fourth Quarte 35.0( 22.9¢ 35.47 20.0¢

Holders

As of January 31, 2012, there were 407 holderg@dnd of our common stock. A substantially greatenber of holders of our common
stock are “street name” or beneficial holders, vehsisares are held by banks, brokers and otherciemlanstitutions.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ooa@umon stock. We currently do not anticipate pgyany cash dividends in the
foreseeable future. Any future determination tol@eccash dividends will be made at the discretibour board of directors, subject to
applicable laws and compliance with certain covémander our loan facility with the United Statesp@artment of Energy, which restrict or
limit our ability to pay dividends, and will depend our financial condition, results of operatiocapital requirements, general business
conditions and other factors that our board ofaores may deem relevant.
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Stock Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed “filéal” purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exgbakct of 1934, as amended (the
Exchange Act), or incorporated by reference inty filng of Tesla Motors, Inc. under the Securithes of 1933, as amended, or the Excha
Act, except as shall be expressly set forth byifipeeference in such filinc

The following graph shows a comparison from June2Pa0 through December 31, 2011, of the cumuldtted return for our common
stock, the NASDAQ Composite Index, and a groupligf@blic companies sharing the same SIC code aghih is SIC code 3711, “Motor
Vehicles and Passenger Car Bodies” (Motor Vehialeb Passenger Car Bodies Public Company Grouph i®tierns are based on historical
results and are not intended to suggest futur@paegnce. Data for The NASDAQ Composite Index amdMotor Vehicles and Passenger Car
Bodies Public Company Group assumes an investniéit0® on June 29, 2010 and reinvestment of divddee have never declared or paid
cash dividends on our capital stock nor do we gate paying any such cash dividends in the fosddeduture.

Comparison of 18 Month Cumulative Total Return
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Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

On July 2, 2010, we sold 2,941,176 shares of oomeon stock to Toyota Motor Corporation at a pric§57.00 per share, for aggregate
proceeds of $50.0 million.

On November 2, 2010, we sold 1,418,573 sharesrof@ummon stock to an entity affiliated with Pandsddorporation at a price of
$21.148 per share, for aggregate proceeds of $3illion.

On June 2, 2011, we sold 1,416,000 shares of ounnmm stock to Elon Musk, our Chief Executive Offiemd cofounder, and 637,475

shares of our common stock to Blackstar Investc@,Ldn affiliate of Daimler AG (Daimler) at a prio&$28.76 per share, for aggregate
proceeds of $59.1 million.

The shares described above were issued in priratséctions pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Seearict of 1933, as amended.
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Use of Proceeds

Our initial public offering (IPO) of common stockaw effected through a Registration Statement omF1 (File No. 333-164593)
which was declared effective by the Securities Brchange Commission on June 28, 2010 which regidtan aggregate of 15,295,000 shares
of our common stock, including 1,995,000 sharesttimunderwriters had the option to purchase. @n2, 2010, we sold 11,880,600 shares
on for gross proceeds of $202.0 million. We paklahderwriters underwriting discounts and commissiof $13.1 million and incurred
additional offering costs of approximately $4.4lrail. After deducting the underwriting discountslaommissions and the offering costs, we
received net proceeds of approximately $184.5 onilliThere was no material change in the use ofgeds from our IPO as described in our
final prospectus filed with the SEC pursuant toedR424(b). From the effective date of the registratatement through December 31, 2011
have used the net proceeds of the offering for igrkapital purposes, including expenditures feeimory, personnel costs, equipment and
other operating expenses.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Afiated Purchasers
None.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial dgttauld be read in conjunction with “Management’sddission and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operatioastl our consolidated financial statements anddfaed notes included elsewhere in this An
Report on Form 10-K.

The following selected consolidated financial datale also reflects the 1-for-3 reverse stock glidur outstanding common stock
effected in May 2010.

Year Ended December 31
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(in thousands, except share and per share dat

Consolidated Statements of Operation

Data:

Revenues

Automotive sale: $  148,56¢ $ 97,07¢ $ 111,94: $ 14,74 $ 73

Development service 55,674 19,66¢ — — —
Total revenue 204,24. 116,74 111,941 14,74 73

Cost of revenues (1

Automotive sale: 115,48: 79,98: 102,40¢ 15,88: 9

Development service 27,16¢ 6,031 — — —
Total cost of revenue 142,64 86,01 102,40¢ 15,88: 9
Gross profit (loss 61,59¢ 30,73 9,53t (1,14 64

Operating expenses (-

Research and development (ne
development Compensation of
$23,249 for the year ended

December 31, 200¢ 208,98: 92,99¢ 19,28: 53,71« 62,75:
Selling, general and administrati 104,10: 84,57 42,15( 23,64¢ 17,24«
Total operating expens: 313,08: 177,56¢ 61,43: 77,36 79,99
Loss from operation (251,48%) (146,839 (51,899 (78,509 (79,939
Interest incom: 25E 25¢ 15¢ 52¢ 1,74¢
Interest expens (43) (992) (2,53)) (3,74%) —
Other income (expense), net (2,64¢) (6,587%) (1,445 (963 137
Loss before income tax (253,92)) (154,159 (55,719 (82,685 (78,04
Provision for income taxe 48¢ 172 26 97 11C
Net loss $ (254,41) $ (154,32) $ (55,740 $ (82,789 $ (78,15)
Net loss per share of common sta
basic and diluted (< $ (2.59 $ (3.09 $ (799 $  (12.4¢) $ (22.69

Weighted average shares use
computing net loss per share of
common stock, basic and diluted 100,388,81 50,718,30 7,021,96: 6,646,38 3,443,80!

(1) Includes stoc-based compensation expense as follc

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Cost of sales $ 67C $ 248 $ 61
Research and developmt 13,37% 4,13¢ 37€
Selling, general and administrati 15,37 16,77« 997
Total $29,41¢ $21,15¢ $1,43¢
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(@)

3)

In January 2010, we issued a warrant to the Degguttiof Energy (DOE) in connection with the closofgour DOE loan facility tc
purchase shares of our Series E convertible pegfestock. This convertible preferred stock wartsetame a warrant to purchase shares
of our common stock upon the closing of our inipablic offering (IPO) in July 2010. Beginning ore€ember 15, 2018 and until
December 14, 2022, the shares subject to purchras the warrant will become exercisable in qubrt@mounts depending on the
average outstanding balance of our the DOE loaitfaduring the prior quarter. Since the numbesbfres of common stock ultimately
issuable under the warrant will vary, this warraiit be carried at its estimated fair value withaclges in the fair value of this common
stock warrant liability reflected in other incomexpense), net, until its expiration or vesting.gptill shares of common stock issuable
upon exercise of the DOE warrant will be excludexhf the calculation of diluted net loss per shdreconmon stock until at least such
time as we generate a net profit in a given pel

Diluted net loss per share of common stock is cdetpaxcluding common stock subject to repurchase, iddilutive, potential shares
common stock outstanding during the period. Paaéstiares of common stock consist of stock optiormurchase shares of our common
stock and warrants to purchase shares of our ctibleepreferred stock (using the treasury stockhoe} and the conversion of our
convertible preferred stock and convertible notgaple (using the if-converted method). For purpadehese calculations, potential
shares of common stock have been excluded froroaleelation of diluted net loss per share of comrskmtk as their effect is
antidilutive since we generated a net loss in gehod.

As of December 31

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Consolidated Balance Sheet Datze

Cash and cash equivale $255,26¢ $ 99,55¢ $ 69,627 $ 9,27i $ 17,21
Shor-term marketable securitit 25,06 — — — —
Restricted cas—current (1) 23,47¢ 73,59% — — —
Property, plant and equipment, net 298,41 114,63¢ 23,53t 18,79 11,99¢
Working capital (deficit 181,49¢ 150,32: 43,07( (56,509) (28,98¢)
Total asset 713,44¢ 386,08 130,42 51,69¢ 34,83
Convertible preferred stock warrant liability ( — — 1,73¢ 2,07¢ 191
Common stock warrant liability (¢ 8,83¢ 6,08¢ — — —
Capital lease obligations, less current por 2,83( 49€ 80C 88¢ 18
Long-term debt (4 268,33! 71,82¢ — — —
Convertible preferred stoc — — 319,22! 101,17¢ 101,17¢
Total stockholder” equity (deficit) 224,04! 207,04¢ (253,52) (299,719 (117,84¢)

1)

(2)
3)

(4)

Upon the completion of our IPO and concurrent Taymivate placement in July 2010, we set aside $1@fllion to fund a restricte
dedicated account as required under the provisibnar DOE loan facility. This dedicated account ¢ee used by us to fund any cost
overruns for our projects and is used as a medmatoisiefer advances under the DOE loan facilityp@wling on the timing and
magnitude of our draw-downs and the funding reauéets of the dedicated account, the balance aledecated account will fluctuate
throughout the period in which we plan to make ddowns under the DOE loan facility. Upon completafrour final advance under the
DOE loan facility, the balance in the dedicatedoactt will be fully transferred out of the dedicatctount

In October 2010, we completed the purchase of estalFactory and certain of the manufacturing adeetited thereol

In January 2010, we issued a warrant to the DQd®imection with the closing of our DOE loan fagilib purchase shares of our Seri¢
convertible preferred stock. This convertible prefd stock warrant became a warrant to purchaseslod our common stock upon the
closing of our IPO in July 201

In January 2010, we closed our DOE loan facility Brgan making draw downs under the loan fac

72



Table of Contents

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should belieaconjunction with our consolidated financiahtgments and the related notes that
appear elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Overview and 2011 Highlights

We design, develop, manufacture and sell high-perdace fully electric vehicles and advanced elecstehicle powertrain components.
We own our sales and service network, and markeésah our vehicles directly to consumers via thene and internet, in-person at our
corporate events and through our network of Tdsles. We were incorporated in Delaware in July2@pened our first store in Los Ange
California in May 2008, and introduced our firshigle, the Tesla Roadster, in early 2008. We aigetang our second vehicle, the Model S
sedan, for a significantly broader customer baaa the Tesla Roadster and plan to manufacture Mddehigher volumes than those for the
Tesla Roadster. First customer deliveries of M&late planned by July 2012. We have also receenigaled an early prototype of the Model
X crossover, a vehicle based on the Model S platfdrhis unique vehicle has been designed to #irtthe between the roominess of a
minivan and the style of an SUV, while having hfggrformance features such as a dual motor all-wdrded system.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we rezedribtal revenues of $204.2 million, an incredses®b over total revenues of
$116.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2@L@omotive sales revenue of $148.6 million inae@®53% from the year ended
December 31, 2010, driven by strong customer derfaritie Tesla Roadster globally and significafigher powertrain component sales.
completed 2011 with cumulative deliveries worldwfdem inception of approximately 2,150 Roadsterd eaoncluded the production run of 1
Tesla Roadster in January 2012. We expect to sellemaining Tesla Roadsters primarily in Europé Asia during 2012 until our inventory
is depleted.

Development services revenue increased to $55libmibr the year ended December 31, 2011 from Bhéillion for the year ended
December 31, 2010, due primarily to our developnaetivities for the Toyota Motor Corporation (TogpRAV4 EV program for a full
electric powertrain system. We completed plannddstines and deliveries of samples to Toyota duhieg/ear, and we currently expect to
complete our remaining development services mifest@nd sample deliveries during the first quart&012.

We made significant progress on the Model S progtasiyear and we remain on schedule to commerstemer deliveries by July
2012. During the year, we moved from building alphé&eta prototypes and performed detailed testfraystems integration, performance and
safety. Our significant efforts in development aesting, both of which are ongoing, has allowedousirther refine the overall design of Mo
S and its constituent parts as well as the prodneind assembly processes to manufacture the gehidDctober 2011,
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we finalized a long term supply contract with Panmas Corporation for battery cells to be used in jwducts, which gives us increased
visibility into our variable costs.

Research and development expenses included expetetes to Model S alpha and beta prototype bdiédelopment of the Tesla
Factory, significant engineering, design and testiork being undertaken to support Model S develpdesign and engineering activities
related to Model X, and other research and devedopractivities. Research and development expeonsékd year ended December 31, 2011
were $209.0 million, compared to $93.0 million fbe year ended December 31, 2010.

In addition to Model S engineering, we also experé significant activity at the Tesla Factory, veheve intend to produce our Model
Model X and future vehicles. Significant constroathas taken place and detailed manufacturingmeadiplans are being executed. Almost all
of our Model S vehicle manufacturing equipment Ibasn installed at the Tesla Factory. As part oftesting and qualifying activities of our
manufacturing equipment, we are now assembling fretatype vehicles at the Tesla Factory and exjoestart building release candidate
vehicles in the first quarter of 2012. During thi®cess, we are continuing to fine-tune our pradagbrocesses and incorporate a higher
percentage of production-intent components intactite. Once we complete these activities, the Treastéory will be fully commissioned for
production and ready for its intended use. As alt@d investments being made in the Tesla Facaoy related supplier tooling for Model S,
capital expenditures increased to $197.9 milliartie year ended December 31, 2011, compared t&.4hdllion for the year ended
December 31, 2010. Our capital expenditures in 20&@ comprised primarily of payments we had ma#atds the purchase of the Tesla
Factory from New United Motor Manufacturing, In8llMMI).

With the opening of our Santana Row store in 20dd Jaunched what we believe to be a new and unigad experience designed to
engage and inform potential customers about eteegtiicles in general, learn about Tesla’s inn@vetiand configure their cars through hands-
on interactive screens. During the year, we furthgranded our company-owned retail network withapening of several more stores in the
United States utilizing the new store concept engxmbtly our Santana Row Tesla store. Some of thesestores will replace existing stores
which we plan to continue using as service locatids a result of our activities to support theesaif the Tesla Roadster, the opening and
operation of new stores, higher store-related aarkating activities, as well as the growth of ousibess in general, we incurred higher
selling, general and administrative expenses ofifilfillion for the year ended December 31, 201&meompared to expenses of $84.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2010.

In June 2011, we completed a follow-on offeringofmmon stock in which a total of 6,095,000 shafesuo common stock were sold,
and received cash proceeds of $172.7 million, hehderwriting discounts. Concurrent with this ofifg, we also sold 1,416,000 shares of
common stock to Elon Musk, our Chief Executive €dfiand 637,475 shares of common stock to Blackstastco LLC, an affiliate of
Daimler and received total cash proceeds of $59lbmin these private placements. No underwritdigcounts or commissions were paid in
connection with these private placements.

Along with the proceeds from our public offeringedgrivate placements, our continued draw-downgutite Department of Energy
Loan Facility (DOE Loan Facility) and other sourcésash including cash from the sales of the TBsladster, development services to
Toyota, sales of powertrain components to Dainaed cash received from refundable reservation patgrfer our Model S, provided the
liquidity to fund our Model S, Model X and poweiitralevelopment activities, as well as our capitaeistments in manufacturing
infrastructure. During the year ended Decembe81], we received $204.4 million in draw-downs urttie DOE Loan Facility bringing our
total long-term debt under the facility to $276.8lion. As we continue to progress on our Modelrfsl @owertrain activities, we expect to
continue making draw-downs under the DOE Loan kgcil

As of December 31, 2011, we had $492.7 millionringpal sources of liquidity available from oursteand cash equivalents, short-term
marketable securities, cash held in our dedicat®& Rccount and the remaining amounts availablentheeDOE Loan Facility. This includes
our cash and cash equivalents in the
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amount of $255.3 million which includes investmentsnoney market funds, short-term marketable sgesiof $25.1 million, cash of $23.5
million deposited in a dedicated DOE account inoadance with the requirements of our DOE Loan Rgciind $188.8 million available
under the DOE Loan Facility. We expect that thasscfpal sources of liquidity together with our cemt projections of cash flow from
operating activities will provide us adequate lidjtyi until we reach profitability in 2013.

Management Opportunities, Challenges and Risks

Our principal focus has continued to be on theiplised development of Model S so that we can comeealeliveries by July 2012. We
have also been focused on the continued sale® dfdbla Roadster and powertrain components, deweliopservices activities with our
strategic partners, advanced engineering work emplénned Model X and pursuing new electric povaértopportunities with automobile
manufacturers.

In January 2012, we concluded the production rumuofcurrent generation Tesla Roadster. Througtebeer 31, 2011, we had
delivered approximately 2,150 Roadsters to custenW/e plan to sell our remaining Tesla Roadstersidi2012 primarily in Europe and Asia
until our inventory is depleted.

Powertrain component sales in 2011 were drivengmilgnby our deliveries to supply Daimler AG (Daien) with battery packs and
chargers for the Daimler Smart fortwo andZass EV programs. We completed both of these mtomuprograms as of December 31, 201:
July 2011, we entered into a supply and servicesemgent with Toyota for the production of an elieghowertrain system, including a battery
pack, charging system, inverter, motor, gearboxassciated software, which will be integrated thi® Toyota RAV4 EV. Additionally, we
will provide Toyota with certain services relatedthe supply of these components. Pursuant togreement, Toyota will pay us approxima
$100 million from 2012 through 2014 based on ouivdey of these components for the Toyota RAV4 BYie to the wind down of the
Daimler Smart fortwo and A-Class EV production paogs at the end of 2011, we expect powertrain compiosales to be limited until the
planned start of production of the Toyota RAV4 EdMyertrain system in the first half of 2012.

As we have a limited number of the Tesla Road$¢dr$or sale and as we expect powertrain composalats to decline until the start of
production for the Toyota RAV4 EV program, we aiftéte our automotive sales will decline, potenyialignificantly, just prior to the planned
launch of our Model S. The launch of our Model &ldde delayed for a number of reasons and any delelys may be significant and would
extend the period in which we would generate lichitevenues from sales of our electric vehicleseladtric powertrain systems.

We completed all of our planned milestones andvdeks of samples to Toyota during 2011, and weetilly expect to complete our
remaining development services milestones and sadweiveries during the first quarter of 2012. Asls, we expect that the remaining
development services revenue under the Toyota RBY$rogram will also be recognized in the first gea Since the revenue related to
development services milestones are recognized atigieved while milestone costs must be expensetased, our development services
gross margin will reflect this favorability when wecognize our final Toyota RAV4 EV milestones Bil2. In November 2011, we received a
letter of intent from Daimler for a full electriovertrain program for a vehicle in the Mercedes tmd recently, we received a purchase order
to begin the development work. However, we haveyrbfinalized with Daimler the terms for this pragr and may never do so. Due to tim
differences that may arise between the recognafdanture milestone revenue and the underlyingscoétevelopment services, the gross
margin from our development services activities many from period to period as we have seen undeprevious development services
agreements including that for the Toyota RAV4 Edgyam.

The build of Model S beta prototypes continuesrtgpess and we will begin building release candida&hicles in the first quarter of
2012. We continue to work closely with supplierslesign, develop and test components that will meetnticipated production design
specifications and schedule. Ensuring that ourgtesingineering, operations and manufacturing emging teams, and our suppliers, execute
on all
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significant activities will be critical to a timebkaunch of first customer deliveries of our ModdbyJuly 2012. Our continuing negotiations v
suppliers and the adequate maturation of our matwiag capabilities will influence our ability tchieve the cost per unit that we are
currently projecting. Our plan to commence deligedf Model S by July 2012 is also dependent uperiiinely availability of funds from the
DOE Loan Facility, upon our finalizing the relatdesign, engineering, component procurement, tedtimi¢d out and manufacturing plans in a
timely manner and upon our ability to execute th@aas within the current timeline.

In February 2012, we revealed an early prototypta@Model X crossover as the first vehicle weridtéo develop by leveraging the
Model S platform. This unique vehicle has beengtesi to fill the niche between the roominess ofidivan and the style of an SUV, while
having high performance features such as a duaimatitwheel drive system. We currently plan tatspmoduction of Model X in the fourth
quarter of 2013 with significant deliveries in 20Qur ability to develop and introduce the ModeihXhis timeframe is based on our
expectations of leveraging the Model S platformdiNdnally, if there is a lower level of commonglibetween Model S and Model X than
anticipated, our future development and toolingsosay exceed expectations.

Our operating expenses in 2011 have been signifasmwe continued to execute on the Model S progradhare systematically and
strategically expanding our sales and service stifugture globally to support the launch of ModeAS we continue to make significant
investments in research and development and oasinéicture to launch Model S as well as incurs@mtthe development of Model X, we
expect to continue generating a net loss until@eeh planned volume sales of Model S in 2013. Aggpoduction expenses and development
and prototyping costs cannot be capitalized, weseixpur operating expenses to continue increasiega our ongoing activities to prepare the
Tesla Factory for production, refine Model S throwyrr engineering and testing on beta prototyperaledse candidate vehicles, and continue
the advanced engineering work on Model X. Once tag secognizing revenue from the sales of Moded8,Model S production costs,
including direct parts, material and labor costanofacturing overhead and amortized tooling, agists, will begin to be reflected in cost of
automotive sales.

Capital spending for the Model S program will cang into 2012 as we complete our commissioningiéies of the Tesla Factory and
we make final payments for tooling and manufactyeguipment required for production. Depreciatibour capital expenditures related to
manufacturing of Model S will begin with the staftModel S production. We anticipate that mostref tapital expenditures on Model S will
continue to be funded by the DOE Loan Facility i launch of Model S. We also anticipate ourraggte capital expenditures for 2012 to
be comparable to that in 2011, primarily focused/ehicle development and manufacturing activitesModel S and Model X.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with accounting principles generatlyepted in the United States. The
preparation of these consolidated financial stateseequires us to make estimates and assumpliahaffect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues, costs and expenses ancerklfisclosures. We base our estimates on hist@xqedrience, as appropriate, and on various
other assumptions that we believe to be reasonetdler the circumstances. Changes in the accouasitimates are reasonably likely to occur
from period to period. Accordingly, actual resudtaild differ significantly from the estimates mageour management. We evaluate our
estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basihelextent that there are material differences batviieese estimates and actual results, our
future financial statement presentation, financaldition, results of operations and cash flows$ bl affected. We believe that the following
critical accounting policies involve a greater dagof judgment and complexity than our other actingrpolicies. Accordingly, these are the
policies we believe are the most critical to untierding and evaluating our consolidated financdaidition and results of operations.
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Revenue Recognition
Automotive Sales

We recognize automotive sales revenue from sal#seofesla Roadster, including vehicle optionseasories and destination charges,
vehicle service and sales of zero emission vehix|@EV credits. We also recognize automotive sede@snue from the sales of electric vehicle
powertrain components, such as battery packs aterpahargers, to other manufacturers. We recegr@zenue when (i) persuasive evidence
of an arrangement exists; (ii) delivery has ocallaad there are no uncertainties regarding custastaptance; (iii) fees are fixed or
determinable; and (iv) collection is reasonablyuasd.

Automotive sales consist primarily of revenue edrfiem the sale of vehicles. Sales or other amocwitected in advance of meeting all
of the revenue recognition criteria are not recpgdiin the consolidated statements of operatiodsaeminstead recorded as deferred revenue
on our consolidated balance sheets. Prior to Fep2G10, we did not provide direct financing foetpurchase of the Tesla Roadster althou
third-party lender has provided financing arranget®¢o our customers in the United States. Undesdlarrangements we have been paid in
full by the customer at the time of purchase. 8tgrin February 2010, we began offering a leasirmgam to qualified customers in the Uni
States.

Automotive sales also consist of revenue earned free sales of vehicle options, accessories arnihd@en charges. While these sales
may take place separately from a vehicle sale, #ineyften part of one vehicle sale agreementtieguh multiple element arrangements.
Contract interpretation is sometimes required termbeine the appropriate accounting for recognittbour revenue, including whether the
deliverables specified in the multiple element agement should be treated as separate units ofiiaiieg, and, if so, how the price should be
allocated among the elements, when to recogniznteyfor each element, and the period over whichmee should be recognized. We are
also required to evaluate whether a delivered hemvalue on a stand-alone basis prior to deligétiie remaining items by determining
whether we have made separate sales of such itewisether the undelivered items are essentialéduhctionality of the delivered items.
Further, we assess whether we know the fair valtleeoundelivered items, determined by referencgtdod-alone sales of such items.

To date, we have been able to establish the faieviar each of the deliverables within the mukiplement arrangements because we
each of the vehicles, vehicle accessories andrpteparately, outside of any multiple elementgeaents. As each of these items has stand
alone value to the customer, revenue from salegluitle accessories and options are recognized thiose specific items are delivered to the
customer. Increased complexity to our sales agretsme changes in our judgments and estimatesdegpapplication of these revenue
recognition guidelines could result in a changthmtiming or amount of revenue recognized in feifperiods.

Effective January 1, 2011, we adopted amended atiogustandards issued by the Financial Accouritamdards Board (FASB) for
multiple deliverable revenue arrangements on apats/e basis for applicable transactions origimgatir materially modified after January 1,
2011. The new standard changes the requiremen¢staiblishing separate units of accounting in aiplelelement arrangement and requires
the allocation of arrangement consideration to ebdiverable to be based on the relative sellingepFor fiscal 2011 and future periods, when
a sales arrangement contains multiple elements|laeate revenue to each element based on a spliicg hierarchy. The selling price for a
deliverable is based on its vendor specific obyectividence (VSOE) if available, third party evideTPE) if VSOE is not available, or
estimated selling price if neither VSOE nor TPRvsilable. To date, we have been able to estafhlesfair value for each of the deliverables
within the multiple element arrangements becauseelleeach of the vehicles, vehicles accessoridgations separately, outside of any
multiple element arrangements. Therefore, therewermaterial differences between total revenuerteg and pro forma total revenues that
would have been reported during the year endedleee31, 2011, if the transactions entered intmaterially modified after January 1, 20
were subject to previous accounting guidance.
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Development Services

Revenue from development services arrangementsstofisevenue earned from the development of gteeehicle powertrain
components for other automobile manufacturersuioly the design and development of battery padiargers and sample vehicles to meet a
customer’s specifications. Beginning in the quaeteded March 31, 2010, we started entering inth soatracts with the expectation that our
development services would constitute a viable maeegenerating activity. Revenue is recognized dasvelopment arrangement is finalized,
the performance requirements of each developmesmigement are met and collection is reasonablyedsWhere development arrangements
include substantive at-risk milestones, revenuedsgnized based upon the achievement of the atn#ldy-defined milestones. Amounts
collected in advance of meeting all of the reveragmgnition criteria are not recognized in the adidsaited statement of operations and are
instead recorded as deferred revenue on the cdasadi balance sheet. Increased complexity to orgldement agreements or changes in our
judgments and estimates regarding applicationegeahrevenue recognition guidelines could reswdtéhange in the timing or amount
revenue recognized in future periods.

Costs of development services are expensed ag@acuosts of development services incurred ingglerprior to the finalization of an
agreement are recorded as research and developrparises; once an agreement is finalized, these a@srecorded in cost of development
services.

Prior to 2010, compensation from the Smart fortwbdevelopment arrangement with Daimler, which scdssed below under
“Development Compensation”, was recorded as arbftsresearch and development expenses. Thisaaalggement was motivated
primarily by the opportunity to engage Daimler atdhe same time, jointly progress our own reseanthdevelopment activities with the
associated development compensation.

Development Compensation

We began receiving payments under the Smart foBWaevelopment arrangement with Daimler in the yaated December 31, 200€
compensate us for the cost of our developmentidiesvWe deferred recognition for these paymeateived in advance of the execution of
final agreement because a number of significantraotual terms were not in place prior to that titdpon entering into the final agreement in
May 2009, we began recognizing the deferred dewedoh compensation as an offset to our researcllevelopment expenses on a straight-
line basis. This amount was recognized over theebepl life of the agreement, beginning in May 2866 continuing through November 20
Payments that we received upon the achievemergw#ldpment milestones subsequent to contract eéredntMay 2009 were recognized
upon achievement and acceptance of the respectigstomes. All amounts received under this develepnagreement have been recognize
an offset to our research and development expémske consolidated statement of operations. Alleligoment activities under this agreement
were completed as of December 31, 2009.

Marketable Securities

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we puechamrketable securities including commercial paper corporate debt. All
marketable securities are designated as availablsale and reported at estimated fair value, wittealized gains and losses recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive loss which is deduvithin stockholders’ equity. Realized gains bys$es on the sale of available-for-sale
marketable securities are recorded in other expereteThe cost of available-for-sale marketabt@is@es sold is based on the specific
identification method. Interest, dividends, amatian and accretion of purchase premiums and digs@mn our marketable securities are
included in other expense, net. Available-for-sabrketable securities with maturities greater ttmee months at the date of purchase and
remaining maturities of one year or less are di@ssas short-term marketable securities. Whergteary declines in fair value exist, we have
the ability and the intent to hold these securittgsa period of time sufficient to allow for anpticipated recovery in fair value.
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We regularly review all of our marketable secustier other-than-temporary declines in fair valliee review includes but is not limited
to (i) the consideration of the cause of the impaint, (ii) the creditworthiness of the securityusss, (iii) the length of time a security is in an
unrealized loss position, and (iv) our ability toldhthe security for a period of time sufficientatbow for any anticipated recovery in fair value.

Inventory Valuation

We value our inventories at the lower of cost orkaa Cost is computed using standard cost, whigitaimates actual cost on a fiist-
first-out basis. We record inventory write-downs éstimated obsolescence or unmarketable investbeased upon assumptions about future
demand forecasts. If our inventory on hand is icess of our future demand forecast, the excessr@nate written off.

We also review inventory to determine whether #gying value exceeds the net amount realizabla tipe ultimate sale of the
inventory. This requires us to determine the edeehaelling price of our vehicles less the estigai@st to convert inventory on hand into a
finished product.

Once inventory is written-down, a new, lower-coasis for that inventory is established and subsatqeleanges in facts and
circumstances do not result in the restoratiomorregase in that newly established cost basis. Duhie years ended December 31, 2011, 2010
and 2009, we recorded write-downs of $1.8 milli®h,0 million and $1.4 million, in cost of automagigales, respectively.

The inventory amounts are based on our curremagts of demand, selling prices and productionsc&tould our estimates of future
selling prices or production costs change, matetiahges to these reserves may be required. Fuatkarall change in our estimates may re
in a material charge to our reported financial kssu

Warranties

We accrue warranty reserves at the time a vehigmwertrain component is delivered to a custoMéarranty reserves include
management’s best estimate of the projected coséephir or to replace any items under warrantgetan actual warranty experience as it
becomes available and other known factors thatimagct our evaluation of historical data. We reviewv reserves at least quarterly to ensure
that our accruals are adequate in meeting expéate warranty obligations, and we will adjust @stimates as needed. Initial warranty data
can be limited early in the launch of a new vehaig@owertrain component and accordingly, the ddjasts that we record may be material.
As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, we had $6.3anilind $5.4 million in warranty reserves, respetyivAdjustments to warranty reserves
are recorded in cost of automotive sales.

It is likely that as we sell additional Tesla Ro@als and powertrain components and as we repaéptace items under warranty, we will
acquire additional information on the projectedtsds service work under warranty and may needakeradditional adjustments. Further, a
small change in our warranty estimates may reswtmaterial charge to our reported financial tssul

Valuation of Stock-Based Awards, Common Stock andivents
Stock-Based Compensation

We use the fair value method of accounting forsiack options granted to employees and EmployeekSarchase Plan (ESPP) which
require us to measure the cost of employee serudnesved in exchange for the stock-based awastgdon the grant date fair value of the
awards. The fair value of the awards is estimas#dg.the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Theuteng cost is recognized over the period
during which an employee is required to provideviserin exchange for the awards, usually the vgstieriod which is generally four years for
stock options and six months for the ESPP. Stocded@ompensation expense is recognized on a staigtbasis, net of forfeitures.

79



Table of Contents

The fair value of each stock-based award was etohan the grant date for the periods below udiegRlack-Scholes option-pricing
model with the following weighted-average assumpsio

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Risk-free interest rate

Stock options 2.0% 2.C% 2.2%

ESPF 0.2% — —
Expected term (in years

Stock options 6.0 5.3 4.6

ESPF 0.5 — —
Expected volatility:

Stock options 70% 71% 64%

ESPF 59% — —
Dividend yield:

Stock options 0.0% 0.C% 0.C%

ESPF 0.0% — —

If in the future we determine that another methmdchlculating the fair value of our stock-basedmsig is more reasonable, or if another
method for calculating the above input assumptisqwescribed by authoritative guidance, the falue calculated for our stock-based awards
could change significantly.

The Black-Scholes option-pricing model requiresuisgsuch as the risk-free interest rate, expeeted &nd expected volatility. Further,
the forfeiture rate also affects the amount of aggte compensation. These inputs are subjectivgemetally require significant judgment.

The risk-free interest rate that we use is basetth@tnited States Treasury yield in effect atttimee of grant for zero coupon United
States Treasury notes with maturities approximagiach grant’s expected life. Given our limited diigtwith employee grants, we use the
“simplified” method in estimating the expected tefion our employee grants. The “simplifiediethod, as permitted by the SEC, is calculats
the average of the time-to-vesting and the conieddife of the options.

Our expected volatility is derived from the histadi volatilities of several unrelated public comjggnwithin industries related to our
business, including the automotive OEM, automotetail, automotive parts and battery technologwsides, because we have limited trading
history on our common stock. When making the silestof our peer companies within industries reldateour business to be used in the
volatility calculation, we also considered the stad development, size and financial leverage ¢émptial comparable companies. Our histor
volatility is weighted based on certain qualitatfaetors and combined to produce a single volatifittor.

We estimate our forfeiture rate based on an arsabfsdur actual forfeitures and will continue taliate the appropriateness of the
forfeiture rate based on actual forfeiture exparggranalysis of employee turnover behavior andrdtetors. Quarterly changes in the
estimated forfeiture rate can have a significafeatfon reported stock-based compensation expasdhe cumulative effect of adjusting the
rate for all expense amortization is recognizetheperiod the forfeiture estimate is changed.réhased forfeiture rate is higher than the
previously estimated forfeiture rate, an adjustngntade that will result in a decrease to thekstzased compensation expense recognized in
the consolidated financial statements. If a revieefkiture rate is lower than the previously estted forfeiture rate, an adjustment is made that
will result in an increase to the stock-based campson expense recognized in the consolidatedidinhstatements.

As we accumulate additional employee stock-basextdsvdata over time and as we incorporate marketrdated to our common stock,
we may calculate significantly different volatiés, expected lives and
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forfeiture rates, which could materially impact treduation of our stock-based awards and the sbased compensation expense that we will
recognize in future periods. Stock-based compeamsatipense is recorded in our cost of revenuesarek and development expenses, and
selling, general and administrative expenses.

Unadjusted Error in 2009
In June 2010, we identified an error related touthderstatement in stock-based compensation exgehsequent to the issuance of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ériglecember 31, 2009.

In the fourth quarter of 2009, we granted certéils options for which a portion of the grant wasriediately vested. We erroneously
accounted for the expense on a straight-line lma&sthe term of the award, while expense recagmishould always be at least commensurate
with the number of awards vesting during the perfasla result, selling, general and administraéixpenses and net loss for the year ended
December 31, 2009 were understated by $2.7 millitwe. error did not have an effect on the valuatibthe stock options. As stock-based
compensation expense is a non-cash item, theraevamspact on net cash used in operating activibeshe year ended December 31, 2009.

To correct this error, we recorded additional stbeked compensation of $2.4 million during the éhr®nths ended June 30, 2010. We
considered the impact of the error on reportedatpey expenses and trends in operating resultslatetmined that the impact of the error was
not material to previously reported financial infation as well as those related to the three mamhtsd June 30, 2010.

Common Stock Valuation

Upon the completion of our IPO on July 2, 2010, ommmon stock has been valued by reference taliBgy traded price. Prior to the
IPO, we historically granted stock options with e prices equal to the fair value of our commtmtk as determined at the date of grant by
our Board of Directors. Because there was no pubdidket for our common stock, our Board of Direstdetermined the fair value of our
common stock by considering a number of objective subjective factors, including the following:

» our sales of convertible preferred stock to uneeldhird parties

e our operating and financial performan

» the lack of liquidity of our capital stoc

e trends in our industry

» arn’s length, thir-party sales of our stock; a

e contemporaneous valuations performed by an uncethtes-party.
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There is inherent uncertainty in these estimatesfane had made different assumptions than thesel uthe amount of our stock-based
compensation expense, net loss and net loss per aimounts could have been significantly differ@ie following table summarizes, by gri
date, the number of stock options granted sincealsri, 2008 through the completion of our IPO oly 2, 2010, and the associated per share
exercise price, which equaled the fair value of @mmon stock for each of these grants.

Exercise

Price and

Fair Value

per Share o

Number of
Options Common

Grant Date Granted Stock
June 4, 200: 762,13 $ 2.7C
July 8, 200¢ 278,30t 2.7C
September 3, 20C 200,15! 2.7C
October 29, 200 205,15¢ 2.7C
March 2, 200¢ 214,81 2.7C
April 13, 2009 1,005,83 2.7C
April 22, 2009 105,18« 2.7C
August 4, 200¢ 323,06 2.94
October 21, 200 590,63t 6.1%5
December 4, 200 7,977,44. 6.6
December 16, 200 58,99¢ 6.63
March 3, 201( 402,66( 9.9¢
April 28, 2010 256,32( 13.2¢
June 12, 201 1,135,711 14.17

Included in the December 4, 2009 awards, were §9721stock options granted to our Chief Executi¥c@ comprised of two grants.
In recognition of his and our company’s achieveraemtd to create incentives for future successBtad of Directors approved an option
grant representing 4% of our fully-diluted sharedarior to such grant as of December 4, 2009,3553986 stock options, with 1/4th of the
shares vesting immediately, and 1/36th of the raimgishares scheduled to vest each month over ylei@s, assuming continued employment
through each vesting date. In addition, to createntives for the attainment of clear performarigedives around a key element of our cur
business plan—the successful launch and commeaiaih of Model S—the Board of Directors approveditional options totaling an
additional 4% of our fully-diluted shares priorgoch grant as of December 4, 2009, with a vestthgdule based entirely on the attainment of
performance objectives as follows, assuming Mr. Wkisontinued service to us through each vesting:da

» 1/4th of the shares subject to the option are adkeddo vest upon the successful completion of M&Engineering Prototyp:
» 1/4th of the shares subject to the option are adeddo vest upon the successful completion of M&déalidation Prototype
» 1/4th of the shares subject to the option are adkeddo vest upon the completion of the first Mo8dProduction Vehicle; ar
» 1/4th of the shares subject to the option are adeddo vest upon the completion of the 10,000thldM@& Production Vehicle

If Mr. Musk does not meet one or more of the abmilestones prior to the fourth anniversary of tlagedof grant, he will forfeit his right
to the unvested portion of the grant.

Included in our June and September 2010 stock mgtiants were 666,300 and 20,000 stock optiongeglanespectively, to various
members of our senior management with a vestingdsdl based entirely on the attainment of the gaenf®rmance objectives as those
outlined for Mr. Musk above.
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Prior to our IPO which was completed on July 2,®0dur Board of Directors performed valuations of common stock for purposes of
granting stock options in a manner consistent tighmethods outlined in the American Institute eft@ied Public Accountants Practice Aid,
Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Secestissued as Compensatiohhe enterprise value input of our common stodkatzons
were derived either using fundamental analysisofime and market approaches) or based on a recemtt ofdinancing (option pricing
approach). The income approach estimates the estesalue of the company by discounting the exgabéliture cash flows of the company to
present value. We have applied discount rategdifiact the risks associated with our cash flowjgetions and have used venture capital rates
of return for companies at a similar stage of depedent as us, as a proxy for our cost of capitat. dscounted cash flow calculations are
sensitive to highly subjective assumptions thatweee required to make at each valuation date nglat appropriate discount rates for various
components of our business. For example, the diggates used to value the cash flow projectioosfthe Model S business factored in the
low cost debt we expected to raise from the U.Sdbtenent of Energy.

Range of

Discount
Valuation Date Rates
May 15, 200¢ 30.0-40.%
December 31, 200 30.0-40.(%
February 28, 200 30.0-40.(%
May 11, 200¢ 16.2- 34.8%
August 1, 200¢ 16.2—34.8%
October 15, 200 12.4-27.1%
November 27, 200 12.4-27.1%
February 23, 201 11.4-20.(%
April 21, 2010 14.4—-20.(%
June 9, 201! 14.5-20.(%

Our projected cash flows were primarily derivedhirour Tesla Roadster, Model S and powertrain rezestieams. In more recent
valuations, these cash flow projections took irdooaint the fact that we had been selling the TRekadster since 2008, that we began selling
powertrain components in the quarter ended DeceBthe2009 and our anticipation of Model S produtiio mid-2012.

Under the market approach, the total enterprisgevaf the company was estimated by comparing osinkss to similar businesses
whose securities are actively traded in public ratekor businesses that are involved in a publigrioate transaction. Prior transactions in our
stock were also considered as part of the mark@baph methodology. We selected revenue valuatigtiptes derived from trading multiples
of public companies that participate in the autdueo©OEM, automotive retail, automotive parts anttdyg technology industries. These
valuation multiples were then applied to the eqiinafinancial metric of our business, giving catesiation to differences between our
company and similar companies for such factoroagpany size and growth prospects.

For those reports that relied on the fundamentalyais, we prepared a financial forecast to be usége computation of the enterprise
value for both the market approach and the incoppeceach. The financial forecasts took into accaumtpast experience and future
expectations. The risks associated with achieviege forecasts were assessed in selecting thepaigpeadiscount rate. As discussed below,
there is inherent uncertainty in these estimatesofd, we allocated the resulting equity value agrtbe securities that comprise our capital
structure using the Option-Pricing Method. The agate value of the common stock derived from theo@gPricing Method was then divided
by the number of common shares outstanding toegaithe per common share value. For those repeftse our IPO that relied on the recent
round of financing, we back-solved for the totaliigg value such that the value of the instrumetd gothe recent round as calculated by the
option pricing model was consistent with the obedrtransaction price.
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Our Board of Directors considered the valuationdvee from the approaches above, the probability taming of completing an IPO as
of those dates, as well as other qualitative fadtoarriving at our common stock valuations, iniohg the following:

» significant operating losses since incepti

* macroeconomic uncertainty in 20(

» the absence of a significant IPO market throug608 and continuing through the second quartef682anc
» other market developments that influence forecasteenue

Our common stock valuations have required the Sagmit use of estimates and assumptions. If diffeestimates and assumptions had
been used, our common stock valuations could haea bignificantly different and related stock-basechpensation expense may be
materially impacted.

Warrants

We have accounted for our freestanding warranpaitohase shares of our convertible preferred stadiabilities at fair value upon
issuance. We have recorded the warrants as atdiicause the underlying shares of convertibddgured stock are contingently redeemable
and, therefore, may obligate us to transfer agsgeteme point in the future. The warrants are slfere-measurement to fair value at each
balance sheet date and any change in fair valezignized as a component of other expense, néteoronsolidated statements of operations.

In January 2010, we issued a warrant to the DQtoimection with the closing of the DOE Loan Fagitit purchase shares of our
Series E convertible preferred stock at an exemmige of $2.51 per share. This convertible pref@istock warrant became a warrant to
purchase shares of our common stock at an exeniszof $7.54 per share upon the closing of o@ iR July 2010. Beginning on
December 15, 2018 and until December 14, 20225hhees subject to purchase under the warrant edlbime exercisable in quarterly amounts
depending on the average outstanding balance @@t Loan Facility during the prior quarter. Therveat may be exercised until
December 15, 2023. If we prepay the DOE Loan Rgadilipart or in full, the total amount of shareercisable under the warrant will be
reduced. Since the number of shares of common siitickately issuable under the warrant will vatyistwarrant will be carried at its estima
fair value with changes in its fair value reflectacbther expense, net, until its expiration ortires Our ability to prepay the DOE Loan Faci
and consequently, the number of shares ultimasslyable under the DOE warrant, was determinedptesent an embedded derivative. This
embedded derivative is inherently valued and acealfor as part of the warrant.

Since the number of shares ultimately issuable uthdeDOE warrants will vary depending on the agerautstanding balance of the I¢
during the contractual vesting period, and decisitonprepay would be influenced by our future stpgke as well as the interest rates on our
loans in relation to market interest rates, we messthe fair value of the DOE warrant using a MoGiarlo simulation approach. The Monte
Carlo approach simulates various scenarios andiczpthe optimal decisions to be made between pirgpthe DOE loan and the cancellation
of the DOE warrant over the expected term of theeD®@an Facility of 13 years. For the purposes efdgimulation, the optimal decision
represents the scenario with the lowest econongttoaus. The total warrant value would then bewdated as the average warrant payoff
across all simulated paths discounted to our valnatate.

The significant assumptions that we use in theat@n of the DOE warrant include similar assumpdiosed in the valuation of otherw
featureless stock warrants at various simulateckgtdaces, as well as the interest rate differétgdween the interest rates under our DOE
Loan Facility and market interest rates for compamiomparable to us. The estimated value of ogk starrant requires us to use a Black-
Scholes
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option-pricing model, which incorporates severalusmsptions that are subject to significant managéeiouelgment as is the case for stock-based
compensation discussed above. The differential detvihe interest rates under our DOE Loan Fagility market interest rates is derived from
the credit spread data of several unrelated pablicpanies within industries related to our businAsghe average simulated value of our s
warrant increases relative to the credit spreamlioicomparator companies, the fair value of our Di2rant decreases since the economic

of prepaying our outstanding loans under the DO&nLBacility and replacing the funds with markeeiest rate debt, would be lower than the
economic cost associated with the dilution caugethé vesting of warrants. Similarly, as the crepitead of our comparator companies
increases relative to the average simulated vdloermstock warrant, the fair value of our DOE veantrincreases since the economic cost
associated with prepaying our outstanding loan®utiee DOE Loan Facility and replacing the fundghvmarket interest rate debt is higher
than the economic cost associated with the dilutensed by the vesting of warrants, and therefeeayould not prepay our outstanding DOE
debt and we would allow a higher number of warrémtgest. Prior to completion of our IPO, the fealue of the DOE warrant was included
within the convertible preferred stock warrant ligp on the consolidated balance sheet. Upon tiremetion of our IPO on July 2, 2010, this
warrant was reclassified on our consolidated baaieet from convertible preferred stock warraitility to common stock warrant liability.
The DOE warrant will continue to be recorded ae#fimated fair value with changes in the fair ealeflected in other expense, net, as the
number of common stock ultimately issuable undentlarrant is variable until its expiration or vesti The relative movements in our stock
price as compared to the credit spread of our coa@acompanies will result in fair value changeil recorded in other expense, net, in
future periods which may be significant.

Excluding the warrant issued to the DOE in Jan2&30, we have estimated the fair value of our cdible preferred stock warrants at
the respective balance sheet dates using a Blauslecoption-pricing model which used several aggtions that are subject to significant
management judgment as is the case for stock-lzasegdensation as discussed above. Upon the complaftiour IPO in July 2010, these
convertible preferred stock warrants outstandingfakine 30, 2010, were net exercised and thestblinvertible preferred stock warrant
liability was settled.

Income Taxes

We record our provision for income taxes in oursmitlated statements of operations by estimatingaxes in each of the jurisdictions
in which we operate. We estimate our actual curi@nexposure together with assessing temporafgrdiices arising from differing treatment
of items recognized for financial reporting versass return purposes. In general, deferred tax aseptesent future tax benefits to be received
when certain expenses previously recognized irconsolidated statements of operations become detiuekpenses under applicable income
tax laws, or loss or credit carryforwards are péitl. Valuation allowances are recorded when negessaeduce deferred tax assets to the
amount expected to be realized.

Significant management judgment is required in mheiiging our provision for income taxes, our defdrtax assets and liabilities and any
valuation allowance recorded against our net dedetaix assets. We make these estimates and judgatemit our future taxable income that
are based on assumptions that are consistent witfuture plans. As of December 31, 2011, we hadnded a full valuation allowance on our
net deferred tax assets because we expect teahibiie likely than not that our deferred tax assélitsot be realized in the foreseeable future.
Should the actual amounts differ from our estimgttas amount of our valuation allowance could beemially impacted.

Furthermore, significant judgment is required imlerating our tax positions. In the ordinary cous§business, there are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultientaix settlement is uncertain. As a result, wegeze the effect of this uncertainty on our tax
attributes based on our estimates of the eventiuabme. These effects are recognized when, desypitbelief that our tax return positions are
supportable, we believe that it is more likely thm that those positions may not be fully sustainpon review by tax authorities. We are
required to file income tax returns in the Unitadt8s and various foreign jurisdictions,
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which requires us to interpret the applicable taxd and regulations in effect in such jurisdictiddsch returns are subject to audit by the
various federal, state and foreign taxing authesitivho may disagree with respect to our tax postiWe believe that our accounting
consideration is adequate for all open audit ybased on our assessment of many factors, inclygisexperience and interpretations of tax
law. We review and update our estimates in lighttafnging facts and circumstances, such as thinglo§a tax audit, the lapse of a statute of
limitations or a material change in estimate. T@elktent that the final tax outcome of these matiéfers from our expectations, such
differences may impact income tax expense in thi@gén which such determination is made. The exahimpact on our income tax expense
depends in part if we still have a valuation alloe@ recorded against our deferred tax assets ipettied that such determination is made.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2011, the FASB issued an accounting stdngadtate, which revises the manner in which cormgsapiesent comprehensive
income in their financial statements. The new gudgaremoves the presentation options and requitéges to report components of
comprehensive income in either (1) a continuouestant of comprehensive income or (2) two sepdrateonsecutive statements. In
December 2011, the FASB further amended its guelamdefer changes related to the presentatioectdissification adjustments
indefinitely. The guidance (other than the portiegarding the presentation of reclassification sttijients which, as noted above, has been
deferred indefinitely) is effective for fiscal ysaand interim periods within those years beginmifigr December 15, 2011. Early adoption is
permitted. We anticipate adopting the guidancésical 2012. We do not expect the adoption of thidance to have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued updated guidariated to fair value measurements and disclosunéshwequires a reporting entity
disclose separately the amounts of significantstiens in and out of Level | and Level Il fair valomeasurements and to describe the reasons fc
the transfers. In addition, in the reconciliatidrfair value measurements using Level 1l inputseporting entity will be required to disclose
information about purchases, sales, issuancesetielnsents on a gross rather than on a net basésupdated guidance will also require fair
value disclosures for each class of assets anilitleand disclosures about the valuation techegjand inputs used to measure fair value for
both recurring and non-recurring Level Il and LeNEfair value measurements. The adoption of tipgated guidance did not have a material
impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our consolidatedestzents of operations data for the periods predgime¢housands, except per share
data):

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Revenues
Automotive sale: $ 148,56¢ $ 97,07¢ $111,94:
Development service 55,67 19,66¢ —
Total revenue 204,24 116,74 111,94
Cost of revenues
Automotive sale: 115,48: 79,98: 102,40¢
Development service 27,16¢ 6,031 —
Total cost of revenue 142,64 86,01 102,40t
Gross profil 61,59¢ 30,73 9,53t
Operating expense:
Research and development (net of development casafien of $23,249 for th
year ended December 31, 201 208,98: 92,99¢ 19,28:
Selling, general and administrati 104,10: 84,57 42,15(
Total operating expens 313,08: 177,56¢ 61,43:
Loss from operation (251,489 (146,839 (51,89)
Interest incomt 25k 25¢ 15¢
Interest expens (43) (992) (2,537
Other expense, n (2,646 (6,587 (1,449
Loss before income taxi (253,92) (154,159 (55,719
Provision for income taxe 48¢ 17: 26
Net loss $(254,41)) $(154,32)) $(55,740

Revenue:
Automotive Sales
Automotive sales, which include vehicle, options aslated sales, and powertrain component ancerkkales, consisted of the following
for the periods presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Vehicle, options and related sa $101,70¢ $75,45¢ $111,55!
Powertrain component and related s:i 46,86( 21,61¢ 38¢€
Total automotive sale $148,56¢ $97,07¢ $111,94¢

Automotive sales for the year ended December 311 2re $148.6 million, an increase from $97.limilffor the year ended
December 31, 2010. Vehicle, options and relategssa@present sales of the Tesla Roadster, includihigle options, accessories and
destination charges, vehicle service and salesrof @mission vehicle credits. Powertrain comporedtrelated sales represent the sales of
electric vehicle powertrain components, such atebapacks and battery chargers, to other manufastu

Vehicle, options and related sales for the yeaedrdecember 31, 2011 were $101.7 million, an iregdeom $75.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2010. The increase in vehipteres and related sales was primarily attributablan increase in the number of Tesla
Roadsters that we sold, particularly in North Aroari
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and Asia, coupled with slightly higher averageisglprices. Under our supply agreement with Lotus have built 2,500 Roadster gliders. We
plan to sell our remaining Tesla Roadsters primamilEurope and Asia during 2012 until our invegt depleted.

In February 2010, we began offering a leasing @ogro qualified customers in the United StatedtierTesla Roadster. Through our
wholly owned subsidiary, qualifying customers aeempitted to lease the Tesla Roadster for 36 moafter; which time they have the option of
either returning the vehicle to us or purchasirgrita pre-determined residual value. We accounttfese leasing transactions as operating
leases and accordingly, we recognize leasing re@gean a straighthe basis over the term of the individual leasesase revenues are recor(
in vehicle, options and related sales within auttimecsales revenue and for the years ended Dece3db@011 and 2010, we recognized $3.0
million and $0.8 million, respectively. During tlyears ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, approtyn@teand 14% of the vehicles
delivered during those years were under operagiagds. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, we hadééfrevenues of $0.8 million and $
million of down payments which will be recognizedeo the term of the individual leases, respectively

Powertrain component and related sales for the greded December 31, 2011 were $46.9 million, arease from $21.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2010. The increase in p@aivecomponent and related sales was primarilytdisggnificant shipments of batte
packs and chargers to Daimler. We began delivéraitery packs and chargers for the Daimler SmavepEV program at the end of 2009,
and for the Daimler A-Class EV program late in tberth quarter of 2010. Production for both the &rfartwo and A-Class EV programs was
completed as of December 31, 2011.

Automotive sales for the year ended December 310 2@re $97.1 million, a decrease from $111.9 anilfior the year ended
December 31, 2009. Vehicle, options and relategsdal the year ended December 31, 2010 were $7illidn, a decrease from $111.5 milli
for the year ended December 31, 2009.

During the first three quarters of 2009, we congishtio fulfill reservations for the Tesla Roadsted ave had made a significant effort to
increase our production capacity in order to acastedeliveries to customers who had been on oitlistdor a significant amount of time. As
a result, a significant portion of the revenue gggéped during the first three quarters of 2009 céme fulfilling reservations placed prior to
2009. Beginning with the fourth quarter of 2009esaf the Tesla Roadster began more closely appating the level of orders placed during
the quarter. Consequently, the comparison of rexéouthe year ended December 31, 2010 versusettiegnded December 31, 2009 may not
be meaningful. Similarly, ZEV credit sales whicle amcluded in vehicle, options and related salesevinigher during the year ended
December 31, 2009 as the fulfillment of a significaumber of reservations allowed us to sell adarmmber of ZEV credits. The year over
year decrease in vehicle deliveries was partidfiyed by higher selling prices from an expandeeiifig of vehicle options to our customers
well as higher average selling prices outside efuinited States.

Powertrain component and related sales for the greded December 31, 2010 were $21.6 million, coetptr $0.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2009. During the year endedrbteme31, 2009, we were selected by Daimler to gupplith battery packs and chargers
to support a trial of the Smart fortwo EV programsileast five European cities. We began deliveaimdj recognizing revenue for these
production battery packs and chargers at the e20@89.

Prior to 2010, most of our revenues had been gtatetarough sales of our vehicles in the UnitedeStand we had no revenues from
sales outside of the United States prior to the tuarter of 2009. Our international sales comradnith the launch of the Tesla Roadster in
Europe in July 2009 and since then, we have rezedmevenue from sales of the Tesla Roadster iitiawla countries including Canada,
Japan and Hong Kong. For the years ended Deceritb@031, 2010 and 2009, 49%, 55% and 19% of owamas from vehicle, options and
related sales, respectively, were derived outsideeoUnited States. For the same periods, albofp@wertrain component and related sales
were derived outside of the United States.
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Development Services

Development services represent arrangements wheedewelop electric vehicle powertrain componentother automobile
manufacturers, including the design and developroEbattery packs and chargers to meet custompesifications.

Development services revenue for the year endeérleer 31, 2011 was $55.7 million, an increase fd8.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2010. Beginning in the first quarfe2@10, we started entering into development ses/arrangements with the expectation that
our development services would constitute a viadenue-generating activity. We began recognizengetbpment services revenue during the
first quarter of 2010 with the development andw®ly of modular battery packs for Freightliner GustChassis Corporation (Freightliner), an
affiliate of Daimler. These battery packs were ¢oused in electric delivery vans in a limited numaieFreightliner’s customer trials. Prior to
2010, compensation that we had received from osir dievelopment arrangement with Daimler for bgtpgacks and chargers for its Smart
fortwo EV program, was recorded as an offset teassh and development expenses. This early arragesas motivated primarily by the
opportunity to engage Daimler and at the same tjoietly progress our own research and developraetitities with the associated
development compensation.

During the first quarter of 2010, Daimler also ege@ us to assist with the development and produdi@ battery pack and charger for a
pilot fleet of its A-Class electric vehicles to inéroduced in Europe during 2011. We began progdiavelopment services for this program
during the first quarter of 2010 and had receive@ggregate of $5.5 million in payments; howevenve had not executed a final agreement
related to this program as of March 31, 2010, wierded the $5.5 million of payments that had beseived from Daimler to that point. In
May 2010, we executed a final agreement under whimler would make additional payments to us lfer successful completion of certain
development milestones and the delivery of protetyamples. As of December 31, 2010, we had congptetedeliverables under this
agreement and for the year ended December 31, 2@&lcognized $14.4 million in development servicevenue.

In July 2010, we entered into an agreement withot@yo initiate development of an electric powentfar the Toyota RAV4 EV. Under
this Phase 0 development agreement, prototypesivibeumade by us by combining the Toyota RAV4 maedti a Tesla electric powertrain.
Through June 30, 2011, we had completed all prpwtehicles under the Phase 0 agreement and fge#re ended December 31, 2011 and
2010, we recognized $7.6 million and $1.3 milliardevelopment service revenue, respectively.

In October 2010, we also entered into a Phase ttamirservices agreement with Toyota for the dgualent of a validated powertrain
system, including a battery pack, power electromcslule, motor, gearbox and associated softwarighahill be integrated into an electric
vehicle version of the Toyota RAV4. Pursuant ta thgreement, Toyota would pay us up to $60.0 milico the anticipated development
services to be provided by us over the expected térour performance, including a $5.0 million upft payment that we received upon the
execution of the agreement. During the year endszkBber 31, 2011 and 2010, we completed variolestoites and delivered samples under
the Phase 1 agreement. Including the amortizafi@uioupfront payment, for the years ended DecerBtheP011 and 2010, we recognized
$47.4 million and $3.3 million in development sers revenue, respectively, under the Phase 1 agnteWiie expect that the Phase 1
agreement, and the associated development sereloesues, will be completed by early 2012.

We intend to grow our development services revevat time by establishing additional commerciabagements with other automobile
manufacturers and by looking for new developmeroofunities with existing strategic partners.

Additionally, we expect our development servicegeraie may fluctuate in future periods based orithieg of our delivery of
milestones and samples, as well as the timing &ftimg revenue recognition criteria.
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Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit

Cost of revenues includes cost of automotive sabelscosts related to our development services. @astenues for the year ended
December 31, 2011 was $142.6 million, an increesa $86.0 million for the year ended December BIL® The increase in cost of
automotive sales for the year ended December 31, @@s driven primarily by an increase in the nundievehicles that we sold and the
increased shipments of battery packs and charg@aimler. We began delivering battery packs aratgérs for the Daimler Smart fortwo EV
program at the end of 2009 and for the Daimler ASSIEV program at the end of 2010. Cost of devedmpreervices includes engineering
support and testing, direct parts, material andr@bsts, manufacturing overhead, including ameditooling costs, shipping and logistic costs
and other development expenses that we incur ipehfermance of our services under developmentageats. The increase in cost of
development services was driven primarily by ouivites for the Toyota RAV4 EV program which begarthe second half of 2010.

Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2044 $61.6 million, an increase from $30.7 million lee year ended December 31,
2010. The increase was driven primarily by higlses of the Tesla Roadster coupled with higheranesselling prices and ongoing cost
improvement program on the Roadster, increasedrshifs of battery packs and chargers to Daimlemnedlsas gross profit from our
development services activities which we expandetié latter half of 2010 with the Toyota RAV4 Exbgram.

Cost of revenues for the year ended December 30 @@s $86.0 million, a decrease from $102.4 nmilfior the year ended
December 31, 2009. The decrease in cost of revemasiriven primarily by the significant numbenhicles delivered during the first three
guarters of 2009 from fulfilling customer resereat placed prior to 2009. The decrease in cogwanues from automotive sales for the year
ended December 31, 2010 was partially offset byirtbeease in cost of revenues from our developreentices activities.

Cost of development services includes engineetipgart and testing, direct parts, material anddaosts, manufacturing overhead,
including amortized tooling costs, shipping anddtig costs and other development expenses thaiaue in the performance of our services
under development agreements. During the quartigdeMarch 31, 2010, Daimler engaged us to assikttive development and production of
a battery pack and charger for a pilot fleet ofAt€lass electric vehicles to be introduced in Fgrduring 2011. As of March 31, 2010, a
development agreement had yet to be finalized arslieh, the related development services cost8.6frillion that we incurred during the
guarter ended March 31, 2010 were expensed inndsaad development. In May 2010, we finalizedajeeement and began recording the
costs related to this program in cost of revenues.

Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2049 $B0.7 million, an increase from $9.5 million floe year ended December 31,
2009. The increase was driven primarily by the gim®fit contributed by our development serviceeneies which we began to recognize in
2010; an expanded offering of vehicle options to@ustomers; the continued launch of the Tesla Readnternationally, where in certain
markets, we have experienced higher selling priaed;cost improvements associated with the modeigdover from the Tesla Roadster to
Tesla Roadster 2 during the second half of 2008s&profit for the year ended December 31, 2010aklssfavorably impacted by the fact t
certain of the A-Class development services revéinaewe recognized during the year ended DeceBibhe2010 did not have any
corresponding cost of revenues, since these castsecorded in research and development experisesgous finalizing the development
agreement in May 2010.

We expect our development services revenue matufite in future periods based on the timing of gaskipts as compared to the
timing of meeting revenue recognition criteria. §hiay cause our gross profit and gross margin sirbiarly impacted.

Research and Development Expen:

Research and development expenses consist prino&plgrsonnel costs for our teams in engineerirdgragearch, supply chain, quality,
manufacturing engineering and manufacturing tegamizations, prototyping
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expense, contract and professional services andiaetequipment expense. Overhead costs relati tdesla Factory prior to the start of
production of Model S are also included in reseanth development expenses. Also included in reBesrd development expenses are
development services costs that we incur, if angy po the finalization of agreements with our deapment services customers as reaching a
final agreement and revenue recognition is notrassiDevelopment services costs incurred aftefitiadization of an agreement are recorded
in cost of revenues.

Research and development expenses for the yead &etember 31, 2011 were $209.0 million, an inadesm $93.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2010. The $116.0 milliorease in research and development expenses dieiygar ended December 31, 2
consisted primarily of a $38.1 million increasematerials and prototyping expenses primarily topsupour Model S alpha and beta builds,
overhead costs related to the Tesla Factory, poawerdevelopment activities, a $30.9 million ingean costs related to Model S and Model X
engineering, design and testing activities incubreaur suppliers, a $30.4 million increase in esgpke compensation expenses from higher
headcount, a $9.7 million increase in stock-basedpensation expense related to a larger numbeutefamding equity awards and generally
an increasing common stock valuation applied to geamts, and a $7.0 million increase in officepmfiation technology and facilities-related
costs to support the growth of our business.

Research and development expenses for the yead &wbember 31, 2010 were $93.0 million, an incréasa $19.3 million for the ye:
ended December 31, 2009. Research and developrpmrises during the year ended December 31, 200&latt $23.2 million in Daimler
Smart fortwo EV development compensation which reesrded as an offset to research and developmpahses. The $73.7 million increz
in research and development expenses during theepelad December 31, 2010 consisted primarily$2®0 million increase in employee
cash and stock-based compensation expenses pyimssibciated with significantly higher headcoungupport our Model S and powertrain
development activities, the $23.2 million Daimlevelopment compensation offset recognized durieg/dar ended December 31, 2009, a
$10.5 million increase in materials and prototypéxgenses primarily to support our Model S alphigdas well as powertrain development
activities, a $10.7 million increase in professicarad outside services costs related to Model $heegng, design and testing activities, and a
$1.6 million increase in office, information techogy and facilities-related costs to support thewgh of our business, including our transition
to our Palo Alto headquarters.

During the first quarter of 2010, Daimler engagsdaassist with the development and productioa lodittery pack and charger for a
fleet of its A-Class electric vehicles to be intnodd in Europe during 2011. As of March 31, 2010eeelopment agreement had yet to be
finalized and as such, the related developmenicesosts of $0.5 million that we incurred durithg quarter ended March 31, 2010 were
expensed in research and development. In May 204 @inalized the agreement and began recordingdbts associated with this program in
cost of revenues.

We have significantly increased our research aneldpment efforts for Model S, which has resulteein increase in our research and
development expenses. We anticipate that our reflsead development expenses will rise moderatelyeamcur additional costs to further
develop Model S, to develop Model X and to opecateTesla Factory in Fremont, California prior be start of Model S production.

Selling, General and Administrative Expens

Selling, general and administrative expenses copsisarily of personnel and facilities costs rethto our Tesla stores, marketing, sales,
executive, finance, human resources, informatichrtelogy and legal organizations, as well as lit@gasettlements and fees for professional
and contract services.

Selling, general and administrative expenses fertar ended December 31, 2011 were $104.1 mikiomcrease from $84.6 million
for the year ended December 31, 2010. The $19lmihcrease in our selling, general and admiatste expenses during the year ended
December 31, 2011 consisted primarily of a
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$12.3 million increase in employee compensatioreasps related to higher sales and marketing heattmaupport sales activities worldwi
and higher general and administrative headcoustipport the expansion of the business, a $4.1amiiiicrease in office, information
technology and facilities-related costs to suppuetgrowth of our business, a $2.4 million increiasgrofessional and outside services costs,
and a $1.7 million increase in costs principalliated to our Tesla store and gallery openings.ifitiease is also attributable to a $1.0 million
increase in stock-based compensation expensedatatelarger number of outstanding equity awardsgenerally an increasing common
stock valuation applied to new grants. The incréaséhe year ended December 31, 2011 was partéfidet by an additional stock-based
compensation charge of $2.4 million recognizedrduthe year ended December 31, 2010, which reflex®orrection of stock-based
compensation expense that should have been recduled) the year ended December 31, 2009.

Selling, general and administrative expenses fertar ended December 31, 2010 were $84.6 mibinrincrease from $42.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2009. The $42.4 miliorease in our selling, general and administea¢gixpenses during the year ended
December 31, 2010 consisted primarily of a $15.aniincrease in stock-based compensation expesiated to a larger number of
outstanding equity awards, expense related to pedoce-based awards, an increasing common stoghtiai applied to new grants made in
2010, and an additional stock-based compensatiargetof $2.4 million which reflected a correctidrstock-based compensation expense that
should have been recorded during the year endednilzer 31, 2009; a $13.4 million increase in empday@sh compensation expenses related
to higher sales and marketing headcount to supplarger number of stores in the United Stateskamrdpe and higher general and
administrative headcount to support the expansigheobusiness; a $7.1 million increase in offioéprmation technology and facilities-related
costs to support the growth of our business, inolythe opening of new stores and service locatiosour transition to our Palo Alto
headquarters; a $3.2 million increase in travel exgknses related to our sales and marketing tesivand a $1.0 million increase in
professional services costs related to ongoingetreatk and patent work, recruiting, as well as garmrporate development activities.

We expect selling, general and administrative egpsrto increase in future periods as we contingeaw and expand our operations,
increase our sales and marketing activities to leamar expanding market presence and prepare égoltnned Model S commercial launch by
July 2012, and as we support the requirementsio§l@epublic company. We plan to open additionatest and service centers during 2012,
mostly in the United States, and some of thesestaill replace existing stores, which we may awnti to use as service locations.

Interest Expenst

Our interest expense is primarily due to our loamder the DOE Loan Facility which we began accesiir2010. Although interest
expense will increase as we continue to draw dowthe DOE Loan Facility to fund our Model S and gotrain activities, we expect to
capitalize this interest to construction in prograstil the start of Model S production. During trears ended December 31, 2011 and 201(
capitalized $5.1 million and $0.8 million, respeety, of interest expense to construction in pregre

Interest expense for the year ended December 3D, ®8s $1.0 million, a decrease from $2.5 millionthe year ended December 31,
2009. Interest expense during the year ended Dezre®ih 2009 was primarily related to our conveetibbtes which were converted into sh
of our Series E convertible preferred stock in N899, while interest expense during the year efxsmember 31, 2010 was primarily due to
our loans under the DOE Loan Facility which we begecessing in 2010.

Other Expense, Net

Other expense, net consists primarily of the changlee fair value of our warrant liabilities armdsaction gains and losses on our
foreign currency-denominated assets and liabilitlés expect our transaction gains and losses ailf depending upon movements in the
underlying exchange rates. Income or charges negutom
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the change in the fair value of our convertiblef@med stock warrant liability, excluding the DOEfant liability, was eliminated after July 2,
2010, as these warrants were net exercised abthpletion of our IPO. The DOE convertible preferstdck warrant which we issued in
January 2010, became a common stock warrant or2)@10 and is carried at its estimated fair valith changes in its fair value continuing
to be reflected in other expense, net, until ifgimtion or vesting.

Other expense, net, for the year ended Decemb&@031, was $2.6 million, a decrease from other egpenet, of $6.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2010. The decrease in &xpenthe year ended December 31, 2011 was phnthré to the elimination of warra
liabilities, excluding the DOE warrant liabilitypon the completion of our IPO in July 2010.

Other expense, net, for the year ended Decemb&@03D, was $6.6 million, an increase in expense ewatpto other expense, net, of §
million for the year ended December 31, 2009. Tioedase in expense for the year ended Decemb@03@,was primarily due to the fair
value changes in our warrant liabilities as welttesliability related to common stock warrantséstain of our stockholders which we issue
May 2010, both of which increased significantlyconjunction with the increase in our common stoaluation.

Provision for Income Taxe:!

Our provision for income taxes for the year endedé@nber 31, 2011 was $0.5 million, an increase $0rg2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2010. The increase was due primartlye increase in taxable income in our internatigurisdictions.

Our provision for income taxes for the year endedé@nber 31, 2010 was $0.2 million, an increase $2a000 for the year ended
December 31, 2009. The increase was due primartlye launch of the Tesla Roadster in Europe in 2009 and the ensuing increase in
taxable income in our international jurisdictions.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since inception and through the year ended DeceBihe2011, we had accumulated net operating |ass®869.4 million and have used
$445.0 million of cash in operations. As of Decembik, 2011, we had $492.7 million in principal sms of liquidity available from our cash
and cash equivalents, short-term marketable sésjritash held in our dedicated DOE account andetin@ining amounts available under the
DOE Loan Facility. This includes our cash and oaghivalents in the amount of $255.3 million whiakluded investments in money market
funds, our short-term marketable securities inatm@unt of $25.1 million, cash of $23.5 million dsfted in a dedicated DOE account in
accordance with the requirements of our DOE LoauiliBg and approximately $188.8 million availahleder the DOE Loan Facility, which is
primarily intended to cover spending related todbeelopment of Model S and our powertrain actgitiOther sources of cash also include
cash from the sales of the Tesla Roadster, caghtfie provision of development services, salesoafgrtrain components and refundable
reservation payments for our Model S.

We expect that our current sources of liquiditgluding cash, cash equivalents, short-term marketdzurities, cash held in our
dedicated DOE account and the remaining amounitableaunder the DOE Loan Facility, together withr anticipated cash from operating
activities will provide us adequate liquidity untike reach profitability in 2013. This capital willnd our ongoing operations, continue research
and development projects, establish sales andcgerenters, improve infrastructure such as expahdtdry pack assembly facilities, and to
make the investments in tooling and manufacturaqgtal required to introduce Model S and to corgidlevelopment of Model X. The
acceleration of the development of future vehidlegestments in new technologies, increased inesiegrof manufacturing capabilities,
investments to expand our powertrain activitiefuother expand our sales and service network, regyire us to raise additional funds through
the issuance of equity, equity-related or debt stes or through obtaining credit. We may also@$mto opportunistically raise additional
funds if market conditions are favorable. We carbetertain that additional funds will be availatdeus on favorable terms when required, or
at all.
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DOE Loan Facility

On January 20, 2010, we entered into a loan failith the Federal Financing Bank (FFB), and theED@ursuant to the Advanced
Technology Vehicles Manufacturing (ATVM) IncentifReogram (such loan facility, including amendmehtreto, the DOE Loan Facility).
Under the DOE Loan Facility, the FFB has made awéél to us two multi-draw term loan facilities in aggregate principal amount of up to
$465.0 million. Up to an aggregate principal amaafi5101.2 million will be made available under firet term loan facility to finance up to
80% of the costs eligible for funding for the powain engineering and the build out of a facilibydesign and manufacture lithium-ion battery
packs, electric motors and electric componentsRtheertrain facility). Up to an aggregate principaiount of $363.9 million will be made
available under the second term loan facility tafice up to 80% of the costs eligible for fundiogthe development of, and to build out the
manufacturing facility for, our Model S sedan (ledel S facility). Under the DOE Loan Facility, vaee responsible for the remaining 20% of
the costs eligible for funding under the ATVM Praqgr for the projects as well as any cost overrungdah project.

Our DOE Loan Facility draw-downs were as follows tfiousands):

Loan Facility Available

for Future Draw-

downs Interest rates

Beginning Balance, January 20, 2( $ 465,04¢

Draw-downs received during the three months ended Mat¢cl201C (29,92() 2.9%- 3.4%

Draw-downs received during the three months ended JOn203.0 (15,499 2.5%- 3.4%

Draw-downs received during the three months ended Ségied®, 201( (11,139 1.7%- 2.€%

Draw-downs received during the three months ended Deee8ih 201( (15,27) 1.7%- 2.€%
Remaining Balance, December 31, 2! 393,22(

Draw-downs received during the three months ended Mat¢l2011 (30,65¢) 2.1%- 3.C%

Draw-downs received during the three months ended Jon203.1 (31,699 1.8%- 2.7%

Draw-downs received during the three months ended Ségied®, 201! (90,829 1.0%- 1.4%

Draw-downs received during the three months ended Deee8ih 2011 (51,257) 1.0%- 1.5%
Remaining Balance, December 31, 2! $ 188,79°

In February 2012, we received additional loans utite DOE Loan Facility of $14.4 million at inteteates ranging from 0.9% to 1.4%.

We have agreed that, in connection with the samo&tock in any follow-on equity offering, at #&0% of the net offering proceeds
will be received by us. Offering proceeds may reubed to pay bonuses or other compensation weddfidirectors, employees or consultants
in excess of the amounts contemplated by our bssipkan approved by the DOE.

Upon completion of our IPO in 2010, we set asidedbillion to fund a separate dedicated accouneundr DOE Loan Facility. This
dedicated account is used by us to fund any castons for our powertrain and Tesla Factory prgjectd is used as a mechanism to defer
advances under the DOE Loan Facility. This will affect our ability to draw down the full amounttbe DOE loans, but will require us to use
the dedicated account
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to fund certain project costs upfront, which caatsy then be reimbursed by loans under the DOE [Eaaility once the dedicated account is
depleted, or as part of the final advance for th@ieable project. We will be then required to deipa portion of these reimbursements into the
dedicated account, in an amount equal to up to 80f8te remaining project costs for the applicablggrt, and these amounts may similarly
used by us to fund project costs and cost overandswill similarly be eligible for reimbursement thye draw-down of additional loans under
the DOE Loan Facility once used in full, or as pdrthe final advance for the applicable projea¢pBnding on the timing and magnitude of
draw-downs and the funding requirements of thea#dd account, the balance of the dedicated acedgliffuctuate throughout the period in
which we plan to make draw-downs under the DOE Ueagility. Upon completion of our final advance enthe DOE Loan Facility, the
balance in the dedicated account will be fully &f@nred out of the dedicated account. As of Decer@be2011 and 2010, $23.5 million and
$73.6 million were held in the dedicated accougdpectively.

For more information on the DOE Loan Facility, éste 9 to our Consolidated Financial Statementsided in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K under Item 8. Financial Statements angpfmentary Data.

Initial Public Offering and Toyota Concurrent Privee Placement

On June 28, 2010, our registration statement omF®t relating to our IPO was declared effective by $iieC. The IPO closed on July
2010, at which time we sold 11,880,600 shares btommon stock and received cash proceeds of $18@i8n from this transaction, net of
underwriting discounts and commissions. Additionalie incurred offering costs of $4.4 million reldtto the IPO.

Concurrent with the closing of our IPO, we sold42,9.76 shares of our common stock to Toyota inveaf# placement transaction for
aggregate proceeds of $50.0 million.

Panasonic Private Placement

In November 2010, we entered into a common stockh@se agreement with an entity affiliated with &amic Corporation (Panasonic)
pursuant to which we issued and sold an aggreddt@ 8,573 shares of our common stock for aggeegaiceeds of $30.0 million.

Follow-on Offering and Concurrent Private Placement

In June 2011, we completed a follow-on offeringconmon stock in which we sold a total of 6,095,808res of our common stock and
received cash proceeds of $172.7 million from ttaasaction, net of underwriting discounts.

Concurrent with our follow-on offering, we also ddl,416,000 shares of our common stock to Elon Mosk Chief Executive Officer
and cofounder, and 637,475 shares of our commak staBlackstar Investco LLC, an affiliate of Dagnland received total cash proceeds of
$59.1 million in the private placements. No undéing discounts or commissions were paid in conioeclith these private placements.

Leasing Activities

In February 2010, we began offering a leasing @ogto qualified customers in the United StategHerTesla Roadster. Through our
wholly owned subsidiary, qualifying customers aeerpitted to lease the Tesla Roadster for 36 moafter; which time they have the option of
either returning the vehicle to us or purchasirfgrita pre-determined residual value.

When compared to our sales of vehicles, our leastigities will spread the cash inflows that weulbotherwise receive upon the sale
of a vehicle, over the lease term and final digjmsiof the leased vehicle. As such, our cash aoikiwg capital requirements will be directly
impacted and if leasing volume increases signifigathe impact may be material. However, afteirigknto consideration our current and
planned sources of operating cash, our ability emitor and prospectively adjust our leasing activéts well as our intent to collect
nonrefundable deposits for leased vehicles thatramrufactured to specification, we do not belichat bur leasing operations materially
adversely impact our ability to meet our commitnseantd obligations as they become due. As we veitl Bk exposed to credit risk related to
the timely collection of lease payments from owstomers, we intend to utilize our credit approvad angoing review processes in order to
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minimize any credit losses that could occur andciitiould adversely affect our financial conditiomdaesults of operations. We require
deposits from customers electing a lease optiordbicles built to a customer’s specifications loa same timeframe and under the same
circumstances as from customers purchasing ouchkeshbutright. During the years ended DecembePB11 and 2010, approximately 6% and
14% of the vehicles delivered during these perigde under operating leases. As of December 311, 28d 2010, we had deferred revenues
of $0.8 million and $1.1 million of down paymentieh will be recognized over the term of the indival leases. Through December 31, 2
our leasing activity has not had a significant adegmpact on our liquidity.

Reservation Payments

A source of our cash flows from operations has lieesugh our receipt of reservation payments freamaustomers. Reservation
payments consist of reservation payments that ghlotential customers to hold a reservation forftiiere purchase of a Tesla Roadster,
Model S or Model X. For our Tesla Roadsters martufad to specification, our current purchase agergirequires the payment of an initial
nonrefundable deposit which varies based on thatcpof purchase. For Model S and Model X, we regain initial refundable reservation
payment of at least $5,000. For Tesla Roadstechpsed directly from our showrooms, no deposiedaired. Prior to the second quarter of
2010, our reservation policy was to accept resematayments from all customers who wished to paseha Tesla Roadster and require full
payment of the purchase price of the vehicle atithe the customer selected their vehicle spediioa. During the second quarter of 2010, we
changed our policy to require nonrefundable depdsit Tesla Roadsters manufactured to specificatidhe time a customer enters into a
purchase agreement. However, we also occasioralBpareservation payments for the Tesla Roadséecustomer is interested in purchasing
a vehicle but not yet prepared to select the velspkcifications. For customers who have placeservation payment with us, the reservation
payment becomes a nonrefundable deposit once gtensar has selected the vehicle specificationseatels into a purchase agreement. The
full payment of the purchase price of the vehislegiquired only upon delivery of the vehicle to thustomer. Reservation payments for a
vehicle are recorded as a current liability wherereed. No later than upon the delivery of a vehithe reservation payments collected on a
customer’s account are applied against the totalh@ase price of the vehicle.

Summary of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Net cash used in operating activit $(114,36¢) $(127,81)) $(80,82%)
Net cash used in investing activiti (175,929 (180,29) (14,244
Net cash provided by financing activiti 446,00( 338,04! 155,41¢

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

We continue to experience negative cash flows foperations as we expand our business and builthfrastructure both in the United
States and internationally. Our cash flows fromrapeg activities are significantly affected by aash investments to support the growth of
our business in areas such as research and deveibpmd selling, general and administrative. Owrating cash flows are also affected by
working capital needs to support growth and flutires in inventory, personnel related expendituaespunts payable and other current assets
and liabilities.

Net cash used in operating activities was $114l4omifor the year ended December 31, 2011. Thgdsircomponent of our cash used
during this period related to our net loss of $254illion, which included non-cash charges of $28illion related to stock-based
compensation expense, $16.9 million related toetgation and amortization and $2.8 million relatedhe fair value change in our warrant
liability. Significant operating cash outflows weggmarily related to $313.1 million of operatingpenses, $142.6 million of cost of revenues
and a $13.6 million increase in inventory and ofiegdease vehicles, partially offset by a $44.3iom increase in
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accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and @ $@lion increase in other long-term liabilitidaventory increased to meet our production
requirements for the Tesla Roadster as we plarorethé final production of the Tesla Roadster ao@grtrain component sales as well as
leasing activities. The increase in accounts payaht accrued liabilities was due to both the gnavftour business and the timing of vendor
payments.

Significant operating cash inflows during the yeaded December 31, 2011 were comprised primarigutdmotive sales of $148.6
million, $55.7 million of development services rave and a $61.0 million net increase in reservgimyments, partially offset by a
$2.8 million increase in accounts receivable ad .8 million decrease in deferred revenue. Thesimee in accounts receivable was related
primarily to receivables from Toyota for shipmeafgpowertrain components under the Toyota RAV4 H¥$e 1 contract services agreement
and shipments of battery packs and chargers to IBaimder the Daimler Smart fortwo and A-Class E¥goams.

Net cash used in operating activities was $127IBomiduring the year ended December 31, 2010. [&lgest component of our cash
used during this period related to our net los$1d#4.3 million, which included non-cash charge$2i.2 million related to stock-based
compensation expense, $10.6 million related toat@ation and amortization and $5.0 million relatedhe fair value change in our warrant
liabilities. Significant operating cash outflows negrimarily related to $177.6 million of operatiagpenses, $86.0 million of cost of revenues,
a $28.5 million increase in inventory and operatease vehicles, and a $5.0 million increase ipairkexpenses and other current assets,
partially offset by a $13.3 million increase in aged liabilities and a $3.5 million increase in@tong-term liabilities. Inventory increased to
meet our production requirements for the Tesla Rimchnd powertrain component sales while the asaén prepaid expenses and other
current assets and accrued liabilities was duetio the growth of our business, as well as ourdiased manufacturing and Model S
development activities. Operating lease vehiclesgiased with the introduction of our leasing pragia 2010. Other long-term liabilities
increased as a result of higher warranty liabfligm sales of the Tesla Roadster.

Significant operating cash inflows during the yeaded December 31, 2010 were derived primarily faotomotive sales of $97.1
million, $19.7 million of development services rave, a $4.8 million increase in deferred revenuesaa$4.7 million increase in reservation
payments, partially offset by a $3.2 million incsean accounts receivable. In October 2010, werethiti@to a Phase 1 contract services
agreement with Toyota for the development of adeaéd powertrain system, including a battery ppokver electronics module, motor,
gearbox and associated software, to be integratedin electric vehicle version of the Toyota RAWpon execution of the agreement, we
received a $5.0 million upfront payment for whigvenue is being recognized over the expected téourgerformance. Deferred revenues
also increased from our vehicle leasing activiiedease down-payments are recognized over theofetfme operating leases. The increase in
accounts receivable was related primarily to pormértcomponent sales in relation to Daimler's Srf@ativo EV program as well as $2.3
million receivable from Toyota for the achievemehthe first milestone under the Phase 1 contrastises agreement. During the year ended
December 31, 2010, we received $10.4 million ofeat reservation payments for Model S while resgomgpayments for the Tesla Roadster
decreased by $5.7 million.

Net cash used in operating activities was $80.8aniburing the year ended December 31, 2009. &tgekt component of our cash used
during this year was the $55.7 million net lossjoltincluded non-cash charges of $6.9 million edatio depreciation and amortization,
$2.7 million related to interest on convertibleewand $1.4 million related to inventory write-d@yas well as a non-cash gain of $1.5 million
from the extinguishment of convertible notes andramts. Significant operating cash outflows weriengrily related to $102.4 million of cost
of revenues, $61.4 million of operating expense®?.Q million increase in inventory and a $2.0 ioillincrease in our prepaid expenses and
other current assets, partially offset by a $3.Hioniincrease in accrued liabilities and a $0.9ion increase in accounts payable. Inventory
increased to meet our production requirements whdencrease in prepaid expenses and other cuassets reflect a higher level of annual
operating costs such as insurance, licenses aad feom the growth of the business. The increasasdrued liabilities and accounts payable
were also primarily due to the growth in our busie
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Significant operating cash inflows during the yeaded December 31, 2009 were derived primarily fdoensales of the Tesla Roadster
as well as development compensation related tD#imler development agreement. Cash inflows reltdeadlitomotive sales activity were
$88.5 million comprised of $111.9 million of autotive sales, partially offset by a $22.0 million degse in refundable reservation payments
and a $1.5 million decrease in deferred revenues.dEcrease in the refundable reservation paymegsiue to the launch of the Tesla
Roadster during the year ended December 31, 2098e continued to deliver the Tesla Roadster tacastomers in 2009, we applied the
related reservation payments to the respectivemests’ purchase cost. Cash inflows from the Dairdé&relopment agreement were
$13.2 million comprised primarily of $23.2 milliasf development compensation partially offset byl@.® million decrease in deferred
development compensation. The decrease in defdesglopment compensation was the result of the taation of deferred development
compensation that we received during the year ebadsgémber 31, 2008.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash flows from investing activities primarily riedao capital expenditures to support our growtbperations, including investments in
Model S manufacturing, as well as restricted caghwe must maintain in relation to our DOE Loaxiig, facility lease agreements,
equipment financing, and certain vendor creditges.

Net cash used in investing activities was $1758aniduring the year ended December 31, 2011 milgneelated to $197.9 million in
purchases of capital equipment and $65.0 milliopurchases of short-term marketable securitiesigtisroffset by $50.1 million of net
transfers out of our dedicated DOE account in atamee with the provisions of the DOE Loan Facitid $40.0 million from the maturity of
shortterm marketable securities. The increase in capitathases was primarily due to significant devedept and construction activities at
Tesla Factory as well as purchases of Model Seglatanufacturing equipment and tooling.

Net cash used in investing activities was $180I8aniduring the year ended December 31, 2010 milgneelated to capital purchases of
$105.4 million and a net increase in restrictechazst74.9 million. The increase in capital puraswas driven primarily by $65.2 million of
payments made in relation to our purchase of ogtalleactory located in Fremont, California from NWWM and certain manufacturing assets
located thereon to be used for our Model S manufexd, as well as $40.2 million primarily relatexldther Model S capital expenditures, our
transition to and build out of our powertrain maantfiring facility and corporate headquarters iroPdto, California, and purchases of
manufacturing equipment. Our purchase transactiotisNUMMI were completed in October 2010. The ie@se in restricted cash was
primarily related to $100.0 million of net proceddsm our IPO and concurrent Toyota private placeitieat we transferred to a dedicated
account as required by our DOE Loan Facility, pdltioffset by $26.4 million that was transferradt of the dedicated account during the third
and fourth quarters of 2010 in accordance withpiforisions of the DOE Loan Facility.

Net cash used in investing activities was $14.%ionilduring the year ended December 31, 2009 pilynaglated to capital purchases of
$11.9 million and an increase in restricted cash24 million. The increase in restricted cash paarily related to standard credit policies
required by our online payment vendor and secualefyosits related to lease agreements and equigmanting.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

We have financed our operations primarily with geds from issuances of convertible preferred stmckconvertible notes, which
provided us with aggregate net proceeds of $29@I®mon a cumulative basis through December MNP from loans under the DOE Loan
Facility beginning in 2010, and more recently, frim net proceeds from our public offerings anggig placements of common stock.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $84gillion during the year ended December 31, 20id was comprised primarily of
$231.5 million received from our follow-on publiéfering and concurrent private
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placements completed in June 2011, $204.4 milkweived from our draw-downs under the DOE Loanlfgeind $10.5 million received
from the exercise of common stock options by emgédsyand the purchase of common stock under ougagbktock purchase plan.

Cash provided by financing activities was $338.0iom during the year ended December 31, 2010 caegdrprimarily of $188.8 million
in proceeds from our IPO, $71.8 million we receifien our loans under the DOE Loan Facility, $5@llion in proceeds from the Toyota
private placement, $30.0 million in proceeds frdma Panasonic private placement, partially offses®y million of issuance costs we incurred
in relation to our DOE Loan Facility and our IPO.

Cash provided by financing activities was $155.4iom during the year ended December 31, 2009 caegdrprimarily of $82.4 million
in net proceeds from the issuance of Series E ctbhepreferred stock, $49.4 million in net prodsdrom the issuance of Series E convertible
preferred stock and $25.5 million in proceeds nesgtifrom the issuance of convertible notes and avesr

Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth, as of DecemberZ111 certain significant cash obligations that affiect our future liquidity (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2017 and

Total 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 thereafter

Operating lease obligatiol $ 56,76¢ $848( $848¢ $8,16: $7,33( $6,168 $ 18,13¢
Capital lease obligatior 4,22¢ 1,41¢ 1,34¢ 974 25¢ 231 —
Long-term debt 305,46: 13,36¢ 36,67¢ 36,06 35,46( 34,85! 149,04(
Total $366,45°  $23,26¢  $46,51¢ $45,207  $43,04¢ $41,25. $167,17¢

In October 2010, we completed the purchase of estalFactory located in Fremont, California fromMMI. NUMMI has previously
identified environmental conditions at the Fremsité which affect soil and groundwater, and is entlly undertaking efforts to address these
conditions. Although we have been advised by NUMMit it has documented and managed the environiviesties, we cannot determine
with certainty the potential costs to remediate prerexisting contamination. Based on manageméets estimate, we estimated the fair value
of the environmental liabilities that we assumetédb5.3 million, which is not reflected in the lbbove as the timing of any potential
payments cannot be reasonably determined at thes hs NUMMI continues with its decommissioningieities and as we continue with our
construction and operating activities, it is readzy possible that our estimate of environmengdiilities may change materially.

We have reached an agreement with NUMMI under whogkr a ten year period, we will pay the first ®L&illion of any costs of any
governmentally-required remediation activities dontamination that existed prior to the completénhe facility and land purchase for any
known or unknown environmental conditions, and NUMis agreed to pay the next $15.0 million for sterhediation activities. Our
agreement provides, in part, that NUMMI will pay tapthe first $15.0 million on our behalf if suckpenses are incurred in the first four years
of our agreement, subject to our reimbursementio £osts on the fourth anniversary date of thsitp

On the ten-year anniversary of the closing or wkien&30.0 million has been spent on the remediataivities, whichever comes first,
NUMMI’s liability to us with respect to remediation atdties ceases, and we are responsible for any lheddaronmental conditions at the
Fremont site. At that point in time, we have agreethdemnify, defend, and hold harmless NUMMI frathliability and we have released
NUMMI for any known or unknown claims except for IMMI’s obligations for representations and warrantieden the agreement.
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As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, we held resemvaiyments of $91.8 million and $30.8 million fr@otential customers,
respectively, which are not reflected in the taddeve. As of December 31, 2011, we held reservgidgments for undelivered Model S sed
in an aggregate amount of $90.0 million and paysémtTesla Roadsters in an aggregate amount 8fifiillion. As of December 31, 2010,
held reservation payments for undelivered Moded@ass in an aggregate amount of $28.3 million ayinents for Tesla Roadsters in an
aggregate amount of $2.5 million. In order to cahtee reservation payments into revenue, we ve#idhto sell vehicles to these customers
reservation payments for Model S are fully refuridamntil such time that a customer enters into mipase agreement.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

During the periods presented, we did not haveiogiahips with unconsolidated entities or finangattnerships, such as entities often
referred to as structured finance or special pugodities, which would have been establishedHempurpose of facilitating off-balance sheet
arrangements or other contractually narrow or Behjpurposes.

ITEM7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

Foreign Currency Risk

A portion of our revenues, costs and expensehioyears ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 20@9deaominated in foreign
currencies. This is primarily due to the contraghvieotus Cars Limited in the United Kingdom to nudacture the Tesla Roadster vehicles and
gliders, and other parts sourced in Europe. Furbeg, we intend to globally procure the Model Sqarhich may result in the increase of the
procurement costs if the value of the U.S. dolipréciates significantly against foreign currenciesddition, our international sales and
marketing operations incur expenses denominatéatéign currencies, principally in the British palrihe euro and the Japanese yen. These
costs exposure are partially offset by our salesvtir in these regions since payments for vehiad is these regions are denominated in the
local currency. This provides a partial naturaldetb our cost exposure in Europe and Asia depgratirour sales levels in these regions. Our
battery cell purchases from Asian suppliers are sibject to currency risk. To date, the foreigmency effect on our consolidated financial
statements has not been significant.

Interest Rate Risk

We had cash and cash equivalents and short-terketaate securities totaling $280.3 million as oficBeber 31, 2011. A significant
portion of our cash and cash equivalents were tedeis money market funds. The cash and cash dguigaand short-term marketable
securities are held for working capital purposes. 8 not enter into investments for trading or sfao/e purposes. We believe that we do not
have any material exposure to changes in the &irevas a result of changes in interest ratesaltietshort term nature of our cash equival
and marketable securities. Declines in interestsrdtowever, would reduce future investment income.

As of December 31, 2011, we had $25.1 million ine@ésn shorter-term marketable securities. If ieg¢rrates increase, the market value
of our investments may decline, which could resul realized loss if we are required to sell ausgcbefore its scheduled maturity. If overall
interest rates had risen by 100 basis points,atezélue of our net investment position as of Deler 31, 2011 would have decreased by
approximately $38,000, assuming consistent levels.

As of December 31, 2011, we have received loansmuhé DOE Loan Facility for an aggregate of $2#6ifion with interest rates
ranging from 1.0% to 3.4%. As we continue to borravder our DOE Loan Facility, interest rates wél deetermined by the Secretary of the
Treasury as of the date of each loan, based ofrdesury yield curve and the scheduled principstiitments for such loan. We also have
capital lease obligations of $3.9 million as of Bexber 31, 2011 which are fixed rate instrumentsaardot subject to fluctuations in interest
rates.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Té4tdors, Inc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the accompanying index present fairlyall material respects, the financial
position of Tesla Motors, Inc. and its subsidiaae®ecember 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, anesults of their operations and their
cash flows for each of the three years in the plegioded December 31, 2011 in conformity with actiogrprinciples generally accepted in the
United States of America. Also in our opinion, thempany maintained, in all material respects, @éffednternal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on @itstablished in Internal Control—Integrated Fraorvissued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway CommisgDSO). The Company’s management is responsibliése financial statements for
maintaining effective internal control over finaalcieporting and for its assessment of the effectss of internal control over financial
reporting, included in Management’s Report on IméiControl over Financial Reporting appearing uritiam 9A. Our responsibility is to
express opinions on these financial statementsparide Company internal control over financial reporting bas@&doarr audits (which was i
integrated audit in 2011). We conducted our auditeccordance with the standards of the Public GomgpAccounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that e ghd perform the audits to obtain reasonablea@ssel about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement amdheh effective internal control over financial ogfing was maintained in all material
respects. Our audits of the financial statemertisidied examining, on a test basis, evidence suipgdtte amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements, assessing the accountingipl&s used and significant estimates made by nemeagt, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. Our audit ofrima&control over financial reporting included dbiag an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting, assessing the risk thatederial weakness exists, and testing and evay#te design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Qlitsaalso included performing such other procedasewe considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audits provideagonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableaagsuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A companys internal control over financial reporting inclisdose policies and procedures that (i) pertatheéanaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettilansactions and dispositions of the assetseoédmpany; (i) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatggaparation of financial statements in accor@awith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expendituree®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readslaassurance regarding prevention or timely dietecf unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company'’s assets that could lzareterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detmisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periodssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
February 27, 2012
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Assets
Current assetl
Cash and cash equivalel
Shor-term marketable securitit
Restricted cas
Accounts receivabl
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Total current asse
Operating lease vehicles, t
Property, plant and equipment, |
Restricted cas
Other asset
Total asset

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenu
Capital lease obligations, current port
Reservation paymen
Long-term debt, current portic
Total current liabilities
Common stock warrant liabilit
Capital lease obligations, less current por
Deferred revenue, less current port
Long-term debt, less current portii
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder equity:

Preferred stock; $0.001 par value; 221,903,982eshanthorized; no shares issued and outstal
Common stock; $0.001 par value; 2,000,000,000 shauthorized as of December 31, 2011
2010, respectively; 104,530,305 and 94,908,370eshasued and outstanding as of Decemb

31, 2011 and 2010, respectivi
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive |
Accumulated defici

Total stockholder equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

Tesla Motors, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31 December 31
2011 2010
$ 255,26¢ $ 99,55¢
25,06! —
23,47¢ 73,591
9,563¢ 6,71(
50,08 45,18
9,41¢ 10,83¢
372,83 235,88t
11,757 7,96:
298,41 114,63¢
8,06¢ 4,867
22,371 22,73(
$ 713,44¢ $ 386,08:.
$ 56,14 $ 28,95
32,10¢ 20,94¢
2,34k 4,63
1,067 27¢
91,761 30,75¢
7,91¢€ —
191,33¢ 85,56¢
8,83¢ 6,08¢
2,83( 49¢€
3,14¢ 2,78
268,33! 71,82¢
14,91¢ 12,27
489,40: 179,03¢
104 95
893,33t 621,93!
©) —
(669,397 (414,98))
224,04! 207,04¢
$ 713,44¢ $ 386,08:

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Revenues

Automotive sale:

Development service
Total revenue

Cost of revenues

Automotive sale:

Development service
Total cost of revenue
Gross profil

Operating expense:

Research and development (net of development casafien of $23,249 for th

Tesla Motors, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

year ended December 31, 201
Selling, general and administrati

Total operating expe
Loss from operation
Interest incomt
Interest expens
Other expense, n
Loss before income tax
Provision for income taxe
Net loss

ns

Net loss per share of common stock, basic andedi

Weighted average shares used in computing nepkrsshare of common stoc

basic and dilute

Year Ended December 31,

2011

$  148,56¢
55,67+
204,24.

115,48:
27,16¢
142,64
61,59¢

208,98
104,10:
313,08:

(251,489

25E

(43)

(2,646)
(253,92))

48¢

$  (254,41)

$ (2.59)

100,388,81

2010 2009
$ 97,07¢ $ 111,94
19,66¢ —
116,74 111,94:
79,98: 102,40¢
6,031 —
86,01 102,40¢
30,73 9,53¢
92,99¢ 19,28:
84,57 42,15(
177,56¢ 61,43:
(146,83 (51,89
25¢ 15¢
(992) (2,531)
(6,587 (1,445)
(154,15 (55,71
172 26
$ (154,320 $ (55,740
$ (309 $  (7.99
50,718,30 7,021,96:

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Tesla Motors, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred 8tk and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Accumulated

Convertible Preferred Other Total
Stock Common Stock Additional A . mulated Comprehensive Stockholders
Paid-In Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss (Deficit)
Balance as of December 31, 2008 78,355,19  $101,17¢ 7,010,43 $ 7 $ 519t $ (20491) $ — $ (199,71
Issuance of Series E convertible preferred stock in
May 2009 (inclusive of conversion of note
payable) at $2.51 per share, net of issuance cost
of $556 102,776,77 135,66 — — — — — —
Issuance of Series F convertible preferred stock
August 2009 at $2.97 per share, net of issua
cost of $12z 27,785,26 82,37¢ — — — — — —
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock
options, net of repurchas — — 273,76¢ — 497 — — 497
Stocl-based compensatic — — — — 1,43¢ — — 1,43¢
Net loss — — — — — (55,74() — (55,74()
Balance as of December 31, 20( 208,917,23 319,22! 7,284,201 7 7,124 (260,65 — (253,52))
Issuance of common stock in July 2010 initial
public offering at $17.00 per share, net of
issuance costs of $17,4 — 11,880,60 12 184,46 — — 184,47
Issuance of common stock in July 2010 concurr
private placement at $17.00 per sh — — 2,941,171 3 49,997 — — 50,00(
Issuance of common stock in November 2010
private placement at $21.15 per share, net of
issuance costs of $: — — 1,418,57 1 29,957 — — 29,95¢
Conversion of preferred stock into shares of
common stocl — — 70,226,84 70 319,15! — — 319,22!
Issuance of common stock upon net exercise of
warrants (208,917,23) (319,22} 445,04 1 8,66: — — 8,66:
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of sto
options, net of repurchas — — 711,93( 1 1,34¢ — — 1,35(
Tax benefits from employee equity awa — — — — 74 — — 74
Stocl-based compensatic — — — 21,15¢ — — 21,15¢
Net loss — — — — — (154,32%) — (154,329
Balance as of December 31, 2010 — — 94,908,37 95 621,93} (414,987 — 207,04
Issuance of common stock in June 2011 public
offering at $28.76 per share, net of issuance
costs of $30! — — 6,095,001 6 172,40: — — 172,40¢
Issuance of common stock in June 2011 concur
private placements at $28.76 per st — — 2,053,47! 2 59,05¢ — — 59,05¢
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock
options, net of repurchas — — 1,250,00: 1 6,642 — — 6,641
Issuance of common stock under employee stoc
purchase pla — — 223,45t — 3,88: — — 3,882
Stocl-based compensatic — — — — 29,41¢ — — 29,41¢
Comprehensive los
Net loss — — — — — (254,41)) — (254,41))
Unrealized loss on short-term marketabl¢
securities, ne — — — — — — (©)] (&)
Total comprehensive lo: — — — — — — — (254,41,
Balance as of December 31, 2011 — $ — 104,530,300 $ 104 $ 893,33 $ (669,39) $ B $ 224,04!

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Tesla Motors, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash isegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic
Change in fair value of warrant liabiliti
Gain on extinguishment of convertible notes andrares
Discounts and premiums on st-term marketable securitic
Stocl-based compensatic
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensatic
Loss on abandonment of fixed ass
Inventory write-downs
Interest on convertible not
Changes in operating assets and liabili
Accounts receivabl
Inventories and operating lease vehit
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Other asset
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities
Deferred development compensat
Deferred revenu
Reservation paymen
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Net cash used in operating activit
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Purchases of marketable securi
Maturities of sho-term marketable securiti
Payments related to acquisition of Fremont manufawg facility and related asse
Purchases of property and equipment excluding aldpase:
Withdrawals out of (transfers into) our dedicatezbBrtment of Energy account, 1
Increase in other restricted ce
Net cash used in investing activiti
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in pubferiofys
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in priviaeement:
Proceeds from issuance of Series F convertiblemed stock, net of issuance costs of §
Proceeds from issuance of Series E convertiblepesf stock, net of issuance costs of $
Principal payments on capital leases and other
Proceeds from lor-term debt and other lo-term liabilities
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes ancawis
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and otleeksssuance
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensatic
Deferred common stock and loan facility issuances
Net cash provided by financing activiti

Net increase in cash and cash equival
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe

Supplemental Disclosure:

Interest paic

Income taxes pai

Supplemental noncash investing and financing actities
Conversion of preferred stock to common st

Issuance of common stock upon net exercise of we
Issuance of convertible preferred stock war

Issuance of common stock warri

Conversion of notes payable to Series E convertitééerred stoc
Exchange of convertible notes paya

Exchange of accrued interest for convertible nptasble
Acquisition of property and equipme

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
$(254,41) $(154,329) $(55,740)
16,91¢ 10,62 6,94(
2,75( 5,02 1,12¢
— — (1,469
112) — —
29,41¢ 21,15¢ 1,43¢
_ (74 _
34t 8 38t
1,82¢ 951 1,35:
— — 2,68¢
(2,829 (3,229) (16€)
(13,639 (28,519 (7,929
(249) (497) (2,049
(289) (469) (448)
31,85¢ (212) 902
12,32 13,348 3,381
— (156) (10,01
(1,929 4,801 (1,456)
61,00¢ 4707 (21,97)
2,641 3,51¢ 2,19:
(114,369 (127,81) (80,829
(64,95 — —
40,00( = =
— (65,21() —
(197,899 (40,209 (11,889
50,12:  (73,59) —
(3,209) (1,287) (2,360
(175,929 (180,29) (14,249
172,41 188,84 —
59,05¢ 80,00( =
— — 82,37t

— — 49,44:
(416) (315) (322)
204,42: 71,82¢ —
— — 25,46
10,528 1,35( 497
— 74 —

— (373) (2,046
446,000  338,04f 155,41
155,708 29,93:  60,35(
99,55¢ 69,62 9,27
$25526( $ 99,55¢ $ 69,62
$ 347: $ 113 $ 7C
282 9 171

— 319,22 —

= 6,967 =

_ 6,29¢ _

= 1,701 =

— — 86,22t

= = 19,07

— — 1,791
2,70% 4,48; 18¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Tesla Motors, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Overview of the Company

Tesla Motors, Inc. (Tesla, we, us or our) was ipooated in the state of Delaware on July 1, 2008.dasign, develop, manufacture and
sell high-performance fully electric vehicles amtvanced electric vehicle powertrain components.haie whollyewned subsidiaries in Nor
America, Europe and Asia. The primary purpose e$¢hsubsidiaries is to market and/or service olicles.

Since inception, we have incurred significant Iasaed have used approximately $445.0 million ohdaperations through
December 31, 2011. As of December 31, 2011, weba80.3 million in cash and cash equivalents andtg¢hom marketable securities. We are
currently selling the Tesla Roadster and are dgueipthe Model S sedan which we currently expedttimduce commercially in 2012. In
February 2012, we revealed an early prototype ofdel X crossover.

Unadjusted Error in 2009

In June 2010, we identified an error related touthderstatement in stock-based compensation exgehbsequent to the issuance of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ériglecember 31, 2009.

In the fourth quarter of 2009, we granted certéils options for which a portion of the grant wasriediately vested. We erroneously
accounted for the expense on a straight-line lma&sthe term of the award, while expense recagmishould always be at least commensurate
with the number of awards vesting during the perfasla result, selling, general and administraéixpenses and net loss for the year ended
December 31, 2009 were understated by $2.7 millitwe. error did not have an effect on the valuatibthe stock options. As stock-based
compensation expense is a non-cash item, theraevamspact on net cash used in operating activibeshe year ended December 31, 2009.

To correct this error, we recorded additional stbaked compensation of $2.4 million in the threenth® ended June 30, 2010. We
considered the impact of the error on reportedatpey expenses and trends in operating resultslatetmined that the impact of the error was
not material to previously reported financial infation as well as those related to the year endetber 31, 2010.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tlomants of Tesla and its wholly owned subsidiardksignificant inter-company
transactions and balances have been eliminatezhisotidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptethi@ United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assasihiat affect the reported amounts of assetsiabitities and disclosure of contingent
liabilities at the date of the financial statemeatsd reported amounts of expenses during thetieggreriod, including revenue recognition,
inventory valuation, warranties, fair value of firedal instruments and stock-based compensatioruahcesults could differ from those
estimates.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenues from sales of the Tesla Rerdscluding vehicle options and accessoriesjclelservice and sales of zero
emission vehicle (ZEV) credits, and sales of eleatehicle powertrain components. We recognize maeewvhen: (i) persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists; (ii) delivery has occurred tede are no uncertainties regarding customer é&&geg; (iii) fees are fixed or determinable;
and (iv) collection is reasonably assured.
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Effective January 1, 2011, we adopted amended atiogustandards issued by the Financial Accourfitapdards Board (FASB) for
multiple deliverable revenue arrangements on apats/e basis for applicable transactions origimgatir materially modified after January 1,
2011. The new standard changes the requiremengstalishing separate units of accounting in aiplalelement arrangement and requires
the allocation of arrangement consideration to ediverable to be based on the relative sellingepi~or fiscal 2011 and future periods, when
a sales arrangement contains multiple elements|lveate revenue to each element based on a spliicg hierarchy. The selling price for a
deliverable is based on its vendor specific obyecévidence (VSOE) if available, third party evidefTPE) if VSOE is not available, or
estimated selling price if neither VSOE nor TPRvsilable. To date, we have been able to estattiesfair value for each of the deliverables
within the multiple element arrangements becauseelleeach of the vehicles, vehicles accessoridations separately, outside of any
multiple element arrangements. Therefore, therewermaterial differences between total revenuerted and pro forma total revenues that
would have been reported during the year endedleee31, 2011, if the transactions entered intmaterially modified after January 1, 20
were subject to previous accounting guidance.

Automotive Sales
Automotive sales consisted of the following for fiexiods presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Vehicle, options and related sa $101,70¢ $75,45¢ $111,55!
Powertrain component and related si 46,86( 21,61¢ 38¢€
Total automotive sale $148,56¢ $97,07¢ $111,94:

Automotive sales consist primarily of revenue edrfiem the sales of the Tesla Roadster, vehickic®rand vehicle options, accesso
and destination charges as well as sales of ZEdtsréAutomotive sales also consist of revenueeghfrom the sales of electric vehicle
powertrain components, such as battery packs aterpahargers, to other automotive manufactur®ases or other amounts collected in
advance of meeting all of the revenue recognitidteria are not recognized in the consolidatedest@nts of operations and are instead
recorded as deferred revenue on the consolidataddsasheets. Prior to February 2010, we did notige direct financing for the purchase of
the Tesla Roadster although a third-party lendsmnavided financing arrangements to our custotimettse United States. Under these
arrangements, we have been paid in full by theoowst at the time of purchase.

In regards to the sale of Tesla Roadsters, revismgenerally recognized upon delivery of the vehi€oncurrent with a purchase order
for a Roadster that is manufactured to specificatimstomers must remit a reservation paymentNs¢e 6). For vehicles purchased directly
from our showrooms, no deposit is required. Appraatiely three months prior to production of a Tédtedster manufactured to specification,
the reservation payment becomes nonrefundable teecustomer enters into a purchase agreementirhiited number of circumstances, we
may deliver a vehicle to a customer without alttef options ordered by the customer if the optamsot limit the functionality of the vehicle.
This may happen, for example, in an instance whereustomer orders an additional hard top whictotseady at the time the vehicle is
delivered. In such cases, we will continue to déferrelated revenue based on the undeliveredstéair' value, as evidenced by the contractual
price of the option in stand-alone transactions.

Automotive sales also consist of revenue earnad fiee sales of vehicle options, accessories artthdden charges. While these sales
may take place separately from a vehicle sale, #ineyften part of one vehicle sale agreementtieguh multiple element arrangements.
Contract interpretation is sometimes required tembeine the appropriate accounting for recognittbour revenue, including whether the
deliverables specified in the multiple element agement should be treated as separate units ofiaiiieg, and, if so, how the price should be
allocated among the elements, when to recognizntevfor each element, and the period
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over which revenue should be recognized. We areraljuired to evaluate whether a delivered iterMadise on a stand-alone basis prior to
delivery of the remaining items by determining wietwe have made separate sales of such itemsetherithe undelivered items are
essential to the functionality of the deliveredrige Further, we assess whether we know the failevad the undelivered items, determined by
reference to standlone sales of such items. To date, we have bderi@bstablish the fair value for each of thedgtables within the multipl
element arrangements because we sell each of iiedes vehicle accessories and options separatetgide of any multiple element
arrangements. As each of these items has stand aédne to the customer, revenue from sales oftleehiccessories and options are recogtr
when those specific items are delivered to theatust. Increased complexity to our sales agreenwgrdsanges in our judgments and estim
regarding application of these revenue recognigioidlelines could result in a change in the timingumount of revenue recognized in future
periods.

In February 2010, we began offering a leasing @ogro qualified customers in the United StatedtierTesla Roadster. Through our
wholly owned subsidiary, qualifying customers aeerpitted to lease the Tesla Roadster for 36 moafier; which time they have the option of
either returning the vehicle to us or purchasirfgrita pre-determined residual value. We accountifese leasing transactions as operating
leases and accordingly, we recognize leasing re@geaon a straightne basis over the term of the individual leased secord cost of sales eq
to the depreciation of the leased vehicles. As@tdnber 31, 2011 and 2010, we had deferred revei$&s8 million and $1.1 million,
respectively, of down payments which will be reciagd over the term of the individual leases. Leasenues are recorded in automotive s
and for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2@ fecognized $3.0 million and $0.8 million, resipeely.

Zero Emission Vehicle Credit Sales

California and certain other states have laws at@lrequiring vehicle manufacturers to ensureatprtion of the vehicles delivered for
sale in that state during each model year areemission vehicles. These laws provide that a matwfer of zero emission vehicles may earn
credits, referred to as ZEV credits, and may sealkss credits to other manufacturers who apply suetlits to comply with these regulatory
requirements. As a manufacturer solely of zero simisvehicles, we have earned ZEV credits on vehisbld in such states, and we expect to
continue to earn these credits in the future. Soeonly commercial vehicle is electric, we do rexteive any benefit from the generation of
ZEV credits, and accordingly look to sell them tbey vehicle manufacturers. In order to facilittite sale of these credits, we enter into
contractual agreements with third parties requitivgm to purchase our ZEV credits at pre-determprezbs. We recognize revenue on the sale
of these credits at the time legal title to theddeeis transferred to the purchasing party bygbeernmental agency issuing the credits. Revenue
from the sale of ZEV credits totaled $2.7 millié&2.8 million and $8.2 million for the years endeddember 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively.

Extended Service and Battery Replacement Plans

We provide customers with the opportunity to pusghan extended warranty for the period after thiecdrour initial New Vehicle
Limited Warranty to extend coverage for an add#idhree years or 36,000 miles, whichever comss fiffe refer to this program as our
Extended Service Plan. Amounts collected on thakes sre initially recorded in deferred revenueshenconsolidated balance sheets and
recognized in automotive sales over the extendecawey period. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010had: deferred $1.5 million and $1.2
million, respectively, related to the Extended $mr\Plan and have not yet recognized any relatezhrees.

Additionally, within three months of purchasing @hicle, we provide customers with a one-time optmreplace the battery packs in
their vehicles at any time after the expiratioritif New Vehicle Limited Warranty but before thetteanniversary of the purchase date of their
vehicles. We refer to this program as our BattegplRcement Plan. Amounts collected on these sedeisitially recorded in deferred revenues
on the consolidated balance sheets and recogmzaatémotive sales as we fulfill our obligationréplace the battery packs. As of
December 31, 2011 and 2010, we had deferred $1li2nmand $0.9 million, respectively, related tetBattery Replacement Plan and have not
yet recognized any related revent
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Development Services Revenue

Revenue from development services arrangementsstofisevenue earned from the development of gteeehicle powertrain
components for other automobile manufacturersuioly the design and development of battery padiargers and sample vehicles to meet a
customer’s specifications. Beginning in the quaeteded March 31, 2010, we started entering inth soatracts with the expectation that our
development services would constitute a viablemaeegenerating activity. Revenue is recognizedagpéerformance requirements of each
development arrangement are met and collectiogaisanably assured. Where development arrangemehidé substantive aisk milestones
revenue is recognized based upon the achievemém @bntractually-defined milestones. Amountsexiid in advance of meeting all of the
revenue recognition criteria are not recognizethénconsolidated statement of operations and atedd recorded as deferred revenue on the
consolidated balance sheets. Costs of developreeritss are expensed as incurred. When developseerites arrangements have multiple
elements, we evaluate the separability of the uarideliverables to ensure appropriate revenue nittmgy Costs of development services
incurred in periods prior to the finalization of agreement are recorded as research and developrpsitses; once an agreement is finalized,
these costs are recorded in cost of revenues.

Prior to 2010, compensation from the Smart fortwbdevelopment arrangement with Daimler AG (Daimlgsge Note 14), was recorc
as an offset to research and development expefisissearly arrangement was motivated primarily iy dpportunity to engage Daimler and at
the same time, jointly progress our own researchdmvelopment activities with the associated dgwelent compensation. All amounts
received under the Smart fortwo EV agreement weregnized as an offset to research and developempehses, as we were performing
development activities on behalf of Daimler, weeing compensated for the cost of these activitielsculd not practicably separate the
efforts or costs related to these activities fraim @wvn research and development.

Freestanding Stock Warrants

We accounted for freestanding warrants to purchhaees of our convertible preferred stock as ksl on the consolidated balance
sheets at fair value upon issuance. The convepilgferred stock warrants were recorded as ailiphiécause the underlying shares of
convertible preferred stock were contingently redakle which therefore, may have obligated us tosfier assets at some point in the future
(see Note 8). The warrants were subject to re-rmeasent to fair value at each balance sheet datamydhange in fair value was recognized
in other expense, net, on the consolidated statenoéimperations. For our Series C and other Sé&riesnvertible preferred stock warrants,
excluding the Department of Energy (DOE) warrard,adjusted the liability for changes in fair vatheough the completion of our IPO on
July 2, 2010. At that time, the convertible prederstock warrants were net exercised and the deliatgility was reclassified to additional paid-
in capital. For the Series E convertible prefestmtk warrants issued to the DOE (see Note 9),djestathe liability for changes in fair value
until the earlier of vesting or expiration of thamants. Upon the completion of our IPO, the DOErau@ converted into a warrant to purchase
our common stock and the related liability will tiomie to be adjusted for changes in fair valuel tné earlier of vesting or expiration of the
warrants. If the warrants are exercised, the walialility will be reclassified to common stock additional paid-in capital, as applicable.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

All highly liquid investments with an original oemaining maturity of three months or less at thte d&purchase are considered to be
cash equivalents. We currently deposit excess gastarily in money market funds.

Marketable Securities

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we puechemrketable securities including commercial paper corporate debt. All
marketable securities are designated as availableale and reported at estimated fair value, wittealized gains and losses recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive loss which is dedu
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within stockholders’ equity. Realized gains ands&sson the sale of available-for-sale marketaldarg@s are recorded in other expense, net.
The cost of available-for-sale marketable secwiti@ld is based on the specific identification rodthnterest, dividends, amortization and
accretion of purchase premiums and discounts omauketable securities are included in other expemat. Available-for-sale marketable
securities with maturities greater than three mgatithe date of purchase and remaining matudfiese year or less are classified as short-
term marketable securities. Where temporary degliméair value exist, we have the ability and itent to hold these securities for a periot
time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recoyén fair value.

We regularly review all of our marketable secustier other-than-temporary declines in fair valliee review includes but is not limited
to (i) the consideration of the cause of the impaint, (ii) the creditworthiness of the securityuisss, (iii) the length of time a security is in an
unrealized loss position, and (iv) our ability toldhthe security for a period of time sufficientatbow for any anticipated recovery in fair value.

Restricted Cash and Deposits

We maintain certain cash amounts restricted adttalvawal or use. We maintained total restricteshcaf approximately $31.5 million
and $78.5 million as of December 31, 2011 and 264€pectively. Current restricted cash primarilgresents cash held in a separate, dedir
account required under our DOE loan facility (se#e\d) and used as a mechanism to defer advandes e DOE loan facility. Noncurrent
restricted cash is comprised primarily of secudigposits held by vendors as part of the vendoaisdgtrd credit policies, security deposits
related to lease agreements and equipment fingnambcertain refundable reservation payments gatgd in accordance with state consumer
protection regulations.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Acaants

Accounts receivable primarily include amounts edato sales of powertrain components and the pedoce of powertrain development
services. In circumstances where we are awarespéaific customer’s inability to meet its financiddligations to us, we provide an allowance
against amounts receivable to reduce the net rézadjneceivable to the amount we reasonably bedigwl be collected. We typically do not
carry accounts receivable related to our vehictbrafated sales as customer payments are duetpriehicle delivery.

Concentration of Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subjectais ttoncentration of credit risk consist of cagtshcequivalents, marketable securities,
restricted cash and accounts receivable. Our aalcash equivalents are primarily invested in mameyket funds with high credit quality
financial institutions in the United States. At &8) these deposits and securities may be in er€éssured limits. We invest cash not required
for use in operations in high credit quality setiesi based on our investment policy. Our investnpetity provides guidelines and limits
regarding credit quality, investment concentratiomgestment type, and maturity that we believe pibvide liquidity while reducing risk of
loss of capital. Investments are of a short-tertumegsand include investments in corporate debtritées

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, our accountsvaule were derived primarily from sales of powaitrcomponents to Daimler and
the development of powertrain systems for Toyotddvi€orporation (Toyota) (see Note 14).

The following summarizes the accounts receivabkxitess of 10% of our total accounts receivable:

December 31 December 31
2011 2010
Toyota 52% 42%
Daimler 38% 51%
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Single source suppliers provide us with a numbeoofiponents that meet our manufacturing requiresné&ir example, Lotus Cars
Limited (Lotus) is the only manufacturer for cent@iomponents, such as the chassis of our TeslasRrath other instances, although there
may be multiple suppliers available, many of themponents used in our vehicles are purchased bywsd single source. If these single
source suppliers fail to satisfy our requirememsdimely basis at competitive prices, we coulffesumanufacturing delays, a possible loss of
revenues, or incur higher cost of sales, any ottkbuld adversely affect our operating results.

Inventories and Inventory Valuation

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or mtaiRost is computed using standard cost, whichoxipates actual cost on a first-in,
first-out basis. We record inventory write-downsée on reviews for excess and obsolescence detstrmpiimarily by future demand
forecasts. We also adjust the carrying value ofimugntories when we believe that the net realizalue is less than the carrying value. Tt
write-downs are measured as the difference betweeoost of the inventory, including estimated sastcomplete, and estimated selling
prices. Once inventory is written down, a new, lowest basis for that inventory is established, sulosequent changes in facts and
circumstances do not result in the restoratiomorgase in that newly established cost basis.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recognized dtless accumulated depreciation. Depreciation isprded using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the eel@ssets as follows:

Computer equipment and softws 3 year
Office furniture, machinery and equipme 3to 7 year
Tooling 3to 5 year

Leasehold improvements are amortized on a strdilghtasis over the shorter of their estimateduldefes or the term of the related
lease. Upon retirement or sale, the cost and telteumulated depreciation are removed from thanloal sheet and the resulting gain or loss is
reflected in operations. Maintenance and repaiergjtures are expensed as incurred, while majordwgments that increase functionality of
the asset are capitalized and depreciated ratatdygense over the identified useful life. Landas depreciated.

In October 2010, we completed the purchase of estalFactory located in Fremont, California andatemanufacturing assets and
spare parts located thereon. As these assets tayetnready for their intended use, they are diskivithin construction in progress and
depreciation has not yet commenced (see Note 5).

Interest expense on outstanding debt is capitalizeishg the period of significant capital assetstaumction. Capitalized interest on
construction in progress is included in propertgnpand equipment, and is amortized over thedlifihe related assets.

Operating Lease Vehicles

Vehicles that are leased as part of our leasingrpro, are classified as operating lease vehiclper&ing lease vehicles are recorded at
cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciatioconsputed using the straight-line method over éntof operating leases of three years. The
total cost of operating lease vehicles recordatiénconsolidated balance sheets as of Decemb@031,and 2010 was $13.7 million and $8.4
million, respectively. Accumulated depreciatiorated to leased vehicles as of December 31, 2012@h@lwas $2.0 million and $0.4 million,
respectively.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are atized over their estimated useful lives. As of Daber 31, 2011, intangible assets are
comprised of emission credits (see Note 5).
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Long-lived Assets

We evaluate our long-lived assets, including intialegassets, for indicators of possible impairmehén events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying amount of @eta®ay not be recoverable. Impairment existsafddrrying amounts of such assets exceed
the estimates of future net undiscounted cash fewpected to be generated by such assets. Shopéddriment exist, the impairment loss wo
be measured based on the excess carrying valhe aktet over the asset’s estimated fair valuef Becember 31, 2011, we have not
recorded any impairment losses on our long-livesttss

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are expensed aethdResearch and development expenses consisrfyi of payroll, benefits and
stock-based compensation of those employees engageskarch, design and development activitiestsaelated to design tools, license
expenses related to intellectual property, supgliebservices, depreciation and other occupandg.calso included in research and
development are development services costs ingufrady, prior to the finalization of agreementghwour development services customers as
reaching a final agreement and revenue recogrigiont assured. Development services costs incafted the finalization of an agreement are
recorded in cost of revenues.

Advertising and Promotion Costs

Advertising and sales promotion costs are expeasédcurred. During the years ended December 31,2010 and 2009, advertising,
promotion and related marketing expenses were®fli®n, $3.1 million and $1.7 million, respectivel

Income Taxes

Income taxes are computed using the asset antitiiabethod, under which deferred tax assets aatuilities are determined based on the
difference between the financial statement andteses of assets and liabilities using enactedates in effect for the year in which the
differences are expected to affect taxable incdraduation allowances are established when necessaegduce deferred tax assets to the
amount expected to be realized.

We record liabilities related to uncertain tax piosis when, despite our belief that our tax refuositions are supportable, we believe that
it is more likely than not that those positions nmay be fully sustained upon review by tax authesitAccrued interest and penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits are classified as incaxexpense.

Stock-based Compensation

We recognize compensation expense for costs refataltl share-based payments, including stock aptidhe fair value of share-based
payment awards are estimated on the grant datg asiption pricing model. Stock-based compensatiqense is recognized on a straight-
line basis over the service period, net of estich&tefeitures.

We have elected to use the “with and without” apgtoin determining the order in which tax attrilsudee utilized. As a result, we will
only recognize a tax benefit from stock-based awarddditional paid-in capital if an incrementak benefit is realized after all other tax
attributes currently available to us have beerizetil. In addition, we have elected to accountlierindirect effects of stock-based awards on
other tax attributes, such as the research taxtctiebugh our consolidated statement of operation

We account for equity instruments issued to nonleyges based on the fair value of the awards. @lnevélue of the awards granted to
non-employees is re-measured as the awards veshamesulting change in fair value, if any, isagized in the consolidated statements of
operations during the period the related servicesendered.
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For performance-based awards, stock-based compmnsapense is recognized over the expected peafiocenachievement period of
individual performance milestones when the achiesof each individual performance milestone beprebable.

Foreign Currency Remeasurement and Transactions

For each of our foreign subsidiaries, the functiauarency is the U.S. Dollar. For these foreighsdiaries, monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in non-U.S. currencies rereéneasured to U.S. Dollars using current exchaatgs in effect at the balance sheet date.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated inddh currencies are maintained at historical D@&lar exchange rates. Revenues and
expenses are re-measured at average U.S. Dollahinoates.

Foreign currency transaction gains and losses srsudt of the effect of exchange rate changesamsactions denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency. Transactiomgaind losses are recognized in other expensa tiet consolidated statements of operations
and have not been significant for any periods priesk

We hedge a portion of our foreign currency exposuetated to outstanding monetary assets anditiabilising foreign currency
exchange forward contracts. In general, the markletrelated to these contracts is offset by cqesling gains and losses on the hedged
transactions. The credit risk associated with tleesgracts is driven by changes in interest andeowy exchange rates and, as a result, varies
over time. These contracts are not designateddgekeand as a result, changes in their fair valeeecorded in interest and other income, net,
on our consolidated statements of operations. Weotlenter into derivative contracts for tradingpmses.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss is comprised of net loss aner atbmprehensive loss. Other comprehensive lossigterof unrealized gains and
losses on our available-for-sale marketable séesihat have been excluded from the determinatioret loss.

Warranties

We began recording warranty reserves with the coneeraent of Tesla Roadster sales in 2008. Initidlisla Roadsters were sold wit
warranty of four years or 50,000 miles. Subseqyefittsla Roadsters have been sold with a warrdrttyree years or 36,000 miles. Accrued
warranty activity consisted of the following foretiperiods presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Accrued warranty—beginning of period $5,41% $ 3,751 $ 85¢
Warranty costs incurre (2,750 (2,237 (1,508
Provision for warrant 3,64¢ 3,891 4,407
Accrued warrant—end of perioc $ 6,31F $ 5,417 $ 3,751

We provide a warranty on all vehicle and producpomvertrain component and battery pack sales, andogrue warranty reserves at the
time a vehicle or production powertrain componerdelivered to the customer. Warranty reservesiitecmanagement’s best estimate of the
projected costs to repair or to replace any itenteuwarranty, based on actual warranty experiasdebecomes available and other known
factors that may impact our evaluation of histdridzta. We review our reserves at least quarternisure that our accruals are adequate in
meeting expected future warranty obligations, aeduil adjust our estimates as needed. Warrantgesg is recorded as a component of cost
of revenues in the consolidated statements of tipasa The portion of the warranty provision whistexpected to be incurred within 12
months from the balance sheet date is classifiediaent, while the remaining amount is classifisdong-term liabilities.
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Environmental Liabilities

We are subject to federal and state laws and régngafor the protection of the environment, inéhgithose related to the discharge of
hazardous materials and remediation of contamirsited. In October 2010, we completed the purcbéser Tesla Factory located in
Fremont, California from New United Motor Manufacdhg, Inc. (NUMMI). NUMMI has previously identifieénvironmental conditions at the
Fremont site which affect soil and groundwater tlhes owner of the Fremont site, we may be respom$dsithe entire investigation and
remediation of any environmental contaminatiorhatEremont site, whether it occurred before or dffte date we purchased the property.
Upon the completion of the purchase in October 20d0recorded the estimated fair value of the emwirental liabilities that we assumed to
be $5.3 million. The fair value of these liabilgievas determined based on an expected value anafytsie related potential costs to investic
remediate and manage various environmental congditivat were identified as part of NUMMI’s facililecommissioning activities as well as
our own diligence efforts. Estimated potential saste not discounted to present value as the tiofipgyments cannot be reasonably
estimated.

Net Loss per Share of Common Stock

Our basic and diluted net loss per share of comstack is calculated by dividing net loss by theghted-average shares of common
stock outstanding for the period. Potentially dilatshares, which are based on the number of shaeslying outstanding stock options,
warrants and other convertible securities, aramadtided when their effect is antidilutive.

The following table presents the potential commiogerss outstanding that were excluded from the ceatipn of basic and diluted net
loss per share of common stock for the periodsepites!:

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Period-end stock options to purchase common stock 15,806,66 13,804,78 11,640,70
Perioc-end DOE warrant to purchase common si 3,090,11. 3,090,11. —
Perioc-end common stock subject to repurch 27¢ 2,66¢ 46,42
Perioc-end convertible preferred sto — — 70,226,84
Convertible preferred stock warral — — 516,50¢

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2011, the FASB issued an accounting stdngadate, which revises the manner in which comgsapiesent comprehensive
income in their financial statements. The new goggaremoves the presentation options and requitéges to report components of
comprehensive income in either (1) a continuougstant of comprehensive income or (2) two sepdrateonsecutive statements. In
December 2011, the FASB further amended its guelémdefer changes related to the presentatioectdssification adjustments
indefinitely. The guidance (other than the portiegarding the presentation of reclassification stipents which, as noted above, has been
deferred indefinitely) is effective for fiscal ysaand interim periods within those years beginmifigr December 15, 2011. Early adoption is
permitted. We anticipate adopting the guidancésical 2012. We do not expect the adoption of tHdance to have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued updated guidaglated to fair value measurements and disclosuhgshwequires a reporting entity
disclose separately the amounts of significantsfiens in and out of Level | and Level Il fair valmeasurements and to describe the reasons fc
the transfers. In addition, in the reconciliatidrfair value measurements using Level Il inputseporting entity will be required to disclose
information about purchases, sales, issuanceseatielnsents on a gross rather than on a net basésupdated guidance will also require fair
value disclosures for each class of assets anifitledand disclosures about the valuation techefjand inputs used to measure fair value for
both recurring and non-recurring Level Il and Lelkfair value measurements. The adoption of tipslated guidance did not have a material
impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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3. Balance Sheet Components
Inventory
As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, our inventorysisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31 December 31

2011 2010
Raw materials $ 12,09t $ 15,93¢
Work in proces! 3,66¢ 4,53¢
Finished good 26,12( 20,12¢
Service part: 8,20z 4,58:
Total $ 50,08: $ 45,18:

We write down inventory as a result of excess dgblete inventories, or when we believe that theeeizable value of inventories is
less than the carrying value. During the years eémscember 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, we recordead-gdowns of $1.8 million, $1.0 million
and $1.4 million, respectively, in cost of autormetsales.

Property, Plant and Equipment
As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, our propertynt@ad equipment, net, consisted of the followiingifousands):

December 31 December 31

2011 2010
Computer equipment and software $ 10,80« $ 8,864
Office furniture, machinery and equipme 21,49¢ 12,55
Tooling 16,58« 15,91
Leasehold improvemen 27,90! 13,99:
Land 26,39 26,39
Construction in progres 227,46 58,91%
330,63¢ 136,62¢
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortiza (32,22) (21,999
Total $ 298,41 $ 114,63t

Construction in progress is comprised primarilyas$ets related to the manufacturing of our Mod@@uding building improvements at
our Tesla Factory in Fremont, California as welt@sding and manufacturing equipment and capitdlimeerest expense. We will start
depreciating these assets upon commencement Madel S production. Interest expense on outstandety is capitalized during the period
of significant capital asset construction. Captiadi interest on construction in progress is inddeproperty, plant and equipment, and is
amortized over the life of the related assets. Iyuthe years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010api@lized $5.1 million and $0.8 million
of interest expense, respectively.

Depreciation and amortization expense during tteesyended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 wa8 $iHion, $10.0 million and
$6.9 million, respectively. Total property and gruent assets under capital lease as of Decemb&031,and 2010 were $2.4 million and
$0.4 million, respectively. Accumulated depreciatielated to assets under capital lease as of ttees were $0.3 million and $0.2 million,
respectively.
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Other Assets
As of December 31, 2011and 2010, our other assetsisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31 December 31
2011 2010
Emission credits $ 14,50¢ $ 14,50¢
Loan facility issuance costs, r 6,407 7,05:
Other 1,45¢ 1,16¢
Total $ 22,37 $ 22,73(
Accrued Liabilities
As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, our accrueditiaiconsisted of the following (in thousands):
December 31 December 31
2011 2010
Accrued purchases $ 19,64¢ $ 9,731
Payroll and related cos 8,90t 6,51¢
Accrued warrant 2,044 1,72¢
Taxes payabl 967 2,68¢
Other 54¢ 287
Total $ 32,10¢ $ 20,94t
Other Long-Term Liabilities
As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, our other long-tebilities consisted of the following (in thcarsds):
December 31 December 31
2011 2010
Environmental liabilities $ 5,30( $ 5,30C
Accrued warranty, lor-term 4,271 3,692
Deferred rent liability 3,83¢ 2,91¢
Other 1,50¢ 362
Total $ 14,91¢ $ 12,27¢

4. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying values of our financial instrumentsluding cash equivalents, marketable securitiexauts receivable and accounts
payable approximate their fair value due to theorsterm nature. As a basis for determining thevalue of certain of our assets and
liabilities, we established a three-tier fair vahierarchy which prioritizes the inputs used in swréng fair value as follows: (Level 1)
observable inputs such as quoted prices in actawdais; (Level 1) inputs other than the quoted@siin active markets that are observable
either directly or indirectly; and (Level 1ll) unebrvable inputs in which there is little or no metrlata which requires us to develop our own
assumptions. This hierarchy requires us to usereaiske market data, when available, and to minintfizeuse of unobservable inputs when
determining fair value. Our financial assets thatrmeasured at fair value on a recurring basisisbotcash equivalents and marketable
securities. Our liabilities that are measured &tvalue on a recurring basis consist of our commstmek warrant liability.

All of our cash equivalents and current restriatadh, which are comprised primarily of money maflatis, are classified within Level |
of the fair value hierarchy because they are valigidg quoted market prices or market prices foilar securities. Our short-term marketable
securities are classified within Level |l of thérfealue hierarchy and the market approach was tesddtermine fair value of these investme
Our common stock warrant liability (see Note Qlmssified within Level Il of the fair value hiexhy.
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As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the fair valeeanchy for our financial assets and financialiliaés that are carried at fair value v
as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 201 December 31, 201!
Fair Fair
Value Level | Level Il Level Il Value Level | Level Il Level Il
Money market funds $196,70: $196,70. $ — $ —  $145,70¢ $14570¢ $ — $ —
Corporate not 10,06: — 10,06: — — — — —
Commercial pape 14,99¢ — 14,99¢ — — — — —
Total $221,76: $196,70. $25,06. $ — $145,70¢  $145,70¢ $ — $ —
Common stock warrant liabilit $ 883 $ — $ — $8,83¢ $ 6,08 $ — $ — $6,08¢
Foreign currency forward contrac 10¢ — 10¢ — 12t — 12t —
Total $ 8947 $ = $ 10 $8,83¢ $ 6,21 % = $ 125 $6,08¢

Our available-for-sale marketable securities cfesbby security type as of December 31, 2011 ctediof the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2011

Gross Unrealizec Gross Unrealizec
Amortized Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Corporate note $ 10,06t $ — $ (3) $10,06:
Commercial pape 14,99¢ — — $14,99¢
Total $ 25,06« $ = $ (3 $25,06!

Our marketable securities with gross unrealizeddssiave been in a continuous unrealized lossgoéitr less than twelve months. We
have determined that the gross unrealized lossesiomarketable securities as of December 31, 2# temporary in nature.

The changes in the fair value of our common stoek@nvertible preferred stock warrant liabilitynees follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010
Fair value, beginning of peric $ 6,08¢ $ 1,73¢
Issuance: — 6,294
Settlements and extinguishme — (6,967)
Change in fair valu 2,75( 5,022
Fair value, end of peria $ 8,83¢ $ 6,08¢

The estimated fair value of our lomgrm debt based on a market approach was apprain®220.3 million (par value of $276.3 millic
and $53.4 million (par value of $71.8 million) asbecember 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Wheeroéning the estimated fair value of
our long-term debt, we used a commonly acceptaghtiain methodology and market-based risk measuremnsuich as credit risk.

We operate in various foreign countries, which esqzous to foreign currency exchange risk betweettB. dollar and various foreign
currencies, the most significant of which have bisenBritish pound and Japanese yen. In order twagethis risk, we enter into foreign
currency forward contracts. These contracts ar@@esignated as hedges, and as a result, chandesrifair value are recorded in interest and
other income, net, on our consolidated statemdraperations. During the years ended December@11,2010 and 2009, net gains and lo
related to these instruments were not significafd.had notional amounts on foreign currency exchamgtracts outstanding of $8.8 million
and $7.2 million as of December 31, 2011 and 20d€pectively.
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5. Purchase of Tesla Factory and Assets
Tesla Factory

In May 2010, we entered into an agreement to pwelaa existing automobile production facility laghin Fremont, California from
NUMMI, which is a joint venture between Toyota, dvdtors Liquidation Company, the owner of selecedets of General Motors.
October 2010, we completed the purchase and ratétieto the facility and land. The total cashdpaas $42.0 million. The purchase totals
210 acres, or approximately 55% of the land asttes and includes all of the manufacturing faieiitiocated thereon. In October 2010, we and
NUMMI amended the facility purchase agreement tiuide the transfer to us of certain operating pesnoir emission credits, for additior
consideration of $6.5 million. We completed thenssfer of these permits in October 2010. We intendse the facility and manufacturing
assets for the production of our Model S vehicle enbuild our future vehicles.

NUMMI has previously identified environmental cotidhs at the Fremont site which affect soil andugiawater, and is currently
undertaking efforts to address these conditionthodigh we have been advised by NUMMI that it hasudeented and managed the
environmental issues, we cannot determine withagdst the total potential costs to remediate pristeyg contamination. Based on
management’s best estimate, we estimated thedhie\of the environmental liabilities that we asedno be $5.3 million. The fair value of
these liabilities was determined based on an egdedlue analysis of the related potential cosisuestigate, remediate and manage various
environmental conditions that were identified at pANUMMI's facility decommissioning activitiessawell as our own diligence efforts. As
NUMMI continues with its decommissioning activitiard we continue with our construction and opegadictivities, it is reasonably possit
that our estimate of environmental liabilities n@nange materially. We have reached an agreemeamtNAUMMI in terms of how we and
NUMMI will take responsibility for any costs relatéo governmental-required remediation activities for contaminattbat existed prior to
the completion of the facility and land purchasedgoy known or unknown environmental conditione(bkote 15).

The purchase consideration for the Tesla Factagténl in Fremont, California consisted of cash pi#48.5 million and liabilities
assumed of $5.3 million for an aggregate purchase pf $53.8 million. The aggregate purchase poic$53.8 million was allocated to land,
building, site improvements and emission creditseleon their relative fair values as the totalhested fair values of these assets were greater
than the total purchase price. The following tahlenmarizes the allocation of the purchase prithddangible and intangible assets purchased
as of the date of purchase (in thousands):

Building and site improvemen $13,55¢
Land 25,73¢
Emission credit: 14,50¢

$53,80(

Building and site improvements are classified witbdnstruction in progress and together with lamd,recorded in property, plant and
equipment, net, on the consolidated balance shhetestimated fair value of land was determinedgittie market approach. Although the
market approach compares the subject asset purtthageilar transactions which would otherwise sifsthese inputs within Level Il of the
fair value hierarchy, adjustments we made to coatgarsales both qualitatively and quantitativelysead us to classify these inputs within
Level Il of the fair value hierarchy. The fair v of the building and site improvements were estith using the cost approach and therefore,
the inputs are classified within Level Il of thairf value hierarchy. Incremental due diligence s@$t$0.7 million related to the purchase of the
land have been capitalized to land.

Emission credits are classified as intangible assed are recorded in other noncurrent assetseotottisolidated balance sheet. The
estimated fair value of emission credits was deiteetchusing market data related to traded emisgiedits and as such, these inputs are
classified within Level | of the fair value
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hierarchy. The utility of the emission credits eetated to the operation of the Tesla Factory aedefore, will be amortized over the same
useful life. As the Tesla Factory is not yet reé&alyits intended use, we have not yet commenceddipeeciation of the Tesla Factory or the
amortization of the emission credits. We curreelfimate that building and building improvemensswell as the emission credits, will have
an estimated useful life of 30 years.

Manufacturing Assets

In August 2010, we entered into a separate purchgigment with NUMMI for the purchase of certaianufacturing equipment and
spare parts located at the Fremont facility. Thischase agreement was subsequently amended tdénatlditional manufacturing equipment
and spare parts. In October 2010, we completedptirishase concurrent with the completion of thdifggpurchase. The aggregate purchase
price for these assets was $16.7 million reflectimgestimated fair value of these assets. As tesmifacturing assets and spare parts are not
yet ready for their intended use, they are classifiithin construction in progress and recordegraperty, plant and equipment, net, on
consolidated balance sheet. We have not yet comredehe depreciation of these assets. We currestilpate that manufacturing and related
assets will have an estimated useful life of upSqears.

6. Reservation Payments

Reservation payments consist of payments that gllmential customers to hold a reservation forftitere purchase of a Tesla Roadster
or Model S. These amounts are recorded as curadiitles until the vehicle is delivered. For olesla Roadsters manufactured to
specification, our current purchase agreement regjtine payment of an initial nonrefundable depekith varies based on the country of
purchase. For Model S, we require an initial reflsid reservation payment of at least $5,000. FetaliRoadsters purchased directly from our
showrooms, no deposit is required. Prior to theghmonths ended June 30, 2010, our reservatiotypeés to accept refundable reservation
payments from all customers who wished to purclaabesla Roadster and require full payment of thelpmse price of the vehicle at the time
the customer selected their vehicle specificatiBnging the three months ended June 30, 2010, waggd our policy to require nonrefunda
deposits for Tesla Roadsters manufactured to spatiifn at the time a customer enters into a pelzgreement. However, we also
occasionally accept refundable reservation paynfenthie Tesla Roadster if a customer is interestgulirchasing a vehicle but not yet
prepared to select the vehicle specifications.destomers who have placed a refundable reservaiigment with us, the reservation payment
becomes a nonrefundable deposit once the custesesdiected the vehicle specifications and entévsai purchase agreement. We require full
payment of the purchase price of the vehicle oplyrudelivery of the vehicle to the customer. Amauetceived by us as reservation payments
are generally not restricted as to their use byJpsn delivery of the vehicle, the related reséorapayments are applied against the custesner’
total purchase price for the vehicle and recognirexlitomotive sales as part of the respectiveckelsiale.

As of December 31, 2011, we held reservation paystfen undelivered Model S sedans in an aggregataat of $90.0 million and
payments for Tesla Roadsters in an aggregate and®it8 million. As of December 31, 2010, we heddervation payments for undelivered
Model S sedans in an aggregate amount of $28.8Bmaind payments for Tesla Roadsters in an aggregabunt of $2.5 million. In order to
convert the reservation payments into revenue, iNeeed to sell vehicles to these customers. ddlervation payments for Model S are fully
refundable until such time that a customer entgrsa purchase agreement.
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7. Convertible Preferred Stock

On June 28, 2010, our registration statement omF®11 for our IPO was declared effective by the S on July 2, 2010, we closed
our IPO. As a result of the IPO, our convertiblefprred stock was automatically converted into camistock.

The following table summarizes information relateaur convertible preferred stock prior to thengersion into common stock:

Share Price Liquidation
Issued and
Par Value at issuance Authorized Outstanding Preference Proceeds, Ne
(In thousands except share and per share amounts)
Series A $ 0.001 $ 0.4¢ 7,213,00! 7,213,00! $ 3,565¢€ $ 3,54«
Series E 0.001 0.74 17,459,45 17,459,45 12,92( 12,89¢
Series C 0.001 1.14 35,893,17 35,242,29 40,00( 39,78¢
Series C 0.001 2.44 18,440,44 18,440,44 45,00( 44,94
Series E 0.001 2.51 112,897,90 102,776,77 258,17t 135,66¢
Series F 0.001 2.97 30,000,00 27,785,26 82,50( 82,37¢
Total 221,903,98 208,917,23 $442,15:. $ 319,22¢

* Net of $3.9 million conversion of Series A convieldi preferred stock to common sto

Each of our Series A, B, D, E and F convertibl€fgmred stock converted on a 1:0.33 basis into comstock while the Series C
convertible preferred stock converted on a 1.0 85

Dividends

No dividends on the convertible preferred stockehlbeen declared by the Board of Directors fromptioa through their conversion into
common stock.

8. Convertible Preferred Stock Warrants

In March 2006, we issued warrants to purchase 820s8ares of Series C convertible preferred stodonjunction with the conversion
of previously issued convertible notes payable 8goes C convertible preferred stock. The warrhatsan exercise price of $1.14 per share
and expired on the earlier of March 30, 2011 ol¥D. As a result of our IPO which closed on Jul2@]0, these warrants were net exercised
for 184,359 shares of common stock. The fair valudlese warrants as of July 2, 2010 in the amoti88.6 million was recorded in equity on
the consolidated balance sheet. Through the netiegeof the Series C convertible preferred stoakrants in July 2010, we recognized a
charge from the change in the fair value of theagants during 2010 in the amount of $2.6 millibrough other expense, net, on the
consolidated statement of operations.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we rezedriharges from the change in the fair value edé¢twarrants in the amount of §
million through other expense, net, on the constéid statements of operations.

In February 2008, we issued warrants with our Fatyr@008 convertible notes payable. The warramdsvald for the purchase of shares
of either Series D convertible preferred stock ptiee of $2.44 per share, which amounted to wasrampurchase 8,246,914 shares of Series D
convertible preferred stock, or the securitiesasdelin a subsequent round of financing at thespare price of such securities.

On December 24, 2008, warrants to purchase 3,43®Bthe shares of Series D convertible prefertedkswere extinguished as a result
of the election of certain holders of the Febru2®98 convertible notes to exchange their notesnardants for December 2008 convertible
notes. On the date of the exchange, we recognigaihan the amount of $1.3 million through othgpense, net, in connection with the
extinguishment of these warrants.
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During the year ended December 31, 2009, warrantsitchase an additional 3,967,152 shares of Serasvertible preferred stock
were extinguished as a result of the election diaeremaining holders of the February 2008 cotilvier notes as part of an exchange of their
notes and warrants for December 2008 convertiblesn®n the date of the exchange, we recognizeinaigthe amount of $1.5 million
through other expense, net, in connection withetttenguishment of these warrants.

In May 2009, we completed our Series E financing/imich $50.0 million of proceeds was received f@ purchase of 19,901,290 shares
of Series E convertible preferred stock at a poic$2.51 per share. In connection with this finaggcithe remaining holders of the February
2008 notes and warrants converted their notessimines of Series E convertible preferred stockcangerted their warrants into warrants to
purchase 866,091 shares of Series E convertibferped stock.

As a result of our IPO which closed on July 2, 2ah@se warrants which exclude the DOE warrant Ks#te 9), were net exercised for
160,688 shares of common stock. The fair valude$e warrants as of July 2, 2010 in the amoun8gf fillion was recorded in equity on the
consolidated balance sheet. Through the net exeofithe Series E convertible preferred stock wasran July 2010, we recognized a charge
from the change in the fair value of these warrdnisng 2010 in the amount of $2.7 million througther expense, net, on the consolidated
statement of operations.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we rezedriharges from the change in the fair value edélSeries E warrants in the
amounts of $0.4 million through other expense, oethe consolidated statement of operations.

9. Department of Energy Loan Facility

On January 20, 2010, we entered into a loan faailith the Federal Financing Bank (FFB), and theED@ursuant to the ATVM
Incentive Program. This loan facility was amendedune 2011 to expand our cash investment optiosth$naFebruary 2012 to modify the
timing of certain future financial covenants andding of the debt service reserve account, aslddthelow. We refer to the loan facility with
the DOE, as amended, as the DOE Loan Facility. UtideDOE Loan Facility, the FFB has made availables two multi-draw term loan
facilities in an aggregate principal amount of a$465.0 million. Up to an aggregate principal amtaaf $101.2 million will be made availat
under the first term loan facility to finance up80% of the costs eligible for funding for the potv@n engineering and the build out of a
facility to design and manufacture lithium-ion leayt packs, electric motors and electric componghtsPowertrain Facility). Up to an
aggregate principal amount of $363.9 million wi# imade available under the second term loan fatdlifinance up to 80% of the costs
eligible for funding for the development of, andataild out the manufacturing facility for, our Mdd& sedan (the Model S Facility). Under the
DOE Loan Facility, we are responsible for the remrgy 20% of the costs eligible for funding undez tiTVVM Program for the projects as w
as any cost overruns for each project. The costslyyaus prior to the execution of the DOE Loaniigcand related to the Powertrain Facility
and the Model S Facility will be applied towards obligation to contribute 20% of the eligible pgof costs, and the DOE’s funding of future
eligible costs will be adjusted to take this intwaunt. Our obligations for the development of, #relbuild-out of our manufacturing facility
for, Model S is budgeted to be an aggregate ofrd#Bn or approximately 8.5% of the ongoing budgrbtost, plus any cost overruns for the
projects. We have paid for the full 20% of the beiggl costs related to our Powertrain Facility dresté¢fore expect to receive 100%
reimbursement from the DOE Loan Facility for ongpbudgeted costs, but will continue to be respdaddr cost overruns. On the closing
date, we paid a facility fee to the DOE in the amtaef $0.5 million.
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Our DOE Loan Facility draw-downs were as follows tfiousands):

Loan Facility Available

for Future Draw- downs Interest rates

Beginning Balance, January 20, 2( $ 465,04¢

Draw-downs received during the three months ended Mat¢cl201C (29,920 2.9%- 3.4%

Draw-downs received during the three months ended JOn203.0 (15,499 2.5%- 3.4%

Draw-downs received during the three months ended Ségied®, 201( (11,139 1.7%- 2.€%

Draw-downs received during the three months ended Deee8ih 201( (15,27)) 1.7%- 2.€%
Remaining Balance, December 31, 2! 393,22(

Draw-downs received during the three months ended Mat¢l2011 (30,65¢) 2.1%- 3.(%

Draw-downs received during the three months ended Jon203.1 (31,699 1.8%- 2.7%

Draw-downs received during the three months ended Ségied®, 201! (90,827) 1.0%- 1.4%

Draw-downs received during the three months ended Deee8ih 201 (51,257) 1.0%- 1.5%
Remaining Balance, December 31, 2! $ 188,79°

Our ability to draw down funds under the DOE Loatikty is conditioned upon several draw conditioge are currently in compliance
with these draw conditions. For the Powertrain Rgicthe draw conditions include our achievemehpmgress milestones relating to the
development of the powertrain manufacturing facitind the successful development of commerciahgaments with third parties for the
supply of powertrain components. For the Model 8ilfg, the draw conditions include our achievemehprogress milestones relating to the
design and development of Model S and the TesltoRadcCertain advances will be subject to additlamanditions to draw-down related to the
site on which the applicable project is locateddiidnally, the DOE Loan Facility provides for thability to update milestones should a
reasonable need arise.

Advances under the DOE Loan Facility accrue intemea per annum rate determined by the Secrefahedlreasury as of the date of
advance and will be based on the Treasury yieldecand the scheduled principal installments fohsagtvance. Interest on advances under the
DOE Loan Facility is payable quarterly in arreagkdvances under the Powertrain Facility are repayabR8 equal quarterly installments
commencing on December 15, 2012 (or for advanceterafier such date, in 26 equal quarterly instalisieommencing on June 15, 2013).
All outstanding amounts under the Powertrain Fgoililll be due and payable on the maturity dat&eptember 15, 2019. Advances under the
Model S Facility are repayable in 40 equal quaytarstallments commencing on December 15, 2012ofordvances made after such date, in
38 equal quarterly installments commencing on Iife€013). All outstanding amounts under the M@&i&lacility will be due and payable on
the maturity date of September 15, 2022. Advanceguthe loan facilities may be voluntarily prepatdany time at a price determined based
on interest rates at the time of prepayment fondaaade from the Secretary of the Treasury to EFBIbligations with an identical payment
schedule to the advance being prepaid, which cagddlt in the advance being prepaid at a discaimar or at a premium. The loan facilities
are subject to mandatory prepayment with net casteeds received from certain dispositions, logh&/with respect to property and other
extraordinary receipts. All obligations under th@B Loan Facility are secured by substantially athur property.

Under the DOE Loan Facility, we have committed &y pll costs and expenses incurred to completprijects being financed in excess
of amounts funded under the loan facility. We Wil required to maintain, at all times, availablshcand cash equivalents of at least 105% of

the amounts required to fund this excess over
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our financing commitment, after taking into accoaatrent cash flows and cash on hand, and reasopadjections of future generation of net
cash from operations, losses and expenditures.diway be requested under the facilities until JanR2, 2013, and we have committed to
complete the projects being financed prior to slate.

The DOE Loan Facility documents contain customamenants that include, among others, a requirethenthe projects be conducted
in accordance with the business plan for such ptog@mpliance with all requirements of the ATVMoBram, and limitations on our and our
subsidiaries’ ability to incur indebtedness, inieins, make investments or loans, enter into mergeacquisitions, dispose of assets, pay
dividends or make distributions on capital stocky pndebtedness, pay management, advisory or sifaéa to affiliates, enter into certain
affiliate transactions, enter into new lines ofibass, and enter into certain restrictive agreemémteach case subject to customary exceptions
The DOE Loan Facility documents also contain custgnfinancial covenants requiring us to maintamiaimum ratio of current assets to
current liabilities, and (i) through November 3012, a minimum cash balance, (ii) after SeptemBe2812, a limit on capital expenditures,
(iii) after June 30, 2013, a maximum leverage ratininimum interest coverage ratio, a minimumdixéarge coverage ratio, and (iv) after
March 31, 2014, a maximum ratio of total liabilgito shareholder equity. We are in compliance withcurrent applicable financial covenal
The DOE Loan Facility documents also contain custgnevents of default, subject in some cases tmmary cure periods for certain defat
In addition, events of default include a failureEddn Musk, our Chief Executive Officer, ProductcAitect and Chairman, and certain of his
affiliates, at any time prior to one year after @enplete the project relating to the Model S Fggilio own at least 65% of capital stock helc
Mr. Musk and such affiliates as of the date of f@E Loan Facility.

Under the DOE Loan Facility, we have agreed to fartbt service reserve account. On or before Bep@9, 2012, we have agreed to
fund an amount equal to all principal and intetkat will come due on December 15, 2012, and doefore October 15, 2012, we have agreed
to fund an amount equal to all principal and insetbat will come due on March 15, 2013 and Jun€@%3. Once we have deposited such
amounts, we will not be required to further fundisdebt service reserve account.

We have also agreed that, in connection with the&faour common stock in an IPO, at least 75%hefriet offering proceeds will be
received by us and, in connection with the saleusfstock in any other follow-on equity offering,least 50% of the net offering proceeds will
be received by us. Offering proceeds may not bd tespay bonuses or other compensation to offickrsctors, employees or consultants in
excess of the amounts contemplated by our buspiassapproved by the DOE.

Upon completion of our IPO in 2010, we set asidedbillion to fund a separate dedicated accouneundr DOE Loan Facility. This
dedicated account is used by us to fund any castons for our powertrain and Tesla Factory prajactd is used as a mechanism to defer
advances under the DOE Loan Facility. This will affect our ability to draw down the full amounttbe DOE loans, but will require us to use
the dedicated account to fund certain project agstont, which costs may then be reimbursed lypsounder the DOE Loan Facility once the
dedicated account is depleted, or as part of tied fidvance for the applicable project. We wilrbguired to deposit a portion of these
reimbursements into the dedicated account, in asuatrequal to up to 30% of the remaining projeatsdor the applicable project, and these
amounts may similarly be used by us to fund projests and cost overruns and will similarly beiblgfor reimbursement by the draw-down
of additional loans under the DOE Loan Facility ensed in full, or as part of the final advancetfar applicable project. Depending on the
timing and magnitude of our draw-downs and the fogdequirements of the dedicated account, thenoelaf the dedicated account will
fluctuate throughout the period in which we plamtake draw-downs under the DOE Loan Facility. Upompletion of our final advance
under the DOE Loan Facility, the balance in theickdd account will be fully transferred out of tedicated account. As of December 31,
2011 and 2010, $23.5 million and $73.6 million weetd in the dedicated account, respectively. Aewgect to transfer the remainder of this
balance within one year, we have classified sush ea current restricted cash on the consolidatzohbe sheet.
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DOE Warrant

In connection with the closing of the DOE Loan Higgiwe have also issued a warrant to the DOEuelpase up to 9,255,035 shares of
our Series E convertible preferred stock at anaseprice of $2.51 per share. Upon the completfoour IPO on July 2, 2010, this preferred
stock warrant became a warrant to purchase ufi03, 11 shares of common stock at an exercise pfi$€.54 per share. Beginning on
December 15, 2018 and until December 14, 2022hhees subject to purchase under the warrant esll and become exercisable in quarterly
amounts depending on the average outstanding latHrtbe loan during the prior quarter. The warraay be exercised until December 15,
2023. If we prepay the DOE Loan Facility in parirofull, the total amount of shares exercisabldanthe warrant will be reduced.

Since the number of shares ultimately issuable wtihdewarrants will vary depending on the averaggstanding balance of the loan
during the contractual vesting period, and decsitonprepay would be influenced by our future stpgke as well as the interest rates on our
loans in relation to market interest rates, we messthe fair value of the warrant using a Montel@Csimulation approach. The Monte Carlo
approach simulates and captures the optimal desismbe made between prepaying the DOE loan andathcellation of the DOE warrant.
For the purposes of the simulation, the optimalgiec represents the scenario with the lowest emincost to us. The total warrant value
would then be calculated as the average warramfpagross all simulated paths discounted to oluatéon date.

The prepayment feature which allows us to prepeylX@E Loan Facility and consequently, affect thembar of shares ultimately
issuable under the DOE warrant, was determinedpresent an embedded derivative. This embeddedhties is inherently valued and
accounted for as part of the warrant liability am oonsolidated balance sheets. Changes to thedlaie of the embedded derivative are
reflected as part of the warrant liability re-me&snent to fair value at each balance sheet repdtte.

The warrant is recorded at its estimated fair valith changes in its fair value reflected in otb&pense, net, until its expiration or
vesting. The fair value of the warrant at issuanas $6.3 million, and along with the DOE Loan FHagcilee of $0.5 million and other debt
issuance costs of $0.9 million, represents a dodbsing the loan facility and is being amortizednterest expense over the expected term of
the DOE Loan Facility of approximately 13 yearsring the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2018meetized $0.6 million and $0.6
million to interest expense, respectively.

Prior to the completion of our IPO, the fair vahfethe DOE warrant was included within the conu@etipreferred stock warrant liability
on the consolidated balance sheet. Upon the coimplef our IPO on July 2, 2010, this warrant wadassified on our consolidated balance
sheet from convertible preferred stock warrantiliigtto common stock warrant liability. The DOE want will continue to be recorded at its
estimated fair value with changes in the fair vakftected in other expense, net, as the numbeominon stock ultimately issuable under the
warrant is variable until its expiration or vestiks of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the fair vafuthe DOE warrant was $8.8 million and
$6.1 million, respectively. During the year endegcBmber 31, 2011, we recognized expense for thegehia the fair value of the DOE
warrant in the amount of $2.8 million through otk&pense, net, on the consolidated statement ohtipes. During the year ended
December 31, 2010, we recognized income from th@gh in the fair value of the DOE warrant in theoant of $0.2 million through other
expense, net, on the consolidated statement ohtipes.

10. Common Stock

As of December 31, 2009, we were authorized tcei&i8,006,077 shares of capital stock with a phrevaf $0.001 per share. The
authorized shares consisted of 100,000,000 sh&msromon stock and 213,006,077 shares of convertit#ferred stock. In January 2010, we
increased the number of authorized shares of aunmn stock from 100,000,000 to 106,666,667 shardgtee number of authorized share:
our authorized preferred stock from 213,006,07229,903,982 shares.
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In May 2010, we effected a 1-for-3 reverse stodk spour outstanding common stock, and a propow adjustment to the existing
conversion ratios for each series of preferredksteas made at the time of the effectiveness oféhierse stock split. Accordingly, all share
per share amounts for all periods presented irethessolidated financial statements and notestthdrave been adjusted retroactively, where
applicable, to reflect this reverse stock split adgustment of the preferred stock conversion ratio

In June 2010, our registration statement on Forbnf@-our IPO was declared effective by the SECaAssult, the number of authorized
shares of our common stock increased from 106,66&® 2,000,000,000 shares.

In July 2010, we completed the IPO of common siaakhich we sold a total of 11,880,600 shares afammmon stock and received
cash proceeds of $188.8 million from this transagtnet of underwriting discounts and commissi@wncurrent with the closing of our IPO,
we also sold 2,941,176 shares of our common stodloyota in a private placement and received casbegds of $50.0 million. As a result of
the IPO, our convertible preferred stock was autarally converted into common stock and our outdiag warrants, excluding the DOE
warrant, were net exercised.

In November 2010, we entered into a common stockh@se agreement with an entity affiliated with &amic Corporation (Panasonic)
pursuant to which we issued and sold an aggreddt@ 8,573 shares of our common stock at a pfid2b.15 per share, which was the
average of the trading highs and lows of our comstonk from October 25 to October 29, 2010. Upamietion of the private placement
transaction on November 2, we received aggregaieepds of $30.0 million. Concurrently with the satel issuance of the shares to Panas
we amended our investors’ rights agreement as géMber 2, 2010 to grant Panasonic registratiortsigh a pari passu basis with certain
other holders of registration rights with respectite shares of common stock purchased in thetprplacement.

In June 2011, we completed a follow-on offeringofnmon stock in which we sold a total of 6,095,808@res of our common stock and
received cash proceeds of $172.7 million from ttaasaction, net of underwriting discounts. Conenrwith this offering, we also sold
1,416,000 shares of our common stock to Elon Mask Chief Executive Officer and cofounder, and @3B, shares of our common stock to
Blackstar Investco LLC, an affiliate of Daimler areteived total cash proceeds of $59.1 milliorhim private placements. No underwriting
discounts or commissions were paid in connectidh thiese private placements.

Stockholder Settlement

During the three months ended March 31, 2010, thfeeir stockholders who are affiliated with oneoaf Board members asserted a
claim regarding the conversion of such stockholdmsvertible promissory notes into shares of oeirié€s E convertible preferred stock at the
time of our Series E preferred stock financing iayM2009. In May 2010, we entered into a settleragntement with these stockholders and
pursuant to the terms of the settlement agreemenissued warrants to such stockholders which, tiperclosing of our IPO in July 2010,
were automatically net exercised for an aggreghi®0,000 shares of our common stock. During theettmonths ended June 30, 2010, the
value of these warrants in the amount of $1.7 arillivas recorded in equity on the consolidated lcalaheet based on a Black-Scholes
valuation. In conjunction with the settlement of dability to issue such warrants, we recognizetharge of $1.1 million during the year en
December 31, 2010, through other expense, neheondnsolidated statement of operations.

11. Equity Incentive Plans

In July 2003, we adopted the 2003 Equity Incenilan. Concurrent with the effectiveness of oursegtion statement on Form S-1 on
June 28, 2010 (see Note 10), we adopted the 20aidyHgcentive Plan (the Plan) and all remainingnooon shares reserved for future grant or
issuance under the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan wdded to the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan. The Plawiges for the granting of stock options
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and stock purchase rights to employees, directwtcansultants of Tesla. Options granted undePtae may be either incentive options or
nonqualified stock options. Incentive stock optiomsy be granted only to our employees includingcefs and directors. Nonqualified stock
options and stock purchase rights may be grantedtemployees and consultants. Generally, ouksiptions vest over four years and are
exercisable over a period not to exceed the cawniahterm of ten years from the date the stockomstiare granted. Continued vesting typically
terminates when the employment or consulting retethip ends. As of December 31, 2011, there w&E991.07 shares of common stock
reserved for issuance under the Plan.

The following table summarizes option activity unttee Plan:

Outstanding Options

Weighted
Average
Shares Available Exercise
for Grant Number of Options Price
Balance, December 31, 2008 1,550,05! 2,862,42. $ 1.8¢
Additional options reserve 8,366,66! — —
Repurchased restricted stc 4,83¢€ — 0.9C
Granted (10,275,97) 10,275,97 5.9¢
Exercisec — (195,26 1.1¢
Cancellec 1,369,101 (1,369,100 2.7C
Balance, December 31,20 1,014,68 11,574,03 5.44
Additional options reserve 11,269,28 — —
Repurchased restricted stc 9,17(C — 0.9C
Granted (3,328,70) 3,328,70! 17.9¢
Exercisec — (721,08() 1.84
Cancellec 443,53’ (443,53) 6.61
Balance, December 31, 20 9,407,97! 13,738,12 8.62
Additional options reserve 3,796,34. —
Granted (4,011,97) 4,011,97. 27.4¢
Exercisec — (1,216,66) 5.41
Cancellec 726,76 (726,76 15.2¢
Balance, December 31, 20 9,919,10 15,806,66 13.3¢

In addition to stock options issued from the Ptaere were 33,333 stock options as of Decembe2@ll] and 66,666 stock options as of
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, thatadepneviously granted to non-employees outsida®flan. These outstanding non-
employee options had a weighted average exerdise @ir$1.80 as of each year end.
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Additional information regarding all stock optioaststanding and exercisable as of December 31, B0uUmmarized below:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Weighted Remaining Weighted Remaining
Contractual Contractual
Average Average
Exercise Life (in Exercise Life (in
Range of Exercise Price Number Price years) Number Price years)
$0.15- $6.15 1,617,29: $ 3.0¢€ 1,099,28! $ 2.8:
$6.63- $6.63 7,695,28! 6.6% 4,694,48. 6.6%
$9.96- $20.72 2,039,55! 15.7( 826,05: 15.15
$22.88- $27.88 1,788,88! 24.4¢ 126,57 25.0(
$27.91- $28.35 479,41. 28.1¢ 8,152 28.0¢
$28.43- $28.43 428,21 28.4: 5,31z 28.4:
$28.45- $28..45 971,26: 28.4¢ 215,15( 28.4¢
$30.41- $30.41 179,83t 30.41 2,45(C 30.41
$30.55- $30.55 258,50( 30.5¢ 71,95¢ 30.5¢
$33.22- $33.22 381,75( 33.2% 3,93¢ 33.2%
15,839,99 13.3¢ 6.2C 7,053,35: 8.3¢ 5.1t

Additional information regarding all stock optiooatstanding and exercisable as of December 31, B0dilmmarized below:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Weighted Remaining Weighted Remaining
Contractual Contractual
Average Average
Exercise Life (in Exercise Life (in
Range of Exercise Price Number Price years) Number Price years)
$0.15- $2.10 517,49: $ 1.31 463,21¢ $ 1.2t
$2.70- $2.70 1,568,47. 2.7C 772,72¢ 2.7C
$2.94- $6.15 549,64 4.9¢ 180,59¢ 4.8(
$6.63- $6.63 7,943,741 6.6% 2,050,35. 6.6%
$9.96- $13.23 627,11: 11.2¢ 18,24¢ 11.1(
$14.17- $14.17 1,090,91! 14.15 14,98 14.15
$20.24- $20.24 216,61 20.2¢ 3,08/ 20.2¢
$20.72- $20.72 564,75: 20.7z 4,44¢ 20.7z
$24.98- $24.98 455,58( 24.9¢ 36¢ 24.9¢
$30.55- $30.55 270,46 30.5¢ 1,25( 30.5¢
13,804,78 8.5¢ 6.0€ 3,506,27! 5.0¢ 5.1¢

The aggregate intrinsic value represents the po&hx intrinsic value (i.e., the difference betwear common stock price and the
exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-theney options) that would have been received bym®n holders had all option holders
exercised their options. The aggregate intrinsioevaf options outstanding as of December 31, 20112010 was $243.9 million and
$250.1 million, respectively. The intrinsic valukeaptions exercisable was $142.8 million and $78ilfion, and the intrinsic value of options
vested and expected to vest was $220.5 million$2@3.0 million as of December 31, 2011 and 201€peetively. The total intrinsic value of
options exercised was $27.8 million and $10.0 onillior the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2840ectively.
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Fair Value Adoption

We adopted the fair value method on January 1, 2#08&cognizing stock-based compensation expensdekthe fair value method, we
estimated the fair value of each option award amglByee Stock Purchase Plan (the ESPP) on the datmtusing the Black-Scholes option
pricing model and the weighted average assumptiotesd in the following table.

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Risk-free interest rate

Stock options 2.L% 2.L% 2.2%

ESPF 0.2% — —
Expected term (in years

Stock options 6.C 5.3 4.6

ESPF 0.t — —
Expected volatility:

Stock options 70% 71% 64%

ESPF 59% — —
Dividend yield:

Stock options 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%

ESPF 0.C% — —

The weighted-average grant-date fair value foravpéiwards granted during the years ended Decenmib@031, 2010 and 2009 was
$17.43, $10.99 and $3.00 per share, respectivbly vileighted-average grant-date fair value for E§RRted during the year ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010 was $7.52 and $5.4¢hpee, respectively.

The fair value of the shares of common stock uryitegithe stock options has historically been debeeh by the Board of Directors as
there was no public market for our common stocle Bbard of Directors has determined fair valuehef¢common stock at the time of each
grant of options by considering a number of objectind subjective factors including valuation ofnp@rable companies, sales of convertible
preferred stock to unrelated third parties, opegatind financial performance, the lack of liquidifycapital stock, and trends in the broader
automobile industry. We have not granted stockamstiwith an exercise price that is less than thesédue of the underlying common stock as
determined at the time of grant by our Board obiiors, with input from management. The fair makkatie of the underlying common stock
was determined by the Board of Directors until¢benpletion of our IPO when our common stock wagdion an established stock exchange.
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Information regarding our stock option grants dgr2®09 and the six months prior to the completibouw IPO, including the grant date;
the number of stock options issued with each geamd;the exercise price, which equals the gramt fdét value of the underlying common
stock for each grant of stock options, is summariae follows:

Exercise

Price and

Fair Value
per Share o

Number of
Options Common
Grant Date Granted Stock

March 2, 2009 214,81 $ 2.7C
April 13, 2009 1,005,83 2.7C
April 22, 2009 105,18 2.7C
August 4, 200¢ 323,06 2.94
October 21,200 590,63t 6.1t
December 4, 200 7,977,44. 6.6°
December 16, 200 58,99t 6.65
March 3, 201( 402,66( 9.9¢
April 28, 2010 256,32( 13.2¢
June 12, 201 1,135,711 14.17

Included in our December 4, 2009 stock option gravere 6,711,972 stock options granted to our (xefcutive Officer in two separate
grants. In recognition of his and our company’si@aements and to create incentives for future sss;aeur Board of Directors approved an
option grant to our Chief Executive Officer repnetheg 4% of our fully-diluted share base prior tawk grant as of December 4, 2009, or
3,355,986 stock options, with 1/4th of the shamesting immediately, and 1/36th of the remainingefacheduled to vest each month over
three years, assuming continued employment threagh vesting date. In addition, to create inceatfee the attainment of clear performance
objectives around a key element of our currentrimes plan—the successful launch and commerciaizafiModel S—the Board of Directors
approved an additional option grant to our Chieéé&xive Officer totaling an additional 4% of outlyudiluted shares prior to such grant as of
December 4, 2009, or 3,355,986 stock options, aitlesting schedule based entirely on the attainofgmerformance objectives as follows,
assuming Mr. Musk’s continued employment and serticus through each vesting date:

» 1/4th of the shares subject to the option are adeddo vest upon the successful completion of M&Engineering Prototyp:
» 1/4th of the shares subject to the option are adkrddo vest upon the successful completion of M@d€alidation Prototype
» 1/4th of the shares subject to the option are adkeddo vest upon the completion of the first Mo8dProduction Vehicle; ar
» 1/4th of the shares subject to the option are adeddo vest upon the completion of the 10,000tldM@& Production Vehicle

If he does not meet one or more of the above noitest prior to the fourth anniversary of the datéhefgrant, he will forfeit his right to
the unvested portion of the grant.

Due to the significant number of stock options gedrto our Chief Executive Officer, we valued thBszember 2009 grants by using
following grant-specific Black-Scholes assumptionsk-free interest rate of 1.7%, expected term.afyears, expected volatility of 70% and

dividend yield of 0%. Stock-based compensation rgpeaelated to Mr. Musk’s grants was $6.3 milliowl £9.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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Included in our June 2010 and September 2010 stptiin grants were 666,300 and 20,000, respectioélytock options granted to
various members of our senior management with eingeschedule based entirely on the attainment@ftame performance objectives as t
outlined for Mr. Musk above. Through December 311D, the first two performance milestones wereead and the remaining performance
milestones were considered probable of achieverfentthe years ended December 31, 2011 and 201fscegnized $4.9 million and $8.9
million, respectively, of stock-based compensatgpense related to the attainment of performanjsxtbes.

The following table summarizes the consolidatedlstmased compensation expense by line item indhsalidated statements of
operations (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Cost of sales $ 67C $ 248 $ 61
Research and developmt 13,37: 4,13¢ 37¢€
Selling, general and administrati 15,37 16,77« 997
Total $29,41¢ $21,15¢ $1,43¢

We realized no income tax benefit from stock opgaercises in each of the periods presented dueetoring losses and valuation
allowances. As required, we present excess taxfibefrem the exercise of stock options, if anyfiasncing cash flows rather than operating
cash flows.

As of December 31, 2011, we had $55.2 million ¢dttanrecognized compensation expense, net of asahforfeitures, that will be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 26285/

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Concurrent with the effectiveness of our registraitatement on Form S-1 on June 28, 2010 (seeldteve established the ESPP.
Under the ESPP, employees are eligible to purcbasenon stock through payroll deductions of up t&1& their eligible compensation,
subject to any plan limitations. The purchase poicthe shares on each purchase date is equaltoo8the lower of the fair market value of
our common stock on the first and last trading defymsach six-month offering period. During the yeaded December 31, 2011, 223,458
shares were issued under the ESPP for $3.9 miltidotal of 2,615,749 shares of common stock haenlreserved for issuance under the
ESPP, and there were 2,392,291 shares availabigsicance under the ESPP as of December 31, 2011.

12. Income Taxes
No provision for U.S. income taxes has been ma@etdweumulative losses since the commencementerhtipns.

A provision for income taxes of $0.5 million, $Gv8llion and $26,000 has been recognized for thesyeaded December 31, 2011, 2010
and 2009, respectively, related primarily to ousssdiaries located outside of the United States. @t loss before provision for income taxes
for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 an@ ®eee as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Domestic $254,76: $154,73: $56,98:
International (839 (579 (1,269)
Loss before income tax $253,92: $154,15! $55,71¢
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The components of the provision for income taxeste years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2608Sisted of the following (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Current:
Federal $ — $ — $ —
State 29 9 4
Foreign 437 177 (53
Total current 46€ 18€ (49
Deferred:
Federal — — —
State — — —
Foreign 23 (13 75
Total deferrec 23 (13 75
Total provision for income taxe $ 48¢ $ 17¢ $ 26

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) as of December2811 and 2010 consisted of the following (in thends):

December 31 December 31
2011 2010
Deferred tax assets
Net operating loss car-forwards $ 218,81: $ 140,64.
Research and development cre: 18,501 13,34«
Deferred revenu 52€ 16C
Inventory and warranty reserv 3,531 2,60¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 3,071 1,12¢
Accruals and othet 3,97(C 2,94(
Total deferred tax asse 248,41¢ 160,82(
Valuation allowanct (248,389 (160,809
Deferred tax liabilities:
Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidial — —
Depreciation and amortizatic (37 —
Net deferred tax assets (liabilitie $ (5 $ 17

Reconciliation of statutory federal income taxesto effective taxes for the years ended Decembgf@11, 2010 and 2009 is as follows
(in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Tax at statutory federal rate $(86,339) $(52,417) $(18,949)
State ta—net of federal benef (8,11¢ (5,842 (2,825
Nondeductible expens: 10,74 9,31( 514
Foreign income rate differenti (56) 254 (72
U.S. tax credit: (5,049 (4,406 (2,499
Other reconciling item 1,58¢ 73€ 4,80¢
Change in valuation allowan 87,71/ 52,53¢ 19,04
Provision for income taxe $  48¢ $ A7E $ 26
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Management believes that based on the availalbenation, it is more likely than not that the degertax assets will not be realized,
such that a full valuation allowance is requirediagt all U.S. deferred tax assets.

As of December 31, 2011, we had approximately $60%on of federal and $352 million of Californigperating loss carry-forwards
available to offset future taxable income, $21 imnllof which is associated with windfall tax benetihat will be recorded as additional paid-in
capital when realized. These carryforwards williexfn varying amounts beginning in 2024 for fedewad 2019 for state if unused.
Additionally, we have research and developmenttaxlits of approximately $10.9 million and $11.8limin for federal and state income tax
purposes, respectively. If not utilized, the fedleeary-forwards will expire in various amounts begng in 2019. However, the state credits
can be carried forward indefinitely.

We have indefinitely reinvested $2.2 million of ustdbuted earnings of our foreign operations alésif our U.S. tax jurisdiction as of
December 31, 2011. No deferred tax liability hasrbeecognized for the remittance of such earniodbe U.S. since it is our intention to
utilize these earnings to fund future foreign exgpans including but not limited to, hiring of addital personnel, capital purchases, expansion
into larger facilities, and potential new dealepshi

Federal and state laws can impose substantialatésts on the utilization of net operating losslaax credit carry-forwards in the event
of an “ownership change,” as defined in Section 88the Internal Revenue Code. Prior to our IPO pedormed a study and had determined
that no significant limitation would be placed & tutilization of our net operating loss and teeditr carry-forwards as a result of prior
ownership changes. We do not believe that our pufferings and private placements constitutedvanesship change resulting in limitations
on our ability to use our net operating loss axdctadit carry-forwards; however, we have not yatfgrmed a study subsequent to our IPO to
determine whether such limitations exist.

Uncertain Tax Positions

Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted new accogmfiridance related to the recognition, measurer@presentation of uncertain tax
positions. As a result, we recorded net unrecoghtiar benefits of $11.5 million with an offset teetdeferred tax assets with a full valuation
allowance.

The aggregate changes in the balance of our grossagnized tax benefits during the years endeember 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
were as follows (in thousands):

January 1, 200 $15,05¢
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing current yee 541
December 31, 200 15,59¢
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing current yee 797
December 31, 201 16,39:
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing current yee 1,03
December 31, 201 $17,43(

Accrued interest and penalties related to unrea@eghtax benefits are classified as income tax esgoand was $5,000. As of
December 31, 2011, unrecognized tax benefits of4biillion, if recognized, would not affect our eftive tax rate as the tax benefits would
increase a deferred tax asset which is currently édfset with a full valuation allowance. We dotanticipate that the amount of existing
unrecognized tax benefits will significantly inceeaor decrease within the next 12 months. Wetiteme tax returns in the United States,
California, various states, the United Kingdom alttter foreign jurisdictions. Tax years 2008 to 20drhain subject to examination for federal
purposes, and tax years 2007 to 2011 remain suojestamination for California purposes. All neeogiting losses and tax credits generated to
date are subject to adjustment for U.S. federalGaldfornia purposes. Tax years 2006 to 2011 reropén for examination in other U.S. state
and foreign jurisdictions.
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13. Information about Geographic Areas

We have determined that we operate in one repostggnent which is the design, development, marwfact and sales of electric
vehicles and electric vehicle powertrain components

The following tables set forth revenues and longdi assets by geographic area (in thousands).

Revenues
Year Ended December 31
2011 2010 2009
North America $109,23: $ 41,86¢ $ 90,83:
Europe 84,397 70,54: 21,11(
Asia 10,61: 4,33¢ —
Total $204,24. $116,74: $111,94:

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2012@08, we recognized revenues of $103.9 million,.&3illion and $90.5 million in
the United States, respectively.

Long-lived Assets

December 31 December 31

2011 2010
United States $ 304,78t $ 119,01
International 5,38¢ 3,68¢
Total $ 310,17( $ 122,59¢

14. Development Services
Daimler AG
Daimler Smart Fortwo EV Program

In May 2009, we and Daimler formalized a developtregrangement related to Daimler’'s Smart fortwagle vehicle program under
which we were performing powertrain developmenivit@s since 2008. In May 2009, we entered intagreement with Daimler related to
development of a battery pack and charger for DaisiSmart fortwo electric drive. We began develeptefforts in the year ended
December 31, 2008 and began receiving paymengmpensate us for the cost of our development éiesvprior to entering into the formal
agreement in May 2009. We received aggregate pagntethe amount of $10.2 million during 2008 farr services; however, we deferred
recognition for these payments received in advafitke execution of the final agreement becausanaber of significant contractual terms
were not in place prior to that time. Upon enteiiimg the final agreement in May 2009, we had nesgtiand deferred an aggregate of
$14.5 million under the agreement. Under the tesfrike final agreement, Daimler was to pay us afitexhal $8.7 million subject to
successful completion and acceptance of certaialdpment milestones.

We recognized the $14.5 million paid in advancéhefexecution of the final agreement as deferregldpment compensation on a
straight-line basis. This amount was recognized the expected life of the agreement, beginninglaty 2009 and continuing through
November 2009. Payments received upon the achievepheevelopment milestones subsequent to theutixecof the final agreement in M
2009 were recognized upon achievement and acceptdribe respective milestones. All amounts reakiveder this agreement were
recognized as an offset to research and developexpenses, as we were performing development iesvan behalf of Daimler, were being
compensated for the cost of these activities antico
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not practicably separate the efforts or costsedl&b these activities from our own research angldpment. During the year ended
December 31, 2009, we recognized $23.2 millionemefopment compensation, as an offset to reseadtkdevelopment expenses. As of
December 31, 2009, all development work relatetthéodevelopment agreement had been completed, amddvrecognized the full
$23.2 million under the development agreement.

Upon completion of the development activities, vegdn selling powertrain components to Daimler fier $mart fortwo EV program.
Powertrain component sales are recorded in autgmetiles revenue and during the years ended Dec&hp2011, 2010 and 2009, we
recognized revenue of $7.2 million, $21.1 milliamde$0.4 million, respectively.

Daimler A-Class Program

During the three months ended March 31, 2010, Daimlso engaged us to assist with the developmrmehpeoduction of a battery pack
and charger for a pilot fleet of its A-Class elactehicles to be introduced in Europe during 204/ began providing development services
for this program during the three months ended &% 2010 and had received an aggregate of $3libmih payments; however, as we had
not executed a final agreement related to thisnargas of March 31, 2010, we deferred the $5.5anilbf payments that had been received
from Daimler to that point. In May 2010, we exealgefinal agreement under which Daimler would magétditional payments to us for the
successful completion of certain development niless and the delivery of prototype samples. Asexdddnber 31, 2010, all development
work related to the development agreement had beepleted, and we had recognized the full $14.4aniunder the development agreem

As of December 31, 2010, all development work esldb the A-Class EV development program had beempteted and as such, no
further development services revenue were recatdeidg the year ended December 31, 2011. Costeweldpment services incurred prior to
the finalization of the A-Class agreement were réed as research and development expenses. Dhdrtgree months ended March 31, 2010,
we recorded $0.5 million of such costs in researuth development.

Toyota Motor Corporation
Toyota RAV4 Program

In July 2010, we and Toyota entered into a Phaagr@ement to initiate development of an electriwgrtrain for the Toyota RAV4.
Under this early phase development agreement, tgpete would be made by us by combining the Toydt¥&fmodel with a Tesla electric
powertrain. We began producing and delivering gyges to Toyota during the three months ended 8epe 30, 2010. Pursuant to the
agreement, Toyota would pay us up to $9 milliontfer development services to be provided by usinguhe years ended December 31, 2011
and 2010, we recognized $7.6 million and $1.3 onillin development services revenue, respectivedyofAdecember 31, 2011, we had
delivered all prototypes.

In October 2010, we entered into a Phase 1 corgegwices agreement with Toyota for the developroéatvalidated powertrain system,
including a battery pack, power electronics moduoietor, gearbox and associated software, whichheilintegrated into an electric vehicle
version of the Toyota RAV4. Pursuant to the agregmeoyota will pay us up to $60.0 million for teaccessful completion of certain at risk
development milestones and the delivery of protetyamples, including a $5.0 million upfront paymitsat we received upon the execution of
the agreement. Through December 31, 2011, we coatplarious milestones and along with the amoitmatf our upfront payment, we
recognized $47.4 million and $3.3 million in devaloent services revenue for the years ended Dece3ib@011 and 2010, respectively. A:
December 31, 2011 and 2010, we had deferred $25@09 $4.0 million of the upfront payment in deéerrevenues.

In July 2011, we entered into a supply and sendggsement with Toyota for the supply of a validatéectric powertrain system,
including a battery pack, charging system, inverestor, gearbox and associated software, whichbsiintegrated into an electric vehicle
version of the Toyota RAV4. Additionally, we will
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provide Toyota with certain services related toghpply of the electric powertrain system. We glabegin delivery of the electric powertrain
system to Toyota for installation into the ToyotA\Rl EV in 2012 and as such, no payments have besgived and no revenue has been
recognized to date under this agreement. Futuenteyto be recognized under this agreement wiltberded in automotive sales. Our
production activities under this program are expe¢o continue through 2014.

15. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases

Our corporate headquarters and powertrain producji@rations are based in Palo Alto, California nghee have leased a facility
consisting of 350,000 square feet. This lease egpir January 2016. We also lease office spacer mmuhecancelable operating leases with
various expiration dates through December 2022t Bgrense for the years ended December 31, 2010, &td 2009 was $8.6 million,
$6.3 million and $3.2 million, respectively.

Capital Leases

We have entered into various agreements to leaspragnt under capital leases over terms betweeam860 months. The equipment
under the leases are collateral for the lease afidigs and are included within property, plant agdipment, net, on the consolidated balance
sheets under the categories of computer equipnmeing@ftware and office furniture and equipment.

Future minimum commitments for leases as of DecerBbge2011 are as follows (in thousands):

Operating

Capital

Leases Leases

2012 $ 8,48( $1,41¢
2013 8,48¢ 1,34¢
2014 8,162 974
2015 7,33( 25¢
2016 and thereafte 24,30¢ 231
Total minimum lease paymer $56,76¢ 4,22¢
Less: Amounts representing interest not yet incl 331
Present value of capital lease obligati 3,891
Less: Current portio 1,067
Long-term portion of capital lease obligatic $2,83(

DOE Loan Facility

We have received loans under the DOE Loan Fa¢gige Note 9). Future loan repayments for theseslaarof December 31, 2011 are as
follows (in thousands):

2012 $ 13,36¢
2013 36,67¢
2014 36,06¢
2015 35,46(
2016 and thereafte 183,89:
Total loan repayments under the DOE Loan Fac 305,46:
Less: Amounts representing interest not yet incl 29,21(
Principal amount of outstanding loans under the @&n Facility 276,25:
Less: Current portio 7,91¢
Long-term portion of loans under the DOE Loan Fac $268,33!
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Environmental Liabilities

In May 2010, we entered into an agreement to pwelaa existing automobile production facility laghin Fremont, California from
NUMMI (see Note 5). NUMMI has previously identifieghvironmental conditions at the Fremont site whiffect soil and groundwater, a
until recently, were undertaking efforts to addréssse conditions. These conditions are now bediogessed by us and NUMMI. Although we
have been advised by NUMMI that it has documentetimanaged the environmental issues and we cord@eteasonable level of diligence
on such environmental issues at the time we puethtee facility, we cannot determine the exact pidecosts to remediate any pre-existing
contamination with any certainty. Based on manageimbest estimate, we estimated the fair valudefenvironmental liabilities that we
assumed to be $5.3 million. The fair value of thiesglities was determined based on an expectégbvanalysis of the related potential cost
investigate, remediate and manage various envirntaheonditions that were identified as part of NMWk facility decommissioning
activities as well as our own diligence efforts. e continue with our construction and operatingyvéies, it is reasonably possible that our
estimate of environmental liabilities may changeerially.

We have reached an agreement with NUMMI under whigkr a ten year period, we will pay the first ®L&illion of any costs of any
governmentally-required remediation activities dontamination that existed prior to the completénhe facility and land purchase for any
known or unknown environmental conditions, and NUMis agreed to pay the next $15.0 million for sterhediation activities. Our
agreement provides, in part, that NUMMI will pay tapthe first $15.0 million on our behalf if suckpenses are incurred in the first four years
of our agreement, subject to our reimbursementici £osts on the fourth anniversary date of theitp

On the ten-year anniversary of the closing or wkien&30.0 million has been spent on the remediataivities, whichever comes first,
NUMMI’s liability to us with respect to remediation atdties ceases, and we are responsible for any lheddaronmental conditions at the
Fremont site. At that point in time, we have agreemhdemnify, defend, and hold harmless NUMMI frathliability and we have released
NUMMI for any known or unknown claims except for IMMI ’s obligations for representations and warrantieden the agreement. As of
December 31, 2011, we have accrued $5.3 millicatedIto these environmental liabilities.

16. Subsequent Events
DOE Loan Facility Draw-Down
In February 2012, we received additional loans utitke DOE Loan Facility for $14.4 million at intsterates ranging from 0.9% to 1.4%.

17. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following table includes selected quarterlufttssof operations data for the years ended DeceBihe2011 and 2010 (in thousands,
except per share data):

Three months endec

March 31 June 30 September 3( December 3.
2011
Total revenue $ 49,03( $ 58,17 $ 57,66¢ $ 39,37t
Gross profil 18,02¢ 18,50¢ 17,22+ 7,83t
Net loss (48,94 (58,909 (65,079 (81,48¢)
Net loss per share, basic and dilu (0.51) (0.60) (0.69) (0.7¢)
2010
Total revenue $ 20,81: $ 28,40t $ 31,24: $ 36,28¢
Gross profil 3,85z 6,261 9,29¢ 11,32:
Net loss (29,519 (38,51 (34,939 (51,35%)
Net loss per share, basic and dilu (4.09) (5.09 (0.39) (0.59

Net loss per share, basic and diluted for the fuarters of each fiscal year may not sum to thed fot the fiscal year because of the
different numbers of shares outstanding during gectod.
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ITEM9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We conducted an evaluation as of December 31, 201der the supervision and with the participatibouwr management, including our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officef the effectiveness of the design and operaifarur disclosure controls and procedures.
Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executivec®ffand Chief Financial Officer concluded thatpé&such date, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective to provide reasonablerasse.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@gorting. Internal control over
financial reporting is a process designed by, atetnrthe supervision of, our Chief Executive Offiaad Chief Financial Officer to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynafiicial reporting and the preparation of finanstatements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipieeand includes those policies and procedus(1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that in reasonable detail accurately ainy faflect the transactions and dispositions of assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance the
transactions are recorded as necessary to perepidration of financial statements in accordanch génerally accepted accounting principles,
and that our receipts and expenditures are beimtgraly in accordance with authorizations of ounagement and directors; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tidetction of unauthorized acquisition, use or as#ion of our assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our Chief Executive €ffiand Chief Financial Officer,
we conducted an evaluation of the effectivenesmiointernal control over financial reporting basetcriteria established in “Internal
Control—Integrated FrameworkSsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidriee Treadway Commission. Based on this evalng
our management concluded that our internal cootret financial reporting was effective as of Decem®l, 2011.

Our independent registered public accounting firmicewaterhouseCoopers LLP, has audited our inteomdrol over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2011 as stated in their reploidhwis included herein.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Because of inherent limitations, internal contreéofinancial reporting may not prevent or detecdstatements and that projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periodssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirng

There was no change in our internal control ovearicial reporting which occurred during the fouitical quarter of the year ended
December 31, 2011 which has materially affecteds oeasonably likely to materially affect, ourémal control over financial reporting.

ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information required by this Item 10 of FormK@vill be included in our 2012 Proxy Statemenbwfiled with the SEC in
connection with the solicitation of proxies for @012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (2012 Proxgt&nent) and is incorporated herein by
reference. The 2012 Proxy Statement will be filéthuhe SEC within 120 days after the end of tisedl year to which this report relates.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 of FormK@ill be included in our 2012 Proxy Statement asméhcorporated herein by
reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12 of FormK@ill be included in our 2012 Proxy Statement asméhcorporated herein by
reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13 of FormK@vill be included in our 2012 Proxy Statement amdhcorporated herein by
reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14 of FormK@ill be included in our 2012 Proxy Statement asméhcorporated herein by
reference.

ITEM 15.  EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
1. Financial Statements. S“Index to Consolidated Financial Statem” in Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Forn-K.

2. All financial statement schedules have been omitgate the required information is not applicatniés not present in amounts sufficic
to require submission of the schedule, or becawes@formation required is included in the consat@tl financial statements and notes
thereto.

3.  Exhibits. The exhibits listed in the accompangyimdex to Exhibits” are filed or incorporated bgference as part of this Annual Report
on Form 1-K.
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatio S-1 33:3-164593 3.1 January 29, 201
the Registran
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Regist S-1 33:3-164593 3.2 January 29, 201
4.1 Specimen common stock certificate of the Regisi S-1/A  333-164593 4.1 May 27, 201(
4.2 Fifth Amended and Restated Inves’ Rights S1 333164593 4.2 January 29, 201
Agreement, dated as of August 31, 2009, between
Registrant and certain holders of the Registrant’s
capital stock named there
4.2A Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated Inve’ S-1/A 333164593 4.2A May 27, 201(
Rights Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2010, between
Registrant and certain holders of the Registrant’s
capital stock named there
4.2B Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated Inve’ S-1/A 333164593 4.2B May 27, 201C
Rights Agreement between Registrant, Toyota Motor
Corporation and certain holders of the Registrant’s
capital stock named there
4.2C Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated Inv’s S-1/A 33164593 4.2C June 15, 201
Rights Agreement, dated as of June 14, 2010, betwee
Registrant and certain holders of the Registrant’s
capital stock named there
4.2D Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated Invest@:K 001-34756 4.1 November 4, 201
Rights Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2010,
between Registrant and certain holders of the
Registrar’s capital stock named there
4.3 Registration Rights Agreement between the United S-1/A 333-164593 4.3 May 27, 2010
States Department of Energy and the Registrantddate
as of January 20, 20:
4.3A Amendment to Registration Rights Agreem S-1/A 333164593 4.3A May 27, 201C

between the United States Department of Energy and
the Registrant dated as of May 21, 2!
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith
4.4 Warrant to Purchase Shares of Preferred Stockd: S-1/A 333164593 4.4 May 27, 201C
by the Registrant to the United States Departmént o
Energy dated January 20, 2C
4.5 Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock issugdl/A 333-164593 4.5 May 27, 2010
by the Registrant to the United States Departmeént o
Energy dated May 21, 20:
4.6 Fifth Amendment to Fifth Amended and Reste 8-K 001-34756 4.1 June 1, 201.
Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated as of May 30,
2011, between Registrant and certain holders of the
Registrar’s capital stock named there
4.7 Fifth Amendment to Fifth Amended and Reste S-1/A 333174466 4.2E June 2, 201.
Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated as of May 25,
2011, between Registrant and certain holders of the
Registrar’s capital stock named there
10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement between S-1/A 333164593 10.1 June 15, 201
Registrant and its directors and offic
10.2 2003 Equity Incentive Pla S-1/A 333164593 10.2 May 27, 201C
10.3 Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2003 Eq  S-1 333164593 10.3 January 29, 201
Incentive Plar
10.3A Grant Notice and Stock Option Agreement betweenS-1/A  333-164593  10.3A March 29, 2010
the Registrant and Elon Mu:
10.4 2010 Equity Incentive Pla S-1/A 333164593 104 May 27, 201C
10.5 Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2010 Equity5-1/A 333-164593  10.5 March 29, 2010
Incentive Plar
10.6 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement  S-1/A  333-164593  10.6 March 29, 2010
under 2010 Equity Incentive Pl
10.7 2010 Employee Stock Purchase F S-1/A 333164593 10.7 May 27, 201C
10.8 Form of Purchase Agreement under 2010 Employe&-1/A 333-164593  10.8 June 15, 2010
Stock Purchase Pl¢
10.9 Offer Letter between the Registrant and Elon M S-1 33:3-164593 10.9 January 29, 201

dated October 13, 20(
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith

10.10 Offer Letter between the Registrant and Deepak & S-1 33:-164593 10.10 January 29, 201
dated June 13, 2008, and amended June 4,

10.11 Relocation Agreement between the Registrant S-1 33:-164593 10.11 January 29, 201
Deepak Ahuja effective October 31, 2008 and amended
June 4, 200!

10.12 Offer Letter between the Registrant and Jeffrey B. S-1 333-164593  10.12 January 29, 2010
Straubel dated May 6, 20(

10.13 Offer Letter between the Registrant and Michase S-1 33:-164593 10.13 January 29, 201
Donoughe dated June 4, 2008, and amended December
10, 200¢€

10.14 Offer Letter between the Registrant and John WalkeiS-1 333-164593 10.14 January 29, 2010
dated August 17, 20(

10.15 Relocation Agreement between the Registrant and J&h1 333-164593  10.15 January 29, 2010
Walker dated January 26, 20

10.16 Offer Letter between the Registrant and Jon Soaield S-1 33:-164593 10.16 January 29, 201
August 30, 200¢

10.17 Offer Letter between the Registrant and Gilbersi?e  S-1 33:-164593 10.17 January 29, 201
dated January 1, 20:

10.18 Commercial Single-Tenant Lease between the S-1 333-164593  10.18 January 29, 2010
Registrant and Russell A. and Deborah B. Margiotta,
Trustees of the Margiotta Family Trust UTA May 26,
1981 dated June 7, 20

10.19 Commercial Single-Tenant Lease between the S-1 333-164593  10.19 January 29, 2010
Registrant and James R. Hull dated August 16, .

10.20 Commercial Lease between the Registrant and The S-1 333-164593  10.20 January 29, 2010
Board of Trustees of The Leland Stanford Jr. Ursitg
dated July 25, 200

10.21 License Agreement between the Registrant anc S-1 333-164593 10.21 January 29, 201
Kearny Northrop Avenue, LLC dated July 23, 2(

10.22 Commercial Lease between the Registrant and The S-1 333-164593  10.22 January 29, 2010

Board of Trustees of The Leland Stanford Jr. Ursitg
dated August 6, 20C
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Exhibit
Number

10.23t

10.23At

10.23B¥

10.24%

10.25%

10.26%

10.27t

10.27At

10.28t

10.29t

10.30t

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed
Herewith

Supply Agreement for Products and Servi S1
between Lotus Cars Limited and the Registrant
dated July 11, 200

Amendment No. 1 to Supply Agreement betweenS-1
Lotus Cars Limited and the Registrant dated
August 4, 200¢

Amendment No. 2 to Supply Agreement betw  S-1/A
Lotus Cars Limited and the Registrant dated March
22, 201C

Supply Agreement between Eberspacher (UK) Lt8:1/A
and the Registrant dated September 1, :

Supply Agreement between Perei Group (UK) | S-1/A
and the Registrant dated September 1, :

Supply Agreement between Burgaflex (UK) L S-1/A
and the Registrant dated September 1, :

Supply Agreement by and among Sanyo ElectricS-1
Co. Ltd. Mobile Energy Company, Sanyo Energy
(USA) Corporation and the Registrant dated
February 1, 200

Amendment No. 1 to Supply Agreement by and S-1
among Sanyo Electric Co. Ltd. Mobile Energy
Company and Sanyo Energy (USA) Corporation
and the Registrant effective as of February 1, -

Supply Agreement by and between Taiway Ltd. S-1
the Registrant dated February 12, 2!

Supply Agreement between Chroma ATE Inc. an8-1/A
the Registrant dated April 19, 20

Supply Agreement between Polytec Holden Ltd. S-1/A
and the Registrant dated April 13, 2C
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335-164593

333-164593

335-164593

33E-164593

333-164593

333-164593

335-164593

333-164593

333-164593

10.23

10.23A

10.23B

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.27A

10.28

10.29

10.30

January 29, 201

January 29, 2010

March 29, 201(

March 29, 2010

March 29, 201(

March 29, 201(

January 29, 2010

January 29, 2010

March 29, 201(

March 29, 2010

March 29, 2010
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Exhibit
Number

10.31t

10.32t

10.32A

10.32B¥

10.32Ct

10.33t

10.34t

10.35

10.36

10.37

Incorporated by Reference Filed
Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith
Modification to Terms and Conditions betwe S1 333-164593 10.31 January 29, 201
BorgWarner TorgTransfer Systems Inc. and the
Registrant dated September 22, 2
ZEV Credits Agreement between American Honda-1/A 333-164593  10.32 May 27, 2010
Motor Co., Inc. and the Registrant dated
February 12, 200
Addendum to ZEV Credits Agreement betwt S-1/A 333164593 10.32A May 27, 201(
American Honda Motor Co., Inc. and the Regist
dated February 20, 20(
Supplemental ZEV Credits Agreement between S-1/A 333-164593 10.32B May 27, 2010
American Honda Motor Co., Inc. and the Regist
dated March 20, 20C
Second Supplemental ZEV Credits Agreement S-1/A  333-164593  10.32C May 27, 2010
between American Honda Motor Co., Inc. and the
Registrant dated February 8, 2(
Supply Agreement by and among Panas S1 333164593 10.33 January 29, 201
Industrial Company, Panasonic Corporation, acting
through Energy Company, and the Registrant dated
July 21, 200¢
Exclusivity and Intellectual Property Agreement S-1/A 333-164593  10.34 March 29, 2010
between Daimler North America Corporation and
the Registrant dated May 11, 2C
Side Agreement between the Registrant and S-1 333-164593  10.35 January 29, 2010
Blackstar Investco LLC dated May 11, 2C
Letter Agreement between the Elon Musk S-1 333-164593  10.36 January 29, 2010
Revocable Trust dated July 22, 2003 and Blackstar
Investco LLC, dated May 11, 20!
Loan Arrangement and Reimbursement Agreer S-1/A 333164593 10.37 May 27, 201C

between the United States Department of Energy
and the Registrant dated as of January 20,
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Exhibit
Number

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description Form File No.

10.37A

10.37B

10.38

10.39

10.40

10.41

10.42

10.43t

10.44

Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed
Herewith

First Amendment to Loan Arrangement ¢ — —
Reimbursement Agreement between the United

States Department of Energy and the Registrantl

as of June 15, 201

Limited Waiver to the Loan Arrangement & — —
Reimbursement Agreement between the United

States Department of Energy and the Registrant

as of February 22, 201

Note Purchase Agreement by and among the Fe S-1/A 333164593 10.38

Financing Bank, the Registrant and the Secretary of
Energy dated as of January 20, 2

Future Advance Promissory Note made by the  S-1/A 333-164593  10.39

Registrant in favor of the Federal Financing Bank
dated as of January 20, 2C

Future Advance Promissory Note made by S-1/A 333164593 10.40

Registrant in favor of the Federal Financing Bank
dated as of January 20, 2C

Pledge and Security Agreement made by the S-1/A 333-164593 10.41

Registrant and the Grantors party thereto in fafor
Midland Loan Services, Inc. dated as of January 20,
2010

Guarantee made by the Guarantors party thereto i8-1/A 333-164593  10.42

favor of the United States Department of Energg, th
Federal Financing Bank and the holders of the notes
described therein dated as of January 20, :

Development Contract between Daimler AG and S-1/A 333-164593  10.43

Tesla Motors Ltd. dated May 10, 20

Settlement Agreement between the Registrant ans-1/A  333-164593  10.44

entities affiliated with Valor Equity Partners date
May 20, 201(
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May 27, 2010

May 27, 201C

May 27, 2010

May 27, 2010

May 27, 2010

May 27, 2010

X



Table of Contents

Exhibit
Number

10.45

10.45A

10.45B

10.45C

10.45D

10.45E

10.45Ft

10.46

10.46A

Exhibit Description Form

Letter Agreement between the Registrantand  S-1/A
United Motor Manufacturing, Inc. dated May 26,
2010

Amendment No. 1 to the Letter Agreement betw 10-Q
the Registrant and New United Motor
Manufacturing, Inc. dated June 15, 2(

Amendment No. 2 to the Letter Agreement betw 1C-Q
the Registrant and New United Motor
Manufacturing, Inc. dated October 1, 2(

Amendment No. 3 to the Letter Agreement betw 10-Q
the Registrant and New United Motor
Manufacturing, Inc. dated October 8, 2(

Amendment No. 4 to the Letter Agreement betw 10-Q
the Registrant and New United Motor
Manufacturing, Inc. dated October 13, 2(

Amendment No. 5 to the Letter Agreement betw 1C-Q
the Registrant and New United Motor
Manufacturing, Inc. dated October 15, 2(

Amendment No. 6 to the Letter Agreement betw 10-Q
the Registrant and New United Motor
Manufacturing, Inc. dated October 19, 2(

Sale and Purchase Agreement between Regis  1C-Q
and New United Motor Manufacturing, Inc., dated
August 13, 201(

Addendum No. 1 to the Sale and Purchase 10-Q
Agreement between Registrant and New United
Motor Manufacturing, Inc., dated September 23,

2010
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Incorporated by Reference Filed
File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith

332164593  10.45 May 27, 201(

001-34756 10.3 November 12, 201
001-34756 10.4 November 12, 201
001-34756 10.5 November 12, 201
001-34756 10.6 November 12, 201
001-34756 10.7 November 12, 201
001-34756 10.8 November 12, 201
001-34756 10.1 November 12, 201
001-34756 10.2 November 12, 201
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith
10.47% Phase 1 Contract Services Agreement bety 1C6-K  001-34756 10.47 March 3, 2011
Registrant and Toyota Motor Corporation dated
October 6, 201!
10.48t Amendment No. 3 to Supply Agreement between 10-Q 001-34756 10.1 August 12, 2011
Lotus Cars Limited and the Registrant dated
June 13, 201
10.49t Supply and Services Agreement between To 16-Q 001-34756 10.1 November 14, 201
Motor Engineering & Manufacturing North America,
Inc. and the Registrant dated July 15, 2
10.50t Supply Agreement between Panasonic Corporation— — — —
and the Registrant dated October 5, 2
23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers, Indeper — — — —
Registered Public Accounting Fir
31.1 Rule 13i-14(a) / 15(d-14(a) Certification of Principe — — — —
Executive Officel
31.2 Rule 13a-14(a) / 15(d)-14(a) Certification of Pipad — — — —
Financial Officer
32.1* Section 1350 Certificatior — — — —
101.INS** XBRL Instance Documen — — — —
101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume — — — —
101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkba
Document — — — —
101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
Document — — — —
101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
Document — — — —
101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

Document —

*  Furnished herewit
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**  XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) imfation is furnished and not filed or a part of gisgation statement or prospec
for purposes of sections 11 or 12 of the Securfigtsof 1933, is deemed not filed for purposeseaifton 18 of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934, and otherwise is not subject to lidpiinder these section
t Confidential treatment has been requested forgustof this exhibi
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, the registrant has duly causisdréport to be signed on its behalf
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Tesla Motors, Inc

Date: February 27, 201 /s/ Elon Musk
Elon Musk
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#ites indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Elon Musk Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal February 27, 2012
Elon Musk Executive Officer)

/s/ Deepak Ahuja Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial February 27, 2012
Deepak Ahuji Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Brad Buss Director February 27, 2012
Brad Bus:

/s/ Ahmed Saif Al Darmak Director February 27, 201
Ahmed Saif Al Darmak

/s/ Ira Ehrenprei Director February 27, 201
Ira Ehrenprei

/s/ Antonio Gracia: Director February 27, 201
Antonio Gracia:

s/ Stephen Jurvets( Director February 27, 201
Stephen Jurvets(

/s/ Herbert Kohle Director February 27, 201
Herbert Kohle

/s/ Kimbal Musk Director February 27, 201
Kimbal Musk
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First Amendment to
Loan Arrangement and Reimbursement Agreement

FIRST AMENDMENT, dated as of June 15, 2011 (thismiendment”), to the Loan Arrangement and Reimbursement Agreerdatec
as of January 20, 2010 (as amended, supplementg#tewvise modified from time to time prior to tlate hereof, the Arrangement
Agreement”), between Tesla Motors, Inc. (theBorrower ”) and the United States Department of Energp E ”). Unless otherwise defin
herein, terms defined in the Arrangement Agreemeadtused herein shall have the meanings givereto th the Arrangement Agreement.

WHEREAS, the parties to the Arrangement Agreemesird to make amendments to the Arrangement Agneeme

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoimgl dor other good and valuable consideration, doeipt and sufficiency of whic
are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hergtee as follows:

SECTION 1. Amendments to the Arrangement Agreem&he Arrangement Agreement is hereby amended;taféeas of the
Amendment Effective Date (as defined below), alofod:

(a) Section 8.4 (Other InformationBection 8.4 is hereby amended by:
(i) deleting the word “and” at the end of clausg (e
(i) replacing the period at the end of clauseafth “; and”; and
(i) adding a new clause (g) as follows:

“(g)(i) written notice with respect to any noncomptia with applicable federal motor vehicle safegngfrds or existence
a defect which would reasonably be expected toteadgeneral recall for repairs of any of the Barer's (or its Affiliates’)
vehicles (x) within 5 Business Days after Borro\@rits Affiliates) determines the existence oftsmoncompliance or
defect, if written notification to federal regulagycauthorities is not otherwise required or (Wvifitten notification of such
noncompliance or defect to federal regulatory atities is required, concurrently with such writteatification to the
applicable federal regulatory authorities, andifi§uch recall is to be made, a copy of any prepgsress release by
Borrower or its Affiliates related thereto as s@mnpossible after it has been prepared but, iresagt, prior to the public
release there(”



(b) Definition of*Cash Equivalents The definition of “Cash Equivalents” set forth Annex A (Definitions) to the Arrangement
Agreement is hereby amended by deleting such diefinin its entirety and replacing it with the folting:

ash Equivalent§ means any of the following:

(i) marketable securities that are direct obligagiof the United States (including obligations e$or held in book-entry form on
the books of the Department of the Treasury ofthiéed States) or obligations the timely paymenprficipal and interest of which is
fully guaranteed by the United States, in each ozsteiring not more than 360 days from the datdefacquisition thereof;

(i) marketable securities that are obligationsigsby, or the timely payment of principal and iagt is fully guaranteed by, any
agency or instrumentality of the United States,ahligations of which are backed by the full faéthd credit of the United States, in each
case maturing not more than 360 days from theafdtee acquisition thereof;

(iii) marketable securities that are direct obligas of any member of the European Economic Arediz8rland or Japan, or any
agency or instrumentality thereof or obligationsamditionally guaranteed by the full faith and dted such country, in each case
maturing not more than 360 days from the date @&itguisition thereof and, at the time of acqurithereof having a credit rating of at
least AA- (or the then equivalent grade) by Moody'#Aa3 (or the then equivalent grade) by S&P;

(iv) marketable securities that are general obiligetissued by any state of the United States wipatitical subdivision thereof or
any or any instrumentality thereof that is guaradtby the full faith and credit of such state, &tle case maturing not more than 360 ¢
from the date of the acquisition thereof and, atttine of acquisition thereof having a credit rgtof at least AA- (or the then equivalent
grade) by Moody’s or Aa3 (or the then equivaleratdg) by S&P;

(v) commercial paper issued by any Person organine@r the laws of any state of the United Statésnterica and rated at least
“Prime-1" (or the then equivalent grade) by Moodgtsat least “A-1" (or the then equivalent gradg)3I&P, in each case with maturities
of not more than 270 days from the date of acdaisihereof;

(vi) fully collateralized repurchase agreementdweitterm of not more than thirty (30) days for gations of the type described in
clause (i), (ii), (i) or (iv) above and entered into with a financial institntgatisfying the criteria described_in clause (\dglow;
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(vii) for an investment period of no longer thar0ldays, demand deposits, time deposits, certioateleposit or bankers’
acceptances of any commercial bank that (x) isrozga under the laws of the United States or aayeShereof, or is the principal
banking subsidiary of a bank holding company orgashiunder the laws of the United States or anye3$tetreof, any member of the
European Economic Area, Switzerland or Japan s(glubject to supervision and examination by fedaratate banking authorities and
(2) has either (1) combined capital and surplustdéast $500,000,000 or (2) the highest creditgatbtainable from S&P and Moody’s;

(viii) shares of any money market mutual fund @@tthas net assets of not less than $500,000,90&hére the maximum
weighted average maturity of such fund’s portfadisixty (60) days and (z) that has a credit ratihgaa (or the then equivalent grade)
by Moody’s; and

(ix) the Fidelity Funds, Government Fund, clase¢hshares, CUSIP: 316175603.

With respect to any Foreign Subsidiary, “Cash Eal@mts” shall also include any Investment subsa#lytcomparable to the foregoing but in
the currency of the jurisdiction of organizationsofch Subsidiary, Euros or U.S. Dollars.”

(c) Definition of*Limited Cash Equivalents The definition of “Limited Cash Equivalents” sketrth in Annex A (Definitions) to the
Arrangement Agreement is hereby amended by delstiof definition in its entirety and replacing itlwthe following:

““ Limited Cash Equivalent$ means any of the following:

()(x) marketable securities that are direct oHiigras of the United States (including obligatiogstied or held in boo&ntry form or
the books of the Department of the Treasury oflthiéed States) or obligations the timely paymenprficipal and interest of which is
fully guaranteed by the United States, in each ozesiring not more than 360 days from the datéefacquisition thereof by (or on
behalf of) the Borrower or its Subsidiaries; or fyarketable securities that are obligations issiyedr the timely payment of principal
and interest is fully guaranteed by, any agenapstrumentality of the United States, the obligasiaf which are backed by the full faith
and credit of the United States, in each case nmgtmot more than 360 days from the date of actioisthereof by (or on behalf of) the
Borrower or its Subsidiaries; provided that witkpect to any single agency or instrumentality itivestments permitted under clause (i)
(y) shall at no time exceed 5% of the aggregate anetuary time invested in Limited Cash Equivalents;

(i) shares of any money market mutual fund (x} thes net assets of not less than $500,000,00;1)e the maximum weighted
average maturity of such fund’s portfolio is six60) days and (z) that has a credit rating of Aaahle then equivalent grade) by
Moody’s;




(i) fully collateralized repurchase agreementsiva term of not more than thirty (30) days forigations of the type described in
clause (i) above and entered into with a financial institat&atisfying the criteria described_in clause (b8low;

(iv) for an investment period of no longer than I§s, demand deposits, time deposits, certificateeposit or bankers’
acceptances of any commercial bank that (x) isrorga under the laws of the United States or aayeShereof, (y) is subject to
supervision and examination by federal or stat&kingnauthorities and (z) either (1) has combinegitedand surplus of at least
$500,000,000 or (2) has the highest credit ratistgioable from S&P and Moody'’s; and

(v) the Fidelity Funds, Government Fund, classetlsaieares, CUSIP: 316175603.”

(d) Summary ChartFor the convenience of the parties, a summatfe@mendments described in Sections afl) 1(c)of this
Amendment is being attached hereto as ExhibifTAis summary does not purport to be completeranst be read in conjunction with the
amendments described_ in Sections Hfxj 1(c)of this Amendment. In the event of any conflictvbe¢n the amendments described in Sections

1(b) and_1(c)of this Amendment and the summary attached heseixhibit A, the amendments described in Sections afid) 1(c)of this
Amendment will prevail.

SECTION 2. Amendment of Control AgreemenBursuant to Section 12of the Arrangement Agreement and Section 6.1 of the
Collateral Trust Agreement, DOE hereby consenteécamendment of (a) that certain Blocked Accoumttfdl Agreement (Dedicated
Account), dated as of January 20, 2010, among Mstars, Inc., PNC Bank, National Association, &iidland Loan Services, Inc.
(predecessor to PNC Bank, National Associatiomgdiusiness as Midland Loan Services, a DivisioRNE Bank, National Association), ¢
(b) that certain Blocked Account Control Agreemg@nitial Debt Service Account), dated as of Janu20y2010, among Tesla Motors, Inc.,
PNC Bank, National Association, and Midland Loamv&es, Inc. (predecessor to PNC Bank, Nationab&ggion, doing business as Midland
Loan Services, a Division of PNC Bank, National ddation), in each case solely to the extent neggds give effect to the amendments to
the Arrangement Agreement described in Sectiondf(t)is Amendment.

SECTION 3. Representations and Warrantieach of the Obligors hereby represents and wiartarDOE that:

(a) As of the Amendment Effective Date, no DefaulEvent of Default has occurred and is continuing.
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(b) Each of the representations and warranties roga@ay Obligor in or pursuant to the Transactiamct@ments (other than the
representations and warranties contained in Ar8abé the Note Purchase Agreement) is true andecbimn all material respects on and as of
Amendment Effective Date as if made on and aseftimendment Effective Date (except to the extenhsapresentations and warranties
relate to an earlier date, in which case, suchesgntations and warranties were true and corregdt material respects as of such earlier date).

SECTION 4. Effectiveness of this Amendmeitthis Amendment shall become effective on the @hte “Amendment Effective Date”)
when DOE (i) shall have received copies of all bdpatockholder and other corporate approvals reduir this Amendment, (ii) shall have
received duly executed counterparts hereof that theasignatures of Borrower and any other Oblegwearing on the signature page hereof (it
being agreed that the receipt of duly executed twparts delivered by facsimile or electronic traission in Electronic Format shall be
sufficient to satisfy the requirements of this dalii)), and (iii) shall have executed this Amerarn

SECTION 5. Effect of Amendment

(a) Except as expressly set forth herein, this Adnggnt shall not by implication or otherwise limihpair, constitute a waiver of or
otherwise affect the rights and remedies of DOEcutide Arrangement Agreement or any other Loan Bant and shall not alter, modify,
amend or in any way affect any of the terms, caoontt obligations, covenants or agreements corddiméhe Arrangement Agreement or any
other provision of the Arrangement Agreement ocamf other Loan Document, all of which are ratifeed! affirmed in all respects and shall
continue in full force and effect. Nothing herelrali be deemed to entitle the Borrower or any o@kligor to a consent to, or a waiver,
amendment, modification or other change of, anthefterms, conditions, obligations, covenants oe@gents contained in the Arrangement
Agreement or any other Loan Document in similadiffierent circumstances.

(b) On and after the Amendment Effective Date, @aéérence in the Arrangement Agreement to “thise®gent”, “hereunder”,
“hereof’, “herein”, or words of like import, and &areference to the “Arrangement Agreement” in ather Loan Document shall be deemed a

reference to the Arrangement Agreement as amergtethyn This Amendment shall constitute a “Loan Doent” for all purposes of the
Arrangement Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

SECTION 6. Consent and Reaffirmatioa) Each Guarantor hereby consents to this Amentland the transactions contemplated
hereby, (b) each of Borrower and the Guarantoreemgthat, notwithstanding the effectiveness ofAlmendment, the Guarantee, the Security
Agreement and each of the other Loan Documentsrmeanto be in full force and effect, (c) each Gudwa confirms its guarantee of the
Guaranteed Obligations (as defined in the Guaraardewhich definition, for clarity, incorporates tsference all Note P Obligations and all
Note S Obligations under the Arrangement Agreerasr@mended hereby), and each of Borrower and thea@Giors confirms its grant of
security interest in its assets as Collaterallier$ecured Obligations, all as
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provided in the Loan Documents, and (d) each of@®wer and the Guarantors acknowledges that sudfagige and/or grant continues in full
force and effect in respect of, and to secureSineured Obligations.

SECTION 7. Governing LawTHIS AMENDMENT, AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OFTHE PARTIES HEREUNDER,
SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETEIN ACCORDANCE WITH, FEDERAL LAW AND NOT THE
LAW OF ANY STATE OR LOCALITY. TO THE EXTENT THAT ACOURT LOOKS TO THE LAWS OF ANY STATE TO DETERMINE
OR DEFINE THE FEDERAL LAW, IT IS THE INTENTION OF HE PARTIES HERETO THAT SUCH COURT SHALL LOOK ONLYO
THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REGARD TOHE RULES OF CONFLICTS OF LAWS.

SECTION 8. CounterpartsThis Amendment may be executed in counterpartseoparties hereof, and each such counterpatttshal
considered an original and all such counterpail shnstitute one and the same instrument. Thigggamay deliver such counterparts by
facsimile or electronic transmission in ElectroR@mrmat. Each party hereto agrees to deliver a nigneseecuted original promptly following
such facsimile or electronic transmission.

SECTION 9. HeadingsParagraph headings have been inserted in thi;mdment as a matter of convenience for referenceamd it is
agreed that such paragraph headings are not afghis Amendment and shall not be used in the'pméation of any provision of this
Amendment.

[Remainder of page intentionally blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exetthis Amendment as of the day and year first alvogationed.

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF
ENERGY

By: /s/ David Frant:

Name: David Frant
Title: Acting Director, ATVM Loar
Prograr

TESLA MOTORS, INC.

By: /s/ Deepak Ahuja

Name: Deepak Ahuj
Title: CFO

TESLA MOTORS NEW YORK LLC
By: Tesla Motors, Inc., its sole memt

By: /s/ Deepak Ahuji

Name: Deepak Ahuj
Title: CFO

TESLA MOTORS LEASING, INC

By: /s/ Deepak Ahuji

Name: Deepak Ahuj
Title: Presiden

[Signature Page to First Amendment to Loan Arrangigmand Reimbursement Agreeme



Exhibit A
PERMITTED INVESTMENTS

Tesla Motors, Inc.
Department of Energy Loan Facility

ii)

iv)

v)

Vi)

Dedicated Account anc

Non Dedicated Cast Initial Debt Service
Accounts Account
PNC
Marketable securities that are dir Maturities up to 360 days from date Maturities up to 360 days from date
obligations of the U.S. or where acquisition acquisition
principal/interest are fully guaranteed by the
u.S.
Marketable securities that are issued by  Maturities up to 360 days from date Maturities up to 360 days from date
agency of the U.S. or where principal/interesicquisition acquisition, provided that agencies can at
are fully guaranteed by an agency of the U.S., no time exceed 5% of the dedicated
all of which are backed by the U. account valut
Marketable securities that are dir Maturities up to 360 days from date Not permitted, except any instruments
obligations of any member of the EEA, acquisition, provided that credit rating at by a Money Market fund in viii)

Switzerland or Japan, or any agency thereofime of acquisition is AA- (Moody'’s) or
or obligations unconditionally guaranteed byAa3 (S&P)
such countrie

Marketable securities that are gent Maturities up to 360 days from date Not permitted, except any instruments
obligations of any U.S. state or political acquisition, provided that credit rating at by a Money Market fund in viii)
subdivision thereof that is guaranteed by sutitme of acquisition is AA- (Moody'’s) or

state Aa3 (S&P)

Commercial paper issued by any en Maturities up to 270 days from date Not permitted, except any instruments
organized under the laws of the U.S. or anyacquisition, provided CP is rated at least By a Money Market fund in viii)

state 1 (Moody's) or A-1 (S&P)

Fully collateralized repurchase agreements Term not to exceed 30 days for obligatioff®erm not to exceed 30 days for obligations
of the type (i) to (iv) above, and meeting of the type (i) to (ii) above, and meeting
the financial institution requirements listethe financial institution requirements listed
under (vii)(a) below under (vii)(b) below



vii)a) Demand deposits, time deposits, CD’s
or bankers’ acceptances of any
commercial bank that is (x) organized
under the laws of the U.S. or any state,
or the principal banking subsidiary of a
bank holding company organized under
the laws of the U.S., any state, the
EEA, Switzerland or Japan; (y) subject
to supervision/examination by federal
or state banking authorities and (z)
either (a) has combined capital and
surplus of at least $500 million or (b)
has the highest rating obtainable from
S&P and Mood’s

vii) b) Demand deposits, time deposits,’s or

bankers’acceptances of any commercial b
that is (x) organized under the laws of the

U.S. or any state; (y) subject to

supervision/examination by federal or state
banking authorities and (z) either (a) has

Maturities up to 180 days

Covered under (vii)(a) aboy

combined capital and surplus of at least $500

million or (b) has the highest rating obtaine

from S&P and Mood's

viii) Money market funds that have net asse!

not less than $500M ar

iX) The Fidelity Funds, Government Fund, cl

three shares, CUSIP: 316175¢

Average maturity of assets is 60 day:
less and a credit rating of Aaa (Moc('s)

Permitted

Not permitted

Maturities up to 180 day

Average maturity of assets is 60 day:
less and a credit rating of Aaa (Mo('s)

Permitted



Exhibit 10.37B

LIMITED WAIVER TO THE
LOAN ARRANGEMENT AND REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT

LIMITED WAIVER, dated as of February 22, 2012 (thisVaiver "), to the Loan Arrangement and Reimbursement Ages#, dated as
of January 20, 2010 (as amended by the First Amentlito the Loan Arrangement and Reimbursement Ageeédated as of June 15, 2011
and as further amended, supplemented or otherwaskfied from time to time prior to the date heretble “ Arrangement Agreement”),
between Tesla Motors, Inc. (th&brrower ") and the United States Department of Energp @E ”). Unless otherwise defined herein, terms
defined in the Arrangement Agreement and used mef&ll have the meanings given to them in thefigeanent Agreement.

WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested that DOE afgreertain limited waivers of noncompliance witle tierms of the Arrangement
Agreement, and DOE is willing to agree to sucht@diwaivers on the terms and conditions hereinagéforth;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoimgl or other good and valuable consideration, geeipt and sufficiency of whic
are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hergite as follows:

SECTION 1. Limited Waivers

(a) Effective as of the Waiver Effective Date (&figed below) and subject to the conditions sahfor paragraph (b) of this Section 1
below, the obligation of the Borrower to comply lwihe following financial covenants set forth inc8en 9.1 of the Arrangement Agreement
are hereby waived solely with respect to the periadicated below:

(i) The Borrower shall not be required to complywthe Leverage Ratio covenant set forth in Annédxd)(i) of the Arrangement
Agreement for the fiscal quarters ending Decemlie£812, March 31, 2013 and June 30, 2013;

(i) The Borrower shall not be required to complithithe Interest Coverage Ratio covenant set fiorthnnex 9.1(d)(ii) of the
Arrangement Agreement for the fiscal quarters emdecember 31, 2012, March 31, 2013 and June 3(8; 200d

(iii) The Borrower shall not be required to complith the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio covenantasét fn Annex 9.1(d)(iii) of
the Arrangement Agreement for the fiscal quartexireg December 31, 2012, March 31, 2013 and Jun2(B(B.

(b) Such waivers are subject to the condition taaything set forth in Section 2.13 of the ArrangeitmAgreement to the contrary
notwithstanding, the Borrower shall have depositéal the Initial Debt Service Account (x) on or begf



February 29, 2012, an aggregate amount equal tles®than a good faith estimate by Borrower ofNbée Installments and all accrued
interest on the Loans due and payable on the QlyaRayment Date occurring on December 15, 2012(gnhdn or before October 15, 2012,
aggregate amount equal to not less than a godddsiimate by Borrower of the Note Installments alhdccrued interest on the Loans due
payable on the Quarterly Payment Dates occurriniglarch 15, 2013 and June 15, 2013, it being agttestd(i) the “Initial Debt Service
Requirement” shall be deemed to mean, collectively, an ameugptal to all Note Installments and all accruedrggeon the Loans that, in
each case, will become due and payable on the €lyatayment Dates occurring on December 15, 2BtE2¢h 15, 2013 and June 15, 2013,
and (ii) amounts credited to the Initial Debt SeevAccount shall be available to the Borrower solelpay the Note Installments and all
accrued interest on the Loans that will becomeattkpayable on the Quarterly Payment Dates ocguoinDecember 15, 2012, March 15,
2013 and June 15, 2013 (which shall be deemed tohebénitial Debt Service Payment Dates) pursuant to Section 2.13(d) of the
Arrangement Agreement, until such payments hava besde in full.

(c) Compliance with Section 1(b) of this Waiver k@ deemed to constitute compliance by the Boetowith Section 2.13(c) of the
Arrangement Agreement. Any failure of the Borroueesatisfy the requirement to fund the Initial D8etrvice Account as and when set forth
in Section 1(b) shall be referred to asRéeserve Noncompliance Everit for purposes of this Waiver (it being understood agreed that sut
designation is without prejudice to any other riggahd remedies that DOE may have in connectionavithfailure of the Borrower to comply
with Section 2.13(c) of the Arrangement Agreementredified hereby, including any Default or EvehDefault that may occur as a result
thereof). If at any time after the Waiver Effectidate, a Reserve Noncompliance Event shall haverpet and be continuing, then the waivers
set forth in Section 1(a) shall be of no force ffed.

SECTION 2. Representations and WarrantiEach of the Obligors hereby represents and wisrtarDOE that:

(a) As of the Waiver Effective Date, no Defaulttrent of Default has occurred and is continuing.

(b) Each of the representations and warranties mgpdey Obligor in or pursuant to the Transactiac@ments (other than the
representations and warranties contained in Ar8abé the Note Purchase Agreement) is true andecbim all material respects on and as of
Waiver Effective Date as if made on and as of thewat Effective Date (except to the extent suchiesgntations and warranties relate to an
earlier date, in which case, such representatindsxarranties were true and correct in all mategapects as of such earlier date).

SECTION 3._Effectiveness of this WaiveFhis Waiver shall become effective on the date (tWaiver Effective Date”) when DOE
(i) shall have received copies of all board, staittr and other corporate approvals of the Obligegsiired for this Waiver, (ii) shall have
received duly executed counterparts hereof thattheasignatures




of Borrower and any other Obligor appearing ondigmature page hereof (it being agreed that theipeof duly executed counterparts
delivered by facsimile or electronic transmissinrElectronic Format shall be sufficient to satitfg requirements of this clause (ii)), and
(iii) shall have executed this Waiver.

SECTION 4. Effect of Waiver

(a) Except as expressly set forth herein, this \ashall not by implication or otherwise limit, ilmip, constitute a waiver of or otherwise
affect the rights and remedies of DOE under tha#gement Agreement or any other Loan Document laaiti rsot alter, modify, amend or in
any way affect any of the terms, conditions, olilyss, covenants or agreements contained in therggment Agreement or any other
provision of the Arrangement Agreement or of artyeotLoan Document, all of which are ratified anfirafed in all respects and shall contir
in full force and effect. Nothing herein shall beedhed to entitle the Borrower or any other Obligoa consent to, or a waiver, amendment,
modification or other change of, any of the terom)ditions, obligations, covenants or agreementsagoed in the Arrangement Agreement or
any other Loan Document in similar or differentaimstances.

(b) On and after the Waiver Effective Date, eadhrence in the Arrangement Agreement to “this Agreet”, “hereunder”, “hereof’,
“herein”, or words of like import, and each refecerto the “Arrangement Agreement” in any other L&atument shall be deemed a reference
to the Arrangement Agreement as modified herebis Waiver shall be deemed an amendment to the germent Agreement pursuant to
Section 12.1 of the Arrangement Agreement and datesia “Loan Document” for all purposes of the @&rgement Agreement and the other
Loan Documents.

SECTION 5. Consent and Reaffirmatioa) Each Guarantor hereby consents to this Waindrthe transactions contemplated hereby,
(b) each of Borrower and the Guarantors agreesnbawithstanding the effectiveness of this Waitke, Guarantee, the Security Agreement
and each of the other Loan Documents continue io hel force and effect, (c) each Guarantor can8 its guarantee of the Guaranteed
Obligations (as defined in the Guarantee and wdé&fmnition, for clarity, incorporates by refererméNote P Obligations and all Note S
Obligations under the Arrangement Agreement as fieadnereby), and each of Borrower and the Guaramonfirms its grant of a security
interest in its assets as Collateral for the Set@ieligations, all as provided in the Loan Docurseand (d) each of Borrower and the
Guarantors acknowledges that such guarantee agw@forr continues in full force and effect in respafctand to secure, the Secured Obligati

SECTION 6. Governing LawTHIS WAIVER, AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF Ti# PARTIES HEREUNDER, SHALL
BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACORDANCE WITH, FEDERAL LAW AND NOT THE LAW OF
ANY STATE OR LOCALITY. TO THE EXTENT THAT A COURT IOOKS TO THE LAWS OF ANY STATE TO DETERMINE OR
DEFINE THE FEDERAL LAW, IT IS THE INTENTION OF THEPARTIES HERETO THAT SUCH COURT SHALL LOOK ONLY TO
THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REGARD TOHE RULES OF CONFLICTS OF LAWS.
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SECTION 7. CounterpartsThis Waiver may be executed in counterparts efptirties hereof, and each such counterpart shall b
considered an original and all such counterpai shnstitute one and the same instrument. Thigggamay deliver such counterparts by
facsimile or electronic transmission in ElectroR@mrmat. Each party hereto agrees to deliver a nigneseecuted original promptly following

such facsimile or electronic transmission.

SECTION 8. HeadingsParagraph headings have been inserted in thigdas a matter of convenience for reference omdyigis
agreed that such paragraph headings are not afghis Waiver and shall not be used in the intetgion of any provision of this Waiver.

[Remainder of page intentionally blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exetthis Waiver as of the day and year first abovetineed.

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF
ENERGY

By: /s/ Frances Nwachuk

Name: Frances Nwachul
Title: Director, Portfolio Manageme
Division

[Signature Page to Limited Waive



TESLA MOTORS, INC.

By: /s/ Deepak Ahuji

Name: Deepak Ahuj
Title: Chief Financial Office

TESLA MOTORS NEW YORK LLC
By: Tesla Motors, Inc., its sole memt

By: /s/ Deepak Ahuja

Name: Deepak Ahuj
Title: Chief Financial Office

TESLA MOTORS LEASING, INC

By: /s/ Deepak Ahuja

Name: Deepak Ahuj
Title: Chief Financial Office

TESLA MOTORS MA, INC.

By: /s/ Deepak Ahuiji

Name:Deepak Ahuj
Title: Presiden

TESLA MOTORS PA, INC

By: /s/ Deepak Ahuji

Name:Deepak Ahuj
Title: Presiden

NORTHERN NEVADA RESEARCH CO.
LLC

By: /s/ Deepak Ahuja

Name:Deepak Ahuj
Title: Chief Financial Office

[Signature Page to Limited Waiver]



Exhibit 10.5C
Confidential Treatment Requested by Tesla Motors,ric.

SUPPLY AGREEMENT
Among

TESLA MOTORS, INC,,

TESLAS

J

b
i

PANASONIC INDUSTRIAL COMPANY, DIVISION OF
PANASONIC CORPORATION OF NORTH AMERICA,

and

PANASONIC CORPORATION, ACTING THROUGH
ENERGY COMPANY.

Panaso_nic

October 5, 2011

[***] Information has been omitted and filed separateity whe Securities and Exchange Commission. Confide Treatment has be
requested with respect to the omitted portit



Confidential Treatment Requested by Tesla Motors,ric.
THIS SUPPLY AGREEMENT is entered into as of this 5th day of October, 2Qhé& “Effective Date”) among:

Tesla Motors, Inc., a Delaware corporation, with its principal plafebusiness at 3500 Deer Creek, Palo Alto, Calito®4304, U.S./
(“Tesla”); and

Panasonic Industrial Company, Division of Panasoni€orporation of North America , a Delaware corporation, with its office loce
at Three Panasonic Way, Secaucus, New Jersey @Q7R@F); and

Panasonic Corporation, acting through Energy Compag , a Japanese corporation, with its office located-4 Matsushitazho
Moriguchi-city, Osaka, Japan (“PEC”") (PIC and PH@lshereinafter be collectively referred to asriBsonic”).

WHEREAS, Tesla intends to manufacture Li-lon batieacks (hereinafter called “Finished Produdsfined in Section 1) with the Itel
(hereinafter defined in Section 1) supplied by Rani.

WHEREAS, Panasonic is willing to supply the Itemdesla in accordance with this Agreement.
The Parties agree as follows:

1. Definitions. Unless defined additionally elsewhere in this Agneat, the following capitalized terms shall have theanings specifi
below:
a) “Agreemer” means (i) this Supply Agreement, (ii) all Attachrteerand (iii) all Orders, as each may be amendsd fime to time

b) “Attachment’means any document that is referenced in this $upgpteement and attached hereto. All Attachmengsdeemed 1
be incorporated into this Agreement by this refeee

c) “DAP Poin” means delivered at place as set forth in Incot@@i$ at Tesl's receiving location(s) in Californi

d) “Finished Produc” means L-lon battery packs and Modules assembled by Testhvelmich incorporate Items provided
Panasonic

e) ‘“ltem” and“Items” means one (in its singular form) or more than anétg plural form) L-lon battery cells which are manufactu
by PEC and which are supplied to Tesla by PIC asifipd in (i) Attachment 1, or (ii) an Orde

f)  “Module” means smallest replaceable unit in a Tesla bgbieck.
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“Orde” means an order for Items communicated pursuartisoAgreement by Tesla to Panasonic via a purchedsr whether i
hardcopy or electronic form. All Orders are deerttelde incorporated into this Agreement by this nefiee.

“Partie” means Tesla and Panasoil
“Specificatiol” means the specification and product requirememtsdoh Item mutually agreed to by the pari
“Supplie” means Panasoni

“Tesla Applicatio” means any product into which a Tesla battery packstalled. A Tesla Roadster is an example of sle
Application.

2. Scope of Agreement; Term.

a)

b)

Scope of AgreementThis Agreement sets forth the terms and conditigaverning the purchase and supply of Items ag
relationship between Tesla and Panasonic in coimmestith the purchase and supply of Items. Tesklldbe entitled to purcha
Items from Panasonic under this Agreement. Notlirinthis Agreement shall prevent Tesla from engadimgl parties other thi
Panasonic to provide goods that are the same admdar to, the ltems. Nothing in this Agreemehtl$ prevent Panasonic fr
providing goods that are the same as, or similath® Items to third parties other than Te

Term. This Agreement shall commence on the Effectivéelad, unless terminated as set forth in SectBo(T#rmination), she
end on December 31, 2015. This Agreement, howebhal] be automatically extended from year to yearafdditional one (1) ye
periods, unless one Party gives a written noticemwhination to the other Parties at least six@l) @ays before the expiration datt
the initial term or then current term. The effeetjpyeriod of this Agreement is referred to as“ Term”

3. Forecasts and Orders.

a)

[***]

Monthly Forecasts and Order®n the first (1st) business day of each calendar month, Tesla phalide Panasonic with a [**
forecast for Tesla’s anticipated requirements efltams (“Monthly Forecast”) [***]. On the first (2) day of each calendar mor
Tesla shall issue firm and irrevocable Orders f3¥][ Tesla shall have the right (i) to decrease tBrders [***]; and/or (ii) t
decrease the Orders [***]; in each case withoutitémithl charges or penalties, provided, howeveat fhesla shall include su
decreased volume of the Orders based upon (i))@b@ve in the immediately following three montkBr'ders. Tesla and Panasc
may negotiate on [***]; in each case without adufital charges or penalties. The Orders for the [*ipnths excluding ai
increases negotiated and agreed to for the [***hthe are referred to herein as the Committed Voturiibe Orders shall comj
with applicable lead times and shall be -cancellable. Delivery of Orders shall not be petito be rescheduled without 1
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prior written consent of Panasonic and the payrhgritesla of any rescheduling charges specifieddnaBonic

Order Requirements An Order shall (i) identify the Items requestatd gii) state the quantity, date, time, mode anacelo
delivery, and price of the Items requested (unpgssiously specified in Attachment 1, which shalhtrol in the event of a confii
with the Order)

Acceptance/Rejection of Order$anasonic shall communicate to Tesla its acceptan rejection of a forecast and related C
within [***] working days of Panasonis receipt of the Order. [***]. Any notice of rejeéah shall state the specific grounds for ¢
rejection. If Panasonic fails to notify Tesla af iejection of an Order within [***] working dayd @anasonics receipt of the Orde
the Order shall be deemed accepted by Pana:

Forecast Adjustments Panasonic acknowledges that Tesla may be requiradodify forecasts from time to time, but s
modifications to the forecasts shall not resuliithange and/or cancellation of any firm and iroelmbe Orders as describec
Section 3(a)

Purchases by Authorized Third Pa. Items may be incorporated into Finished Produwsle for Tesla by a third party. Upon
mutual agreement of the Parties, Tesla may desighat third party as authorized to purchase Itenmis fPanasonic. Such th
party shall meet Panasordctechnical requirements for battery handling aattely pack assembly, purchasing requirement:
credit terms as established by Panasonic from tomgme. Tesla shall cause such third party to reiit®o an agreement wi
Panasonic to purchase Items from Panasonic on gmohsonditions substantially similar to the telams conditions set forth in tl
Agreement

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contraryn&sonic shall not be obligated to deliver any ItamJesla unless Tesla |
issued an Order to Panasonic as set forth in Se8{m).

Purchase Commitmer. As set forth in Section 4(a), Tesla shall pureh#ise quantities of the Items set forth in Attaching
(“Commitment Quantit"). Tesla may buy goods from third parties that aretidal or similar to the Iltem:

Contract Price. “Contract Price” means the domestic and/or export price in [***] for Item as set forth in Attachment 1. [**

Pricing Adjustment. In addition to Section 4 (a), Contract Prices nibeyadjusted as a result of changes in the pricg*tf
according to the Price Adjustment Mechanism sdhfon Attachment 1 by following the Price Adjustrhé&fechanism Process
forth on Attachment Z

[***] Information has been omitted and filed separateity whe Securities and Exchange Commission. Confide Treatment has be
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c) Pricing Component. The Contract Prices, and any quotations for lteshall include all finishing, testing, inspectiagd packagin
fees, applicable royalties and all applicable taeesluding sales, use and similar taxes). Any aims for Items shall include
costs relating to warrantie

d) Transportation and Insurance Caosls the case of delivery to the DAP Point, the tCact Price does not include cost of shipr
which shall be invoiced as a separate line il

e) Taxes Tesla will pay any applicable excise, sales,arsgimilar tax imposed in connection with the safldtems to Tesla; providk
that Panasonic shall not charge or collect, andaTgisall have no liability for, taxes on any safeltems for which Tesla h.
provided Panasonic with an appropriate resalefioatie or other documentation evidencing an exeonptiom such taxes. For
sales of Items upon which tax reimbursement to Samia is applicable, Panasonic shall separatefgite all applicable taxes
invoices submitted to Tesla. All amounts payabldarrthis Agreement are exclusive of Value Added (\N&T) which will be paic
at the date and in the manner for the time beieggibed by law

f)  Recycling Fees Tesla will pay any applicable recycling fees dbldtidecide to recycle the Items and/or if anyesuand regulatiol
pertaining to battery recycling change to requireycling of the Items

5. Delivery of Items.

a) Delivery Requirements Panasonic shall meet the (i) negotiated lead ;ti(ieorder adjustment requirements as set for
Section 3; and (iii) time, date, location and ottelivery requirements for Items as set forth ia @rder.

b) Remedies Panasonic will use its best efforts to delivez thommitted Volumes at the time and place set fortthe Order; |
Panasonic fails to deliver the Committed Volumethattime and place set forth in the Order, andQhder is based on the agr
schedule and quantity, Tesla shall have the r[gtH.

c) Refusal of Delivery. If Tesla shall at any time wrongly refuse to gitcdelivery of any shipment of ltems, such shipmex
Panasonic’s option, may be held for Teslatcount, and Panasonic may invoice, and Teslambanptly pay, for such shipme
Tesla may at any time thereafter and from timene tbe invoiced by Panasonic, and Tesla agreesotagly accept and pay et
such invoice, for any and all freight, handling,relaouse, labor and other costs incurred by Panasgdrich arise from or which &
in any way related to or associated with such wiahngfusal by Tesla to accept such shipment wstdh time as delivery of su
shipment is accepted by Tes

6. Shipping and Packaging Requirements.
a) Panasonic and Tesla shall mutually agree on theofdieight related expenses to the DAP Pc
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b) Panasonic will ship all Items in accordance wite ffransportation, Packaging and Labeling Specifinaset forth in the ce
specification. If Tesla specifies an authorizeplrig service level (such as ground, sea, air,rsbday, nexday, etc.) in a speci
Order and Panasonic has previously agreed thaintprovide such shipping service level, Panasoriic ship such Items i
accordance with the shipping service level incluohedn Order; provided, however, that Tesla shalfésponsible for any increa:
costs resulting from the use of such shipping serigvel.

c) The Items shall be packaged, marked and labeled¢dordance with mutually agreed upon specificatitmsll events, Panasol
must include a valid packing slip number or packdyen each package or shipment of Ite

7. Acceptance.

a) Initial Inspection and Notificatiol. Tesla will inspect the shipments of Items frorm&sonic promptly upon delivery, but in
event within [***] days of delivery to the DAP Pdinusing such testing procedures as Tesla detesmaireeappropriate to determ
if the Items conform to the mutually agreed upaspection specifications, and will include an OC¥ttend impedance test ami
others. Any claim by Tesla arising from such ingjgecthat an Item fails to comply with the mutuadlgreed specifications must
made within [***] days of the delivery of the Iteto the DAP Point. Notification of nooenformity will be made in writing ar
supporting documentation will be provided to PamésoAn Item will be deemed automatically accepbgdlesla if Panasonic dc
not receive a natification of n-conformity within [***] days of the delivery of thééem to the DAP Poin

b) Tesla shall promptly supply to Panasonic the deddifcts and additional supporting evidence witipeet to the allegedly defect
ltems.

c) If the cause of the defect is determined by thei€%ato be solely attributable to Panasonic, Pamashall replace the Items fou
to be defective by Tesla. [***]

d) Upon written instruction from Panasonic, Tesla kbhip, at its expense, any allegedly defectiveng¢o Panasonic for inspect
and testing. Upon Panasorsctonfirmation that the defect in the Items wassedusolely by Panasonic, Panasonic shall reim
Tesla for the reasonable transportation costs Higpgping the Items to Panasonic for inspection addirtg. If Panasonic instru
Tesla in writing to destroy the allegedly defectitems, Panasonic shall reimburse Tesla for theomeble cost of such destructi

8. Payment.

a) Payment TermsPayment by Tesla for Items shall be in [***] asball be made [***] from the date of Panasosi@voice in th
case of delivery to the DAP Point. The PartiesIshalhe future negotiate in good faith a modifibd\P approach whereby Te
manages freight and risk of loss to the deliveryipadn the case of [***], basically, payment cuney by Tesla for Items is expec
to be [***], but such currency shall
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discussed and agreed by both parties in the fultesla is authorized by Panasonic to make paymemdsr this Agreement
either check or electronic funds transfer, and Bamia shall provide Tesla with the information resaey for electronic fun
transfer capability. With prior consultation witkedla, [***].

Invoices. Panasonic will submit invoices to Tesla no eatli@an when the ltems are received at the DAP P

Title, Risk of Loss and No Right of OffseTesla will take title to and assume risk of lémsall Items at the DAP Point. Tesla sl
not have the right to withhold payments to Panasonireduce the amount of payments owed to Panasadier this Agreement 1
fees, claims, damages, expenses or other amouets, @walleged to be owed, to Tesla from Panasamier this Agreement or a
other agreemen

9. Responsibility for the Quality of the Items and theFinished Products.

a)

b)

[***]

Warranty. Panasonic represents and warrants to Tesladhatgeriod ending [***] from the date of deliveof the Item to Tesla
the DAP Point (“Warranty Period”the Item will be free from defects in workmanshipdamaterial and will comply with tl
Specifications. Tesla hereby acknowledges and agteat if an Item is not defective and/or compliggh its applicabl
Specifications, it does not mean that a Tesla tyaptack, Module and/or Finished Product cannotéfeative for some other reas
including, without limitation, improper design ormamufacturing by Tesla or a third par

Warranty Exclusions Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrdPgnasonic shall have no obligation to Tesla forari
defects relating to the design and manufacturédeblerall system, equipment and/or goods of witiehltems are part; or (ii) a
defects in the Items that have been caused bye&Ea¥ shipment or storage of the Items, (b) articlessupplied by Panason
including, without limitation, the goods or systemt which the Items are installed, (c) accidenaat of God, or misuse, negle
abuse, mishandling, misapplication, modificatiolteration by Tesla or any third party, or improjestallation, service, operati
testing, checkout or maintenance by Tesla or aird tharty, or (d) failure by Tesla or any third pato follow the instruction:
cautions, warnings, and notes set forth in the @paton, and any other direction from Panaso

End User Return and NotificatioMesla shall agree to receive the Items thatitsweser customers return to Tesla. Tesla shak
and control those returned Items from its end wsstomers and inspect the Items to identify theseanf return. As a result
Teslas inspection under this Section 9(c), if the reasbmeturn is solely attributable to a breach of tharranties set forth
Section 9(a) and such return of each Item is doitieirwthe Warranty Period, Tesla shall communidais in writing to Panasor
with supporting evidence, and shall return the (®nto Panasonic within [***] working days after 3la has received the returi
Item(s). Panasonic shall be responsible for eaah kinly to the extent that, as a result of thenspection of each such returi
Item, it is concluded pursuant to either Sectioa) @f Section 9(g) that the cause of the returthefitem was due solely to a bre
of the warranties in Section 9(a) resulting in
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Item failure caused by: [***] or (3) Panaso’s nor-compliance with the Specifications. If the causemd user return is not due
one of the above three failure modes resultinglgélem the breach of the warranties in Sectior) 9zen Tesla shall be respons
for the returned Item. In order to assist in verifycause of cell failure, Tesla shall monitor [¥*

d) Notification of Defect. In the event an Item is returned to Tesla by ad eBser customer and the reason of return is ¢
attributable to the breach of the warranties inti&a®(a) resulting in one or both of the failuredes described in Section 9(c)
such return of the Item is done within the WarraRgriod, (a “Defect” and an Item with a Defect aefEctive Item”),then Tesl
will promptly notify Panasonic in writing regardirguch Defect, and will include with the notificati@ll available informatic
relating to the Defect. Tesla will cooperate wigmBsonic in Panasor's verification of such informatiol

e) Determination of Defec. For purposes of replacement of Items, the existarf a Defect will be established by Tesla in filngt
instance, subject to Panasosi#erification and right to dispute the existené@a @efect and to allow for determination by a d
party of any such Defect as specified in Sectia@) ®elow. In the event of notification pursuantSection 9(d), then, subject
Panasonic verification and right to dispute the existenta ®efect, Panasonic shall, [***]. Tesla will prqthy notify Panasonic
writing regarding such Defect, and will include ithe notification, all available information reted to the Defect. Tesla w
cooperatewith Panasonic in Panaso’s verification of such information. [***]

f)  Warranty Liability; Disclaimer. Panasonis sole, exclusive and full liability under its lirad warranties set forth in Section 9(a)
be to [***], as described in section 9(e) abovGBHE WARRANTIES SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT ARE
EXCLUSIVE AND ARE IN LIEU OF ALL OTHER WARRANTIES, WHETHER ARISING FROM A COURSE OF
DEALING, COURSE OF PERFORMANCE OR TRADE USAGE, OR WHETHER ORAL, WRITTEN, EXPRESS,
IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO , THE WARRANTIES OF NON- INFRINGEMENT,
MERCHANTABILITY, AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPO SE, ALL OF WHICH ARE HEREBY WAIVED BY
TESLA. THE EMPLOYEES AND AGENTS OF PANASONIC ARE NO T AUTHORIZED TO MAKE MODIFICATIONS
TO SUCH WARRANTIES, OR ADDITIONAL WARRANTIES BINDIN G ON PANASONIC; ACCORDINGLY,
ADDITIONAL STATEMENTS, WHETHER ORAL OR WRITTEN, DO NOT CONSTITUTE WARRANTIES AND
SHOULD NOT BE RELIED UPON BY TESLA. FOR THE AVOIDAN CE OF DOUBT, TESLA UNDERSTANDS THAT
THE ITEMS MAY MALFUNCTION OR BECOME UNSTABLE WHEN S UBJECTED TO (i) [***] , OR (iii) ANY
OTHER CONDITIONS DIFFERENT FROM THOSE FOR WHICH THE ITEMS WERE ORIGINALLY DESIGNED,
AND THAT TESLA SHOULD TAKE PROPER STEPS TO PROTECT THE MODULE AND ITEMS INSIDE THE
MODULE FROM SUCH CONDITIONS. NO ACTION OR SUIT SHAL L BE BROUGHT ON AN ALLEGED BREACH OF
THE WARRANTIES SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT
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MORE THAN [***] MONTHS FOLLOWING THE EXPIRATION OF THE APPLICABLE W ARRANTY PERIOD.

Third Party DeterminationIn the event of a disagreement or dispute abdoekistence of a Defect, the parties will desigria
mutual agreement a third party that will make tbehhical determination of the existence of a Defew whether such Defi
resulted from a breach of Panas’s warranties as set forth in Section 9

Quality Plan Requirements and Approv&anasonic will supply Items according to the ralljuagreed upon part approval que
plan therefor. Only after the quality plan for tibems is submitted and approved by Tesla, shalltdras be allowed to be shipg
for use in manufacturing the Finished Products.aBanic shall at Tesla’'costs and expenses submit a mutually agreedityuaf
samples of a standard production run of the Iteniesla per a mutually agreed quality plan. Pariasivall also provide Tesla w
the following information regarding the Iten

i. QC inspection process flowcha
ii. [***]

iii. Panasonic agrees to the Quality Requirements aifaodreto as Attachment

10. Quality Control of the Finished Products.

a)

b)

c)

d)

[***]

Tesla shall establish and maintain proper qualitytiol and inspection systems at each stage of faetwing, assembly, stora
inspection and shipping of the Items. Tesla shedl itis best efforts to prevent any and all [***]ating to the use of the Items
Tesla or any third party. [***]

Panasonic may enter from time to time with reaste advance notice into TedaFinished Products assembly facility for
purpose of inspecting and examining the qualitytcdrand inspection systems referred to in sectiofa). If appropriate, the Part
shall enter into a nodisclosure agreement in connection with such inspe@nd examination. Tesla reserves the righthield
particular confidential areas of the Finished Pais@ssembly facility or process

Panasonic may from time to time give Tesla advicestruction as to optimize the performance ofrigein the Finished Produ
and/or the quality control and inspection systeeferred to in section 10(a) as Panasonic deemojppate. Tesla may, up
receipt of such advice or instructions, comply wihch advice or instructions if the advice is degmeasonable by Te!
management and is within the scope of Tesla busiplesis and objective

Any advice or instructions given by Panasonic urSiection 10(c) is not intended to indemnify Tesladny acts or omissions
which it is responsible, nor shall it create anynaaty by Panasonic for the Finished Products Teslaufactures
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11. Indemnification.

a)

b)

[***]

Indemnity by TeslaTesla acknowledges and agrees that any work ctedldby Tesla with regard to the assembly, manufaat

placement (inside a Tesla Application) of the Fieid Products hereunder is Teslable and full responsibility. Except to the e
that a claim is solely attributable to Panasailw'each of the warranty set forth in Section &&jve, Tesla agrees, during the 1
of this Agreement and thereafter, to defend, indgmand hold Panasonic, its divisions, parent, glibges and affiliates, and th
respective officers and directors (collectivelye ttPanasonic Parties"jarmless from any and all damages, claims, liasl
injuries (including personal injuries and deattgsdes, expenses (including attornefe®s and litigation expenses), and ¢
(collectively, “Claims”)arising out of or relating to Tesla battery padke Modules, Tesla Application and the FinisheddBode
(including circuit and equipment matching issuesyl gheir respective assembly, manufacture or placénsale, use, operati
storage, transportation, or otherwise, whetherdhanm is brought by Tesla, its customers or bydhjarties. [***]. Tesla sha
defend, indemnify and hold the Panasonic Partiesilleas from such Claims arising out of or relatind***] involving the Items
no matter how such [***]. This limitation shall alypregardless of the cause of action or legal thgied or asserted. Nothi
herein to the contrary shall prevent any PanasBaity from pursuing its remedies at law or in ggagainst Tesla with respect
any Claim.

Indemnity by Panason. At any time during the term of this Agreement dnereafter, Panasonic shall indemnify and holdal éts

divisions, parent, subsidiaries and affiliates, #meir respective officers and directors (colleelyy the “Tesla Parties”harmles
from and against any and all Claims arising oup&fsonal injury (including death) or property damadjeged to have been so
caused by a breach of the warranties set fortregti@ 9(a), unless Tesla was aware of or, in #egakse of reasonable care, she
have been aware of the existence of such defeatidged, however, Panasonic shall have no liabilityfesla with respect to a
failure of the Items caused by the integrationhef items to make the Finished Products, any fadéi@rcuit or equipment matchi
issues. To the maximum extent permitted by law|a egrees to limit Panasonscliability pursuant to this Section 11(b) to
lesser of (i) [***] and (ii) [***] immediately pre@ding the date of the event giving rise to the i@larhis limitation shall app
regardless of the cause of action or legal theteyl pr asserted. Nothing herein to the contraryl ghhavent any Tesla Party frc
pursuing its remedies at law or in equity agairstdsonic with respect to any Clai

Procedures. The Parties shall give each other prompt writtetice of any Claim which is or may be subjectridemnificatiol

hereunder. The indemnifying Party will be respolesitor defending any and all such Claims hereun@ge indemnifying Par
shall determine, in its sole and absolute discnetibe manner in which any Claim shall be handledtberwise disposed of. T
indemnified Party shall cooperate fully with thelé@mnifying Party, including, but not limited to, mplying with all reasonab
requests for all relevant information and evidendee indemnifying Party shall be responsible fdrrahsonable direct costs ¢
expenses incurred by the indemnif
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Party in connection with providing such cooperatiercept for salaries of the employees of the indéed Party and fees a
expenses of any third party retained by the indéethParty in the defense of any Claim. In anyactr proceeding the defense
which an indemnifying Party assumes, the indemaiRarty will have the right to retain its own coehand be represented in s
litigation at the indemnified Party’own expense, provided, however, the indemnifiadyPshall not consent to any judgmen
decree in any such suit or pay or agree to paysany of money or agree to do any other act in comg® of any such Claim o
third party without first obtaining the indemnifgriParty s consent thereto in writin

12. Limitation of Liability; Insurance; Environmental C laims

a)

b)

[***]

EXCEPT FOR [***] (2) EACH PARTIES ' OBLIGATIONS SET FORTH IN SECTION 11 AND (3) TESLA'S
OBLIGATIONS SET FORTH IN SECTION 12(d), NEITHER PAR TY SHALL BE LIABLE OR RESPONSIBLE TO THE

OTHER PARTY FOR ANY SPECIAL, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, EXEMPLARY, CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE

DAMAGES ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS A GREEMENT, INCLUDING, WITHOUT

LIMITATION, ANY WORK DELAYS, LOST GOODWILL, PROFIT, REVENUE OR SAVINGS, LOSS OF USE, COS
OF CAPITAL, COST OF SUBSTITUTE EQUIPMENT, FACILITIE S OR SERVICES, OR DOWNTIME COSTS, EVEN IF
SUCH PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OR IS AWARE OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. EXCEPT FOR

EACH PARTIES' OBLIGATIONS SET FORTH IN SECTION 11 A ND TESLA’S OBLIGATIONS SET FORTH IN
SECTION 12(d), NEITHER PARTY’S LIABILITY FOR MONETARY DAMAGES TO THE OTHER PARTY  UNDER
THIS AGREEMENT SHALL EXCEED LESSER OF [***].

Insurance.

Tesla agrees to maintain in full force and effaclatimes while it has any obligations remainimgder this agreement, policies
insurance written as primary coverage and not dmrting with or in excess of any coverage which &amic may carry. The
policies will be issued by an insurance carrieregptable to Panasonic with a Bastating of at least A, X which affords
following.

a. Commercial General Liability Insurance, includingverage for Bodily Injury, Property Damage, Persoidury,
Contractual Liability, Products and Completed Ofiers in an amount not less than [***] per occurenProducts at
Completed operations coverage will be continued[ftt] years following the expiration of the Ternileslas product
liability policy is written on a claims made badisproducts liability coverage, or any other ccages, are written on a clai
made basis, Tesla will evidence that any retroadalate applicable to coverage under the policygates the effective date
this Agreement, and that continuous coverage vélintaintained or an extended discovery period véllexercised for
period of not less than [***] years beginning frahe time that final delivery of the product or Itésrmade
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b. Worker¢ Compensation Insurance in Statutory amounts anddymy’s Liability Insurance in an amount not less thaff]
per occurrence
C. Umbrella Excess Liability Insurance in an amourttlaes than [***] per occurrence, Combined Singlenlt.

ii. Tesla shall deliver to Panasonic within ten (10)daf the date of this Agreement and annually thiéee, Certificates
Insurance evidencing the above coverageith limits not less than those specified abdvech Certificates of Insuran
with the exception of Worker€€ompensation Insurance, will confirm that eachgylias been endorsed to name Pana:
its officers, directors and employees as additioraahed insured and contain a Waiver of Subrogatiwter the Workers
Compensation, Commercial General Liability and €e§ in favor of Panasonic. All Certificates of unance shall state tt
the carrier will endeavor to provide 30 day noticghe event of cancellation and 10 day noticehim ¢évent of cancellati
due to norpayment. Failure by Panasonic to receive or reggaugst Certificates of Insurance does not represewaiver o
the requirements for insurance coverage noted al

iii. The limits of insurance required shall not limiethesl’s liability under its Indemnification obligationstsforth herein

c) Tesla agrees to manufacture, assemble, sell adid¥pose of the Finished Products in compliance with laws and regulatio
related to health and safety of workers and gemnpralic, and environmental protection in the coigstivhere the Finished Prodt
are manufactured, handled, or s¢

d) Tesla shall be solely responsible for all healt#iety and environmental matters arising from theumfacture, assembly, sales, |
operation, storage, transportation, and/or dispo$ahe Finished Products, and shall, during thenTand thereafter, defel
indemnify, and hold Panasonic, its divisions, pgrenbsidiaries and affiliates, and their respectifficers and directors harml
from and against any and all claims, demands, ,saditgons, liabilities, judgments, losses or cdstsluding reasonable attorneys’
fees and costs of litigation), with respect to aajlution, threat and/or damage to the environmentjeath, disease, incapacit
injury to any person or damage to any propertyltiesy directly or indirectly, from the manufacty@ssembly, purchase, sales,
operation, storage, transportation, or dispos#hebattery packs, the Modules and/or the Finigtrediucts; except to the extent-
Tesla shall be exempted from such obligation if aadong as the cause of such damage is soleiguwttble to Panasonig’breac
of the warranty in Section 9(a). With respect te floregoing indemnity, the Parties shall follow theocedures set forth
Section 11(c)

13. Termination.

a) If either Party defaults in the performance of amterial terms and conditions of this Agreement faild to cure the default with
[***] days after receipt of a written notic

[***] Information has been omitted and filed separateity whe Securities and Exchange Commission. Confide Treatment has be
requested with respect to the omitted portic
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given by the no-defaulting Party demanding remedy of such defdh#, noi-defaulting Party may terminate this Agreemen
giving written notice thereo

This Agreement may be terminated by either Partycéfe immediately upon written notice to the otifarty upon or after tl
filing of a petition by or against the other Paity the reorganization, liquidation, dissolutiom,similar relief under any present
future federal or state statute, law or regulatmmthe entry of a decree or order by a court lpeimmpetent jurisdiction in resp
of any such petition, which decree or order is aystl and in effect for a period of [***] consecuwgidays, or the appointment, w
or without the consent of the other Party, of aggeiver, liquidator, custodian, assignee, trusequestrator or other similar offic
of such Party or of any substantial part of itspamy, or the making by the other Party of an assignt for the benefit of credito
or the admission by the other Party in writingtsfinability to pay its debts generally as theydme due, or the taking of action
the other Party in furtherance of any such act

Except as expressly provided herein, the expiradiotermination of this Agreement shall not affectimpair the rights, liabilitie
and obligations of either Party to the other Par$yprovided pursuant to this Agreement existin@rptdo such expiration
termination, nor shall such expiration or termioatrelieve either Party of any obligation or lidlyilaccrued under this Agreem
prior to such expiration or terminatic

14.Import and Export Requirements.

a)

b)

Upon written request from Tesla, Panasonic willvyide Tesla with any and all information that may regquired to comply wi
export laws, including applicable “Export ControlaSsification Numbers,'and documentation substantiating U.S. and fo
regulatory approvals for the Items. All requirecoesrt information shall be sent to the attention Manager, Trade Complian
Tesla Motors, 3500 Deer Creek, Palo Alto, CA 9438any agent so designated by Tesla in writ

In case Tesla would export the Items and/or théskéd Products from any country, Tesla shall compih applicable expo
control laws and regulations in such country angogeixthem only after taking adequate proceedingsired under such laws &
regulations

Country of Manufacture. Iltems shall be marked with the country of origim required by the U.S. import laws. Panasonicl
provide Tesla with a written statement identifyifay each Items delivered: (i) the Tesla part numizerd (ii) the country ¢
manufacture

15. Miscellaneous.

a)

[***]

Assignment. Neither this Agreement nor any right hereundealldbe assignable and transferable to any thirdypar parties b
either of the Parties without the prior written sent of the other Party. Tesla may assign this é&gent to a successor in inte
without the prior written consent of Panasonicammection with a sale of all of the issued and taniding shares of capital stock
Tesla or all or substantially all of i

Information has been omitted and filed separately whe Securities and Exchange Commission. Confide Treatment has be
requested with respect to the omitted portit
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b)
c)
d)
e)
)

9)

[***]

Confidential Treatment Requested by Tesla Motors,ric.

assets, provided such successor in interest isi@mmative OEM. Either PIC or PEC may assign thigelgnent without the pri
written consent of Tesla to an affiliate or to @essor in interest in connection with a sale béfits issued and outstanding shi
of capital stock or all or substantially all of issets. If either Party assigns or transfers Agieement, any right or obligati
hereunder to any third party or parties with orfwiit the prior written consent of the other Padyat forth above, such Party wt
attempts such assignment shall make such assigmee @ succeed to and comply with all terms sethfberein. This Agreeme
shall be binding upon the part’ successors and permitted assi

Waiver. If either Party fails to insist on performanceanfy term or condition, or fails to exercise arghtior privilege hereundt
such failure shall not constitute a waiver of sterim, condition, right or privilege

Survival of Obligations. Termination or expiration of this Agreement wildt relieve either Party of its obligations undecttons !
(c), 9, 10(a), 11, 12, 13(c), 15(g), 15(i), 15(afahis Section 15(c

Severability. Any provision of this Agreement that is held ufeeneable or invalid for any reason by a court ofnpeter
jurisdiction shall be reformed to reflect the tintent of the Parties, and the remainder of theeggrent shall continue in effe

No Gratuity . Neither Party will offer or give any gratuity foduce any person or entity to enter into, exeartgerform th
Agreement or any other agreement between the B:

Enforceability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any term oondition of this Agreement pursuant to any agle law sha
not affect the validity or enforceability of thenmaining provisions hereof, but this Agreement shalkconstrued as if not contain
the provision held invalid or unenforceable in jhésdiction in which so held unless, in the reasae opinion of either Pal
hereto, such invalid or unenforceable provisiomadse an integral part of, or are otherwise insaipie from the remainder of, tl
Agreement, in which case this Agreement, in sudsdiction, shall immediately terminate and be offarther force and effec

Governing Law. The Agreement and any dispute arising out oharannection with the Agreement or the Pa’ relationship sha
be interpreted, enforced and governed by the ldwheoState of New York, excluding its choice ofvlaules. The parties here
agree that any and all causes of action arisin@utids Agreement shall be brought only in the BahiStates Federal District Cc
for the Southern District of New York or, if the lted States Federal District Court does not havigdiction, the Supreme Court
New York County, and the parties hereby submithi® jurisdiction of said Court, and agree not toeobjto the venue nor t
convenience of the forum. The parties agree thatl®80 United Nations Convention on Contracts ffier international Sales
Goods, as amended to date, shall not apply toAtirieement

Information has been omitted and filed separately whe Securities and Exchange Commission. Confide Treatment has be
requested with respect to the omitted portit
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h) Force Majeure. If and to the extent that a P¢'s performance of any of its obligations pursuanthie Agreement is prevent
hindered or delayed by fire, flood, earthquakemelets of nature or acts of God, acts of war, tesmor riots, civil disorder
rebellions, revolutions, strikes, labor disputeship or airplane that is carrying the CommittedWiees for delivery to Tesla sinki
or crashing, a demand from a government with aitthorver the Party to stop manufacturing the Iteprsany other similar cau
beyond the reasonable control of such Party (em¢kprce Majeure Event”), then the npetforming, hindered or delayed P:
shall be excused for such npafformance, hindrance or delay, as applicableha$e obligations affected by the Force Maj
Event for as long as such Force Majeure Event poa; provided, that such Party notified the otRarty of such event
accordance with this Agreement, no later than fiwesiness (5) days after its occurrence and corgirtaeuse commercia
reasonable efforts to recommence performance wieersad to whatever extent possible without delagiuiding through the use
alternate sources, workaround plans or other comiaigr reasonable means. Either Party shall haeedgption to terminate tf
Agreement, should the Parties not have been alfiada solution to resolve the Force Majeure Ewsithin one hundred eigh
(180) days after the occurrence and notificatiosuath Force Majeure Evel

i) Confidentiality, Press Releases and PublicitiPanasonic and Tesla agree to keep the terms @mditions of this Agreeme
confidential and not disclose them to any thirdyarnless such terms and conditions are genekaltyvn or available other than
a result of the breach of this Agreement. If eitRarty is legally required to disclose the termd eonditions of this Agreement
law or pursuant to the order of a court or a gonemtal agency, such Party shall, unless legallpipited, promptly notify the oth
Party to that effect, and seek appropriate prataatif the terms and conditions of this AgreementliSrequired disclosure shall
be construed as a breach of this Agreement. Paitaand Tesla will not issue any press release, réidireg, publicity or publi
statement or in any way engage in any other forpublic disclosure that refers to the relationdigpwveen the Parties or in any v
relates to the terms and conditions of this Agregmagthout the prior written approval of the otHearty. Any mutual undertakii
of Panasonic and Tesla for the purposes of pupliies not require prior written agreements. EazttyPmay disclose the ter
and conditions of this Agreement to its parent, lyhowned subsidiaries, accountants, attorneys, menabfésBoard of Director
and as may be required by applicable law and ge&sregulations

0 Foreign Translation This Agreement is written in the English languaglkee English text of this Agreement shall prewaiér an'
translation thereo

k)  Entire Agreement This Agreement, including its Attachments, setsif the entire understanding and agreement oP#rées as 1
the subject matter of this Agreement, and supessatleprior agreements, understandings, proposalsrepresentations, oral
written, between the Parties as to the subjectemagikcept for nomlisclosure agreements. During the term of this Agrent, a
agreements between Tesla and Panasonic for thegegrand sale of the Items shall include and berged

[***] Information has been omitted and filed separateity whe Securities and Exchange Commission. Confide Treatment has be
requested with respect to the omitted portic
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exclusively by the terms and conditions set forthhis Agreement, except as the parties may otlseragree in a writing execu
by their respective duly authorized representatilrethe event of any conflict between or among daguments that are part of 1
Agreement, the following order of precedence stadply: (i) Supply Agreement; (ii) Attachment 1;i)ibther Attachment
(iv) Order. Any printed terms of any purchase ordefesla, or acknowledgment of Panasonic, andahgr terms, provisions
conditions in any purchase order of Tesla, or askedgment of Panasonic, which vary from, or areirgistent with, contrary to
in addition to the terms, provisions and conditioh¢his Agreement, shall be null and vc

)] Independent Contractar Each party acknowledges and agrees that the @ity is an independent contractor and is n¢
employee, agent or partner of the other party.@réies do not intend to form a partnership ortjgenture. No party is granted ¢
right or authority to assume or create any oblaatr responsibility, express or implied, on belwd/for in the name of, the ott
party, or to bind the other party in any mattethong whatsoevel

m) Headings The section headings used herein do not fornrtaopahis Agreement but are for convenience omig ahall not limit @
be deemed or construed in any way to affect ot lihéd meaning of the language of the sections he@itained

n)  Counterpart:.. This Agreement may be executed in two or morentayparts, each of which shall be an original, athaf which
taken together, shall constitute one and the sagneefnent

0) Notices. Any notice, request, consent, demand or othemeanication given or required to be given under thigeement shall t
effective only if in writing and shall be deemedhave been given when either mailed by first clesgstered or certified me
postage prepaid, return receipt requested, ortseatreputable express courier, addressed to ttiepas follows

[***] Information has been omitted and filed separately whe Securities and Exchange Commission. Confide Treatment has be
requested with respect to the omitted portic
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To Tesla: At the address first indicated above.
With a copy of all legal notices to:
General Counsel/Legal Department
Tesla Motors, Inc.
3500 Deer Creek
Palo Alto, CA 94304 US/

To PIC: Panasonic Industrial Company,
Division of Panasonic Corporation of North America
Three Panasonic Way
Secaucus, New Jersey 07094
Attention: Presider

With a copy of all legal notices to:
General Counsel

Panasonic Corporation of North America
One Panasonic Way, 3B-6

Secaucus, New Jersey 07(

To PEC: Panasonic Corporation, acting through Energy Compan
1-1 Matsushita-cho, Moriguchi City, Osaka, 570-8511
Japan
Attention: [***],
Industrial Battery Marketing & Sales Office, Corpte
Industrial Marketing and Sales Divisi

Or to such other addresses as may hereafter gnadésil by like notice

[***] Information has been omitted and filed separateity whe Securities and Exchange Commission. Confide Treatment has be
requested with respect to the omitted portic
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused ti8¥edts of this Agreement to be executed as ofi#e first above written by their di
authorized representatives.

Tesla Motors, Inc.

By:

Printed name: Elon Mus
Title: Chairman and CE!
Date:

Panasonic Industrial Company, Division of Panason
Corporation of North America

By:

Printed name: Thomas A. Gebha

Title: Presiden

Date:

Panasonic Corporation, Energy Company
By:

Printed name: Masato |

Title: Presiden

Date:

[***] Information has been omitted and filed separately whe Securities and Exchange Commission. Confide Treatment has be
requested with respect to the omitted portic

17



Confidential Treatment Requested by Tesla Motors,ric.
Table of Attachments

Name

List of Items, Pricing Mechanisi
[***] Price Adjustment Mechanism Proce
Invoicing Requirement

Nominated Representativ

U'I-bwl\)l—‘lg

Leveraging Tesla Brand Marketil
6 Quality Requirement

[*¥**] Information has been omitted and filed separateity whe Securities and Exchange Commission. Confide Treatment has be
requested with respect to the omitted portic

18



Confidential Treatment Requested by Tesla Motors,ric.
Attachment 1
List of Items, Pricing Mechanism

[** CELL PRICING
1H12  2H12  1H13  2H13  1H14  2H14  1H15  2H15

Volume (M M) 1 [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] Cell Price ( J PY) 2/ [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]

Baseline Commodity Assumptic

[***] Content (g) ¥ [***]
[***] Price (USD / Kg) 4 $[***]
[***] Content (g) ¥ [***]
[***] Price (USD / Kg) # $[*+]

lllustrative Cell Pricing

JPY/U S Ds/ [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] P r! ce (U SD/ Kg) 6/ [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] Price (U S D/ Kg) 6/ [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
Actual Cell Price ( JPY [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]

1/ [***]
2/ [***]
2/ [***]
3/ [***]
4/ [***]
5/ [***]
6/ [***]

[***] CELL PRICING
2H11 1H12 2H12 1H13 2H13 1H14 2H14 1H15 2H15

Volu m(.g (|\/| |\/|) 1 [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] PrICG (J PY) 2/ [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]

Baseline Commaodity Assumptic

[***] Content (g) ¥ [***]
[***] Price (USD / Kg) # $[]
[***]Content (g) ¥ [***]
[***] Price (USD / Kg) # $[]

lllustrative Cell Pricing

J PY/U S D5/ [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] Prlce (USD / Kg) 6/ [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] P rice (U S D / Kg) 6/ [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***
Actual Ce | | P rice (J PY [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]

1/ [***]
2/ [***]
2/ [***]
3/ [***]
4/ [***]
5/ [***]
6/ [***]

[***] Information has been omitted and filed separateity whe Securities and Exchange Commission. Confide Treatment has be
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Attachment 2
[***] Price Adjustment Mechanism Process
[*]

[***] Information has been omitted and filed separateity Whe Securities and Exchange Commission. ConfideTreatment has be
requested with respect to the omitted portit
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Confidential Treatment Requested by Tesla Motors,ric.
Attachment 3
Invoicing Requirements

invoices shall be sent to the attention of B's assigned buyer who issued the Or
invoices shall include the following

Date of Invoice

Ship To Designee

Ship To Address

Bill To: Tesla Motors, Inc

Bill To Address: 3500 Deer Creek, Palo Alto, Califa, 94304, U.S.A

Tesla Buyer Nam

Purchase Order Numb

Item Number(s)

Tesla Part Numbe

Item Description(s), which is/are consistent willother commercial invoices and documel

Ship To Quantity

Ship To Date(s) or Collection Date(

(m) Costs (Items only]

(n)
(0)
()
(@
Al
@
(b)
(©)
(d)
(e)
(f)

Shipping & Handling (only if applicable
Tax & Duty (only if applicable)
Payment Term“[***] "), and
INCOTERM (only if applicable)
drop-ship related invoices (for example, those for ogassshipment for ASO) shall include the followirdglgional information:
Harmonized Tariff Schedule"HTS” ) Codes
Number of Cartons or Crates Shipp
Weight of Cartons or Crates Shipp:
A Copy of Weigh Bill Information per carrie
Any Special Information Specified in the Order,
Value of Rejected Part(s), only if Applicab

Information has been omitted and filed separately whe Securities and Exchange Commission. Confide Treatment has be
requested with respect to the omitted portic
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Attachment 4
Nominated Representatives

1  The following listed names are the nominated regmesgives by Panasonic and Tesla, who shall beoeréd to make decisions relat
to the Items and who shall be responsible for dmijag all meetings and actions provided for in tAgreement

Any notice, consent or approval required or peeditinder this Agreement shall be sent to in writlthe following representative

(@) Notices to Tesls

Kurt Kelty

Tesla Motors, Inc.

(with a copy to Legal Department)

(with a copy to Supply Chain Management)
3500 Deer Creek

Palo Alto, CA 94304

Fax: [***]

E-mail: [***]

(b) Notices to Panasonic
Bob Rauh
Director — Battery Sales Group
Panasonic Industrial Company, Division of Panas@uporation of North America
5201 Tollview Drive, E1F-3
Rolling Meadows, lllinois 60008
Telephone: [***]
Facsimile: [***]
E-mail: [***]

[***] Information has been omitted and filed separately whe Securities and Exchange Commission. Confide Treatment has be
requested with respect to the omitted portit
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Attachment 5
Leveraging Tesla Brand Marketing

1. Definitions. In this Attachment 5, the following capitalizeztihs shall have the meanings specified below.

(a) “ Tesla Marketing Material8 means all marketing materials that promote Tesfabducts and vehicles that include, but are
limited to: (A) Teslas trademarks, service marks, photographs, or imiag@®motional, advertising, instructional, oreefnce materials, or
its web sites, products, labels, or packaging;nf@yketing merchandise, props, posters, banners, fts, mugs, etc.; (C) links to or fr
Tesla's web sites to various third party sites|udimg Supplier's; and (D) display or demonstratiohTesla vehicles, sugystems, part
models, or replicas in show rooms, conventionsnarketing events.

2. Reasonable guidelines shall be provided by Tiadlee event that Supplier wishes to use Teslakbtarg Materials.

3. The goodwill derived from using any part of asleetrademark exclusively inures to the benefid belongs to Tesla. Except for the lim
right to use as expressly permitted under thesddlines, no other rights of any kind are granteetmeder, by implication or otherwise.

4. Authorized Use of Tesla Trademarks

(a) Advertising, Promotional, and Sales Material®nly Tesla and its authorized licensees may heeTesla Marketing Materials
advertising, promotional, and sales materials. 8epmay use the Tesla Marketing Materials onlygpscified in this Attachment.

(b) Word Mark. Supplier may use Tesla word mark in a refereqtfabse on promotional/advertising materials, ptegithey compl
with the following requirements.

(i) The Tesla word mark is not part of the produgine.
(ii) The Tesla word mark appears less prominent tha product name.

(iii) The reference to Tesla does not create aesehgndorsement, sponsorship, or false associafiinTesla or Tesla products
services.

(iv) The use does not show Tesla or its productsfase or derogatory light.

(c) Publications, Seminars, and Conferenc8applier may use a Tesla word mark in conneatiith book titles, magazines, periodic.
seminars, or conferences provided Supplier comjitly tie following requirements:

(i) The use is referential and less prominent ti@rest of the title.
(i) The use reflects favorably on both Tesla aedl& products or technology.

[***] Information has been omitted and filed separateity whe Securities and Exchange Commission. Confide Treatment has be
requested with respect to the omitted portic
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(iii) Supplier's name and logo appear more prominent than thex Tesid mark on all printed materials related to plblication
seminar or conference.

(iv) The Tesla Marketing Materials or any other [@eswned graphic symbol, logo, icon or imadees not appear on or in
publication or on any materials related to the mattion, seminar, or conference without expresstmripermission from Tesla.

(v) A disclaimer of sponsorship, affiliation, ordarsement by Tesla, similar to the following, isluded on the publication and
all related printed materials: Title) is an independent (publication) and has lme¢n authorized, sponsored, or otherwise approyebebl:
Motors, Inc.”

(vi) A trademark attribution notice is includedthme credit section giving notice of Tesla’s owngushf its trademark(s).

(d) Web Sites Web sites may use the appropriate Tesla word npaokvided such use complies with the guidelingédath in Sections 7
(a) to (c) above.

8. Unauthorized Use of Tesla Trademarks

(a) Supplier shall not use or register, in wholeropart, Tesla trademark, including Teshaned graphic symbols, logos, icons, o
alteration thereof, as or as part of a company namade name, product name, or service name easegecifically noted in these guidelines.

(b) Supplier shall not use the Tesla Marketing Mate or any other Teslawned graphic symbol, logo, or icon on or in corroecwith
web sites, products, packaging, manuals, promdfexheertising materials, or for any other purposeept pursuant to an express wri
trademark license from Tesla.

(c) Supplier shall not use an image of other vemabf the Tesla Marketing Materials for any purpo3hird parties cannot ust
variation, phonetic equivalent, foreign languageiegjent, takeoff, or abbreviation of a Tesla tnadek for any purpose.

(d) Supplier shall not use a Tesla trademark orathgr Tesla-owned graphic symbol, logo, or icoa mlisparaging manner.

(e) Supplier shall not use a Tesla trademark, dioly Tesla-owned graphic symbols/logos, or icong manner that would imply Testa’
affiliation with or endorsement, sponsorship, gpart of a third party product or service.

(f) Supplier shall not manufacture, sell or giveagmmerchandise items, such ashirts and mugs, bearing Tesla trademark, inclt
symbols, logos, or icons, except pursuant to amessparitten trademark license from Tesla.

(g) Supplier shall not imitate the distinctive Teeplackaging, web site design, logos, or typefaces.
(h) Supplier shall not use or imitate a Tesla'galoor tagline.

[***] Information has been omitted and filed separately whe Securities and Exchange Commission. Confide Treatment has be
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(i) Supplier shall not use an identical or virtyatlentical Tesla trademark as a second level domame.

9. Proper Use of Tesla Trademarks.

(a) Trademarks are adjectives used to modify notivesnoun is the generic name of a product or servirademarks may not be use
the plural or possessive form.

(b) Spell and capitalize Tesla’s trademarks exaatlyintended by Tesla. No shortened or abbrevidiésth product names or made-
names that contain Tesla trademarks shall be aflowe

10. Compensation In return for using Tesla Marketing Materials rifs may agree to Supplier paying Tesla a readerampensation fi
anticipated potential for Supplisrenhanced market position and sales. When suekragnts are made by Parties, the agreed sum shasiic
to Tesla in a mutually agreed term, including deigmcfrom Item costs.

[***] Information has been omitted and filed separately whe Securities and Exchange Commission. Confide Treatment has be
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Attachment 6
Quality Requirements

Quality RequirementsAll Items sold to Tesla shall be manufactured pravided in accordance with quality control prasess procedures &
requirements mutually agreed to by Tesla and Paiasacluding, without limitation, quality standts, inspection standards and specifica
mutually agreed to by Tesla and Panasonic (the liQuRequirements”).Panasonic shall, in accordance with the Quality URements
provide, maintain and enforce all measures reaspma&cessary to secure [***].

PPAP. All ltems shall go through a formal ProductiorrtPapproval Process (the “PPAP process”) prior $e in a Tesla productThe PPAI
process requires a review of documents (Processréaflode and Effects Analysis, Design Failure Maahel Effects Analysis) and a proc
audit. Panasonic shall inform Tesla of any proobssiges that occur after completion of the PPARgE®.

Evidence of Panasong Quality Assurance; TestindJpon Teslas written request and if Panasonic determinesdbelh disclosure of da
records or others are acceptable, Panasonic sblaledto Tesla [***] as will validate complianceith the Quality Requirements. In ¢
quality problems based upon the Quality Requiremarise from the Items, Tesla may, upon writtenrpmotice to Panasonic: [***].

Predelivery Inspection Panasonic shall be responsible for the qualitytrob of the Items it supplies to Tesla, includimgthout limitation
adequate inspection and testing of ltems priorelivery.

Notice of Defective Products or Servic. Panasonic shall make commercially reasonableteffo give Tesla written notice [***] of discove
of any defect in the Items as set forth in Sec8ia) of this Agreement (including, without limitati, boxes and master cartons)
“Defect”). Such notice shall: (i) identify the Defect and @aor the Defect, if known; (ii) state whether thefect can be corrected, descrit
in detail the means required to correct the Defaed (jii) estimate the time required to make teeassary corrections. Upon receipt of no
Tesla may, at its sole discretion, as to any Def&eq.

Tesla Testing In case quality problems arise from the Itemstagon the Quality Requirements, upon receipt wfitien request by Tes
Panasonic shall promptly conduct reasonably requerggineering and quality control tests of ltemswafactured pursuant to this Agreem
and shall provide Tesla with the results of thestst Articles of those tests shall be determireskth upon the mutual agreement of Tesl:
Panasonic.

Confidentiality . Prior to any disclosure by Panasonic to Teslssyamt to this Attachment 6 or prior to Tesla&ommencement of a
inspections, quality control measures and/or tpstsuant to this Attachment 6, the Parties shakreimto a nordisclosure agreement.
connection with any inspections, quality control asgres and tests conducted pursuant to this Atech®, Tesla shall comply w
Panasoni information security management policies and gdaces. Panasonic reserves the right to shielécpkat confidential areas of
facilities or processes.

[***] Information has been omitted and filed separateity whe Securities and Exchange Commission. Confide Treatment has be
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EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No-B38874) of Tesla Motors, Inc. of
our report dated February 27, 2012 relating tdithencial statements and the effectiveness of fiatiecontrol over financial reporting, which
appears in this Form 10-K.

/s! PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
February 27, 2012



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS
[, Elon Musk, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Tesla Motors, Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgt&ie a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$,oéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi:
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrar's other certifying officer and | are responsibledetablishing and maintaining disclosure contamid procedures (i
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoiee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financegdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and presantads report our conclusions abc
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgulures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegstgnt's internal control over financial reportithgait occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodikbal quarter in the case of an annual repost) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; e

The registrant’s other certifying officer anbdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitaemmmittee of the registrant’s Board of Direct¢os persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contratiofinancial reporting which al
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmhcial information; ant

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significémin the registra’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 27, 2012 /s/ Elon Musk

Elon Musk
Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Deepak Ahuja, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Tesla Motors, Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgt&ie a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$,oéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi:
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrar's other certifying officer and | are responsibledetablishing and maintaining disclosure contamid procedures (i
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoiee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financegdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and presantads report our conclusions abc
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgulures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegstgnt's internal control over financial reportithgait occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodikbal quarter in the case of an annual repost) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; e

The registrant’s other certifying officer anbdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitaemmmittee of the registrant’s Board of Direct¢os persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contratiofinancial reporting which al
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmhcial information; ant

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significémin the registra’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 27, 2012 /s/ Deepak Ahuja

Deepak Ahuje
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1
SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATIONS

[, Elon Musk, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sewtk850, that, to my knowledge, the Annual Repoifedla Motors, Inc. on Form 10-K for the
annual period ended December 31, 2011, (i) fullpgles with the requirements of Section 13(a) (id)®f the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and (ii) that the information contained ints&korm 10-K fairly presents, in all material resgethe financial condition and results of
operations of Tesla Motors, Inc.

Date: February 27, 201 /s/ Elon Musk
Elon Musk
Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer

I, Deepak Ahuja, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.t&Rec1350, that, to my knowledge, the Annual Repditesla Motors, Inc. on Form 10-K for
the annual period ended December 31, 2011, (i fidmplies with the requirements of Section 13¢)%(d) of the Securities Exchange Ac
1934 and (ii) that the information contained ints&korm 10-K fairly presents, in all material resgethe financial condition and results of
operations of Tesla Motors, Inc.

Date: February 27, 201 /s/ Deepak Ahuji
Deepak Ahuje
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial Officer




